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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
This Prospectus has been prepared in connection with the listing of 18,200,000 new shares (the “New
Shares”) of Copeinca ASA (the “Company”) on Oslo Børs issued in connection with two completed private
placements as further described herein. The Prospectus has also been prepared in connection with the
Company’s or its subsidiaries’ acquisitions of Empresa Pesquera San Fermin S.A., Corporacion Pesquera Fish
Protein S.A. and Corporacion Pesquera Ribar S.A. and Pesquera Industrial El Angel S.A.
This Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Securities Trading Act and related secondary legislation
including the EC Commission Regulation EC/809/2004 as well Oslo Børs, Continuing Obligations. Oslo Børs has
reviewed and approved this Prospectus in accordance with the Securities Trading Act Sections 7-8 and 7-7. The
Prospectus has been prepared in the English language only.
Please note that no securities are being offered or sold pursuant to this Prospectus.
All inquiries relating to this Prospectus should be directed to the Company or the Managers. No other person
has been authorized to give any information about, or make any representation on behalf of, the Company in
connection with the completed private placements and acquisitions and, if given or made, such other
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Company or the
Managers.
The information contained herein is as of the date hereof and subject to change, completion or amendment
without notice. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor the listing of the New Shares on Oslo Børs at any
time after the date hereof will, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change
in the affairs of the Company since the date hereof or that the information set forth in this Prospectus is correct
as of any time since its date. Any new material information and any material inaccuracy that might have an
effect on the assessment of the New Shares arising after the publication of this Prospectus and before the New
Shares are listed on Oslo Børs, will be published and announced promptly as a supplement to this Prospectus in
accordance with the Securities Trading Act section 7-15.
The contents of this Prospectus are not to be construed as legal, business or tax advice. Each reader of this
Prospectus should consult with its own legal, business or tax advisor as to legal, business or tax advice.
Investing in the Company’s Shares involves certain risks. See chapter 2 “Risk Factors” of this
Prospectus.
The distribution of this Prospectus and any separate summary documentation may be restricted by law in
certain jurisdictions and neither this document nor any such summary, constitutes an offer to sell or a
solicitation of an offer to buy securities in any jurisdiction.
The Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”) or under any of the relevant securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United
States. Neither the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission nor any U.S. states securities commission has
approved of the Shares or determined if this document is accurate or complete.
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1

SUMMARY

This summary includes a brief description of the Company. Investors are advised that (a) it should be read as an
introduction to the Prospectus; (b) any decision to invest in the Shares should be based on consideration of the
Prospectus as a whole by the investor; (c) where a claim in relation to the information contained in a prospectus
is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might have to bear the costs of translating the prospectus before
the legal proceedings are initiated; and (d) civil liability attaches to those persons who have tabled the summary
including any translation thereof, and applied for its notification, but only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate
or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus.
1.1

The completed Private Placements

1.1.1

Private Placement I - Acquisition of Fish Protein and Ribar

In consideration of the Peruvian fish meal companies Fish Protein and Ribar, Copeinca ASA issued 6,200,000 New
Shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 5, to the seller on 14 June 2007. The subscription price per New Share
was approx. NOK 43.29 (USD 7,10).
The New Shares issued in Private Placement I will be admitted to trading on Oslo Børs following approval and
publication of this Prospectus. The Company expects this to take place on or about 3 January 2008.
Through a share exchange agreement with the Company’s largest shareholder, the seller received listed Shares
once the New Shares were registered in the Company’s VPS register on 15 June 2007.
The New Shares have ISIN NO 001 0374020 until they are listed on Oslo Børs upon the approval and publication
of this Prospectus. After the approval and publication of this Prospectus all the Company’s Shares will have ISIN
NO 0010352412.
Private Placement I resulted in a dilution of existing shareholders of approximately 13.33%

1.1.2

Private Placement II

The Board resolved to conduct Private Placement II on 21 June 2007, based on binding pre-subscriptions received
by the Managers in the period from 18 June to 21 June 2007. Copeinca ASA issued 12,000,000 New Shares, each
with a nominal value of NOK 5, at a subscription price of NOK 65 per New Share, to certain institutional and
professional investors. The subscription price was decided on the basis of a book building process conducted by
the Managers. The quoted price of the Copeinca Share on 21 June 2007 was NOK 65. The gross proceeds from
Private Placement II was NOK 780 million.
The purpose of Private Placement II was partly to obtain the necessary funds to pay the purchase price for
Piangesa; being approximately USD 106 million, and partly to strengthen the Company’s balance sheet for further
acquisitions.
The New Shares issued in Private Placement II will be admitted to trading on Oslo Børs following the approval and
publication of this Prospectus. The listing of the New Shares is expected to take place on or about 3 January
2008.
Through a share exchange agreement with the Company’s largest shareholder, the subscribers received listed
Shares once the New Shares were registered in the Company’s VPS register on 25 June 2007.
The New Shares have ISIN NO 0010374929 until the New Shares are listed on Oslo Børs upon the approval and
publication of this Prospectus. After the approval and publication of this Prospectus all the Shares in the Company
will have ISIN NO 0010352412.
The expenses of Private Placement II were approximately NOK 27,300,000. The net proceeds of Private
Placement II were NOK 752,700,000.
Private Placement II resulted in a dilution of the existing shareholders of 20.51%.
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1.2

The Acquisitions

Copeinca or its subsidiaries has completed the Acquisitions as follows:
•

On 17 May 2007 Copeinca ASA acquired all the shares of San Fermin for USD 37.5 million.

•

On 14 June 2007 Copeinca ASA acquired all the shares in Fish Protein and Ribar for USD 130 million.

•

On 5 September 2007 Copeinca Peru acquired all the shares in Piangesa for USD 106 million.

1.3

Information about the Company

1.3.1

General

The Copeinca Group is one of the largest fishmeal and fish oil producers in Peru.
Copeinca ASA is the ultimate parent company of the Copeinca Group. Copeinca ASA owns all the parts (quotas) in
Copeinca Spain, a Spanish limited company, which again owns 99.99% of the shares in Copeinca Peru, a Peruvian
limited company, with business and postal address at Calle Francisco Graña 155 Urb. Sta. Catalina, Lima 13,
Peru, incorporated in July 1994 under the laws of Peru. Copeinca Peru is the operating company in the Copeinca
Group. Copeinca Peru was founded in 1994 and owned by D&C Group S.A.C. and Acero Holding S.A.C. prior to the
establishment of Copeinca ASA and Copeinca Spain in November/December 2006.

1.3.2

History and development of the Copeinca Group

An overview of the Copeinca Group’s history is given below:
Table 1-1: Copeinca Group’s history
YEAR

MILESTONES

1994

Corporacion Pesquera Inca S.A. founded and acquisition of first plant at Bayovar

1996

First three vessels acquired with total capacity of 600m3

2000

Supe plant and acquisition of Chicama plant land. Vessel fleet capacity increased to
1,700m3

2001

Chicama plant operational. Vessel fleet capacity increase to 2,600m3

2003

Vessel fleet capacity increased to 4,300m3

2004

Vessel fleet capacity increased to 5,000m3

2005

SAP implementation process begun (completed in April 2006)

2005

Credit Suisse loan of USD 31 million used to finance the acquisition of Del Mar (USD 22
million), including plants at Paita and Huarmey, and of the Casma plant (USD 4.5 million)
as well as to finance operations (USD 4.5 million). Vessel fleet capacity increased to 8,800
m3

2006

Exclusive agreement with Jadran for purchase of raw material from vessels representing a
capacity of 2,350 m3

2006

Copeinca ASA and Copeinca Spain incorporated. Private placement performed, raising USD
100 million

2007

Reorganisation of the Copeinca Group completed. The Company lists on Oslo Børs.

2007

Copeinca ASA acquired Jadran in March, Pesquera Newton S.A. in March, Empresa
Pesquera San Fermin in May, Fish Protein and Ribar in June, PFB in July and Piangesa in
September.

2007

Copeinca signed a USD 185 M Loan with Credit Suisse, Glitnir, BBVA and West LB in June

2007

Copeinca ASA performed Private Placement II in June, raising NOK 780 million

1.3.3

Business description

The business operations of the Copeinca Group are carried out by Copeinca Peru.
Copeinca Peru is one of the largest fishmeal and fish oil producers in Peru, and has been one of the fastest
growing companies in the Peruvian fishmeal and fish oil industry over the last few years. Peru is the single largest
producer and exporter of fishmeal representing 27% of 2006 production volumes and 39% of 2006 export
volumes. It is also the single largest producer of fishoil representing 30% of 2006 production volumes and 39%
of 2006 export volumes. The fishmeal and fish oil industry represented 5.6% of the total exports from Peru in
value terms in 2006. In 2006 Copeinca Peru represented 5.6% of Peruvian fishmeal and fish oil exports by value.

5

COPEINCA ASA PROSPECTUS

Copeinca Peru produces its fishmeal and fish oil from anchovy harvested off the coast of Peru and represents
approx. 12% of the total anchovy catch in Peru (excluding catch off the south coast of Peru).
Copeinca Peru employs a crew of 1,320 on a temporary basis on board its 65 vessels (whereof one fifth is kept on
during non-fishing seasons for maintenance purposes).
The plants are located in Bayovar, Chicama, Chimbote, Casma, Huarmey, Chancay and Paita (currently being
relocated to Ilo). Copeinca Peru employs approx. 1,250 people in its plants, most of whom are part-time (whereof
approx. 35% are employed all year long even during non-production periods for maintenance purposes). The total
capacity of the plants is 1,288 MT/h, representing 14.5% of the total 8,904 MT/h capacity in Peru.
The majority of the Copeinca Group’s production is exported. China represents the main export market with 33%
of the 2006 revenues. Other key countries for export are Japan, Germany, Canada, Chile and Denmark. In 2006,
the top five customers represented 34% of the company’s total sales.
Copeinca Peru produces 165,000 – 185,000 MT of fishmeal annually. The fishmeal products are split into two
categories: Fair Average Quality (“FAQ”) and Steam Dried (“SD”) which is a premium product. Historically, fish oil
output averages 3.5% of the total weight of the catch, but in 2006 it averaged 5.5%, representing approx. 16%
of the total sales. In 2006 FAQ represented approx. 51% of total fishmeal sales by value. However, Copeinca Peru
is placing more focus on the more valuable SD fishmeal and plans to increase the SD production capacity by
converting some of the FAQ capacity in the next two to five years.

1.3.4

Vision, mission and strategy

Copeinca ASA has as its vision that the Copeinca Group shall become a leading fishmeal group worldwide, and as
its mission to supply high-quality fish products to meet the market’s demands.
For the next two to three years, the Copeinca Group plans to continue to consolidate its market share
concentrating its acquisitions on vessels, since in an ITQ system, quotas will be allocated according to existing
fishing licenses.

1.3.5

Trends

The Copeinca Group has experienced the following changes or trends outside the ordinary course of business that
are significant to the group between 31 December 2006 and the date of this Prospectus:
Fishmeal: Due to a significant lower consumption of fishmeal in China traceable to the blue ear disease in pigs
and therefore higher stocks in China, estimated at 300,000 MT, 100,000 MT in Chile and 80,000 MT in Peru
(IFFO week 39), prices dropped to new low levels around FOB Peru US$ 735/MT for old production pulling down
also the higher grades with a trading range between FOB Peru US$ 735-900/MT for old and new production.
At these price levels, China market reactivated with an unexpected significant purchase estimated to be around
200,000 MT out of a total 450,000 MT for new season, reaching a new support level at FOB Peru US$ 800/MT for
the lower grades. Therefore, the trading range lifted to FOB Peru US$ 800-950/MT for the balance of unsold
stocks new season shipment December 2007-March 2008.
Fishoil: The higher prices of fuel, have significantly impacted the vegetable oil complex due to the higher demand
for ethanol and biodiesel, reaching historical record high levels for rapeseed oil, soybean oil and palm oil. Thus,
fishoil price has also increased in tandem from FOB Peru US$ 800/MT last season to record high FOB Peru US$
1150/MT for new season.
Furthermore, the higher consumer concern to eat healthier food has significantly impacted the development of
omega 3 products and there is an upward trend to divert more and more fishoil to the nutraceutical business,
which accounts so far for the 10% of the total consumption of fishoil.

1.4

Selected financial information

The historical financial statements from 2006, 2005 and 2004 included in this Prospectus are those of Copeinca
Peru, which was the parent company of the Copeinca Group until January 2007. These historical financial
statements will, however, under IFRS also constitute the historical financial statements of the new holding
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company of the Copeinca Group, being Copeinca ASA. The financial statements from third quarter 2007 and 2006
are those of Copeinca ASA.
Copeinca ASA was incorporated on 24 November 2006 as a subsidiary of Copeinca Peru. Copeinca Spain was
incorporated on 15 December 2006, by contribution in kind of 99.9999% of the shares in Copeinca Peru. The
incorporating shareholders of Copeinca Spain were identical to the shareholders of Copeinca Peru. On 11 January
2007 the equity in Copeinca ASA was written down to zero, while at the same time, the shareholders in Copeinca
Spain contributed their shares in Copeinca Spain to Copeinca ASA as contribution in kind. The remaining 0.0001%
of the shares in Copeinca Peru were also transferred to Copeinca ASA.
Following the above incorporations and contributions Copeinca ASA became as of January 2007 the new ultimate
holding company of the Copeinca Group, which financial history is the financial history of Copeinca Peru. Since
this was completed as a reorganisation (rather than as a transaction) with full continuity in accordance with IFRS,
all historical financial information in the Prospectus therefore constitutes the historical financial information of the
group, now having Copeinca ASA as its ultimate holding company.
Table 1-2: Historical summary financials
Historical summary financials (IFRS)
In USD ´000

Sales
Gross profit
EBITDA (1)
Operating profit
Profit for the period and the year

Three months ended
31 March
31 March
2007
2006
Unaudited Unaudited

Six months ended
30 June
30 June
2007
2006
Unaudited Unaudited

Nine months ended
30 September 30 September
2007
2006
Unaudited
Unaudited

Financial year ended 31 December
2006
Audited

2005
Audited

2004
Audited

21,690
12,461
8,223
5,120
481

23,718
11,110
8,949
6,870
3,359

48,828
19,783
12,847
7,949
1,360

40,906
18,745
14,783
10,677
6,595

80,580
29,545
17,427
7,031
2,479

63,460
27,746
21,136
14,354
6,965

89,888
44,426
35,480
23,587
10,014

82,290
25,617
14,462
11,917
1,001

86,674
24,616
15,107
10,154
2,858

Sales Growth
Gross Profit Margin (%)
EBITDA Margin (%)
Operating Profit Margin (%)

-8.55%
12.16%
-8.11%
-25.47%

21.70%
195.70%
395.80%
571.60%

4.70%
5.50%
-13.10%
-25.60%

7.50%
45.80%
36.10%
26.10%

26.90%
6.50%
-17.60%
-51.00%

-2.60%
42.70%
112.50%
12.50%

9.20%
49.40%
39.50%
26.20%

-5.10%
31.10%
18.20%
10.70%

43.90%
28.40%
17.40%
11.70%

Total Assets
Working Capital (2)
Long Term Liabilities
Capital Expenditures (3)
Total Equity

389,394
69,915
41,447
80,924
194,883

28,095
-14,173
-19,392
1,033
4,903

654,999
111,980
117,152
90,312
335,664

153,068
-6,434
42,711
3,115
40,137

796,140
24,716
331,961
151,850
336,809

186,549
-9,014
106,405
4,050
40,827

187,208
-18,029
81,156
40,538
47,077

138,873
-5,665
65,482
53,519
32,731

90,698
-9,643
20,238
7,867
33,151

Source: Company Information
* Copeinca ASA
** Copeinca Peru
Note: (1) Working Capital is defined as total current assets minus total current liabilities
(2) Capital Expenditures include assets acquired under finance leases
(3) Numbers for the corresponding period in 2006 are not available since Copeinca ASA was
incorporated in November 2006
1.5

Summary unaudited pro forma financial information (30 September 2007)

The tables below show the unaudited condensed combined proforma income statement for the combined
Copeinca, San Fermin, Fish Protein, Ribar and Piangesa as of and for the year ended 31 December 2006 and the
six months ended 30 September 2007 and the unaudited condensed combined pro forma balance sheet as of 30
September 2007. Please refer to section 19 “unaudited pro forma financial information related to acquisitions ” for
the complete unaudited pro forma financial information, a description of the pro forma adjustments.
Table 1-3: Unaudited Combined Pro Forma summary financials
2007
30
2006
September
31 Dec
In USD '000
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
Sales
137,374
191,507
Gross profit
56,631
73,180
Operating profit
22,937
33,373
Profit for the period and the year
1,800
3,051
1.6
Capitalisation and indebtedness
Table 1-4: Capitalisation and indebtedness at 31 December 2006 and at 30 September 2007
Capitalisation and
30 September
31 March 07*
indebtedness (IFRS)
07*
30 June 07*
31 Dec 06**
Unaudited
Unaudited
Unaudited
Audited
In USD '000
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Unguaranteed / Unsecured
Guaranteed
Secured
Current debt

348
19,113
64,895
84,356

340
4,617
62,825
67,782

350
7,869
29,322
37,541

340
8,177
34,442
42,959

Unguaranteed / Unsecured
Guaranteed
Secured
Non-current debt

758
170,570
17,924
189,252

771
102,711
13,670
117,152

936
24,005
16,245
41,186

940
25,362
26,332
52,634

261,331

261.636

92.652

28,006

Share capital
Legal Reserve
Other Reserves
Other equity
Shareholders equity

75,478
336,809

Total Capitalisation

610,407

1,844
72,184

1,844
17,227

335,664

48,129
140,781

47,077

520,598

219,508

142,670

The information in the table above has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of
Copeinca ASA for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2006 and the unaudited consolidated interim financial
information for the nine month period ended 30 September 2007, both included as attachments to this
prospectus.
Source: Company Information
* Copeinca ASA
** Copeinca Peru
Note: In June 2007, Copeinca Peru signed a USD 185 million credit facility with Credit Suisse which is not
included.
Table 1-5: Consolidated net indebtedness as of 31 December 2006 and 30 September 2007
Consolidated net indebtedness 30 September 07
30 June 07
31 March 07
31 Dec 06**
(IFRS)
In USD '000
60,491
0
0

49,874
0
0

Cash
Cash equivalents
Trading securities
Liquidity

60,491

128,624
0
0
128,624

Current bank debt
Current portion non-current debt
Other current financial debt
Current financial debt

56,699
27,657
0
84,356

55,860
11,922
0
67,782

Non-current bank loans
Bonds issued
Other non-current loans
Non-current financial debt

189,252
0
0
189,252

117,152
0
0
117,152

41,186

52,634
0
0
52,634

Net indebtedness

213,117

56,310

28,853

94,518

49,874
2,655
34,886
37,541
41,186
0
0

1,075
0
0
1,075
20,539
22,420
0
42,959

The information in the table above has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of
Copeinca ASA for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2006 and the unaudited consolidated interim financial
information for the nine month period ended 30 September 2007, both included as attachments to this
prospectus.
Source: Company Information
* Copeinca ASA
** Copeinca Peru
Note: In June 2007, Copeinca Peru signed a USD 185 million credit facility with Credit Suisse, from which USD
50 million were used to pay existing debt and USD 135 million to acquire new targets.
1.7

Board and senior management

The Board consists of Christian Selmer (Chairman), Samuel Dyer Ampudia (Vice Chairman), Mimi Berdal, Wilfredo
Caceres Monroe (resigned, effective from 1 January 2008), Rosa Coriat Valera, Piero Dyer Coriat, Sergio Dyer
Osorio, Isabelle Gresvig, Ivan Orlic Ticeran and Synne Syrrist.
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The senior management consists of Samuel Dyer Coriat (CEO), Eduardo Castro-Mendivil (CFO), Giuliana Cavassa
(Legal Manager), Mercedes Tang (Chief Sales Officer) and Pablo Trapunsky (COO).
1.8

Major Shareholders

As of 21 December 2007 the Company’s 20 largest shareholders are:

Investor
Dyer Coriat Holding
ANDEAN FISCHING L.L.C
INVESTORS BANK & TRUST COMPANY
Dyer Ampudia Osterlin Luis
SIS SEGAINTERSETTLE AG 25PCT
ORKLA ASA
DEUTSCHE BANK AG LONDON PRIME BROKERAGE
SOUTH WINDS AS
STATE STREET BANK AN A/C CLIENT OMNIBUS I
MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INC CLIENT EQUITY
ACCOUNT
STATE STREET BANK AN A/C CLIENT OMNIBUS D
THE NORTHERN TRUST C USL TREATY ACCOUNT
VITAL FORSIKRING ASA
MORGAN STANLEY & CO
BANK OF NEW YORK BR TREATY ACCOUNT
DNB NOR SMB VPF
DERIS S.A.
DNB NOR NORGE (IV) VPF
MP PENSJON
Dyer Fernandez Rodrigo Israel
Top 20
OTHERS
TOTAL
1.9

Shares
19 098
6 200
3 292
3 181
2 864
2 509
2 285
1 489
1 308

%
000
000
006
220
969
900
387
750
300

1 143 554
1 025 761
901 170
742 508
727 145
651 484
616 668
500 000
441 401
383 850
332 630
49 695 703
8 804 297
58 500 000

32,65
10,60
5,63
5,44
4,90
4,29
3,91
2,55
2,24

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

1,95 %
1,75 %
1,54 %
1,27 %
1,24 %
1,11 %
1,05 %
0,85 %
0,75 %
0,66 %
0,57 %
84,95 %
15,05 %
100,00 %

Related party transactions

Copeinca ASA has not entered into any related party transactions for the last three financial years and up to the
date of this Prospectus. The related party transactions described in this section are the relevant transactions
entered into by Copeinca Peru in the said period.

1.9.1

Jadran S.A.(“Jadran”)

On 21 September 2006, Pesquera Nardai S.A. (“Nardai”), a single purpose vehicle company owned by Samuel
and Luis Dyer Ampudia (which were two of the largest shareholders of Copeinca Peru and are two of the largest
shareholders of Copeinca ASA, see 1.8 – “Major Shareholders”), acquired Jadran for a purchase price of USD 29
million. Nardai was created for the transaction, and acquired Jadran in lieu of Copeinca Peru due to restrictions in
Copeinca Peru’s loan agreement with Credit Suisse. The purchase price of USD 29 million was financed through (i)
a USD 19.8 million loan from IIG Capital, LLC, a New York-based hedge fund, (ii) a USD 4.75 million leaseback
arrangement with Banco Internacional del Perú - Interbank, a Peruvian bank, and (iii) a prepayment of raw
materials in the amount of USD 5 million from Copeinca Peru. Nardai and Jadran have subsequently merged
under the name Jadran.
Copeinca Peru entered into an option agreement with Samuel and Luis Dyer Ampudia whereby Copeinca Peru had
an option to purchase all the shares of Jadran. The option was exercised on 22 March 2007, and Jadran is now
fully owned by Copeinca Peru. The purchase price was PEN 10,000 (Peruvian Nuevos Soles), or approx. NOK
20,000, i.e. with no profit made to the current owners of Jadran and Copeinca Peru assumed the debt raised by
Nardai when Jadran was purchased. See section 17.1 for further information.
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1.9.2

Sub-lease agreements

Copeinca Peru has entered into two agreements with regard to the sub-lease of administrative offices from
companies related to the Dyer Coriat family. The sub-lease agreements are entered into on arm’s length terms.
See section 17.2 for further information.

1.9.3

Loans and advisory services

Copeinca Peru has entered into certain agreements with regard to minor loans and fees with certain parties
related to major shareholders/Board members. See section 17.3 for further information.
1.10

Share capital

The Company’s share capital is NOK 292,500,000 comprising 58,500,000 Shares with a par value of NOK 5 each.
Each Share carries one vote, and gives equal rights in the Company.
1.11

Additional information

1.11.1

Articles of Association

The Company’s Articles of Association is set out in Appendix 1.

1.11.2

Documents on display

Copies of the following documents will, during the life of this Prospectus, be available for inspection at any time
during normal business hours on any business day free of charge at the registered office of the Company: (i) the
Articles of Association of the Company; (ii) the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company; (iii) the audited
annual report for Copeinca Peru for the financial year to 31 December 2006, 2005 and 2004, prepared in
accordance with IFRS and the historical annual accounts for its subisidary undertakings for 2006 and 2005; and
(iv) the unaudited interim reports for first, second and third quarters 2007 for Copeinca ASA prepared in
accordance with IFRS.

1.11.3

Advisors and auditors

Auditor
The Company’s auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, a member of the Norwegian Institute of Public
Accountants.
Manager
Glitnir Securities ASA and SEB Enskilda Securities ASA have acted as managers in connection with Private
Placement II.
Legal counsel
Thommessen Krefting Greve Lund AS has acted as Norwegian legal counsel in connection with the the Private
Placements.
1.12

Summary of Risk Factors

A number of risk factors may adversely affect the Company. Below is a brief summary of some of the most
relevant risk factors described in chapter 2 “Risk Factors”. The risks described on section 2 “Risk Factors” are not
the only ones facing the Company and additional risks not presently known to the Company or that the Company
currently deems immaterial may also impair the Company’s business operations and adversely affect the price of
the Shares.

1.12.1

Integration risks

•

There may be integration risks connected to past and in the event of future acquisitions.

1.12.2

Market risks

•

The Company’s financial position and future development depend to a considerable extent on the prices
of fishmeal and fish oil, which have historically been subject to substantial fluctuations.

•

Lower economic growth or a downturn in the Copeinca Group’s export markets could have a negative
effect on the group’s business and profitability.
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•

Increased demands from customers and legislators for internal control, food authority monitoring
program and testing in the future may adversely affect the Copeinca Group’s financial results.

•

Political events could change the business climate and fishing quota regulation in a way that has a
negative impact on the value of the Copeinca Group’s operations.

•

Current legislation related to environmental issues may change and incur expenses for the Copeinca
Group to comply with the environmental regulations.

1.12.3

Operational risk

•

The operation of fishing vessels always involves elements of risk with respect to weather conditions,
migration patterns of the fish, available fish stock, and the functioning of vessels and equipment.

•

The production of fish oil and fishmeal is vulnerable to down-time and possible insufficient supply of

•

The Copeinca Group sources some of the raw material processed in its plants from third parties on the

raw material input.
open market and from an “administrated fleet” through contracts. Those sources can potentially vary
from one year to the other. The volume of fish that the group is able to purchase may decrease and
the price of that fish may increase.
•

The Copeinca Group’s vessels and plants are powered by diesel and heavy oil fuel, and any
development in fuel prices will affect the Copeinca Group.

•

When a natural phenomenon such as El Niño or La Niña occurs it threatens the supply for that entire
season.

•

The Copeinca Group may not be able to insure against all risks on commercially viable terms, and there
will always be a risk that certain events may occur for which only partial or no indemnity is payable
according to the group’s insurance.

•

The loss of any of the members of its senior management or other key personnel or the inability to
attract a sufficient number of qualified employees could adversely affect its business and results of
operations.

1.12.4

Risk factors relating to the Shares

•

The Company’s share price may experience substantial volatility in response to, inter alia, variations in
operating results, adverse business developments, interest rate changes, changes in financial
estimates by securities analysts, matters announced in respect of major customers or competitors or
changes to the regulatory environment in which the Copeinca Group operates.

•

Substantial share ownership in the Company is controlled by certain major shareholders.

•

Holders of the Shares that are registered in a nominee account may not be able to exercise voting
rights as readily as shareholders whose shares are registered in their own names with the Norwegian
Central Securities Depository (VPS).

•

The Shares have not been registered under the US Securities Act of 1933 or any other jurisdiction and
the Shares may therefore not be offered or sold in the US or any other jurisdiction where registration
or other action is required.

•

It may be difficult for investors based in the United States to enforce civil liabilities predicated on U.S.
securities laws against the Company, the Company’s Spanish and Peruvian affiliates or the Company’s
directors and executive officers.

•

Pre-emptive rights may not be available to U.S. holders of the Company’s Shares.

1.12.5

Financial risk factors

•

Investors will be exposed to currency fluctuations between the trading currency (Norwegian Krone) and
the currencies that the Copeinca Group will be trading in, mainly US dollar, Peruvian Nuevo Sol and
Euro. 85% of the Copeinca Group’s costs and all the debt are labelled in USD, the currency used to
secure worldwide fishmeal contracts.

•

90% of the Copeinca Group’s debt has variable interest rate with a fixed credit spread over LIBOR and
changes in the LIBOR rate will affect the Copeinca Group. Most of Copeinca’s current debt, including a
recent loan for USD 185 million signed with Credit Suisse and other banks has an interest rate of
LIBOR plus 3.5%.
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•

Copeinca’s financial structure and estimates are based upon an economic development of the Copeinca
Group in more or less stable and predictable markets, with more or less stable prices of fishmeal and
fish oil. Should the market conditions deteriorate for a long period of time, Copeinca might, due to the
covenants in its loan agreement with Credit Suisse, be forced into a renegotiation or refinancing of the
loans outstanding.
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2

RISK FACTORS

Investing in Copeinca ASA involves inherent risks. Prospective investors should consider, among other things, the
risk factors set out herein in the Prospectus before making an investment decision. The risks described below are
not the only ones facing the Copeinca Group. Additional risks not presently known to the Company or that the
Company currently deems immaterial may also impair the Company’s business operations and adversely affect
the price of the Shares. If any of the following risks actually occur, the Copeinca Group’s business, financial
position and operating results could be materially and adversely affected.
A prospective investor should consider carefully the factors set forth below, and elsewhere in the Prospectus, and
should consult his or her own expert advisors as to the suitability of an investment in the Shares.
An investment in the Shares is suitable only for investors who understand the risk factors associated with this
type of investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of the investment. Such information is presented as of
the date hereof and is subject to change, completion or amendment without notice.
2.1

Integration risks

The Copeinca Group has acquired several other companies and may acquire further companies in the future. The
integration of such companies into the Copeinca Group, is connected with risks that there may be difficulties with
integrating the acquired companies into the Copeinca Group. However the Copeinca Group has experienced
exceptional growth since 1999 and management is highly professionalised and has shown very good integration
capabilities in the past. Furthermore the fully integrated SAP system implemented in 2006 will allow the Copeinca
Group to further grow with limited additional costs.
2.2

Market risks

2.2.1

Prices of fishmeal and fish oil

Copeinca ASA’s financial position and future development depend to a considerable extent on the prices of
fishmeal and fish oil, which have historically been subject to substantial fluctuations. Most of the products sold are
commodities, and it is therefore reasonable to assume that the market prices will continue to follow a cyclical
pattern.
Aquaculture demand has been driven by China, which now represents a significant portion of worldwide imports.
These imports have been driven by an increase in population of around 1% per year (since 2004)1 over a
population of approx. 1.3 billion people as well as an increase of protein (red meat, poultry, seafood)
consumption per capita of 4% per year between 1996 and 20042. According to the FAO, seafood consumption in
China is projected to be 35.9 kg/year per capita in 2020, an increase of 41% compared to 2004 consumptionȼ.
The higher consumption of seafood in urban areas, compared to rural areas, indicates that the increased
urbanization will lead to increased consumption of seafood. Facing depleting wild fish stocks and serious
environmental damages resulting form overfishing, the Chinese government continues to restrict marine and
inland fishery and focus on development of aquaculture in order to fulfill the growing demand. Chinese
aquaculture is now twice the size of wild capture3.
Peru is the single largest producer and exporter of fishmeal representing 27% of 2006 production volumes and
39% of 2006 export volumes. It is also the single largest producer of fishoil representing 30% of 2005 production
volumes and 39% of 2005 export volumes. The fishmeal and fish oil industry represented 5.6% of the total
exports from Peru in value terms in 2006. In 2006 Copeinca Peru represented 5.6% of Peruvian fishmeal and fish
oil exports by value.
In addition management believes that, as the Copeinca Group grows to a larger scale (in turn becoming a
significant portion of the Peruvian fishmeal industry), it will secure long-term contracts with some customers
which are less subject to fishmeal and fish oil prices stability.
However should prices increase, feed companies may try to find cheaper substitutes.
1

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Database for June 2006

2

Source: Glitnir China Seafood Industry Report November 2006

3

Source: USDA Foreign Agricultural Services GAIN Report 2005, Glitnir China Seafood Industry Report November 2006
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2.2.2

Economic developments

Exports account for a considerable proportion of the Copeinca Group’s total sales. Lower economic growth or a
downturn in the group’s export markets could have a negative effect on the Company’s business and profitability.
This could take the form of reduced demand, losses on receivables resulting from customers’ inability to pay their
debts, etc. This could have a negative impact on the Copeinca Group’s sales and profitability.

2.2.3

Political and economic risk

Historically South America has been an area with political issues. However, Mr. Alan Garcia, a Social Democrat,
was elected President in June 2006 in an orderly government transition process. His policy aims at reducing
poverty while maintaining a pro-business economic approach.
Mr. Garcia has emphasised the continuance of market economic policies with no limitations on international
investments, liberal competitive legislation and all industries, including fishing, being open to international
investors.
The current trend in Peru and in most of the surrounding countries is to welcome foreign and private investment,
and the political situation appears stable.
Peru has been one of the fastest growing economies in the world over the last few years. The economic situation
is very satisfactory with a relatively high real GDP growth of 7.8% in 20064, and an expected GDP growth of 7.7%
for 2007 above the world’s average growth at 5.2%6. Inflation remains controlled at a forecast 3.0% for 2007,
much lower than its South American peers and the world’s average of 3.7%6. Peru’s current account and fiscal
balance are improving. This represents the best microecomic environment in decades and one of the most
attractive in South America at the moment.
Foreign investments in Peru are treated in the same way as the national investments. This is recognized in the
Peruvian Constitution of 1993 and two important laws, Peruvian Legislative Decree N° 662 (Foreign Investment
Law); and Peruvian Legislative Decree N° 757 (Private Investment Law). The benefits of this treatment for foreign
investors are:
•

Continuity in the applicable tax law

•

Free access to foreign exchange

•

Right to non discriminatory treatment

•

Freedom to remit dividends and royalties abroad

Furthermore, Peru and Spain have signed a tax agreement which is pending of ratification in the Congress.

2.2.4

Environmental issues

Current legislation regulates waste and toxic fluids, although gas emissions remain outside the scope of this
legislation. In addition the government is currently working on regulations that will include gaseous liquid and
solid contamination. As at the date of this Prospectus, the Copeinca Group is in compliance with all environmental
regulations and is not involved in any proceeding or investigation related to environmental issues.
2.3

Operational risks

2.3.1

Catching

The operation of fishing vessels always involves elements of risk with respect to weather conditions, migration
patterns of the fish, available fish stock, and the functioning of vessels and equipment. Hence, there is
uncertainty as to the size of total catch volume.

2.3.2

Processing

The production of fish oil and fishmeal follow established methods with automated and controlled processes.
However, any production is vulnerable to down-time and possible insufficient supply of raw material input.
4

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Database for June 2007
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2.3.3

Third party supply

On top of the fish caught by its own vessels, the Copeinca Group processes fish bought at market price from third
parties on the open market and from an “administrated fleet” through yearly contracts.
Those contracts with privately-owned vessels representing a capacity of 1,676 mȽ allow the Copeinca Group to
buy the anchovy they catch at market price. They have been in place for many years, but there is always a risk
that these contracts might not all be renewed and thereby the Copeinca Group would loose a portion of its supply.
However this administrated fleet represents only 0.8% of the total Peruvian anchovy catch capacity.
The Copeinca Group has been continuously increasing its own fleet size to fuel its growth. Therefore the portion of
its production sourced by third parties has decreased. It is the group’s intention to purchase fish from third
parties in order to maximize plants’ capacity utilization rate and profits.
In addition there is also a risk that the price at which the Copeinca Group is able to acquire fish from third parties
increases.

2.3.4

Fuel prices

As in many industrial operations, any development in fuel prices will affect the Copeinca Group. The Copeinca
Group’s vessels and plants are powered by diesel and heavy oil fuel and the current electrical infrastructure
around some plants is not always sufficient to provide the required power supply. In 2006 fuel expenses
represented just below 20% of all operational costs. The increase in fuel prices experienced over the last few
months have been passed on via selling prices. In addition, plans for usage of natural gas in the near future are
being considered, but expectations are uncertain until the government is fully committed to developing its usage
and promoting industry conversion. This strategy will lead to a more environment friendly production and allow
for some cost reduction.

2.3.5

Resources

Although the Peruvian coastline is the richest source of anchovy worldwide, when a natural phenomenon such as
El Niño or La Niña occurs, the supply is threatened for the first fishing season. The second season of the year is
normally not significantly affected by the phenomenon. La Niña does not have a significant negative impact on
operations, but it can constitute a disruption to operations. El Niño can be forecasted a few months before its
occurrence and will significantly reduce the amount of fish available for catch. The last two important El Niño
events occurred in 1983 and 1998. However, the year following the occurrence of El Niño has usually been very
strong and partly compensated for the decrease in supply the year before. It should be noted though that when El
Niño occurs the cash flows of fishmeal businesses are temporarily at risk during that season, which is why the
Copeinca Group has a USD 30 million cash reserve to compensate the effect on its cash flow. There is a strong
chance that the next El Niño event will occur within the next five years.
The Copeinca Group has structured its main loans so that in case of an El Niño event, no repayment of principal is
required.
In addition, the biomass can migrate from one location to another resulting in a mismatch between the biomass
and the location of the plants. This phenomenon impacted the Copeinca Group’s results in 2005 as the biomass
was located in the South where the Copeinca Group has no plant. Since the processing needs to be carried out
within a few hours of catching for quality of finished product purposes, the group had to sell a large portion of the
fish harvested by its own boats to third parties owning plants in the Centre South and South. This risk has been
mitigated by the Copeinca Group by buying plants in the Centre South and South coast of Peru and will continue
to be mitigated by investments in refrigeration equipment for the vessels.
Finally, as anchovy is a significant resource for the Peruvian economy and population, the government has
implemented some strict governmental policies to ensure the sustainability of the biomass. No new fishing license
has been issued since 1992 and the wood fleet was formalised in 1999. Satellite control has been put into place
over the industrial fleet since 2002 and over the wood fleet since 2003. Societe Generale de Surveillance, the
leading worldwide certification company, has also been in charge of controlling the unloading of the fish in each
port since 2004.
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2.3.6

Insurance

The Copeinca Group maintains a level of insurance cover on its fixed assets, property and production facilities in
line with industry standards. Insurance will primarily act as catastrophe coverage. There will always be a risk that
certain events may occur for which only partial or no indemnity is payable. In such situations the Copeinca Group
may have to self-insure.

2.3.7

Retention of key personnel

The Copeinca Group’s business and prospects depend to a significant extent on the continued services of its key
personnel in its various business areas. Financial difficulties and other factors could negatively impact the
Copeinca Group’s ability to retain key employees. The loss of any of the members of its senior management or
other key personnel or the inability to attract a sufficient number of qualified employees could adversely affect its
business and results of operations.
2.4

Risk factors relating to the Shares

2.4.1

The price of the Shares are subject to volatility

The price of the Company’s Shares may experience substantial volatility. The trading price of the Shares could
fluctuate significantly in response to variations in operating results, adverse business developments, interest rate
changes, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts, matters announced in respect of major customers
or competitors or changes to the regulatory environment in which the Copeinca Group operates. The market price
of the Shares could decline due to sales of a large number of Shares in the market or the perception that such
sales could occur. Such sales could also make it more difficult for the Company to offer equity securities in the
future at a time and at a price that are deemed appropriate.

2.4.2

Control by major shareholders

Substantial share ownership is directly or indirectly concentrated in the hands of Dyer Coriat Holding, Andean
Fishing LLC (Ivan Orlic Ticeran), Investors Bank & Trust Company and Luis Dyer Ampudia (see chapter 16 –
“Major shareholders”), and future sales of Shares by the existing major shareholders could impact the market
price of the Shares.

2.4.3

Exercise of voting rights for nominee shareholders

Beneficial owners of the Shares that are registered in a nominee account (e.g. through brokers, dealers or other
third parties) may not be able to vote such Shares unless their ownership is re-registered in their names with the
Norwegian Central Securities Depository (VPS) prior to Copeinca ASA general meetings. The Company cannot
guarantee that beneficial owners of the Shares will receive the notice for a general meeting in time to instruct
their nominees to either effect a re-registration of their Shares or otherwise vote their Shares in the manner
desired by such beneficial owners.

2.4.4

Transfer restrictions

Copeinca ASA has not registered the Shares under the US Securities Act of 1933 or the securities laws of other
jurisdictions than Norway and the Company does not expect to do so in the future. The Shares may not be
offered or sold in the United States or to U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the US Securities Act of
1933) nor may they be offered or sold in any other jurisdiction in which the registration of the Shares is required
but has not taken place, unless an exemption from the applicable registration requirement is available or the offer
or sale of the Shares occurs in connection with a transaction that is not subject to these provisions. In addition,
there can be no assurances that shareholders residing or domiciled in the United States will be able to participate
in future capital increases or subscription rights.
2.4.5

Limitation of ability to make claims against the Company

The ability of shareholders of the Company in their capacity as such following registration of a share capital
increase in the Norwegian Companies Register is severely limited under Norwegian law.
Once the capital increase relating to any Shares of the Company has been registered in the Norwegian Companies
Registry, purchasers of those Shares have limited rights against the Company under Norwegian law.
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2.4.5

Enforceability of civil liabilities

The Company is organised under the laws of Norway. Its directors are residents of Norway, Spain and Peru, and a
substantial portion of its assets is located in Peru. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to affect service
of process in their own jurisdiction on the Company or any of such persons, or to enforce against them
judgements obtained in non-Norwegian courts. Norway is party to the Lugano Convention and a judgement
obtained in another Lugano Convention state will in general be enforceable in Norway. However, there is
substantial doubt as to the enforceability in Norway of judgements of non-Lugano Convention state courts,
hereunder the courts of the United States.

2.4.6

U.S. Shareholders and certain other foreign shareholders may be diluted if they are unable to
participate in future offerings

Under Norwegian law, prior to the Company’s issuance of any new Shares for consideration in cash, the Company
must offer holders of the Company’s then outstanding Shares pre-emptive rights to subscribe and pay for a
sufficient number of Shares to maintain their existing ownership percentages, unless these rights are waived at a
general meeting of the Company’s shareholders.
U.S. holders of the Shares may not be able to receive, trade or exercise pre-emptive rights for new Shares unless
a registration statement under the US Securities Act of 1933 is effective with respect to such rights or an
exemption from the registration requirements of the US Securities Act of 1933 is available. The Company is not a
registrant under the U.S. securities laws. If U.S. holders of the Shares are not able to receive, trade or exercise
pre-emptive rights granted in respect of their Shares in any rights offering by the Company, then they may not
receive the economic benefit of such rights. In addition, their proportional ownership interests in the Company
will be diluted. Inability to receive, trade or exercise pre-emptive rights for new Shares due to local restrictions
may also apply in other jurisdictions.

2.4.7

The ability to bring an action against the Company may be limited under Norwegian law

The Company is a public limited company incorporated under the laws of Norway. The rights of holders of Shares
are governed by Norwegian law and by the Articles of Association. These rights differ from the rights of
shareholders in other jurisdictions, e.g. typical U.S. corporations. In particular, Norwegian law limits the
circumstances under which shareholders of Norwegian companies may bring derivative actions. Under Norwegian
law, any action brought by the Company in respect of wrongful acts committed against the Company takes
priority over actions brought by shareholders in respect of such acts. In addition, it may be difficult to prevail in a
claim against the Company under, or to enforce liabilities predicated upon, U.S. securities laws.
2.5

Financial risk factors

2.5.1

Foreign currency risk

Although the re-evaluation of the Peruvian Nuevo Sol to the US dollar could be an issue, the impact would be
relatively limited as 85% of the costs as well as all the debt are labelled in US dollar, the currency used to secure
worldwide fishmeal contracts.

2.5.2

Interest rate risk

Approximately 90% of the Copeinca Group’s debt has variable interest rate with a fixed a credit spread over
LIBOR. Changes in the LIBOR rate will affect interest rates of the group. Most of Copeinca´s current debt,
including a recent loan for USD 185 million signed with Credit Suisse and other banks has an interest rate of
LIBOR plus 3.5%. The Copeinca Group’s future development and growth may be dependent on access to external
capital, in the form of debt and/or equity capital. A lack of access to such capital or material changes in the terms
and conditions relating to the same, could limit the group’s future growth and strategy.
Copeinca’s financial structure and estimates are based upon an economic development of the Copeinca Group in
more or less stable and predictable markets, with more or less stable prices of fishmeal and fish oil. Should the
market conditions deteriorate for a long period of time, Copeinca might, due to the covenants in its loan
agreement with Credit Suisse, be forced into a renegotiation or refinancing of the loans outstanding.
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2.5.3

Exchange rate risk

Investors will be exposed to currency fluctuations between the trading currency (Norwegian Krone) and the
currencies that Copeinca Group will be trading in, mainly US dollar, Peruvian Nuevo Sol and Euro.
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3

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD

This Prospectus has been prepared in connection with the listing of 18,200,000 new Copeinca ASA shares on Oslo
Børs. The board of directors of Copeinca ASA accepts responsibility for the information contained in this
Prospectus.
The board of directors of Copeinca ASA hereby declares that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such
is the case, the information contained in this Prospectus is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the
facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import.

December 2007
The Board of Directors of Copeinca ASA

Christian Selmer

Samuel Dyer Ampudia

Chairman

Vice Chairman

Mimi Berdal

Wilfredo Caceres Monroe

Board member

Board member

Rosa Coriat Valera

Piero Dyer Coriat

Board member

Board member

Sergio Dyer Osorio

Isabelle Gresvig

Board member

Board member

Ivan Orlic Ticeran

Synne Syrrist

Board member

Board member
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4

STATUTORY AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS (“PwC”) is, and has been since the Company’s incorporation, the auditor of Copeinca
ASA. Their address is Karenslyst allé 12, 0245 Oslo, Norway.
PwC is a member of Den Norske Revisorforening (the Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants).
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5

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The historical financial statements for 2006, 2005 and 2004 included in this Prospectus are those of Copeinca
Peru, which was the parent company of the Copeinca Group until January 2007. These historical financial
statements will, however, under IFRS also constitute the historical financial statements of the new holding
company of the Copeinca Group, being Copeinca ASA. The financial statements for third quarter 2007 are those of
Copeinca ASA.
Copeinca ASA was incorporated on 24 November 2006 as a subsidiary of Copeinca Peru. Copeinca Spain was
incorporated on 15 December 2006, by contribution in kind of 99,9999% of the shares in Copeinca Peru. The
incorporating shareholders of Copeinca Spain were identical to the shareholders of Copeinca Peru. On 11 January
2007 the equity in Copeinca ASA was written down to zero, while at the same time, the shareholders in Copeinca
Spain contributed their shares in Copeinca Spain to Copeinca ASA as contribution in kind. The remaining 0,0001%
of the shares in Copeinca Peru were also transferred to Copeinca ASA.
Following the above incorporations and contributions Copeinca ASA became as of January 2007 the new ultimate
holding company of the Copeinca Group, which financial history is the financial history of Copeinca Peru. Since
this was completed as a reorganisation (rather than as a transaction) with full continuity in accordance with IFRS,
all historical financial information in the Prospectus therefore constitutes the historical financial information of the
group, now having Copeinca ASA as its ultimate holding company.
The information in the table above has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of
Copeinca ASA for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2006 and the unaudited consolidated interim financial
information for the nine month period ended 30 September 2007, both included as attachments to this
prospectus.
Table 5-1: Historical summary financials
Historical summary financials (IFRS)
In USD ´000

Sales
Gross profit
EBITDA (1)
Operating profit
Profit for the period and the year

Three months ended
31 March
31 March
2007
2006
Unaudited Unaudited

Six months ended
30 June
30 June
2007
2006
Unaudited Unaudited

Nine months ended
30 September 30 September
2007
2006
Unaudited
Unaudited

Financial year ended 31 December
2006
Audited

2005
Audited

2004
Audited

21,690
12,461
8,223
5,120
481

23,718
11,110
8,949
6,870
3,359

48,828
19,783
12,847
7,949
1,360

40,906
18,745
14,783
10,677
6,595

80,580
29,545
17,427
7,031
2,479

63,460
27,746
21,136
14,354
6,965

89,888
44,426
35,480
23,587
10,014

82,290
25,617
14,462
11,917
1,001

86,674
24,616
15,107
10,154
2,858

Sales Growth
Gross Profit Margin (%)
EBITDA Margin (%)
Operating Profit Margin (%)

-8.55%
12.16%
-8.11%
-25.47%

21.70%
195.70%
395.80%
571.60%

4.70%
5.50%
-13.10%
-25.60%

7.50%
45.80%
36.10%
26.10%

26.90%
6.50%
-17.60%
-51.00%

-2.60%
42.70%
112.50%
12.50%

9.20%
49.40%
39.50%
26.20%

-5.10%
31.10%
18.20%
10.70%

43.90%
28.40%
17.40%
11.70%

Total Assets
Working Capital (2)
Long Term Liabilities
Capital Expenditures (3)
Total Equity

389,394
69,915
41,447
80,924
194,883

28,095
-14,173
-19,392
1,033
4,903

654,999
111,980
117,152
90,312
335,664

153,068
-6,434
42,711
3,115
40,137

796,140
24,716
331,961
151,850
336,809

186,549
-9,014
106,405
4,050
40,827

187,208
-18,029
81,156
40,538
47,077

138,873
-5,665
65,482
53,519
32,731

90,698
-9,643
20,238
7,867
33,151

Source: Company Information
* Copeinca ASA
** Copeinca Peru
Note: (1) Working Capital is defined as total current assets minus total current liabilities
(2) Capital Expenditures include assets acquired under finance leases
(3) Numbers for the corresponding period in 2006 are not available since Copeinca ASA was incorporated in
November 2006
There have been no significant changes in the financial or trading position of Copeinca Peru since 30 September
2007.
Selected historical financial information regarding Copeinca Peru and Copeinca ASA is set out in chapter 18 –
“Historical Financial information”.
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6

INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

6.1

Incorporation, registered office and registration number

Copeinca ASA was incorporated in Norway on 24 November 2006. The Company’s registration number is
990 565 791. The Company is a public limited liability company pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited
Companies Act, governed by the laws of Norway. Copeinca ASA’s registered office is at c/o Thommessen Krefting
Greve Lund AS, Haakon VIIs gate 10, Oslo, Norway. The Company’s postal address is c/o Progresso AS, 6901
Førde, Norway. The Copeinca Group’s telephone number is +47 47 22 83 09 70 and its website is
www.copeinca.com.
Copeinca Spain was incorporated on 15 December 2006, by contribution in kind of 99.9999% of the shares in
Copeinca Peru. The incorporating shareholders of Copeinca Spain were identical to the shareholders of Copeinca
Peru. On 11 January 2007 the equity in Copeinca ASA was written down to zero, while at the same time, the
shareholders in Copeinca Spain contributed their shares in Copeinca Spain to Copeinca ASA as contribution in
kind. The remaining 0.0001% of the shares in Copeinca Peru were also transferred to Copeinca ASA. Following
the reorganisation, Copeinca ASA became the ultimate parent company of the Copeinca Group.
Copeinca Spain is a Spanish limited company with address La Gran Via no 45, Bilbao, Spain.
Copeinca Peru was incorporated in Peru in July 1994 and is a private limited liability company governed by the
laws of Peru with address Calle Francisco Graña 155, Urb. Sta. Catalina, Lima 13 Peru.
See chapter 9 – “Organisational structure” for further information on the entities in the Copeinca Group.
6.2

History and development

Prior to the establishment of Copeinca ASA in November 2006 and Copeinca Spain in December 2006, Copeinca
Peru was owned 76% by D&C Group S.A.C and 24% by Acero Holding S.A.C.
Copeinca Peru was founded by the Dyer family in 1994 and has since then been one of the fastest-growing
companies in the Peruvian fishmeal and fish oil industry. The company started out with the Bayovar plant and a
processing capacity of 70 MT/h, and in 13 years has grown its processing capacity to 1,288 MT/h. Copeinca Peru
acquired its first three vessels, with a total capacity of 600m3 in 1996, and has grown its total vessel capacity
more than 37 fold in nine years, currently operating 65 anchovy vessels with a total capacity of 21,935 mȽ. The
company’s management team has been transformed in recent years, bringing in strong individuals and
revolutionizing its corporate governance.
An overview of the Copeinca Group’s history is given below:
Table 6-1: Milestones in the Copeinca Group’s history
YEAR

MILESTONES

1994

Corporacion Pesquera Inca S.A. founded and acquisition of first plant at Bayovar

1996

First three vessels acquired with total capacity of 600m3

2000

Supe plant and acquisition of Chicama plant land. Vessel fleet capacity increased to
1,700m3

2001

Chicama plant operational. Vessel fleet capacity increase to 2,600m3

2003

Vessel fleet capacity increased to 4,300m3

2004

Vessel fleet capacity increased to 5,000m3

2005

SAP implementation process begun (completed in April 2006)

2005

Credit Suisse loan of USD 31 million and other sources used to finance the acquisition of
Del Mar (USD 22 million), including plants at Paita and Huarmey, and of the Casma plant
(USD 4.5 million) as well as to finance operations (USD 4.5 million). Vessel fleet capacity
increased to 8,800m3

2006

Exclusive agreement with Jadran for purchase of raw material from vessels representing a
capacity of 2,350m3

2006

Copeinca ASA and Copeinca Spain incorporated. Private placement performed, raising USD
100 million

2007

Reorganisation of the Copeinca Group completed. Copeinca ASA lists on Oslo Børs
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YEAR

MILESTONES

2007

Copeinca ASA acquired Jadran in March, Pesquera Newton S.A. in March, San Fermin in
May, Fish Protein and Ribar in June, PFB in July and Piangesa in September.

2007

Copeinca signed a USD 185 M Loan with Credit Suisse, Glitnir, BBVA and West LB in June

2007

Copeinca ASA performed Private Placement II in June, raising NOK 780 million

6.3

Investments and acquisitions

In 2004, Copeinca Peru converted 30 MT/h of FAQ capacity into SD capacity at Chicama through a USD 0.7
million investment. The company also acquired two vessels with a total capacity of 700mȽ for USD 6.1 million.
Copeinca Peru grew significantly in 2005 acquiring three plants with 260MT/h capacity, of which 80MT/h in SD,
and 11 vessels with 3,800 m3 overall capacity. The total investment was approx. USD 38 million, mostly financed
by a USD 31 million loan from Credit Suisse.
In March 2007, Copeinca Peru exercised its option to acquire Jadran S.A. at an equity purchase price of approx.
NOK 20,000 (USD 3,200) together with the assumption of USD 24.55 million in debt, of which USD 19.8 million
was repaid immediately, see section 17.1 –“Jadran S.A.”. That same month, Copeinca Peru acquired Corporación
Pesquera Newton for USD 23 million, see section 21 – “Material contracts”.
In May 2007 Copeinca Peru acquired San Fermin for USD 44 million, see section 11 – “Acquisitions”.
In June 2007 Copeinca ASA acquired Fish Protein and Ribar for USD 110 million, see section 11 – “Acquisitions”.
Since acquisitions of Fish Protein and Ribar took place after the first fishing season, these companies counted with
a high stock of fishmeal and fish oil that had to be accounted for through an addendum over the original purchase
agreement. Additionally, Fish Protein and Ribar included in their assets a direct human consumption plant valued
in USD 5 million. The total price paid for Fish Protein and Ribar was USD 130 million and USD 51 million for PFB,
which includes the USD 5.6 million debt Copeinca incurred at the time of the purchase.
In July 2007, Copeinca ASA acquired PFB for USD 39 million, see section 11 – “Acquisitions”. The acquisition of
PFB went through a similar price adjustment process as for Fish Protein and Ribar since it also counted with a
high stock of inventory and its final price was USD 51 million.
In September 2007, Copeinca Peru acquired Piangesa for USD 106 million, see section 11 - “Acquisitions”. The
acquisition of Piangesa involves the move of the Huarmey plant´s equipment since the land and infrastructure
where it currently operates were not included in the transaction. The moving of this will take place within approx
one year.
By January 2008 the relocation of the plant in Paita to Ilo, located in the south of the country, close to Chilean
border, will be finalized. This is in order to follow its plans to have presence in the “non ban” area, which is
southern parallel 16° S. the plant is 90 mt/h capacity, and within two years will be converted to full SD fishmeal
processing. This project has required an investment of USD 6.5 million.
The total amount invested in acquisitions during 2007 is approx. USD 373.8 million, and has been funded through
a USD 185 million mandated loan agreement led by Credit Suisse, and equity raised through the private
placements conducted in January (USD 100 million) and June of the current year, see section 27.1 – “Private
Placement I – Acquisition of Fish Protein and Ribar” and section 27.2 – “Private Placement II”. The relocation of a
plant from Paita to Ilo and the conversion of the capacity of the plant in Bayovar from FAQ to SD will be financed
with a combination of equity and debt.
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7

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

7.1

Business description

The business operations of the Copeinca Group are carried out by Copeinca Peru.
Copeinca Peru is focused on producing fishmeal and fish oil and is part of the whole fishmeal value chain from
harvesting to distribution. The company operates vessels that catch anchovy off the coast of Peru. The catches,
as well as anchovy bought from third parties and an administrated fleet, are then processed into fishmeal and fish
oil in the twelve plants owned by Copeinca Peru. Over 90% of the company’s finished products are exported
around the world.
As it is essential for the final product quality to process the anchovy within a few hours of catching, it is
sometimes necessary to sell the catch to a third party due the distribution of catches along the Peruvian coast.
This applies mainly to catches in the southern part of the Peruvian coastline as the company does not operate
factories in that region. Fish oil is a by-product of fishmeal, and on average the anchovy yields currently 3.5% of
the total weight of the catch.
Marketing and sales of fishmeal are operated directly with clients and also through agents, representatives and
brokers located in various countries around the world.
7.2

The Company’s vision, mission and strategy

Copeinca ASA has as its vision that the Copeinca Group shall become a leading fishmeal group worldwide, and as
its mission to supply high-quality fish products to meet the market’s demands. To this end, it exploits fishery
resources in a responsible and efficient manner thanks to its workers’ commitment and knowledge, supported by
appropriate technology. The Copeinca Group has always been very supportive of the government implementation
of the control of resources in order to maintain sustainability of the biomass.
For the next two to three years, the Copeinca Group plans to continue to consolidate its market share
concentrating its acquisitions on vessels, since in an ITQ system, quotas will be allocated according to existing
fishing licenses.
7.3

Overview of the Copeinca Group’s operations

The Company’s subsidiary, Copeinca Peru, produces its fishmeal and fish oil from anchovy harvested off the coast
of Peru. Peru currently operates under an “Olympic quota system”, and Copeinca Peru now represents approx.
12% of the total anchovy catch in Peru (excluding catch off the south coast of Peru).
Copeinca Peru employs a crew of 1,320 on a temporary basis on board its 65 vessels. On average one fifth of the
crew is kept on during non-fishing seasons for maintenance purposes. Copeinca Peru has contracts with eight
privately-owned vessels with a capacity of 1,676m3. Combined with Copeinca Peru’s own fleet, this represents
11% of the total capacity of the Peruvian anchovy fleet (including wood fleet). The company also operates twelve
plants with strategic locations in the central, northern and southern part of Peru. Approximately 85-90% of the
total annual anchovy catch is harvested off the Centre South to North part of the Peruvian coast (the South part
of Peru operates under a different system with separate quotas). The total capacity of Copeinca Peru’s plants is
1,288 MT/h , representing 14.5% of the total 8,904 MT/h capacity in Peru. The plants are located in Bayovar,
Chicama, Chimbote, Casma, Huarmey, Chancay and Ilo. Copeinca Peru employs approx. 1,250 people in its
twelve plants, most of whom are part-time although on average approx. 35% of these employees are employed
all year long even during non-production periods for maintenance purposes.
The majority of the company’s production is exported. China represents the main exports market with approx. a
third of 2006 revenues. Other key countries for export are Japan, Germany, Canada, Chile and Denmark. With
the increased demand for fishmeal, Copeinca Peru has shifted its sales strategy towards selecting better quality
long term customers and focusing on fewer more profitable customers. In 2006, the top five customers
represented 34% of the company’s total sales.
Copeinca Peru produces 165,000 – 185,000 MT of fishmeal annually, depending on annual country quota. The
fishmeal products are split into two categories: Fair Average Quality (“FAQ”) and Steam Dried (“SD”) which is a
premium product. Copeinca Peru currently has a processing capacity of 763 MT/h of FAQ fishmeal and 525 MT/h
of SD fishmeal. Historically, fish oil output averages 3.5% of the total weight of the catch, but in 2006 it averaged
5.5%, representing approx. 16% of the total sales. In 2006 FAQ represented approx. 51% of total fishmeal sales
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by value. However, Copeinca Peru is placing more focus on the more valuable SD fishmeal and plans to increase
the SD production capacity by converting some of the FAQ capacity in the next two to five years with around 75%
of the capacity devoted to SD by 2010.
Copeinca Peru is one of the largest fishmeal and fish oil producers in Peru, and has been one of the fastest
growing companies in the Peruvian fishmeal and fish oil industry over the last few years. Peru is the single largest
producer and exporter of fishmeal representing 27% of 2006 production volumes and 39% of 2006 export
volumes. It is also the single largest producer of fishoil representing 30% of 2005 production volumes and 39% of
2005 export volumes. The fishmeal and fish oil industry represented 5.6% of the total exports from Peru in value
terms in 2006. In 2006 Copeinca Peru represented approx. 5.5% of Peruvian fishmeal and fish oil exports by
value.
7.4

Harvesting

Currently the sole source allowed for processing fishmeal in Peru is anchovy. Other suitable species for producing
fishmeal and fish oil are sardine, mackerel and jack mackerel; but the Peruvian government has limited the
harvesting of these species to human consumption only. However in unusual circumstances such as El Niño, the
Ministry of Production might allow, on a case by case basis, for other species to be used. Copeinca Peru’s vessels
are also equipped and licensed to harvest sardine, which historically has an inverse relationship with the biomass
size of anchovy. Over the last few years the biomass of sardine has been very limited.
On average it takes one full day (around 20 hours) for a vessel to travel to the fishing zone, fish, return to the
stores and discharge; however it can take a few days to locate a suitable biomass. All of the Copeinca vessels are
equipped to stay out at sea for several days at a time. It is important for the quality of the finished product to
process the catch as soon as possible and therefore the vessels may sail for unloading despite not having a full
load. Due to the time sensitivity of bringing the raw material for processing, the vessels generally do not go
further from shore than 40 to 50 miles away from the coast. The average crew size for each vessel is 17.
Under the current Olympic quota system there are two fishing seasons per year. The Ministry of Production
decides a total allowable catch (“TAC”) for the season, the starting date of that season and the maximum
duration based on information from IMARPE. The length of each season is determined by the rapidity by which
the TAC is reached. The first season usually starts in March/April and lasts until June/July. The second season
usually starts in October/November and lasts until December. Within each period the licensed vessels are allowed
to catch as much as they are able to until the overall TAC is reached. At that time, all fishing has to come to an
end until the next season.
Table 7-1: 2000-2006 Copeinca Peru’s historical anchovy catch
CALENDAR YEAR

MT (000)

2000

71

2001

120

2002

185

2003

175

2004

320

2005

295

2006(1)
246
Source: Company Information
Note: (1) 2006 catch figures includes the catch by Jadran since September 2006
7.5

Supply

On top of the fish caught by its own vessels, the company processes fish bought at market price from third
parties on the open market as well as from an administrated fleet of currently eight vessels through yearly
contracts. Those contracts with privately-owned vessels representing a capacity of 1,676mȽ allow Copeinca Peru
to buy the anchovy they catch at market price. The contracts have been in place for many years, however there
is always a risk that they might not all be renewed and thereby Copeinca Peru would loose a portion of its supply.
The company has been continuously increasing its own fleet size to fuel its growth. Therefore the portion of its
production sourced by third parties has decreased. It is Copeinca Peru’s intention to keep on purchasing fish from
third parties in order to maximize plants’ capacity utilization rate and profits.
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In Bayovar, the wood fleet represents approx. 20% of the overall Peruvian wood fleet catch capacity. These small
players do not own any plant and therefore have to sell their catch to third parties while Copeinca Peru has the
largest plant in the region. The company, which purchases fish from the wood fleet, benefits from a strong supply
from third parties, and therefore controls approx. 50% of the landings around the area of Sechura Bay, allowing
for a high utilization rate of its plant capacity.
7.6

Processing

The vessels unload their catch in barges located 500 to 1,000 metres off shore, except at the Bayovar and
Chimbote plants which have a pier. The anchovy is pumped from the barges or piers to the bins through a
submarine (or aerial) pipe line. Once the anchovy is in the storage bins it goes through various stages in its
transformation into fishmeal and fish oil.
Two different types of fishmeal are produced: FAQ (Fair Average Quality) which is the traditional process and SD
(Steam Dry) which is of higher quality. These two processes are relatively similar except for the drying and
cooling stages.
Figure 7-1: Process flowchart for FAQ fishmeal

Source: Company Information
Figure 7-2: Process flowchart for SD fishmeal
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Source: Company Information
The process starts with the feeding of the raw material from the bins to the cookers, where a temperature up to
95-96°C is applied. This allows protein coagulation and sterilisation of the product. Then it goes through strainers
and presses, where the liquids are separated from the solids. These liquids go through the decanters and
centrifuges and are then separated into three different parts: crude oil which is sent for storage in tanks, solids
which are added to the solids coming out from presses, and stickwater which is led to the evaporator in order to
produce concentrate that is then added to the press cake at a later stage. Up to this point the processes of FAQ
and SD are the same with the exception of the evaporation station, where SD uses falling film evaporators with
lower temperatures resulting in better protein content, better quality of concentrate and more dried product than
with the conventional type of evaporators. The falling film evaporators use the excess heat of the first drying
stage and therefore no steam is needed for this purpose which is more economical and results in less air
contamination.
The second stage of the process is where most of the differences between the two products appear, and they are
mostly related to the drying method. In the FAQ process, the drying is made in two stages, however both stages
use direct flame dryers where gas coming out of a combustion chamber is directly applied to the fishmeal. The
FAQ fishmeal does not go through specific coolers and is only cooled down while transported from the drying
stage to where preserves are added and the product is packaged. The temperature at the end of the process is
generally 40-45°C. In the SD process the mixture of press solids, decanter solids and concentrate from the
evaporators also go through two drying stages. The first stage consists of either rotadisk or rotatube dryers both
of which use steam as a heating medium. This reduces the moisture of the SD mix from 55% to 18-22%. The
excess heat (vapours) coming out from the dryers in the first drying stage are used as heating media for the
evaporators. The second drying stage is a hot air dryer that uses any type of heating media to warm up air which
is blown inside a rotating drum, and dries the fishmeal down to 8% moisture. Finally, the fishmeal goes through a
cooler to bring the temperature down to 30-35°C, and then goes through a milling station, and the last stage is
the adding of preserves before the product is packaged.
Although the raw material is the same, the two different processes result in two different products. The fish oil on
the other hand is the same.
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Copeinca Peru currently has a processing capacity of 763 MT/h of FAQ fishmeal (49% of total capacity) and 525
MT/h of SD fishmeal (51% of total capacity). In 2006, the fish oil output averaged 5.5% of total weight of the
catch , representing approx. 16% of the sales. (This may vary depending on fish composition)
Figure 7-3: Copeinca Peru’s processing capacity breakdown

Steam-Dried
Fishmeal
51%

FAQ
fishmeal
49%

Source: Company Information
As a result of the difference between the production processes of FAQ and SD fishmeal the quality,
characteristics, usage and price differs between the two types. SD fishmeal is produced at lower overall
5

temperatures which results in higher protein content than in FAQ fishmeal. SD enjoys a lower histamine level
6

and also a higher digestibility i.e. the yield is higher. SD fishmeal is mainly used in aquaculture while FAQ meal
is used for pork, poultry, ruminants, and other animals, and also in aquaculture.
Up to November 2007 the average price of FAQ and SD fishmeal has been FOB USD 867/MT and FOB USD
995/MT respectively, with an average price of FOB USD 931/MT. In 2006 the average price of FAQ and SD
fishmeal was FOB USD 907/MT and FOB USD 973/MT respectively, with an average of FOB USD 939/MT.
7.7

Handling and shipping

Products are sold in FAS, FOB and CFR (Incoterms 2000) for exports and ex warehouse for local sales. All
transportation is outsourced.
In the case of fishmeal, transportation covers two stages: from the bagging area to the company’s or third party’s
warehouse and then from the warehouse to the port.
The warehouses are either located within the plant complex (Chimbote, Casma, Huarmey and Chancay plants) or
nearby (warehouse of Chicama plant is three km away), or located close to a main port of export (Bayovar plant).
Transportation within the plant and nearby locations is handled by small local companies. Transportation and
warehousing in the case of Bayovar and Paita are handled by Ransa, a large local company affiliated with the
Romero Group. Half of warehouse capacity is owned by Copeinca Peru and balance capacity is leased from third
parties.
For exported finished products which constitute over 90% of the sales, the second stage of the transportation
process is from the warehouse to the port. Following a selection process, Copeinca Peru has appointed
Transoceanic and Neptunia, logistics operators certified by BASC and GMP B2. The cost of transportation includes
insurance provided by the service supplier. In order to ensure the highest level of security for the finished goods
leaving the plant, Copeinca Peru supervises every movement by providing additional security vehicles that
accompany the product from the warehouses to the port.
In the case of fish oil, there can be one or two steps transportation requirements from the plant to the terminal
port, depending on the location of the plant and type of packing.

5

The lower the histamine level, the fresher the product is

6

Weight gained by animal/fish over total food eaten
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7.8

Sales, marketing and customers

7.8.1

Sales

Copeinca Peru currently has a sales team of four people servicing over 60 customers. The company has been
shifting its focus towards SD fishmeal sales in recent years and in 2006 SD fishmeal accounted for approx. 49%
of sales by value.
Figure 7-4: 2006 Copeinca Peru’s fishmeal sales breakdown by product
BREAKDOWN BY VALUE

BREAKDOWN BY VOLUME

Super
Prime
9%

Super
Prime
10%

Prime
28%

FAQ
50%

FAQ
52%

Prime
27%

Standard
12%

Standard
12%
Source: Company Information
Note: Standard, prime and super prime are quality categories of SD fishmeal

7.8.2

Promotion

Due to the increased demand for fishmeal and fish oil while supply remains stable, Copeinca Peru has been
establishing a different strategy for marketing the company’s products. Instead of promoting them through a
stand or booth at seafood shows, the company has started to promote its products by visiting the main and/or
growing markets with the purpose of shifting its sales strategy towards selecting better quality customers and
focusing on fewer more profitable customers.

7.8.3

Distribution and customers

The customer profile is estimated to be 48% feed mill plants, 15% importers and 37% traders who serve mainly
the aquaculture sector, which represented most of the company’s total sales in 2006. Importers are companies
which take physical ownership of the stock at the moment of imports and can play the role of wholesalers or
distributors while traders are those who own the cargo only on paper which they can then sell afterwards to an
importer.
Figure 7-5: 2006 Copeinca Peru’s customer profile

Importer
15%

Feed Mill
48%
Trader
37%

Source: Company Information
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Copeinca Peru has four different distribution channels. Approximately 60% of sales is done directly to the clients.
A limited percentage of sales are channelled through a broker or an agent. Brokers are the only kind of
intermediary that the company pays any sales commission to. Agents do not work with any company on an
exclusive basis and may act for a range of different clients. Finally, representatives, which account for about a
quarter of the sales, are agents working on an exclusive basis for a specific company. The company has put
emphasise on increasing the proportion of the direct sales over the last few years. This ensures better margins for
the company and a more direct contact with clients allowing to understand their needs better.
Figure 7-6: 2006 Copeinca Peru’s distribution channels

Broker
12%
Agent
13%

Direct
59%

Representative
16%

Source: Company Information
Copeinca Peru is placing more emphasis on building customer programs and shifting away from spot customers.

7.8.4

Export

The majority of the company’s production is exported. China represents by far the largest exporting market with
33% of the 2006 sales by value and 36% by volume. Other countries include Japan, Germany, Canada, Chile,
Denmark, Norway, Australia and Indonesia.
Figure 7-7: 2006 Copeinca Peru’s main export markets
BREAKDOWN BY VALUE
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Source: Company Information
In 2006 the top five customers represented 34% of the company’s total sales by value while the top ten
represent 57%.
The tables below give an overview of Copeinca Group’s ten largest geographical markets for fishmeal in each of
2006, 2005 and 2004:
Table 7-2: Fishmeal sales 2006, 2005 and 2004.
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Geographical market
China
Japan
Germany
Canada
Chile
Australia
Norway
Vietnam
Venezuela
Indonesia
Other countries

Geographical market
China
Germany
Norway
Honduras
Indonesia
Taiwan
Vietnam
Russia
Guatemala
Brazil
Other countries

Geographical market
China
Germany
Turkey
Japan
Taiwan
Lithuania
Rumania
Arabia
USA
Chile
Other countries

2006
Fishmeal
Sales
32,069,359
11,529,360
11,192,348
7,254,628
3,671,658
3,636,183
3,130,665
2,935,553
1,942,254
1,889,041
9,436,338
88,687,387
2005
Fishmeal
Sales
56,734,636
6,131,333
3,430,061
2,004,170
1,639,775
1,425,891
1,101,105
871,378
776,319
625,808
4,475,715
79,216,191
2004
Fishmeal
Sales
37,889,924
10,267,552
4,961,869
3,539,727
2,828,656
2,648,935
1,375,258
1,242,421
1,203,351
1,078,327
11,103,646
78,139,665

%
36.16
13.00
12.62
8.18
4.14
4.10
3.53
3.31
2.19
2.13
10.64

%
71.62
7.74
4.33
2.53
2.07
1.80
1.39
1.10
0.98
0.79
5.65

%
48.49
13.14
6.35
4.53
3.62
3.39
1.76
1.59
1.54
1.38
14.21

The table below gives an overview of Copeinca Group’s geographical markets for fish oil for 2006, 2005 and
2004:
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Table 7-5: Fish oil sales 2006, 2005 and 2004

Geographical market
Canada
Norway
Chile
Denmark
Australia
USA
Belgium
Netherlands
Japan
England
China
Total

2006 Fish
Oil Sales
1,098,081
94,848
2,401
2,161
2,041
1,081
0
0
0
0
0
1,200,613

Geographical market
Canada
Norway
Chile
Denmark
Australia
USA
Belgium
Netherlands
Japan
England
China
Total

2005 Fish
Oil Sales
0
0
2,190,704
0
0
0
883,105
0
0
0
0
3,073,809

0.00
0.00
71.27
0.00
0.00
0.00
28.73
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
100.00

Geographical market
Canada
Norway
Chile
Denmark
Australia
USA
Belgium
Netherlands
Japan
England
China
Total

2004 Fish
Oil Sales
1,332,210
893,545
2,819,744
0
0
0
616,179
1,204,195
1,075,326
559,852
33,284
8,534,335

%
15.61
10.47
33.04
0.00
0.00
0.00
7.22
14.11
12.60
6.56
0.39
100.00

7.8.5

%
91.46
7.90
0.20
0.18
0.17
0.09
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
100.00

%

Relocation

In the short/medium term, the company plans to move parts of its sales team from Peru to Spain. This will allow
the company to better serve its customers which are mainly located in Asia and Europe by reducing the time
difference between those clients and the sales force. This new structure should allow the sales team to increase
the service level to Copeinca Peru’s customers, to improve the understanding of their needs and to answer their
queries in a timelier manner.
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7.9

Certifications

7.9.1

GMP B2

Copeinca Peru, as a fishmeal and fish oil producer, forms part of the food chain and, to meet the increasingly
stringent requirements of the European market, has had its Bayovar, Chicama, Casma and Huarmey facilities
undergo a Good Manufacturing Practices 13 (GMP B2) certification process in an effort to remain a leading
supplier to European customers.
GMP B2 is a quality control system applied by feed manufacturers to guarantee the safety of food products
supplied to final consumers.
It is a preventive control system that guarantees the innocuousness of feedstuffs for animals and, indirectly, for
human beings, as they consume the animals (poultry, fish, beef etc.) at the end of the food chain.
GMP B2 is a quality management tool because it is based on HACCP and ISO 9001 that specifically regulate food
safety and food quality, respectively.
This quality control system provides certain Rules of Behaviour that are focused on animal foodstuff protection
and safety, making sure that people engaged in the animal foodstuff manufacturing process understand the
importance of good cleaning practices in general, including health, process control, and hygiene.
The GMP B2 certification applies to the entire process, from the unloading of raw material to the shipping of
finished products, and is related to all operating procedures involved in the process, such as sales, fulfilment of
product specifications offered to customers, document control, etc.
This certification process has to be renewed yearly and end of this year Copeinca Peru must migrate to a new
version of this Certification “IFIS.”

7.9.2

BASC

Copeinca Peru has also obtained Business Alliance for Secure Commerce (“BASC”) certification. This standard
management tool provides a secure global supply chain by addressing the risks of narcotics, terrorism and
merchandise smuggling. It is essential to protect companies, workers, and the community in general.
In view that BASC is a preventive system, it aims to anticipate the risk of infiltration in Copeinca’s product
shipments, which implies controlling operating processes, personnel, access, infrastructure, suppliers, and even
customers.
BASC is a business program established by the private sector with the support of US customs as well as national
and international public organizations.
It promotes among foreign trade operators (exporters, customs agents, cargo agents, carriers, warehouses and
other logistics operators) the Normalization and Standardization of safety procedures in the export chain,
preventing the risks associated with drug trafficking and terrorism that affect the Company’s image.
This certification process has to be renewed yearly.
7.10

Country overview

Peru is located in western South America bordering Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia and Ecuador. Its coast is 3,080
km long giving Peru privileged access to the Pacific Ocean. Peru has a population of approximately 27 million
people growing at approx. 1.5% per annum. The vast majority of the population is located in the cities with urban
population representing 72% of the total. The country’s capital, Lima, and the Callao region house just below
32% of the population. Peru’s poverty level7 is at 52%2, with 19%2 of the population living in extreme poverty1;
however the literacy rate is 89%8.

7

The poverty level represents the percentage of people with income or consumption per capita that is lower than the cost of a
total basket of goods and minimal essential services over the total population. Extreme Poverty represents the percentage of
people with income or consumption per capita that is lower than the value of a minimal basket of food over the total population
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Mr. Alan Garcia, the leader of the centre-left Partido Aprista Peruano (“Apra”) was inaugurated as president for a
five-year term in July 2006. Apra has 36 of 120 seats in the Congress.
Peruvian GDP has experienced steady growth in recent years, rising 22.4% between 2001 and 2005,
outperforming the world average of 20.0% over that period9. GDP growth is expected to be 6.0% in 2007 and
was 7.8% in 200610. Inflation has been minimal over the last five years between 0.2% in 2002 and 3.7% in 2004.
The inflation rate in 2006 was 2.7% and forecasted at 2.2% for 2007, below the world’s average estimated at
3.8% and 3.7% for 2006 and 2007 respectively.11 Price stability, improving fiscal accounts, public debt decrease,
strong external accounts, private investment growth, steady improvement in employment and a rise in consumer
and business confidence has contributed to a healthy and sustainable economic platform.
7.11

Marine regulatory environment

7.11.1

Fishing regulation

General Fishing law (LD 25977) and its Regulations (SD 012-2001-PE) establish that the government is
responsible for the promotion of the sustainable development of the fishing sector through environmental
preservation and resource sustainability. This is achieved by establishing fishing quotas and seasons, regulating
extraction methods and defining minimum fish sizes. The law also states that licences, concessions or
authorizations will be given according to the stage of exploitation of the species. The Fishing Law controls the
industry through infrastructure concessions, through licenses to operate fishing vessels under Peruvian or foreign
flags and through licenses to operate processing plants. No new licenses have been issued since 1992.
Since 2001 it has been prohibited to either establish new processing plants or increase the capacity of existing
ones. It is also prohibited since 2003 to re-locate existing fishmeal processing plants to ports, bays or their
influence areas in Paita, Sechura, Chimbote, Huacho, Chancay, Coishco, Samanco, Callao, Malabrigo and Pisco
(Paracas) as the government has deemed that any addition of plants to these areas could have a damaging
impact on the environment.
The high concentration of production units at various ports was identified as a potential cause of environmental
problems. To reduce this environmental risk, the Peruvian government established laws implementing measures
that require the submission of environmental impact assessment reports (“EIA”) for new fishing activities and the
implementation of environmental management programs by those companies already operating (“PAMA”). A
producer interested in engaging in fishing activities by building a factory in replacement of an existing one has
therefore to appoint an independent entity, approved by the government, to perform this assessment.
The Peruvian fishing industry is highly regulated and professionally supervised. Since 1981 the Ministry of
Production has based its total allowable catch (“TAC”) as well as start dates and duration of fishing seasons on
scientific research of marine and biodiversity performed by the Instituto del Mar del Peru (“IMARPE”). Fishing ban
seasons are determined by the Vice Ministry of Fishing and exact capture periods cannot be specified before the
season is underway, although historically these have been from March/April to June/July and October/November
to December. Restricted areas are established where industrial ships are not allowed to catch anchovy and this is
enforced through satellite surveillance.
The existing Peruvian “Olympic” quota system historically led to a significant amount of illegal fishing. In 2003 the
government and market players estimated that the illegal volumes supplemented the official stocks by around
20% of the declared formal fishing allowances12. Illegal fishing existed in many forms including vessels fishing
without licenses, vessels catching more tonnage than authorized, fishing of unauthorized species for fishmeal
(such as jack mackerel, chub mackerel and sardine, the fishing of which is reserved for direct human
consumption in Peru), vessels using the license of another vessel and vessels appearing with the name and
papers of another authorized vessel (cloned vessels). The scale and the complexity of the problem required a
strong and organized approach to tackling it. Therefore the Peruvian Fishing Authorities, including both

8

Source: APOYO Consultoria

9

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Database for September 2006

10

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Database for June 2007

11

Refer to Note 12

12

Source: SGS
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government and private sector companies, developed an action plan named the Fishery Discharge Control
Program (“FDCP”). In 2004, as a result of FDCP, the government contracted an independent certification company
to perform the surveillance, supervision and enforcement of Peruvian fishing regulation.

7.11.2

IMARPE

The Instituto del Mar del Peru or IMARPE, originally Investigaciones de Recursos Marinos or IREMAR, was created
in 1960 through legislative decree N° 095. It was set up to ensure the sustainability of the Peruvian fishing
resources. IMARPE is a public decentralized entity and the role of the institution is not to supervise, inspect or
control, but rather to study and monitor the environment and marine biodiversity. IMARPE independently
evaluates the condition of the fishing resources and based upon research makes recommendations to the Ministry
of Production with regards to the total allowable biomass catch for the year and as to when each of the fishing
seasons should start as well as maximum duration.

7.11.3

Fishery Discharge Control Program

In January 2004 the Peruvian government contracted the Swiss company - Societe Générale de Surveillance
(“SGS”), the world’s leading inspection, verification, testing and certification company in order to implement the
FDCP. SGS set up offices along the Peruvian coast line, recruited and trained inspectors, implemented procedures
to control the unloading of the fish and collected daily statistical data for the Ministry of Production. The private
fishing sector producers agreed to pay for this service and company contributions vary according to the weight of
caught fish.
There are 104 active fishmeal plants13 along the Peruvian coast, each of which requires monitoring, equating to a
total of 220 control points spread out between the discharging barges and the quays of each factory. Equipped
and trained inspectors monitor these points 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, during the fishing seasons and,
although the number of inspectors is reduced during the fishing bans, surveillance remains in place across all
zones. On the barges, inspectors register and verify the fishing vessel’s data, the license of the vessel and the
species being unloaded. On the quays, inspectors control and report the discharged tonnage and verify the
performance of the weighing instruments in use.
The information provided by SGS provides transparency for the sector as all fishmeal producers are able to daily
access information regarding the tonnages received by all plants via the internet. Each company can benchmark
their performance versus that of other plants, vessels, zones, bays or companies. The information collated also
helped to detect more than 30 cloned vessels during 2004 and the program has proved to have a strong
dissuasive effect against cloning in 2005. Furthermore, SGS work has eliminated illegal fishing of anchovy,
increased tax revenues related to the fishing sector due to the elimination of illegal fishing and stopped fishing
during ban seasons. It has also proved an important tool for the Ministry to fine and penalize plants and vessels
that infringe regulations and to support the long term sustainability of the Peruvian fishing sector.
The contract with SGS was renewed by the government twice, the last one being on 29 May 2006, in force from
20 July 2006 until 17 January 2008.

13

The overall number of factories is 115 (shown in figure 3.11.), however only 104 of them are currently active
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8

PRINCIPAL MARKETS

8.1

Fishmeal & fish oil industry global overview

The global fishmeal production has been relatively stable for the past 16 years, although a significant upward or
downward movement in Peruvian production (such as El Niño in 1998) has a noticeable impact on the world
production index.
Figure 8-1: 1990-2005 Peru and world fishmeal production
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Source: IFFO, Produce, APOYO Consultoria
Note: Index 1990 = 100
Peru is the largest fishmeal and fish oil producer and exporter in the world. Other significant producers include
Chile and the Scandinavian countries.
Figure 8-2: World fishmeal and fish oil production breakdown by country (volume)
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Fishoil production are not 2006 updated since IFFO has not published its figures as of the date of this Prospectus
Fishmeal production in Peru and exports go hand in hand and, similar to the relationship between the world
production and Peruvian production, any significant change in Peruvian exports has a noticeable impact on world
exports.
Figure 8-3: 1990-2005 Peru and world fishmeal exports
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Due to low aquaculture activity and low usage of fishmeal in feed for swine and poultry in Peru, the vast majority
of fishmeal and fish oil is exported. In 2005, 97% of Peruvian produced fishmeal was exported as was 79% of its
fish oil production14. In 2006, Peru accounted for 39% of world fishmeal exports and in 2005 for 39% of fish oil
exports in volume terms15.
Figure 8-4: World fishmeal and fish oil exports breakdown by country (volume)
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Fishoil exports are not 2006 updated since IFFO has not published its figures.
Fishmeal is mainly used for feed in aquaculture as well as for poultry and swine. Since 2002 the aquaculture
portion has increased significantly and is expected to continue to increase in the near future. This rise results
from the increasing demand for seafood products which has significantly impacted on the aquaculture industry.
The main reasons for this development are the increased health consciousness of consumers as well as the more
recent case of bird flu. Furthermore, while the fish resources are stable, the increase of aquaculture worldwide
has substantially increased the demand for fishmeal participating in the price increase of fishmeal.
Aquafeed dominates as the primary use for fish oil at approx. 70% of the total usage of fish oil and its share is
expected to increase even further in the future. It is also used in edible for approx. 20%, a third of which is
Omega 3 related, and industrial for approx. 10% of the total usage of fish oil.

14

Source: Produce

15

Source: IFFO
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The aquaculture demand has been driven by China which now represents a significant portion of the worldwide
imports. Those imports have been driven by an increase in population of around 1% per year since 200416 over a
population of approx. 1.3 billion people as well as an increase of protein (red meat, poultry, seafood)
consumption per capita of 4% per year from 1996 to 200417. According to the FAO, seafood consumption in China
is projected to be 35.9 kg/year per capita in 2020 an increase of 41% compared to 2004 consumption. The higher
consumption of seafood in urban areas, compared to rural areas, indicates that the increased urbanization will
lead to increased consumption of seafood. Facing depleting wild fish stocks and serious environmental damages
resulting form overfishing, the Chinese government continues to restrict marine and inland fishery and focus on
development of aquaculture in order to fulfil the growing demand. Chinese aquaculture is now twice the size of
wild capture.
8.2

Fishing system in Peru

The current system used in Peru is the “Olympic” quota system, see section 7.4 “Harvesting”. Peruvian total
vessel capacity is (210,000 m3 including the wood fleet) while the one for production plants has been limited to
(approx. 8,904MT/h). Currently there are no new licenses being issued, hence should a company wish to expand
vessel or production capacity, it has to acquire the vessel or the plant from another company. In the event of the
loss or dilapidation of a vessel or plant the owner is allowed to apply the license to a new vessel/plant, however
the capacity of the new vessel/plant cannot exceed that of the replaced one(s).
An inevitable result of this system is the “race for fish”. Companies therefore have to maintain a larger fleet in
order to guarantee larger shares of the total quota. It also leads to the need to build up inventories in order to
evenly satisfy orders throughout the year.
8.3

Capture

An improvement in fishing regulations and compliance to ban seasons and quotas has allowed the capture of fish
for fishmeal and fish oil to stabilize at an average of 7.7 million tons during the last 15 years18. The stabilization
of the capture level results from the increased regulations and controls put into place by the Peruvian government
in a long-term plan to support the sustainability of the biomass. Since September 2002 it has been prohibited to
harvest jack mackerel, chub mackerel, sardine and other species traditionally used for fishmeal production as
they have been reserved for human consumption only. As a result, anchovy is the only species currently allowed
for fishmeal production.
It should be noted that before the implementation of the FDCP in 2003 the control of fishing and landing was not
sufficient. It has been estimated that the “real” catch statistics were up to 20% higher than the official numbers
indicate.
Figure 8-5: 1970-2006 Peruvian fish capture for use in fishmeal and fish oil (in millions of tons)

16

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Database for September 2006

17

Source: Glitnir China Seafood Industry Report November 2006

18

Source: Produce, APOYO Consultoria
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Note: F stands for Forecast
As Peru accounts for such a significant portion of the fishmeal and fish oil production worldwide, the occurrence of
natural phenomena off the coast of Peru not only impacts Peru but also the global production overall (see figure
8.2). Two different natural phenomena regularly impact the harvesting of anchovy off the coast of Peru.
El Niño
The El Niño phenomenon is characterised by a weak Peruvian current and warm currents flowing from above the
northern peak of Peru coming in from the Western Pacific Ocean and Australia. Combined with lack of winds, the
seawater temperature increases dramatically. El Niño causes significant rainfall in the Andean mountains,
introducing vast amounts of fresh water into the sea. In these circumstances the anchovy migrates to deeper
waters where the temperature is a more suitable 17-19°C and the water salinity is higher. The total catch in an El
Niño environment is therefore significantly lower. The second season of the year is normally not significantly
effected by the phenomenon. Other species may appear, however the biomass is much lower than that of
anchovy in normal circumstances. The year following the occurrence of El Niño has usually been very strong and
partly compensated for the decrease in supply the year before.
La Niña
La Niña is known as the cold phenomenon and occurs when strong winds blow from the south, introducing lower
sea temperatures. A mild La Niña can have very positive impact on anchovy fishing because there will be less rain
in the Andean mountains and therefore there is less fresh water flowing into the sea, which results in better
salinity. However, when La Niña is strong the fish spread out looking for warmer waters at different depths
resulting in more difficulty capturing large amounts as is the case in normal conditions. This environment has a
negative impact on profitability as the cost of capturing increases.
8.4

Fleet

Since 1992 expansion of the industrial fleet is prohibited by law and new ships can only be introduced as
replacement for an existing one. However, an informal wooden fleet exists, known as “Vikingos”, which increased
from 82 ships in 1999 to 600 ships in 2004, while its capacity rose almost nine-fold in the same period and now
represents approx. 15% of the total Peruvian fleet capacity. Controls regarding the “Vikinga” were put into place
by the Peruvian government in 2003 when these vessels were converted from informal fleet to licensed formal
fleet. As with the industrial fleet, the wooden boats are now controlled through satellite surveillance. Any new
vessel must replace existing one(s) with the overall capacity remaining similar.
Figure 8-6: 1999-2005 Peruvian fleet size (number of vessels)
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The maximum size for an individual vessel is 850 mȽ, however there are few vessels of this size and most of the
fleet is around the average of 350 mȽ. Larger vessels are in reality not needed as the vessels do not navigate
further than 40 to 50 miles from the coast and the weather is quite stable. Furthermore, once the biomass has
been found, it takes less than a day to fill the vessel and return to unload. This also explains the lack of cooling
systems on board anchovy vessels.
Approx. 300 companies owned 623 steel industrial ships with an overall capacity of approx. 177,800 mȽ. The top
ten companies account for approx. 60% of the industrial fleet capacity. The wooden fleet represents approx.
32,000 m3.
Table 8-1: Peruvian vessel capacity distribution by company (November ’07)
LOAD CAPACITY
COMPANY
(M3)
Tasa/Epesca
27,831

Copeinca (1)
Austral

(%)
13.3

21,935

10.4

16,009

7.6

Diamante / Malla Polar

15,580

7.4

Hayduk / Garrido

14,196

6.8

Exalmar

11,150

5.3

Chinese Fishery Group

8,305

4.0

Pacifico Centro

3,848

1.8

Cantabria

3,287

1.6

Alejandria

1,866

0.9

Others

53,785

25.6

Wood fleet

32,209

15.3

210,000

100

Total

Source: Company Information
Note: (1) Taking into account recent acquisitions of PFB, Fish Protein, Ribar, Pesquera Newton, San Fermín and
Piangesa.
Historically, more than 80% of total anchovy catches have been concentrated between the Centre South and
Centre North coast of Peru. Accordingly the processing plants are more concentrated in this region. 70% of
processing plants are located in regions with the greatest fishing resources – Ancash, Lima and Ica.
Figure 8-7: 2001-2006 Peruvian anchovy capture distribution
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Source: Company Information, SNP
8.5

Plants

The overall processing capacity of Peru’s fishmeal industry is currently approximately 8,904 MT/h.
Figure 8-8: 2007 Peruvian plant capacity distribution

Source: Company Information, SNP
In 2007 Peru had 104 active fishmeal processing plants distributed amongst 70 companies. Over 70% of the
industry processing capacity is held by the ten largest producers. The restriction on new licenses to operate
processing factories results in significant barriers to entry.
Table 8-2: Peruvian processing plant capacity distribution by company (November 2007)
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PROCESSING CAPACITY
(MT/H)
(%)
1,814
20.4

COMPANY
Tasa/Epesca
Copeinca (1)

1,288

14.5

Hayduk/Garrido

748

8.4

Chinese Fishery Group

726

8.2

Diamante / Rubi

720

8.1

Austral

597

6.7

Exalmar

523

5.9

Pacifico Centro

416

4.7

Cantabria

152

1.7

Katamaran

110

1.2

Others

1,810

20.2

Total

8,904

100

Source: Company Information
Note: (1) Taking into account recent acquisitions of PFB, Fish Protein, Ribar, Pesquera Newton, San Fermín and
Piangesa.
8.6

Production and exports

Peru is the single largest producer of fishmeal and fish oil in the world, accounting for 27% of the world fishmeal
production in 2006 and 30% of the world fish oil production in 2005. Peru produces almost 2 million MT of
fishmeal and around 300,000 MT of fish oil annually. SD fishmeal production currently represents approx. 40% of
the industry’s processing capacity.
Figure 8-9: 2000-2006 Peruvian fishmeal and fish oil production
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The portion of SD production increased steadily in the 1990s, due to high capture of anchovy. Large investments
were made in order to build new plants to produce SD fishmeal, while several plants were converted from
conventional FAQ processing to SD. Due to the technology used in the SD process, the efficiency of the industry
increased. In the early 1980s, over five tons of anchovy were required to produce one ton of fishmeal compared
to the current approx. 4.5 tons of anchovy per ton of fishmeal. Furthermore, modern technology has improved
liquid recovery and sea water treatment in the plants which has increased the yield of fish oil. However, this ratio
is strongly related to the composition of the raw material (fat content), and can be affected by different natural
events. Within SD production, the split between Standard, Prime and Super Prime has been affected by all the
improvements mentioned above. From 2000 to 2004 the split of production between FAQ and SD (Standard,
Prime and Super Prime) remained quite stable. The higher quality categories, Prime and Super Prime, now
represent about a fourth of the total SD fishmeal production in Peru.
Figure 8-10: 2000-2006 Peruvian fishmeal production breakdown
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Productivity has steadily improved over the past 15 years and currently, on average, the industry requires
approx. 4.5 tons of fish to produce one ton of fishmeal.
Figure 8-11: 1990-2006 Peruvian fishmeal productivity (MT of anchovy per MT of fishmeal)
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The ten largest fishmeal companies in Peru account for almost 66% of the total exports.
Table 8-3: 2006 Peruvian fishmeal exports distribution by company
EXPORTS

COMPANY

(MT)

(%)

255,086

19.2%

Hayduk

110,085

8.3%

Austral

105,073

7.9%

Tasa

Diamante

89,465

6.7%

Copeinca

75,009

5.6%

Alexandra

73,251

5.5%

Exalmar

63,944

4.8%

Fish Protein

50,523

3.8%

Del Pacifico Centro

36,806

2.8%

Industrial el Angel

35,577

2.7%

Other

433,613

32.6%

Total

1,328,431

100%

Source: Aduanas (Peruvian customs)
A significant portion of Peru’s exports go to China. In 2006, China consumed over half a million tons of fishmeal
from Peru which represented 41% of Peru’s total fishmeal exports by volume. The Chinese market size is
estimated to represent 1.4 million MT, at least 1.0 million of which is imported. The domestic production has been
decreasing due to the over exploitation of the biomass.
Figure 8-12: 2006 Main destinations of Peruvian fishmeal
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The Peruvian government has negotiated a free trade agreement with the Chilean government, which has been
ratified by Peru and ratification by Chile is in progress. The main beneficiaries of the agreement will be Chilean
importers of fishmeal and fish oil, which conversely should have a positive impact for their Peruvian counterparts.
Peru and Chile had an Economic Complementation Agreement (ACE 38) regarding the free commerce of goods
since 1998 and it will be incorporated to the Free Trade Agreement.
8.7

Prices

Peru is by far the single largest producer and exporter of fishmeal 27% of 2006 production volumes and 39% of
2006 export volumes. It is also the single largest producer of fishoil with 30% of 2005 production volumes and
39% of 2005 export volumes. Therefore, it is worth noting that the prices are highly influenced by the Peruvian
supply and the Peruvian key players. Further, management believes that, as the Company grows to a larger scale
becoming a significant portion of the Peruvian fishmeal industry, it will secure long term supply contracts with
selected customers, which are less subject to fishmeal and fish oil price fluctuations.
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9

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

The Copeinca Group currently consists of Copeinca ASA and its subsidiaries as follows:

Copeinca ASA
(Norway)

Copeinca
Internacional S.L.
(Spain)

Pacific Fishing Business
(Netherlands)

Rab Overseas
Corp./Weimar Trading
Corp.
(BVI)

Pacific Fishing Business
S.A.
(Peru)

Corporacion Fish Protein
S.A/Corporacion Pesquera
Ribar S.A.
(Peru)

Corporacion Pesquera Inca
S.A.
(Peru)

Pesca Peru
Huarmey S.A.
(Peru)

Empresa Pesquera San
Fermin S.A.
(Peru)

Pesquera Industrial
El Angel S.A. (Peru)

D&C Gestion Empresarial
S.A.
(Peru)

Copeinca ASA is the holding company of the Copeinca Group. Copeinca Peru is the operational company of the
Copeinca Group that carries out the business of the group.
All the subsidiaries in the chart above are owned 100%, except Copeinca ASA holds 100 shares in Copeinca Peru
(of totally 100,400,000 shares) due to requirements in Peruvian legislation that there shall be at least two
shareholders in a Peruvian limited liability company.
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10

PROPERTY, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT

10.1

Plants and Property

10.1.1

Headquarters

Copeinca Peru’s headquarters are located in a 1,200 m2 rented facility in Lima, Peru. The company operates
twelve fishmeal and fish oil processing plants located in Paita (Ilo), Bayovar, Chicama, Chimbote, Casma,
Huarmey and Chancay in central, northern and southern Peru.
Figure 10-1: Copeinca Peru’s plant locations

Source: Company Information

10.1.2

Paita plant (under relocation to Ilo)

Acquired in 2005, the plant is located on a 8,568 m2 piece of land in northern Peru, 80 km outside the city of
Piura with a total capacity of 90 MT/h, all of which is FAQ fishmeal. The plant uses natural gas as fuel which
results in a higher quality product. A valuation carried out for tax purposes by J. Ravelli in July 2006 values this
property at USD 11.4 million. The plant is currently being moved to the southern city of Ilo and the plan is to
start operations in Ilo by the end of the year.

10.1.3

Bayovar plant

Acquired by Copeinca Peru in 1994, the plant is located on a 42,250 m2 piece of land in northern Peru, 150 km
outside of the city of Chiclayo. The plant has a total processing capacity of 170 MT/h of fishmeal, 120MT/h of
which is FAQ and 50 MT/h is SD. Copeinca intends to convert part of the FAQ capacity to SD, which is planned to
be completed by 2009. This project will require an investment of USD 3 – 5 million. A valuation carried out for tax
purposes by J. Ravelli in July 2006 values this property at USD 30.7 million.

10.1.4

Chicama plants

The first one was acquired by Copeinca Peru in 2003, this plant is located on a 125,750 m2 piece of land in
northern Peru, 120 km outside the city of Trujillo. The plant has a total capacity of 259 MT/h of fishmeal, 179
MT/h of which is FAQ and 80 MT/h is SD . The company intends to convert this plant to full SD capacity by
2008/2009, which will require and investment of approx. USD 3 million.
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The second one was acquired by Copeinca Peru in September 2007, and has a total capacity of 166 MT/h of FAQ
fishmeal. Valuations carried out for tax purposes by J. Ravelli in July and September 2007 values these properties
in USD 22.6 million.

10.1.5

Chimbote plants

Acquired by Copeinca in 2007, these plants are located in the center of Peru, on 68,632 m2 pieces of land. These
plants have a total processing capacity of 407 MT/h of fishmeal, 222 MT/h of which is FAQ and 185 MT/h is SD.
Valuations carried out for tax purposes by J. Ravelli in May and September 2007 values these properties at USD
38.5 million.

10.1.6

Casma plant

Acquired by Copeinca Peru in 2005, this plant is located on a 30,000 m2 piece of land in northern central Peru, 60
km outside the city of Chimbote. The plant has a total capacity of 80 MT/h, all of which is SD fishmeal. A
valuation carried out for tax purposes by J. Ravelli in July 2006 values this property at USD 11.3 million.

10.1.7

Huarmey plant

Acquired by Copeinca Peru in 2005, this plant is located on a 66,820 m2 piece of land in central Peru, 250 km
outside the city of Lima. The plant has a total capacity of 142 MT/h, 92 MT/h of which is FAQ and 50 MT/h is SD.
A valuations carried out for tax purposes by J. Ravelli in July 2006 values this property at USD 7.8 milllion.
Piangesa´s acquisition included machinery that is now located in this plant., which was valued by J. Ravelli in
September 2007 at USD 12.2 million.
10.1.8

Chancay plants

Acquired by Copeinca Peru in 2007, these plants are located on 20,000 m2 pieces of land in southern Peru. These
plants have a total capacity of 140 MT/h, 60 MT/h of which is FAQ and 80MT/h is SD. A valuation carried out for
tax purposes by J. Ravelli in May 2007 values these properties at USD 24 million.
10.2

Vessels

Copeinca operates 65 anchovy vessels with an overall capacity of 21,935 m3 , with each vessel ranging in capacity
from 140 m3 to 600 m3. Furthermore, Copeinca owns three operating hake vessels worth approx. USD 430,000.
All the vessels have licences to operate as fishing vessels pursuant to Peruvian law. The licenses are important for
the Copeinca Group since new licenses are not granted, see section 7.11.1 – “Fishing regulation”.
A further fleet of eight vessels are under Copeinca Peru’s administration and control. These vessels have yearly
contracts with the company whereby all of their catch is bought and processed by Copeinca Peru. The capacity of
the administrated fleet is currently 1,676 m3. The company assists the vessel owners by allowing them access to
the spare parts supply system and allowing them to take advantage of the more favourable prices received by
Copeinca Peru. Any cost associated with the maintenance of the vessels and purchase of equipment through
Copeinca Peru is subtracted from the payment made for the product they supply for processing. In 2005 Copeinca
Peru purchased the catches from its administrated fleet at an average USD 130/MT. The duration of the contracts
for the administrated fleet range from six months to one year.
Figure 10-2: Selected pictures of Copeinca Peru’s vessels
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Table 10-1: Key characteristics of the Copeinca fleet
Construction
Date

Capacity (m3)

Commercial Value
(USD ’000) (1)

Anchovy vessels
Pachacutec 1

1967

198

$3,541

Pachacutec 3

1966

202

$3,812

Pachacutec 4

1961

184

$3,648

Pachacutec 5

1967

209

$3,978

Pachacutec 6

1969

343

$6,833

Pachacutec 7

1970

391

$7,779

Pachacutec 9

1966

182

$3,639

Nazca

1969

220

$4,385

Tigre 1

1976

208

$4,125

Tigre 5

1976

206

$3,857

Mantaro 1

1965

179

$3,489

Pachacutec 15

1989

384

$7,729

Colan

1996

366

$6,587

Pardela

1989

341

$7,056

Pachacutec 21

1962

155

$3,059

Galileo

1992

222

$4,556

Marco Polo

1961

375

$7,749

Gaviota

1991

349

$7,223

Palma

1990

328

$6,756

Tiber

1989

381

$7,845

Tuno

1989

390

$7,956

Nilo

1989

386

$7,930

Salmon

1989

349

$7,893

Delfin

1989

Marfil

1991

388
405

$6,904

Brunella II

1999

404

$8,201

Rodga I

1993

498

$11,497

Dalmacia III

2005

250

$5,295

Yovana

1990

242

$5,108

Dalmacia II

1967

242

$5,105

Andrea

1992

344

$7,296

Dalmacia

1992

348

$7,315

Jadran I

1995

351

$7,433

Andelka

1990

243

$5,091

Jadran II

328

$6,862

Jequetepeque 9

2001
1966

200

$4,009

Celi

1963

171

$3,407

Ricardo

1997

278

$9,423

San Blas

1969

372

$7,482

San Telmo 4

1968

248

$4,940

Don Miguel

1966

189

$3,763

Ribar XV

1994

337

$7,480

Ribar XIV

1970

410

$9,119

Ribar XVI

1995

519

$12,039

Ribar XIII

1971

433

$9,721

Ribar XVIII

1997

577

$12,824

1997

587

$14,055

Ribar VI

1979

593

$13,542

Ribar I

1970

325

$7,299

Vessel

(Ex Ribar IX) Stefano
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Construction
Date

Capacity (m3)

Commercial Value
(USD ’000) (1)

Ribar III

1971

411

$9,311

Zorritos 5

1969

272

$5,131

Grunepa 1

1969

$5,151

Grunepa 2

1969

395
395

$6,787

Grunepa 3

1969

San Fernando

1997

395
400

$8,619

Chimbote 1

1997

480

$9,946

Comanche VII

1,972

360

$7,091

Comanche IV

1965

210

$4,096

Comanche I

1972

402

$7,788

Vessel

$8,065

Alejandra

2001

497

$11,432

Cristina

2001

495

$11,437

Don Carlos

1975

382

$7,849

Don Jorge

1971

381

$7,622

Matty

2001

495

$11,434

Inca 1

1965

100

119

Santiago

1963

82

77

Other Vessels (Hake)

Maritima III
1965
100
55
Source: Company Information
Note (1) Based on appraisals carried out by Revelli and Arbocco between October 2006 and May 2007
10.3

Encumbrances on assets

All the plants except San Fermin’s (Chancay) are in a Peruvian trust as collateral under the loan agreement with
Credit Suisse, see section 12.2.1 and 12.2.2 “ Loan Agreement with Credit Suisse I and II”.
Some of the vessels in the table above are in leasings, mortgaged or in trust as collateral under Copeinca Peru’s
loan agreements, see section 0 – “Borrowings”, see section 21 – “Material contracts”.
10.4

Information technology

In August 2005 Copeinca Peru contracted IBM to carry out the implementation of the SAP project and servers
hosting service. The scope included the following SAP modules: Finance-Accounting (FI-CO), Materials
Management (MM), Production Planning (PP), Plant Maintenance (PM), Sales (SD), Quality Management (QM) and
Human Resources (HR). BCTS, a leading consulting company in Human Resources SAP systems, participated in
the HR module implementation.
The project scope was increased in November 2005 to include the Pesca Peru Huarmey plant and Del Mar fleet.
And then, in February 2006, the company decided to change the scope again and the plant of Del Mar was
included. The full implementation of the system was completed in April 2006.
In April 2007 the Funds Management Module was implemented. As part of the consolidation process Jadran and
Newton fleet and plants were included in SAP and merged with Copeinca in July 2007. Pesca Peru Huarmey,
Pesquera Ribar S.A., and Pesquera San Lorenzo S.A.C. were included in SAP and merged with Copeinca Peru inn
October 2007. Other acquisitions are planned to be included in SAP according to the merging process. Business
intelligence will be implemented in 2008.
Copeinca Peru is taking the lead in technological innovation with the first integrated SAP implementation in the
Peruvian fishing industry. In addition the company is among the first Peruvian companies to implement the latest
SAP Enterprise version (5.0), opening opportunities for leading-edge innovation. The system allows Copeinca Peru
to timely issue control and operating data reports to improve the company’s daily operations and will enable the
company to keep on growing with very limited additional overheads.
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10.5

Other assets

Copeinca Peru also owns other small real estate properties used for storage purposes as well as 46 vehicles and
eight barges used for offloading the catch of the vessels and feed it into the processing plants.
10.6

Environmental issues

As at the date of the drafting of this Prospectus, the Copeinca Group is in compliance with all environmental
regulations and is not involved in any proceeding or investigation related to environmental issues.
The scope of the environmental regulations related to plants and vessels consists of avoiding pollution.
Current environmental laws are related to the treatment of the water used for fish pumping and the blood water
produced in storage bins. Both are treated in a system that recovers solids and oil from these fluids and adds it to
the process. These systems are composed of two stages. The first stage is where the solids are recovered by
filtering the fluid through rotating or vibrating screens. The second stage takes these liquids through the action of
micro-air bubbles and temperature in the large tanks. Finally it passes through a tricanter machine to separate
the fish oil from water. After the secondary treatment, the water is disposed back to the sea through a submarine
pipe line.
The environmental regulations related to vessels consists of avoiding pollution of the sea and all actions that
endanger the environment, hereunder disposal of hydrocarbons, wastes, garbage, oil, and other pollutants
substances to the sea. Likewise the extraction of hydro biological resources is also sanctioned when the vessels in
the process use pollutants substance, explosives, or any other element that can put in danger the environment.
The sanctions are imposed by the Government of the Production and by the Peruvian Navy, and consist of
admonitions, fines, confiscations, suspensions and cancellations of the permission of fishing. The kind of sanction
depends of the gravity of the infraction committed.
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11

THE ACQUISITIONS

11.1

San Fermin

On 17 May 2007 Copeinca ASA entered acquired 100% of the shares of San Fermin for a purchase price of USD
37.5 million.
San Fermin is a Peruvian private limited liability company organized under and in accordance with Peruvian law.
San Fermin owns a SD plant in the port of Chancay with a capacity of 80 mt/hr, which currently represents 6.2 %
of Copeinca´s plant capacity. With the acquisition of this plant, the Copeinca Group increased its reach deeper
into the centre of the Peruvian shore. This allows Copeinca´s fleet to search for fishing areas as far as 100 km
south of Lima. The plant is located very close to the plant of PFB’s plant (see below), which allows synergy
between them and allows savings. In addition, San Fermin has six vessels with a total capacilty of 1,278 mȽ,
which currently represents 5.8 % of Copeinca´s vessel capacity. San Fermin has the wholly owned subsidiaries
San Lorenzo S.A., San Vicente S.A., San Ambrosio S.A. and San Esciron S.A.
In 2006 (same quota as 2007), San Fermin produced 19,463 MT of fishmeal and 4,172 MT of fish oil.
Prior to the acquisition, the board of directors of San Fermin consisted of Luis Manuel Lopez Garcia, Javier
Armando Lopez Spallarossa and Rosalba Armanda Spallarossa Pozzo de Lopez, however after the acquisition by
Copeinca Peru, the board of San Fermin consists of Samuel Edward Dyer Ampudia, Osterlin Luis Dyer Ampudia,
Rosa Amelia Coriat Valera and Piero Martin Dyer Coriat.
Prior to the acquisition, the senior management of San Fermin consisted of Luis Manuel Lopez Garcia. San Fermin
had 216 employees at the time of acquisition.
As with most companies with a significant workforce, San Fermin is from time to time involved in a normal level
of labour claims typical to the business in which the company operates. The claims involved are of approx. USD
243,000, however the estimated contingencies are significantly below the above mentioned amount.
San Fermin´s key figures for previous years are as follows:

PERUVIAN GAAP (UNAUDITED)

(thousands of US dollars)
Sales

2006

2005

25,152

31,055

EBITDA

6,795

7,294

Operating Profit

4,680

5,427

Profit before Income Tax

3,844

3,966

Profit (Loss)

1,670

2,161

Total Assets

23,794

27,090

Total Liabilities

20,062

22,804

San Fermin S.A. did not have any material contract outside its ordinary course of business.
11.2

Fish Protein and Ribar

On 18 February 2007 Copeinca Peru entered into a Letter of Intent to acquire Fish Protein and Ribar for USD 110
million, of which USD 66 million would be cash and USD 44 million worth in Copeinca ASA shares (6.2 million
shares – Private Placement I). The acquisition was completed on 14 June 2007 at a final price of USD 130 million,
after including fishmeal stock (USD 15 million) and refrigeration system (USD 5 million). For information on
Private Placement I, see section 26.1.
Fish Protein and Ribar are Peruvian private limited liability companies organized under and in accordance with
Peruvian law.
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Fish Protein owns the largest fish meal plant in Peru with a capacity of 185 mt/hr, which currently represents
14.4% of Copeinca´s plant capacity. This installation has a pier which is one of the most important advantages in
terms of fleet attendance and maintenance. This pier has four unloading systems to bring fish out of the vessels
into the plant at a fast track.
Additionally, Pesquera Ribar has one of the best fishing fleet in terms of efficiency (30% over its license). Its nine
vessels hold a total capacity of 4,192 m3, currently representing 19.1% of Copeinca´s vessel capacity. These
vessels have conservation systems to keep fish refrigerated, ready for human consumption species.
In 2006 (same quota as 2007), Fish Protein and Ribar produced 42,216 MT of fishmeal and 7,845 MT of fish oil.
Prior to the acquisition, the board of directors of Fish Protein and Ribar consisted of Ivan Orlic Maracic, Ivan Orlic
Ticeran and Cesar Fernando Torres Carrillo, however after the acquisition by Copeinca, the board of Fish Protein
and Ribar consists of Eduardo Carlos Castro-Mendivil Braschi, Maura Angelica Larios de Obando and Pablo
Leonardo Trapunsky Vilar.
Prior to the acquisition the senior management of Fish Protein and Ribar consisted of Ivan Orlic Maracic and Pier
Massimo Visani Monduci. Fish Protein and Ribar had 414 employees at the time of acquisition.
As with most companies with a significant workforce, Fish Protein and Pesquera Ribar are from time to time
involved in a normal level of labour claims typical to the business in which the company operates. The claims
involved are of approx. USD 518,000, however the estimated contingencies are significantly below the above
mentioned amount.
Fish Protein and Ribar´s key figures for previous years are as follows:

(thousands of US dollars)

PERUVIAN GAAP (UNAUDITED)
2006

2005

Sales

41,027

62,465

EBITDA

12,974

11,855

Operating Profit

8,365

6,666

Profit before Income Tax

7,749

6,673

Profit (Loss)

4,296

3,474

Total Assets

51,523

41,442

7,070

15,888

Total Liabilities

Fish Protein and Ribar did not have any material contract outside the ordinary course of business.
11.3

Piangesa

On 25 May 2007 Copeinca signed a Letter of Intent to acquire 100% of the shares of Piangesa for USD 111.5
million. The acquisition was partly financed with proceeds from Private Placement II and partly with funds from
the Credit Suisse loan described in section 12.2.2 “Loan Agreement with Credit Suisse”. The transaction was
completed on 5 September 2007 for USD 106 milion. The transaction was subject to due diligence of the target,
which resulted in a decision by Copeinca Peru to postpone the acquisition of one of the vessels. As a result, the
price of the target was adjusted with the exclusion of that asset (USD 5.5 million).
Piangesa is a Peruvian private limited liability company organized under and in accordance with Peruvian law.
Piangesa owns three plants, in Chicama, Chimbote and Huarmey. The plants hold a total capacity of 355 mt/hr,
currently representing 27.6% of Copeinca´s plant capacity. In addition, Piangesa owns six vessels with a total
capacity of 2,249 mȽ, wchich currently represents 10.3% of Copeinca´s vessel capacity.
In 2006 (same quota as 2007), Piangesa produced 43,291 MT of fishmeal and 9,368 MT of fish oil.
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Prior to the acquisition, the board of directors of Piangesa consisted of Jorge Ibarcena Valdivia and Jose Navarrete
Tapia, however after the acquisition by Copeinca, the board of Piangesa consists of Eduardo Carlos CastroMendivil Braschi, Maura Angelica Larios de Obando and Pablo Leonardo Trapunsky Vilar.
As with most companies with a significant workforce, Piangesa is from time to time involved in a normal level of
labour claims typical to the business in which the company operates. The claims involved are of approx. USD
254,000, however the estimated contingencies are significantly below the above mentioned amount.
Prior to the acquisition, the senior management of Piangesa consisted of Carlos Ibarcena Valdivia.
Piangesa´s key figures for previous years are as follows:

(thousands of US dollars)

PERUVIAN GAAP (UNAUDITED)
2006

2005

Sales

35,440

44,234

EBITDA

12,975

10,778

2,520

6,205

Operating Profit
Profit before Income Tax

819

(3,723)

Profit (Loss)

1,117

(3,723)

Total Assets

58,134

57,156

Total Liabilities

39,109

37,728

Piangesa does not have any material contract outside the ordinary course of business.

53

COPEINCA ASA PROSPECTUS

12

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

12.1

Comments on financial accounts

A summary of Copeinca Peru’s and Copeinca ASA’s financials is set out in chapter 5 – “Selected financial
information”. Selected historical financial information regarding the company is set out in chapter 18 – “Financial
information”.
In the following paragraphs significant matters relating to the consolidated accounts are elaborated.
According to the IFRS accounting policies (IFRS 3), Jadran S.A. was consolidated into Copeinca Peru’s accounts
from the date on which control was transferred to the company, i.e. from 21 September 2006. While the Jadran
consolidation has no material effect on the Profit and Loss Accounts for the three months and nine months to 30
September 2006, the Balance Sheet as of 30 September 2006 is significantly impacted.
12.2

Developments in the nine months to 30 September 2007 (IFRS)

12.2.1 Profit & Loss Account
Sales revenues in the third quarter were USD 80.6 million, compared to USD 63.5 million in the corresponding
quarter 2006. Volume sold was 79,056 MT up from 69,496 MT in Q3´06. Revenue per ton was USD 1,020 in third
quarter 2007 up 12% from USD 914 in third quarter 2006. Prices achieved for fishmeal in the third quarter have
been stronger than prices in the third quarter of the same period last year, caused by strong demand for the first
part of 2007. Since demand lowered towards the end of the second quarter, prices in the third quarter were
affected for Copeinca.
Cost of goods sold (COGS) in the third quarter 2007 was USD 28 million (USD 669/MT) up from USD 13.6 million
(USD 586/MT) in the corresponding period the year before. The increase of USD 83 per ton is explained as
follows:
•

The biomass, for the first fishing season was located in the center of the Peruvian coast, where Copeinca
(before acquisitions) had its smaller plants. This cost of production was higher than the one of plants
located in the north.

•

The cost of third parties raw material was higher than in the same period last year; USD 104 per ton
2007 compared to USD 97 per ton 2006.

•

We have sold 22,200 MT of fishmeal from acquired companies at a cost of USD 745/MT and 19,607 MT
of fishmeal from Copeinca´s production at a cost of USD 583/MT.

The financial statements reflect a combination of both costs per ton. We expect the new production to have costs
per ton similar to current Copeinca´s(USD 583/MT).
Administrative expenses increased by USD 8.2 million. Main items were depreciation, insurance, consulting
services, security, taxes and board fees. Administrative activities increased as Copeinca consolidated with seven
other companies.
•

Financial expenses increased by USD 9.5 million, mainly paid by Copeinca and Jadran of USD 3.5 million
as a consequence of higher debt used in the acquisition program.

Additionally, the interest bearing debt

increased from USD 94.1 million to USD 258.2 million, which includes USD 41.2 million short term
financing. Bank debt was used to acquire a fleet of twenty nine vessels and seven fishing plants (Fish
Protein/Ribar, San Fermin, Pacific Fishing Business and Piangesa).
In the first quarter last year (2006) the appreciation of the Peruvian Sol caused an exchange rate income of USD
1.5 million. This strong appreciation was not repeated during Q1 2007.
In the third quarter 2007, Copeinca had an operating profit of USD (0.9) million, compared with USD 3.7 million
in the same period last year. Profit before income taxes in the third quarter amounted to a loss of USD 1.9
million, compared with a profit of USD 3.1 million in the same period in 2006. Profit for the third quarter was USD
1.1 million compared to USD 0.3 million in the third quarter 2006.
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12.2.2Balance sheet
Copeinca ASA increased total assets to USD 796.1 million as of the third quarter 2007, caused by the acquisition
of fishing companies Newton, Fish Protein, Ribar, San Fermin, Fish Corporation, Frigorifico Alianza, Pacific Fishing
Business and Piangesa consolidated into its balance sheet. The group’s net fixed assets and licenses totalled USD
303.1 million and USD 193.4 million respectively at the end of the quarter, while cash totalled USD 60.5 million.
12.2.3Cash flow statement
Cash flow from operating activities totaled USD 0.6 million during the third quarter. Working capital was increased
by USD 25 million during the quarter from December 2006, primarily due to Copeinca ASA´s current account.
12.3

Developments for the year ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005
(IFRS)

12.3.1

Profit & Loss Account

Sales revenues increased by USD 7.6 million from USD 82.3 million in 2005 to USD 89.9 million in 2006. Volume
sold for both fishmeal and fishoil, decreased from 117 thousand tonnes in 2005 to 94 thousand tonnes in 2006.
This lower volume was more than offset by higher unit prices. Average revenue per ton sold increased from USD
604/MT to USD 886/MT.
Cost of goods sold decreased by USD 10.7 million from USD 56.7 million in 2005 to USD 46 million in 2006, as
volume produced decreased by 23.3 thousand tonnes.
Administrative expenses increased by USD 2.7 million as a bigger Copeinca in 2006 had an increased workforce,
and new plants.
Selling expenses were lower by USD 2.5 million as lower volume was exported.
As interest bearing debt increased from USD 53.7 million in 2005 to USD 108 million in 2006, financial expenses
increased from USD 5.4 million to USD 10.5 million.
Net profit increased by USD 13 million as the increase of administrative and interest expenses were more than
offset by the higher revenues obtained during the year.

12.3.2

Balance sheet

Non Current Assets:
Property, Plant and Equipment increased by USD 29 million and licenses increased by USD 14 million, mainly
because of the acquisition of Jadran and the increase in value of the fishing licenses from one year to the next.
Current Assets:
Inventories of finished goods increased by USD 7 million as the average value per ton increased from USD
466/MT to USD 776/MT. Total volume of inventory in MT remained unchanged at levels of 22.3 thousand tonnes.
Equity:
Equity increased from USD 32.7 million to USD 47 million as a net profit of USD 10 million increased the retaned
earnings account.
Liabilities:
Total liabilities increased by USD 34 million, as debt was used to finance the acquisition of Jadran.

12.3.3

Cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities:
Cash from operations increased by USD 24.8 million as higher fishmeal prices stringly impacted revenues and
profits for the year.
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Cash flow from investing activities:
Cash flow from investing remained at levels of USD 30 million to USD 33 million as in 2005 Copeinca acquired Del
Mar and other assets, and in 2006 the shareholders of Copeinca acquired Jadran.
Cash flow from financing activities:
Cash flow from financing activities is positive in both 2005 and 2006 as new financing was secured to finance for
the expansion of the company. In 2006, as cash flow from operations was strong, it was used to amortize short
term borrowings for USD 4.8 million and long term borrowings for USD 16.8 million.
12.4

Developments for the Year ended 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 (IFRS)

12.4.1

Profit & Loss Account

The Copeinca Group achieved total sales of USD 82.3 million in 2005, compared with USD 86.7 million in 2004.
On 31 August 2005 Copeinca acquired Del Mar S.A. representing a total vessel capacity of 3,800m3 and 172 MT/h
in plant capacity. Copeinca was able to partially utilize this increase in capacity in the second fishing season,
positively impacting revenues. However, due to the unusual location of the biomass along the Peruvian coast line
mostly in the South where Copeinca Peru does not own a plant, the company was not able to process as much of
its own catches as in a normal year. A significantly higher portion of catches was sold to third parties, which
negatively impacted revenues and profit margins. Conversely the location of the biomass around Bayovar in 2004
had strongly benefited Copeinca Peru, which controls about 50% of the total landings of the region.
The 2005 EBITDA amounted to USD 15.0 million before crediting USD 3.1 million negative goodwill (2004: USD
15.1 million).
The depreciation increased by USD 1.3 million from 2004 to 2005, due to acquisition of the Del Mar S.A.
The operating profit in 2005 was USD 8.8 million before crediting USD 3.1 million negative goodwill while the
operating profit in 2004 was USD 10.2 million. This decrease was mainly due to the location of the biomass
alongside the south coast and the integration of Del Mar S.A.
Net financial costs in 2005 were USD 4.9 million relative to USD 2.3 million in 2004. Interest expense increased
due to loans from Credit Suisse and others that were put in place to support Copeinca Peru’s external growth.
The Copeinca Group had a profit of USD 1.0 million in 2005 compared with a profit of USD 2.9 million in 2004.
Earnings per share in 2005 were 1.0 cents compared to 2.8 cents in 2004.

12.4.2

Balance sheet

The Copeinca Group had total assets of USD 138.9 million at the end of 2005 compared with USD 90.7 million at
the end of 2004. The increase in assets during 2005 was mainly due to the acquisition of vessel and plant
capacity. The Company’s vessel book value increased by two thirds while the plant book value increased by nearly
a half. Licence values nearly tripled growing from USD 7.3 million in 2004 to USD 20.6 million in 2005.
The inventory level at 31 December 2005 was lower than the one reported at 31 December 2004 as the Company
had sold the finished products earlier in 2005 than in 2004, which also resulted in a higher trade receivables
account in 2005 compared to 2004.
The significant increase in the long term debt was due to the loan from Credit Suisse raised in relation to the
acquisition of Del Mar S.A. and other assets. This loan is described in more details notes on the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2005.

12.4.3

Cash flow statement

Net cash from operations decreased from USD 7.3 million in 2004 to USD (4.6) million in 2005. The decrease was
the result of lower sales and profits as well as higher working capital needs, as explained above.
The net cash from investing activities decreased from USD (6.8) million in 2004 to USD (30.4) million in 2005.
This was due to the Company’s acquisition of Del Mar S.A., the Casma plant and other assets.
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Net cash flow from financing activities were USD 34.8 million in 2005 compared to USD (3.2) million in 2004,
mostly related to the loan from Credit Suisse raised for acquisitions.
At 31 December 2005 Copeinca Peru had USD 0.3 million in cash.

13

CAPITAL RESOURCES

13.1

Capital Resources and Cash flows

On 22 June 2007 Copeinca ASA completed a second Private Placement with gross proceeds of NOK 780 million
(approx. USD 130 million). The net proceeds of approx. NOK 753 million (approx. USD 125 million) increased the
cash level and the share capital of Copeinca ASA.
As of 30 September 2007, Copeinca Peru reported cash and equivalent of approx. USD 60.5 million and interestbearing debt of USD 459.3 million. The funding of Copeinca ASA is described in section 25.2 – “Capitalisation and
indebtedness”.
Copeinca ASA’s consolidated book equity following completion of the second Private Placement is approx.
USD 261 million, resulting in a debt to equity ratio of approx. 73% based on an interest bearing debt of USD
459.3 million. The gross interest coverage ratio for the Company for the nine months to 30 September 2007 was
approx. 1.2:1 based on an EBITDA of USD 17.4 million.
Copeinca Peru’s cash flow from operations, highly dependent on fishmeal and fish oil prices, has been irregular.
The company’s cash flow from operations to 30 September 2007 was USD 0.6 million, which compared to USD
13.7 million for 30 September 2006 shows a substantial decrease mainly due to postponed demand for fishmeal
in the Asian market and lower prices, delaying cash flow from operations.
From October 2007 onwards there are no main events effecting the cash flow.
Copeinca ASA believes that the funds from Copeinca Peru’s operations together with the funds available from the
working capital facility, the proceeds from the second Private Placement and the USD 30 million cash reserved in
case of an El Niño event will be sufficient to sustain all the current operations.

13.2

Borrowings

13.2.1

Loan Agreement with Credit Suisse, Glitnir, BBVA and West LB.

On 11 June 2007, Copeinca Peru entered into a sindicated loan agreement with Credit Suisse as lead arranger
and Glitnir, BBVA and West LB as mandated lead arrangers. The loan amount was USD 185 million. The interest
rate is LIBOR plus 3.5%, and is secured by certain real assets of Copeinca and certain receivables from selected
customers.
The term of the agreement is five (5) years, with a 30% balloon payment, and a natural disruption event
provision. Under this provision Copeinca is allowed to defer the repayment schedule of the loan in a natural
disruption event (for example an El Niño event), once during the lifetime of the loan.
The proceeds have been used to acquire Rab Overseas and Weimar Trading Company, main shareholders of the
Peruvian fishing companies Fish Protein and Ribar and for the purchase of PFB. The proceeds were also to pay the
loan agreement with Credit Suisse I (see section above), and to pay Jadrán´s short term debt.
As part of the agreement, Copeinca may not distribute any dividends before 15 May 2008 and they should not
exceed 15% of the Consolidated EBITDA for the immediately preceding fiscal year.
Copeinca has been given a temporary waiver with regard to certain covenants in the loan agreement and is
currently negotiating adjusted covenants. If these negotiations are concluded without adjusted terms, Copeinca
will be in breach of certain covenants including covenants related to sales and EBITDA development compared to
the provisions of the loan agreement.
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Copeinca’s inventories have been historically high over the past six months due to a difficult market situation and
the acquisitions made during 2007. However, sales have recently recovered and most of the current stock is
contracted by customers and is expected to be shipped during the coming months. As previously communicated,
Copeinca does not recognize revenue until the sold fishmeal has left port.
Copeinca has received a proposal with revised terms regarding interest rates, debt service/interest cover ratios,
as well as new covenants regarding leverage ratios and capital expenditure limits from the bank syndicate. The
company expects the final renegotiated contract to include a fee and presumably higher interest rates. The
company is in the process of finalizing the negotiations on revised terms, and will inform the market once an
agreement is reached.
Under the provision of this loan USD 30 million will be reserved in a special account to be used only in case of a
natural disruption event.
13.2.2

BBVA Continental Bank

Copeinca Peru has a loan with BBVA Continental Bank of USD 1,120,000 for a term of two years (refinanced in
January 2006 after the acquisition of Del Mar S.A.). The agreed interest rate is LIBOR + 3.5%. The loan shall be
repaid in quarterly instalments. Copeinca Peru has established a first priority mortgage over one vessel, one plant
and four land properties as collateral.
13.2.3

Banco Internacional del Peru – Interbank

On 21 September 2006 Pesquera Nardai S.A. (through subsidiary Jadran S.A.) signed a leaseback agreement with
Banco Internacional del Perú – Interbank, for the purchase of certain fishing vessels used in Copeinca Peru’s
operations. The initial principal amount of the lease was USD 4,745,000, which will be amortized in 60 monthly
instalments until August 2011, with a total amount of interests of USD 1,249,000, following the established
agreement. Pesquera Nardai S.A. and Jadran S.A. have merged under the name Jadran S.A.
13.2.4

Financial leasing agreements for vessels

An overview of Copeinca Peru’s financial leasing agreements is set out in section 20.71.4 – “Leasing agreements
for vessels, barge and certain equipment.”

13.3

Funds to fulfill commitments

The Company has the necessary funds for the investments described in section 6.3 – “Investments and
acquisitions.”
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14

TREND INFORMATION

The Copeinca Group has experienced the following changes or trends outside the ordinary course of business that
are significant to the group between 31 December 2006 and the date of this Prospectus:
Fishmeal: Due to a significant lower consumption of fishmeal in China traceable to the blue ear disease in pigs
and therefore higher stocks in China, estimated at 300,000 MT, 100,000 MT in Chile and 80,000 MT in Peru
(IFFO week 39), prices dropped to new low levels around FOB Peru US$ 735/MT for old production pulling down
also the higher grades with a trading range between FOB Peru US$ 735-900/MT for old and new production.
At these price levels, China market reactivated with an unexpected significant purchase estimated to be around
200,000 MT out of a total 450,000 MT for new season, reaching a new support level at FOB Peru US$ 800/MT for
the lower grades. Therefore, the trading range lifted to FOB Peru US$ 800-950/MT for the balance of unsold
stocks new season shipment December 2007-March 2008.
Fishoil: The higher prices of fuel, have significantly impacted the vegetable oil complex due to the higher demand
for ethanol and biodiesel, reaching historical record high levels for rapeseed oil, soybean oil and palm oil. Thus,
fishoil price has also increased in tandem from FOB Peru US$ 800/MT last season to record high FOB Peru US$
1150/MT for new season.
Furthermore, the higher consumer concern to eat healthier food has significantly impacted the development of
omega 3 products and there is an upward trend to divert more and more fishoil to the nutraceutical business,
which accounts so far for the 10% of the total consumption of fishoil.
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15

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

15.1

Organisational structure

The figure below shows the organisation of Copeinca ASA.
Figure 15-1: Copeinca’s organisational chart

Chief Executive Officer
Samuel Dyer Coriat

Chief Financial Officer &
Corporate Services
Eduardo Castro Mendevil

Chief Sales Officer
(Spain)
Mercedes Tang Tong

Chief Operations Officer
Pablo Trapunsky

Legal Manager
Giuliana Cavassa

Source: Company Information
An Internal Auditor is reporting directly to the Board of Directors.
15.2

Founder of Copeinca ASA

Copeinca ASA was founded by Copeinca Peru on 24 November 2006. On 11 January 2007, the Shares in Copeinca
ASA held by Copeinca Peru were redeemed, see section 20.1 – “Share capital and shareholder matters”. The
business address of Copeinca Peru is Calle Francisco Graña 155, Urb. Sta. Catalina, Lima 13, Peru.
15.3

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors consists of the following members:
Christian Selmer, 60, Chairman. Mr. Selmer is the founder and partner of Selmer DA, a law firm in Oslo,
Norway. He holds a law degree from the University of Oslo, and was admitted to the Norwegian Bar Association in
1974. Mr. Selmer has extensive experience in the legal arena in Norway. His previous experience includes:
Consultant to the Ministry of Administration and Consumer Affairs, Associate Judge at the District Court of Orkdal,
Associate lawyer at BAHR law firm in Oslo, Consultant to the Oslo Tax Assessment Office and Partner in Meyer,
Jørgensen, Selmer law firm in Oslo. Mr Selmer joined the Board in November 2006. He resides in Oslo, Norway
and his business address is Støperigaten 2, Oslo, Norway. Mr. Selmer is an independent director.
Samuel Dyer Ampudia, 52, Vice Chairman. Mr. Dyer Ampudia is one of the founding members of Copeinca
Peru. Mr. Dyer Ampudia graduated as an Administrator from the Universidad Nacional Federico Villarreal (Peru).
He also completed a program for High Management and Business given by Universidad de Piura (Peru). He joined
the board of Copeinca Peru in October 1994 and the Board of Copeinca ASA in November 2006. He is the main
shareholder of D&C Group S.A.C. Mr. Dyer Coriat resides in Lima, Peru and his business address is Francisco
Graña 155, Sta. Catalina, Lima 13, Peru.
Mimi Berdal, 48, Board member. Ms. Berdal operates her own independent legal and corporate counselling
business in Oslo, Norway. She holds a law degree from the University of Oslo and was admitted to the Norwegian
Bar Association in 1990. Mrs Berdal holds a degree in French language from Universite Catholique d’Angers in
France and a degree in English language from Davis’ School of English, Cambridge, England. Her previous
experience includes: Partner at Arntzen de Besche law firm in Oslo, Partner at Arntzen, Underland & Co law firm,
Associate attorney at Arntzen, Underland & Co law firm and Legal adviser at Total Norge AS. Ms. Berdal is a
Deputy member of the Norwegian Bar Admittance Authority. Ms. Berdal joined the Board in November 2006. She
resides in Oslo, Norway and her business address is Heggelibakken 85, N-0374 Oslo, Norway. Ms. Berdal is an
independent director.
Rosa Coriat Valera, 54, Board member. Mrs. Coriat Valera is one of the founding members of Copeinca Peru.
Currently, Mrs. Coriat is a director in D&C Group SAC and the CEO of Inverciones Gacor, a company managing
real estate investments in southern Florida. She joined the board of Copeinca Peru in October 1994 and the Board
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of Copeinca ASA in November 2006. Mrs. Coriat Valera resides in Lima, Peru and her business address is
Francisco Graña 155, Sta. Catalina, Lima 13, Peru.
Piero Dyer Coriat, 26, Board member. Mr. Dyer Coriat holds a Masters Degree in Business Administration and a
Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Miami (USA). Mr. Dyer Coriat previously
worked as a technical analyst and financier for new projects implemented for D&C Group S.A.C. Currently, Mr.
Dyer Coriat is the Chief Financial Officer of D&C Group S.A.C. Mr. Dyer Coriat joined the board of Copeinca Peru
in August 1994 and the Board of Copeinca ASA in November 2006. He resides in Lima, Peru and his business
address is Francisco Graña 155, Sta. Catalina, Lima 13, Peru.
Sergio Dyer Osorio, 26, Board member. Sergio earned a Bachelor´s Degree in Biological Sciences from the
Florida International University in 2003. In August 2005 he earned an MBA from the University of Palermo in
Buenos Aires, Argentina. He currently serves as a Board Member of Aceros y Techos S.A; ABC Gruppe S.A.C;
Galvanizadora Peruana S.A., and has been of Acero Holding S.A.C. from 2004 until 2006. He resides in Lima, Peru
and his business address is Francisco Graña 155, Sta. Catalina, Lima 13, Peru.
Isabelle Lodding Gresvig, 35, Board member. Ms. Lodding Gresvig is a Product Manager at Aller Gruppen AS,
responsible for branding new magazines concepts. She studied export marketing with a focus on International
Marketing from Instituto Catolico de Administracion de Empresa in Madrid, Spain, as well as International
Marketing, Export and Import at Escuela Superior de Administracion de Empresa in Barcelona, Spain. Ms. Lodding
Gresvig also holds a degree in French Language and Culture from Université de Droit, d´Economie et des
Sciences d’Aix in France. Her previous experience includes: Senior sales executive at Aller Familie Journal and
Project Manager at Gambit Communications the Norwegian representative for Hill & Knowlton a US-owned public
relations company. Ms. Lodding Gresvig joined the Board in November 2006. She resides in Oslo, Norway and her
business address is Stenersgaten 2, 0184 Oslo, Norway. Ms. Lodding Gresvig is an independent director.
Ivan Orlic Ticeran, 55, Board member. Mr. Ivan Orlic Ticeran was born in Lima, Peru in 1952. He attended the
School of Engineering and Business Administration from 1970-76 at the State University of New York, USA. His 30
year long career started in Ecuador, where he spent five years developing the fishing fleet for the family fishing
industry. He moved to Peru in 1981 where he has been the founder, main shareholder, and executive director of
Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A. (fishing fleet), Fish Protein (fishmeal plant) and Fish Corp S.A. (fish for direct
human consumption). All of these are highly successful companies that merged with Copeinca in June of 2007. He
is recognized for having developed the most efficient refrigerated fishing fleet in Peru. Mr. Orlic Ticeran is a
strategic corporate advisor in both industrial and in direct human consumption fisheries. Additionally, he serves in
the board of directors of several Peruvian companies. He resides in Lima, Peru and his business address is Av.
Amador Merino Reyna 307 Piso 7 San Isidro, Lima 27, Peru.
Synne Syrrist, 34, Board member. Ms. Syrrist is an independent consultant providing services in budgeting,
financing and preparations for public competition. She is an authorised financial analyst from the Norwegian
School of Economics and Business Administration, and holds a Master of Science degree in Industrial Engineering.
Previous work experience includes: Financial Analyst at First Securities and Elcon Securities. Ms. Syrrist joined the
Board in November 2006. She resides in Oslo, Norway and her business address is Rundhaugveien 5A , Oslo,
Norway. Ms. Syrrist is an independent director.
Wilfredo Caceres Monroe, 47, Board member. Mr. Caceres has announced his resignation from the Board of
Directors, which will be effective from 1 January 2008.
In addition, the Board has the following deputy members: Luis Dyer Ampudia (personal deputy for Sergio Dyer
Osorio), Ivan Orlic Maracic (personal deputy for Ivan Orlic Ticeran) and Sheila Dyer Coriat (personal deputy for
Samuel Dyer Ampudia, Rosa Coriat Valera and Piero Dyer Coriat).
Neither of Mr. Selmer, Mr. Caceres, Ms. Berdal, Ms. Lodding Gresvig nor Ms. Syrrist have any ties with any major
shareholder or their related parties, any employee of the Copeinca Group or any business relation of the Copeinca
Group. However, with the resignation of Mr. Caceres, more than 50% of the Board members are no longer
independent of the Company, its shareholders and business relations. Thus, the Board does not comply with the
recommendations set out in the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance with regard to the
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independence of the Board. The Company is however working on finding a new independent Board Member, and
will announce any new information in this regard in due course.
15.4

Management

The senior management of the Copeinca Group consists of the following persons:
Figure 15-2: Copeinca Group’s senior management
NAME

RESPONSIBILITY

AGE

Samuel Dyer Coriat
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Pablo Trapunsky
Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Deputy CEO)
Eduardo Castro-Mendivil Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Giuliana Cavassa
Legal Manager
Mercedes Tang
Chief Sales Officer (CSO)
Source: Company Information

31
41
46
36
42

TENURE IN THE FOOD
INDUSTRY (YEARS)
7
13
14
4
12

Samuel Dyer Coriat, 31, CEO. Mr. Dyer holds a degree in Business Administration and a Master in Finance and
Administration from the University of Miami, Florida, USA. He has extensive experience within the Peruvian fishing
industry and started his career with Copeinca Peru as a fleet assistant. Mr. Dyer has held many positions within
the company including: Assistant for the frozen foods plant, plant superintendent, manager of the frozen foods
plant, fleet manager and operations manager. After gaining experience from the various aspects of the business,
he became the CEO in 2002. Since then, he has had a clear approach to transform Copeinca Peru into a business
organisation based on corporate governance.
Pablo Trapunsky, 41, Deputy CEO. Mr. Trapunsky holds a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanics Engineering, with a
focus on Systems of Production, Materials and Robotics from the University of Technion, Israel. He has good
command of both English and Hebrew. Mr. Trapunsky, who joined Copeinca in January 2004, has 13 years
experience with multinational companies both in Peru and abroad. During his previous jobs Mr. Trapunsky has
focused mainly on technical sales, site erection supervision, implementation of equipment functioning, personnel
training and post-sales service. His expertise also includes industrial processes such as power generation, sugar
cane milling, gas plants and fishmeal production.
Eduardo Castro-Mendivil, 46, CFO. Mr. Castro-Mendivil holds a Civil Engineering degree from Universidad
Catolica del Peru and a Masters degree in Business Administration from the University of Texas at Austin (USA).
He has extensive experience in finance and has held positions such as V.P. of Finance at Corporacion Custer,
Corporate V.P. at Corporacion Pantel, Financial Controller at Corporacion Backus and Construction Accountant at
The Continental Companies. Mr Castro-Mendivil has experience both as controller, VP Finance and as a board
member of listed companies. Mr. Castro-Mendivil joined Copeinca Peru in April 2006.
Giuliana Cavassa, 36, Legal Manager. Ms. Giuliana Cavassa is an Attorney at law graduated from Pontificia
Universidad Catolica del Peru, with post graduate studies in Civil Law at Universidad de Salamanca, Spain. She
has 11 years of experience as a lawyer in private and public sectors, joining as associate with Cauvi Ferraro
Devoto & del Solar, Abogados and Delfino, Pasco, Isola & Avendaño law firms. She also spent last four years in
the public sector as a consultant for the Ministry of Labour and the Ministry of Production with the Fishery Viceminister. Ms. Cavassa joined Copeinca Peru in July 2006.
Mercedes Tang, 42, CSO. Ms. Tang is an Industrial Engineer with a Master’s degree in Agricultural Management
from the University of Reading (UK) in 1993. She has extensive management experience in trading, marketing,
manufacturing, administration and finance areas, in the import and export of agricultural commodities, fresh
produce and mass products, in domestic and multinational companies such as Procter & Gamble, Romero Trading,
Tradigrain del Peru and Agro Industrias Backus. Ms. Tang has basic knowledge of Chinese (Mandarin). She joined
Copeinca Peru in March 2004.
All persons in the management have employment contracts with Copeinca Peru and are residents of Peru. Their
business address is Copeinca, Calle Francisco Graña 155, Urb. Sta. Catalina, Lima 13, Peru.
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15.5

Conflicts of interests, family relationship, directorships etc.

Dyer-Coriat Holding, S.L. holds 32.65% of the Shares and is the Company’s largest shareholder. Mr. Samuel Dyer
Ampudia (Vice Chairman of the Board), Ms. Rosa Coriat Valera (Board member), Piero Dyer Coriat (Board
member) and Mr. Samuel Dyer Coriat (CEO) are all major shareholders of Dyer-Coriat Holding, S.L. Mr. Samuel
Dyer Coriat (CEO) also holds 3,000 Shares directly. Mr. Orlic Ticeran (Board member) holds 10.60% of the
Shares through Andean Fishing LLC, which is the Company’s second largest shareholder. Mr. Orlic Ticeran was
elected to the Board in connection with Copeinca ASA’s acquisition of Fish Protein and Ribar in June 2007,
companies that were previously held directly and indirectly by Mr. Orlic Ticeran. Sergio Dyer Osorio holds 0.57%
of the Shares.
Other than as mentioned above, there are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties to the Company
of any of the Board members or members of the management as set out above and their private interests and/or
other duties.
Samuel Dyer Ampudia and Rosa Coriat Valera are married and Board members of Copeinca ASA. Piero Dyer
Coriat, Board member of Copienca ASA, and Samuel Dyer Coriat, CEO, are their sons. Sergio Dyer Osorio, Board
member, is the nephew of Samuel Dyer Ampudia.
No members of management or the Board of Directors has (i) any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences
for the pervious five years, (ii) been associated with any bankruptcies, receiverships or liquidations for the
previous five years or (iii) been subject to any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by statutory or
regulatory authorities (including designated professional bodies), or been disqualified by a court from acting as a
member of the administrative, management or supervisory body of an issuer or from acting in the management
or conduct of the affairs of any issuer, for the previous five years.
The following table sets out the directorships and partnerships currently held by members of the Copeinca ASA
Board members and senior management and held for the previous five years (not including any company in the
Copeinca Group):
NAME
Board of Directors
Christian Selmer

Samuel Dyer Ampudia

CURRENT

PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS

Advokatfirma Selmer DA (partner)
Camposol AS (board member)
Piano Forte AS (deputy member)
Bele AS (board member)
Black & Decker Norge AS (chairman)
Cata AS (board member)
Handsel AS (board member)
Ingeborg og Per Palle Storms Legat
(chairman)
Lisi AS (deputy)
Metalock Industrier AS (chairman)
Metalock Norge AS (deputy member)
Procter & Gamble Norge AS (chairman)

Fjord Seafood ASA (board member)
Zeekit AS (board member)
Alpina Norge AS (chairman)
Crispi Norge AS (chairman)
Gillette Norge AS (chairman)
Advokatfirma Selmer DA (chairman)

Camposol AS (chairman)
Apurimac Ferrum S.A. (chairman)

Galvanizadora Peruana S.A.
Consortium Latin American Corp.
(chairman)
Fihesa Trading S.A.
Dyer S.A.
Association for Sechura Producers
(chairman)
Association of Industries for the
Peruvian Amazon (chairman)
The Managerial Coalition Against
Smuggling and Drugs (chairman)

D & C Group ( chairman)

Mimi Berdal

Hansa Property Group ASA (board
member)
Stabæk Fotball (chairman)
Rocksource ASA (deputy chairman)
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(board member)
Stiftelsen Norsk Rikstoto (board
member)
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NAME

CURRENT

PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS

Itera Consulting Group ASA (board
member)
24 Seven Office ASA (board member)
Gjensidige Investeringsrådgivninig ASA
(board member)
Gjensidige Pensjon og Sparing Holding AS
(board member)
Synnøve Finden ASA (board member)
Q-Free ASA (board member)
Wilfredo Caceres Monroe
(resigned from the board
effective 1 January 2008)

Camposol AS (deputy chairman) (resigned
from the board effective 1 January 2008)

Rosa Coriat Valera
Piero Dyer Coriat

FIMA (board member and CEO)
HL Ingenieros (manager)
Inversiones Gacor (board member)
Camposol AS (board member)
Apurimac Ferrum S.A.
D & C Group S.A.C.

Isabelle Lodding Gresvig

Aksel Gresvig AS (board member)

Synne Syrrist

Camposol AS (board member)
AGR ASA (board member)
Castelar Corporate Finance ASA
Cecon ASA (board member)
Faktor Eiendom ASA (board member)
Gregoire (board member
Ocean Heavylift (board member)
Wavefield Inseis ASA (board member)
Camposol AS (board member)

Ivan Orlic Ticeran

Travel Consulting Group (board member)
BanCan Inmobiliaria
Amazon Trading Corp
Ribar Tuna S.A.
Wilmington Capital
Internacional Business Project
Pacific Marine Corp
Andean Fishing LLC

Sergio Dyer Osorio

Aceros y Techos S.A.
ABC Gruppe S.A.C.
Galvanizadora Peruana S.A.

Management
Samuel Dyer Coriat

Blom ASA (moard member)
Eastern Drilling ASA (board
member)
APL ASA (board member)
APL Plc (board member)
Scan Subsea ASA (board member)

Corporrracion Pesqera Ribar S.A.
Corporacion Fish Protein S.A.
Servicios Pesqueros Chimbote S.A.
Fishcorp S.A.

Acero Holding S.A.C.

Camposol AS (board member)
Apurimac Ferrum S.A. (board member)

Eduardo Castro-Mendivil

15.6

EMESA (board member)
Tiendas EFE (board member)

Derivados del Maiz (board member)
Corporacion Custer (board member)
Norbank (board member)
Mimo Peru (board member)
Mimo Equador (board member)
Hoechst Marion Russel Peru (board
member)
Richard O. Custer Peru (board
member)

Lock-up agreements

Dyer-Coriat Holding, S.L., Luis Dyer Ampudia, David Dyer Fernandez, Luis Dyer Fernandez, Rodrigo Dyer
Fernandez, Sergio Dyer Osorio, William Dyer Osorio and Yasmin Dyer Osorio, who hold 24,192,370 Shares (equal
to 41.37%), have entered into a customary 12 months lock-up agreement with the Glitnir Securities ASA. Under
the lock-up agreement, the shareholders have agreed not to offer, sell, contract to sell or otherwise dispose of
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Shares for a period of 12 months following the first day of trading of the Shares on Oslo Børs (26 January 2007),
without the prior written consent of the Glitnir Securities ASA.
15.7

Remuneration and benefits

As the Company was established in November 2006 there are no figures for the remuneration to the Board. The
remuneration of the members of the Board will be determined annually by the General Meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Public Limited Companies Act, first time by the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2008.
The current remuneration and benefits are entitling the group of management set forth in section 15.4. Excluding
the CEO, the amount of aggregate annual compensation is approximately USD 1,060,579. Other benefits such as
life insurance, private health insurance, fuel coupons and car renting amount to approx. USD 209,151
The Board is responsible for deciding the CEO’s compensation. The current remuneration scheme entitles the CEO
to a basic yearly salary of approx. USD 302,646 and other yearly benefits such as group life insurance, health
insurance and company car of approx. USD 37,456. In accordance with the Public Limited Companies Act, the
Board shall prepare a statement regarding the CEO´s remuneration and benefits, which shall be dealt with by the
Annual General Meeting.
15.8

Board practices

15.8.1

Board members’ term of office

The following table sets forth the term of office of the Board:
Table 15-3: Copeinca ASA Board’s term of office
Name

Position

Has served since

Term Expires

Christian Selmer
Samuel Dyer Ampudia
Mimi Berdal
Wilfredo Caceres Monroe

Chairman
Vice Chairman
Board member
Board member

24
24
24
24

Rosa Coriat Valera
Piero Dyer Coriat
Sergio Dyer Osorio

Board member
Board member
Board member

24 November 2006
24 November 2006
11 June 2007

Annual General Meeting 2008
Annual General Meeting 2008
Annual General Meeting 2008
Resigning effective from 1
January 2008
Annual General Meeting 2008
Annual General Meeting 2008
Annual General Meeting 2009

Isabelle Lodding Gresvig
Ivan Orlic Ticeran
Synne Syrrist
Luis Dyer Ampudia *
Sheyla Dyer Coriat**
Ivan Orlic Maracic***

Board member
Board member
Board member
Deputy member
Deputy member
Deputy member

24
11
24
11
11
11

Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual

November
November
November
November

2006
2006
2006
2006

November 2006
June 2007
November 2006
June 2007
June 2007
June 2007

General
General
General
General
General
General

Meeting
Meeting
Meeting
Meeting
Meeting
Meeting

2008
2009
2008
2009
2009
2009

* Personal deputy member for Sergio Dyer Osorio
** Personal deputy for Samuel Dyer Ampudia, Piero Dyer Coriat and Rosa Coriat Valera
*** Personal deputy for Ivan Orlic Ticeran

15.8.2

Benefits upon termination

No service contracts have been entered into between Copeinca ASA or any of its subsidiaries with any member of
the

Board

or

management

providing

for

benefits

upon

termination

of

their

position

as

Board

member/employment.
With regard to the managers, in the event of a voluntary retirement, Copeinca Peru pays the benefits required by
Peruvian law, which are compensation by time of service (CTS), outstanding vacations and outstanding bonus. If
the employee’s employment is terminated with cause, the company pays the same benefits. If the employee is
requested to retire or to leave the job, the company pays the same benefits and in addition gives a severance
payment determined by law, consisting of one and a half monthly salary per each year of service (with a
maximum amount of 12 monthly salaries). In addition, Copeinca Peru gives an outplacement program for
managers and division heads that are requested to retire or to leave the job, this program consists on sending
these former employees to a consultancy company specialized in relocation of personnel. This program includes
personalized assessments and training in order to improve the individual´s skills so that he/she can either find a
new job or start a new business.
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Also there is an internal policy which indicates that the company could approve additional benefits, which would
form part of the total severance payments.

15.8.3

Corporate governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles are based on, and (except as set out below) comply with, the
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance (the “Code of Practice”) issued by the Norwegian Corporate
Governance Board on 28 November 2006. The Company has disclosed its corporate governance principles on its
website www.copeinca.com
See section 15.3 – “Board of Directors” for information on the independence of the Board.
The General Meeting held 11 June 2007 granted to the Board a general authorisation to increase the Company’s
share capital, see section 20.2 – “Authority to issue Shares”, in order for the Board to have flexibility in a period
when the Company is consolidating its market share in accordance with its strategy.
15.9

Employees

Copeinca Peru currently employs 2,589 part time and full time personnel.
Figure 15-4: Current employee breakdown by division

DIVISION

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Copeinca Employees
Board of Directors support

8

Audit

4

General Management

1

General Management Support

4

Planning & Budget

4

Legal Advisory

6

Operations (non-worker)

98

Production (workers)

674

Fleet (land based – non worker)

126

Fleet (land based workers)

9

Fleet

1248

Marketing & Sales

8

Finance & Corporate Services

17

Accounting

42

Trade

8

Logistics (non-workers)

59

Logistics (workers)

49

IT

28

Human Resources

34

Administration

46

Administration (workers)
Health, Safety, Environment and Quality

9
72

Quality (workers)

5

Trainees

24

Total Copeinca

2,585

Contract Labour
Cargo Stowage

16

General Services

156

Security Services

272

Other Services

209
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DIVISION

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Total Contract Labour

653

The total number of employees was 1,552, 1,672 and 1,192 for the end of year 2004, 2005 and 2006
respectively.
The vast majority of the fleet and production workers are employed on a part time basis during fishing and
production seasons. On average Copeinca Peru employs 5% of the vessel crew and 20% of the production
workers during non-production and fishing ban seasons, mainly for maintenance purposes.
The following activities are outsourced: security, finished products transportation, customs agencies, catering,
cleaning services and fuel transportation.
15.10

Shareholdings

The following table sets forth the number of Shares and options owned and/or granted to the members of the
Board and the management as of at the date of this Prospectus.
Table 15-5: Shareholding by Board and management
Name

No. of Shares

Rosa Coriat Valera, Piero Dyer

% of share capital

19,101,000

32.65%

Coriat, Samuel Dyer Ampudia and
Samuel Dyer Coriat
Sergio Dyer Osorio
Ivan Orlic Ticeran**
Isabelle Lodding Gresvig***

332,630

0.57%

6,200,000

10.60%

15,000

0.04%

* Through Dyer-Coriat Holding SL as a shareholder
* Through Andean Fishing LLC
*** Through Aksel Gresvig AS where Ms. Lodding Gresvig is a shareholder and Board member

The Board members and members of management that are not mentioned in the table above, do not hold
Copeinca Shares.
15.11

Employee Stock Option Program

The Board plans to adopt an Employee Stock Option Program.
The purpose of the Program si to be an incentive for certain key employees of Copeinca (including the members
of the senior management) in their work.
The Company´s general meeting held 11 June 2007 authorised the Board to increase the share capital by up to
NOK 4,650,000 through the issue of up to 930,000 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 5, in connection
with the establishment of the Employee Stock Option Program, allowing the Board to honour any options
allocated under the program. The authority is valid for two years until 11 June 2009.
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16

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

As of 21 December 2007 the Company’s 20 largest shareholders are:

Investor
Dyer Coriat Holding
ANDEAN FISCHING L.L.C
INVESTORS BANK & TRUST COMPANY
Dyer Ampudia Osterlin Luis
SIS SEGAINTERSETTLE AG 25PCT
ORKLA ASA
DEUTSCHE BANK AG LONDON PRIME BROKERAGE
SOUTH WINDS AS
STATE STREET BANK AN A/C CLIENT OMNIBUS I
MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INC CLIENT EQUITY
ACCOUNT
STATE STREET BANK AN A/C CLIENT OMNIBUS D
THE NORTHERN TRUST C USL TREATY ACCOUNT
VITAL FORSIKRING ASA
MORGAN STANLEY & CO
BANK OF NEW YORK BR TREATY ACCOUNT
DNB NOR SMB VPF
DERIS S.A.
DNB NOR NORGE (IV) VPF
MP PENSJON
Dyer Fernandez Rodrigo Israel
Top 20
OTHERS
TOTAL

Shares
19 098
6 200
3 292
3 181
2 864
2 509
2 285
1 489
1 308

%
000
000
006
220
969
900
387
750
300

1 143 554
1 025 761
901 170
742 508
727 145
651 484
616 668
500 000
441 401
383 850
332 630
49 695 703
8 804 297
58 500 000

32,65
10,60
5,63
5,44
4,90
4,29
3,91
2,55
2,24

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

1,95 %
1,75 %
1,54 %
1,27 %
1,24 %
1,11 %
1,05 %
0,85 %
0,75 %
0,66 %
0,57 %
84,95 %
15,05 %
100,00 %

The following shareholders own more than 5% or the Copeinca Shares and are subject to disclosure obligations
under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act :
•

Dyer-Coriat Holding, S.L. holds 19,098,000 Shares, equal to 32.65% of the total number of Shares.

•

Luis Dyer Ampudia, David Dyer Fernández, Luis Dyer Fernández, Rodrigo Dyer Fernández, Sergio Dyer
Osorio, William Dyer Osorio and Yasmin Dyer Osorio, jointly hold 5,177,000 Shares, equal to 8.85% of
the total number of Shares. They are related parties under the Securities Trading act section 1-4 no 5.

•

Andean Fishing LLC owns 6,200,000 Shares, equal to 10.60% of the total number of Shares.

•

Investors Bank & Trust Company holds 3,292,006 shares, equal to 5.63% of the total number of
Shares.

All the Shares and shareholders have equal rights, including voting rights.
Dyer-Coriat Holding, S.L. holds 32.65% of the Company and accordingly has negative control over the Company.
The Company has taken measures to ensure that such negative control is not abused through its corporate
governance policy and an independent Board, see section 15.3 – “Board of Directors” and section 15.8.3 –
“Corporate governance” for further information.
The Company is not aware of any arrangements that may result in a change in control of the Company.
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17

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Copeinca ASA has not entered into any related party transactions for the last three financial years and up to the
date of this Prospectus. The related party transactions described in this section are the relevant transactions
entered into by Copeinca Peru in the said period.
17.1

Jadran S.A. (“Jadran”)

On 21 September 2006, Pesquera Nardai S.A. (“Nardai”), a single purpose vehicle company owned by Samuel
and Luis Dyer Ampudia (which were two of the largest shareholders of Copeinca Peru are two of the largest
shareholders of Copeinca ASA, see chapter 16 – “Major Shareholders”), acquired Jadran for a purchase price of
USD 29 million. Jadran owns eight vessels, representing a capacity of approx. 2,350 m3 and a logistics centre of
more than 17,000 mȼ located in Chimbote, Peru. Nardai was created for the transaction, and acquired Jadran in
lieu of Copeinca Peru due to restrictions in Copeinca Peru’s loan agreement with Credit Suisse. The purchase price
of USD 29 million was financed through (i) a USD 19.8 million loan from IIG Capital, LLC, a New York-based
hedge fund, (ii) a USD 4.75 million leaseback arrangement with Banco Internacional del Perú - Interbank, a
Peruvian bank, and (iii) a prepayment of raw materials in the amount of USD 5 million from Copeinca Peru.
Nardai and Jadran have subsequently merged under the name Jadran.
In September 2006 Copeinca Peru signed an exclusive agreement with Jadran for the supply of raw material from
Jadran’s fleet to Copeinca Peru. The term of the contract is six years. Jadran has an obligation to sell and
Copeinca Peru has an obligation to purchase 100% of Jadran’s fishing capture on an exclusive basis for a price of
USD 210 per ton. Copeinca Peru pays more than the market price to allow Jadran to service interest and
instalments on its debt, since it has been and is the intention of all involved parties that Copeinca Peru shall
acquire Jadran once the restrictions in Copeinca Peru’s loan agreement with Credit Suisse has been renegotiated.
According to the IFRS accounting policies (IFRS 3), Jadran is consolidated into Copeinca Peru’s accounts from the
date on which control was transferred to Copeinca Peru, i.e. from 21 September 2006. While the Jadran
consolidation has no material effect on the Profit and Loss Accounts for the three months and nine months to 30
September 2006, the Balance Sheet as of 30 September 2006 is significantly impacted.
Copeinca Peru had entered into an option agreement with Samuel and Luis Dyer Ampudia whereby Copeinca Peru
had an option to purchase all the shares of Jadran. The option was exercised on 22 March 2007, and Jadran is
now fully owned by Copeinca Peru. The purchase price was PEN 10,000 (Peruvian Nuevos Soles), or approx. NOK
20,000, i.e. with no profit made to the current owners of Jadran and Copeinca Peru assumed the debt raised by
Nardai when Jadran was purchased.
Copeinca Peru (as lien grantor) entered into an Administration Trust Agreement in September 2006 with Jadran
(as secured party) and La Fiduciaria (as trustee). The company paid USD 8,000 per month to La Fiduceiaria as
compensation for administration of the trust of eight vessels in favour of the financial institutions that have
financed the purchase of Jadran by Nardai. In addition 35,000 MT of FAQ fishmeal produced by Copeinca Peru
was placed in a trust as a guarantee.
This loan has been paid with proceeds of the USD 185 million loan signed with Credit Suisse and other banks.
On 1 July 2007 the decision to merge Copeinca Peru and Jadran with Copeinca Peru as the surviving entity was
adopted by the respective companys’ general meeting. The merger will be completed by the end of August 2007.
17.2

Sub-lease of administrative offices

Copeinca Peru has entered into an agreement with regard to the sub-lease of administrative offices located at
Francisco Graña Nº 155 – 3rd, Floor , Santa Catalina – La Victoria, to Apurimac Ferrum S.A, a company related to
the Dyer Coriat family. The monthly rent is USD 849 and the term of the contract is 10 years, from 16 February
2006 until 15 February 2016. The sub-lease agreement is entered into on arm’s length terms and the rent is
market price.
Further, Copeinca Peru has entered into an agreement with regard to the sub-lease of administrative offices
located at Francisco Graña Nº 155 – 3rd, Floor, Santa Catalina – La Victoria, to Gestion Del Pacifico S.A., a
company related to the Dyer Coriat family. The monthly rent is USD 1,983 and the term of the contract is 10
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years, from 16 February 2006 until 15 February 2016. The sub-lease agreement is entered into on arm’s length
terms and the rent is market price.
17.3

Loans and advisory services

Copeinca Peru has entered into the following agreements with regard to loans and fees with certain related
parties:


Two loans granted by Copeinca Peru to Gestión del Pacifico (a company owned by the Dyer Coriat family)
on January and February 2007 of USD 20,000 and PEN 19,435 (APPROX usd 6,073). The loans carry an
interest of Libor + 1.75% and 8.0% respectively and shall be repaid on January and February 2008.



Copeinca Peru granted Samuel Dyer Ampudia (shareholder and Board member) two loans of USD 3,000
and PEN 7,600 (approx USD 2,373) in 2006. The loans will be repaid on 30 March 2008. The loans do
not carry an interest rate.



Copeinca Peru granted Gestion del Pacifico (a company owned by the Dyer Coriat family) a loan of PEN
3,000 (approx. USD 1,000) on October 2007. The loan carries an interest rate of 8% and shall be repaid
in February 2008.



Copeinca Peru granted Gestion Empresarial a loan of USD 85,000 on June 2007. The loan carries an
interest rate of LIBOR +3.5% and shall be repaid in June 2008.
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18

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

18.1

General about the historical financial information

Consolidated figures for Copeinca Peru for the years 2006, 2005 and 2004, as well as for Copeinca ASA for the
first, second and third quarter 2007, are presented below. Those figures have been derived from the audited
consolidated financial statements for the three years ended 31 December 2006, 2005 and 2004, from the the
unaudited Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Information for the three month period ended 31 March
2007 and from the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Information for the nine month period ended 30
September 2007 and 2006, all prepared in accordance with IFRS. Those financial statements are attached to the
Prospectus as Appendix III and can be obtained from the Company’s website www.copeinca.com
Information published after 22 December 2006 may be found at www.newsweb.no under the ticker “COP”.
Copeinca ASA was incorporated on 24 November 2006 as a subsidiary of Copeinca Peru. Copeinca Spain was
incorporated on 15 December 2006, by contribution in kind of 99.9999% of the shares in Copeinca Peru. The
incorporating shareholders of Copeinca Spain were identical to the shareholders of Copeinca Peru. On 11 January
2007 the equity in Copeinca ASA was written down to zero, while at the same time, the shareholders in Copeinca
Spain contributed their shares in Copeinca Spain to Copeinca ASA as contribution in kind. The remaining 0.0001%
of the shares in Copeinca Peru were also transferred to Copeinca ASA.
Following the above incorporations and contributions Copeinca ASA became as of January 2007 the new ultimate
holding company of the Copeinca Group, which financial history is the financial history of Copeinca Peru. Since
this was completed as a reorganisation (rather than as a transaction) with full continuity in accordance with IFRS,
all historical financial information in the Prospectus therefore constitutes the historical financial information of the
group, now having Copeinca ASA as its ultimate holding company.
18.2

Transition from Peruvian GAAP to EU-IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) have been adopted as the accounting principles for listed
companies in Norway and Europe with effect from 1 January 2005. Copeinca Peru’s 2004 and 2005 consolidated
accounts were prepared according to Peruvian GAAP. However, in connection with the listing of Copeinca ASA on
Oslo Børs in 2007, the Copeinca Group has also prepared the 2005 financial statements in accordance with IFRS.
The 2004 comparable figures shown in the 2005 consolidated financial statements are based on the same
principles applied in the 2005 consolidated financial statements. The accounting principles set out in Appendix II
are applied on both 2004 and 2005 consolidated accounts prepared according to EU-IFRS. The differences
between EU-IFRS and Peruvian GAAP is set out in the 2005 financial statements in Appendix II.
18.3

Historical financial accounts

The information included below have been derived from audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited
interim financial information as included in attachments to this prospectus..
Table 18-1: Consolidated income statements
Consolidated income
For the year ended 31 December*
statements (IFRS)
2006
In USD '000
2005
2004
Audited

Audited

Audited

82,290
(56,673)

Gross profit

89,888
(45,461)
44,427

Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Negative goodwill
Other income
Other expenses
Operating profit
Finance expenses
Finance income
Exchange difference, net

Sales
Cost of goods sold

For the nine months ended
30 September**
2007
2006
Unaudited

Unaudited

86,674
(62,058)

80,580
(51,035)

63,460
(35,714)

25,617

24,616

29,545

27,746

(5,331)
(12,769)
4,073
(6,813)
23,587

(7,961)
(9,394)
3,143
2,694
(2,182)
11,917

(6,760)
(8,485)
1,533
(750)
10,154

(4,888)
(17,527)

(3.962)
(9,374)

1,104
(1,203)
7,031

180
(236)
14,354

(10,718)
476
4,803

(5,450)
579
(3,267)

(2,515)
225
1,640

(14,902)
2,132
4,791

(5,379)
236
4,538
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Profit before income tax

18,148

3,779

9,504

(947)

13,749

Workers’ profit sharing
Income tax expense

(2,214)
(5,920)

(735)
(2,043)

(1,796)
(4,850)

880
2,545

(1,849)
(4,935)

10,014

1,001

2,858

2,478

6,965

Net profit
Source: Company Information
* Copeinca Peru
** Copeinca ASA

Table 18-2: Consolidated balance sheets
Consolidated balance sheet
Year ended 31 December*
information (IFRS)
2006
In USD '000
2005
2004
Audited

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Licenses
Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Financial assets
Other long-term accounts
receivable
Current assets
Inventories
Trade accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets
EQUITY
Share capital
Investment shares
Premium shares
Shares of controlled entity
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Profit for the year
Total equity
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Deferred income tax
Financial liabilities
Other Accounts Payable
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts and loans
Trade accounts payable
Other accounts payable
Current portion of long-term
borrowings

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Source: Company Information
Copeinca Peru

Audited

Audited

Nine months ended 30
September**
2007
2006

Unaudited

Unaudited

100,122
34,997
2,728
7,225
3

81,245
20,580
1,901
2

55,137
7,312
317
0

303,099
193.358
2,641
143,311
-

109,088
34,481
1,617
6,761
2

1,187
146,262

150
103,878

266
63,032

1,645
644,054

4,297
156,246

17,266
14,235
8,370
1,075
40,946

10,361
13,815
10,541
278

16,101
3,108
7,882
575

58,801
11,794
21,000
60,491

9,355
6,546
10,958
3,444

34,995

27,666

152,086

30,303

187,208

138,873

90,698

796,140

186,549

28,006
41
3
1,844
7,169
10,014

28,006
1,844
1,880
1,001

28,006
1,844
443
2,858

261,331
28,050
23,896
1,844
19,210
2,478

28,006
1,844
4,012
6,965

47,077

32,731

33,151

336,809

40,827

52,634
28,522
-

47,957
15,338
2,187
-

10,633
8,960
645
-

189,252
138,800
3,909

72,266
27,972
6,167

81,156

65,482

20,238

331,961

106,405

20,539
7,512
8,504

17,490
8,648
4,468

16,714
11,290
4,893

56,699
6,592
36,422

11,345
7,993
9,507

22,420
58,975

10,054

4,412

27,657

10,472

40,660

37,309

127,370

39,317

140,131

106,142

57,549

459,331

145,722

187,208

138,873

90,698

796,140

186,549
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** Copeinca ASA
Table 18-3: Consolidated cash flow statements
Consolidated cash flow
Year ended 31 December*
statements (IFRS)
2006
In USD '000
2005
2004

Cash flow from operating
activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Income tax paid

Cash flow from investing
activities
Purchase of investments
Purchase of Property, plant and
equipment
Sale of fixed assets
Purchase of intangible assets

Cash flow from financing
activities
Payment of bank overdraft and
loans
Bank overdraft and loans obtained
Payment of long-term borrowings
Long-term debt obtained
Purchase of investment shares
Equity issue
Other collections related to the
activity

Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash of targets
Translation difference
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

Audited

Audited

35,178
(10,71)
(4,208)
20,253

Nine months ended 30
September**
2007
2006

Audited

Unaudited

Unaudited

1,988
(5,676)
(939)
(4,627)

12,855
(2,535)
(2,982)
7,338

14,700
(12,770)
(1,319)
611

8,718
(1,478)
6,495
13,735

(29,841)

(8,073)

0

(331,407)

(29,184)

(5,975)
3,063
(1,028)
(33,781)

(13,813)
989
(9,520)
(30,417)

(7,007)
793
(622)
(6,836)

(6,457)
(163)
(338,027)

(4,050)
1,390
(31,844)

(4,783)
6,515
(16,767)
29,326
(3)

(64,924)
65,035
(5,826)
38,842
-

(47,112)
44,383
428
-

41,081
(95,627)
187,312
261,331

(3,229)
(11,232)
35,681
-

14,288

1,634

(940)

-

-

34,761

(3,241)

394,097

21,220

760
37

(283)
(14)

(2,739)
71

56,681
2,735
-

3,111
55

278

575

3,243

1,075

278

1,075

278

575

60,491

3,444

Source: Company Information
* Copeinca Peru
** Copeinca ASA
The Company is not aware of any significant change in the financial or trading prosition of the Copeinca Group
since 30 September 2007.
18.4

Dividend policy

Copeinca ASA shall aim at making the Shares an attractive investment object. The Company shall provide its
shareholders with a competitive return on investment over time, in terms of dividend and development in the
share price. Copeinca ASA's target is that the underlying values shall be reflected in the share price.
Under the loan agreement with Credit Suisse, Copeinca Peru may not declare or pay dividends before 15 May
2008. Further, also after 15 May 2008, divided payments will be restricted for the remaining term of the loan
agreement as described in section 12.2.2 - "Loan agreement with Credit Suisse II".
Copeinca ASA has not, since its incorporation, paid any dividends.
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18.5

Legal and arbitration proceedings

No company in the Copeinca Group is or has during the previous 12 months been engaged in any governmental,
legal or arbitration proceedings, including pending or threatened proceedings, which have or may have significant
effects on the Copeinca Group’s financial position or profitability.
As with most companies whit a significant workforce, Copeinca Peru is from time to time involved in a normal
level of labour claims typical to the business in which the company operates. The claims involved is of approx.
USD 2 million including the new acquisitions (Fish Protein and Ribar, Newton, San Fermin and PFB), however the
estimated contingencies are significantly below the abovementioned amount.
Copeinca Peru is also involved in some administrative proceedings with the Ministry of Production, arguing against
some penalties imposed as a consequence of the development of its activities. The penalties and amounts
involved are not significant for the Copeinca Group and in line with the Peruvian fishing industry standards.
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19

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATED TO ACQUISITIONS

19.1

Historical financial information for the acquired entities and conversion to IFRS

19.1.1

Introduction

The acquired entities Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein, Corporacion Pesquera Ribar, the Empresa Pesquera San
Fermin Entities and Pesquera Industrial El Angel – PIANGESA, have previously prepared their historical financial
statements according to Peruvian GAAP. The Peruvian GAAP historical financial information below has been
derived from the respective financial statements, which have been attached as appendices to this prospectus.
In order to prepare and present pro forma financial information as presented in section 19.1 below based on
policies that are consistent with those applied by the Copeinca Group, management has carried out an IFRS
conversion based on the P-GAAP financial information as described below. The conversion is based on an analysis
of the acquired companies carried out by management to identify areas where there are differences between PGAAP and IFRS. Following the analysis, management has prepared income statements for the above referred to
acquired companies for the twelve months ended 31 December 2006 and the nine months ended 30 September
2007 based on policies and principles that are consistent with the Copeinca Group policies and principles in all
material respects.
The acquired companies’ audited financial statements for 2006 are presented in Neu Soles, the currency used in
Peru. The company has determined that the functional currency of the acquired companies is Neu Soles. The
income statements for the nine months period ended 30 September 2007 have been converted to USD using the
average exchange rate for the nine months period (being 3.166). The income statements for the year ended 31
December 2006 have been converted to USD using the average exchange rate in 2006 (being 3.266).
The income statements for the nine months ending 30 September 2007 expressed in Neu Soles and the
conversion from Neu Soles to USD for both periods have not been audited.
The unaudited combined financial information for the San Fermin entities as presented in the tables below has
been derived from the audited financial statements of the acquired entities within the San Fermin Group,
prepared in accordance with Peruvian GAAP. Material internal transactions within the Group have been analysed
and eliminated. In 2006 USD 1,722 thousands were eliminated in sales and cost of goods sold. For the nine
months period ended 30 September 2007 the amount eliminated was USD 1,511 thousand.
The unaudited combined financial information for the Fish Protein & Ribar entities presented in the table below
has been derived from the audited financial statements of Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein and Corporacion
Pesquera Ribar. The entities financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Peruvian GAAP. Material
internal transactions between the two companies have been eliminated. This consists of the sale of anchovies
from Ribar to Fish Protein. In 2006 USD 21,791 thousands were eliminated in sales and cost of goods sold. For
the nine months period ended 30 September 2007 the amount eliminated was USD 11,883 thousand.
Management has not completed full IFRS conversion projects, but is of the opinion that the conversions carried
out are sufficient for the purpose of providing a basis for the preparation of pro forma financial information for the
Copeinca group.
For the San Fermin Entities, management has concluded that there are no significant differences between the
applied P GAAP and the accounting policies and principles as applied by the Copeinca group. Hence, no specific
IFRS adjustments have been identified for these companies.
With respect to the entities Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein, Corporacion Pesquera Ribar, the Empresa
Pesquera and Pesquera Industrial El Angel – PIANGESA the company identified the following significant GAAP
differences:

19.1.2

Fishing licences

Under P-GAAP licences have been recognised and depreciated together with the vessels. Under IFRS licences are
recognised separately and not amortised.
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19.1.3

Revaluation and components of vessels and plants

Under P- GAAP vessels and plants have been accounted for as depreciated historical cost. Individual components
of vessels and plants have not been separated and depreciated individually to a sufficient degree. Under IFRS
vessels and plants have been recognized using estimated revaluation values as at 1 January 2006. In connection
with recognizing and depreciating the individual components of the vessels and plants over the estimated
remaining useful lives, the company has applied principles that are consistent with the principles as applied by
the Copeinca group.

19.1.4

Selling and administrative expenses

The selling and administrative expenses have been adjusted to reflect the changes in depreciations for assets
related to the administrative and selling activities in the company as a result of changed depreciations under
IFRS. The change in depreciations is a combination of changed estimates for useful lives and the fact that they
estimated fair value for the opening balances.

19.1.5

Provisions

Under IFRS more provisions are recognised compared to provisions recognised under P-GAAP. These recognitions
are reflected in the converted income statements when necessary.
Below is a schedule showing the adjustments made for Fish Protein, Ribar and Piangesa. The schedule also
include the combined income statements for the San Fermin entities and the combined income statements for all
acquired entities, which form the basis for the pro forma adjustments as presented in chapter 19.2 below.
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PRO FORMA FIGURES
31.12.2006
USD (000)

HISTORICAL UNADJUSTMENT INFORMATION

COPEINCA & SUB
IFRS
2006
USD (000)

SAN FERMIN & SUB
PERU GAAP
2006
USD (000)

FISH PROTEIN & RIBAR
PERU GAAP
2006
USD (000)

PIANGESA
PERU GAAP
2006
USD (000)

IFRS
ADJUSTM.
USD (000)

Total IFRS
Consolidated
USD (000)

Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit

89,888
(45,461)
44,427

25,152
(16,661)
8,491

41,027
(27,249)
13,778

35,440
(24,751)
10,689

Selling Expenses
Administrative Expenses
Other income
Other expenses

(5,331)
(12,769)
4,073
(6,813)

(960)
(2,579)
748
(1,021)

(1,456)
(4,445)
488
-

(1,668)
(1,975)
969
(5,495)

23,587

4,680

8,365

2,520

3,215

42,367

(10,718)
476
4,803
18,148

(1,710)
283
592
3,844

(616)
7,749

(4,576)
2,875
819

3,215

(17,620)
3,634
5,395
33,775

Workers profit sharing
Income tax expenses

(2,214)
(5,920)

(525)
(1,649)

(934)
(2,519)

Profit for the year

10,014

1,670

4,296

Operating Profit
Financial expenses
Financial income
Exchange differences, net
profit before Income Tax

81
217
1,117

1 Effect of the Change in the Depreciation that affects the Cost of Goods Sold
This item is made up as follows:
US$(000)
Piangesa
Fish Protein & Ribar

2,631
1,740
4,371

2 Effect of the Change in the Depreciation that affects the Selling Expenses
This item is made up as follows:
US$(000)
Piangesa
Fish Protein & Ribar

10
7
17

3 Effect of the Change in the Depreciation that affects the Administrative Expenses
This item is made up as follows:
US$(000)
Piangesa
Fish Protein & Ribar

231
154
385

4 Effect of the Contingencies Liabilities
This item is made up as follows:
US$(000)
Fish Protein & Ribar
Piangesa
San Fermin

1,484
70
3
1,558

5 Effect of the deferred income tax
This item is made up as follows:
San Fermin
Fish Protein & Ribar
Piangesa

(281)
(722)
(187)
(1,190)
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2
3
4

5
5

4,371
4,371

191,507
(109,751)
81,756

17
385
(1,558)

(9,399)
(21,383)
6,279
(14,886)

(322)
(868)
2,026

(3,914)
(10,739)
19,123
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PRO FORMA FIGURES
30.09.2007
USD (000)

HISTORICAL UNADJUSTED INFORMATION

SAN FERMIN &
SUB
PERU GAAP
30.09.2007
US$(000)

FISH PROTEIN
& RIBAR
PERU GAAP
30.09.2007
US$(000)

PIANGESA
PERU GAAP
30.09.2007
USD (000)

Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit

61,626
(34,631)
26,995

10,760
(7,884)
2,876

26,388
(9,504)
16,884

38,600
(27,402)
11,198

Selling Expenses
Administrative Expenses
Other income
Other expenses

(4,251)
(12,889)
962
(538)

(471)
(1,364)
284
(661)

(466)
(4,775)
945
(1,138)

(2,115)
(1,565)
105
(5,704)

Operating Profit

NOTE

COPEINCA &
SUB
IFRS
30.09.2007
US$(000)

IFRS
ADJUSTM.
USD (000)

1

2
3
4

4,077
4,077
17
361
(23)

Total
Consolidated
USD (000)
137,374
(75,344)
62,030
(7,286)
(20,232)
2,296
(8,064)

10,279

664

11,450

1,919

4,432

28,744

(14,240)
454
3,507
-

(708)
401
357

(232)
66
(22)
11,262

(3,032)
889
(224)

4,432

(18,212)
520
4,775
15,827

Workers profit sharing
Income tax expenses

769
2,075

(257)
(515)

(1,038)
(2,801)

(18)
(48)

(443)
(1,197)

(987)
(2,486)

Profit for the year

2,844

(415)

7,423

(290)

2,792

12,354

Financial expenses
Financial income
Exchange differences, net
Profit before Income Tax
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IFRS Conversion

PRO FORMA FIGURES - ADJUSTMENTS
30.09.2007
USD (000)
1 Effect of the Change in the Depreciation that affects the Cost of Goods Sold
This item is made up as follows:
US$(000)
1,689
1,589
799
4,077

Piangesa
Fish Protein & Ribar
San Fermin

2 Effect of the Change in the Depreciation that affects the Selling Expenses
This item is made up as follows:
US$(000)
Piangesa
Fish Protein & Ribar
San Fermin

7
7
3
17

3 Effect of the Change in the Depreciation that affects the Administrative Expenses
This item is made up as follows:
US$(000)
150
140
71
361

Piangesa
Fish Protein & Ribar
San Fermin

4 Effect of the Contingencies Liabilities
This item is made up as follows:
US$(000)
(18)
(5)
(23)

Fish Protein & Ribar
Piangesa

5 Effect of the deferred income tax
This item is made up as follows:
San Fermin
Fish Protein & Ribar
Piangesa

(323)
(648)
(669)
(1,640)

19.2

Unuadited pro forma financial information

19.2.1

Purpose of the Pro Forma Financial Information

The Company is providing pro forma financial information to aid in the analysis of the financial results of
operations of the Company following the acquisition of Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein, Corporacion Pesquera
Ribar, the Empresa Pesquera San Fermin Group and Pesquera Industrial El Angel – PIANGESA, as if they had
been operating as one unit for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 and the first 9 months of 2007,
assuming that the transactions had occurred on 1 January 2006 and 1 January 2007 respectively.
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The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is presented for illustrative purposes only and
because of its nature, does not support to be indicative of the financial position or results that would have actually
occurred if the acquisitions and the related financing transactions had each been completed on 1 January 2006
and on 1 January 2007 respectively and it is not necessarily indicative of the condensed combined company’s
future financial position or results. As such the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information
addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the company's actual financial position or
results.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based on certain assumptions that not
necessarily would have been applicable if the Company and Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein, Corporacion
Pesquera Ribar, the Empresa Pesquera San Fermin Group and Pesquera Industrial El Angel (Piangesa) were one
group in the periods presented in the pro forma financial information. The pro forma adjustments reflect
estimates made by the Company’s management and assumptions that it believes to be reasonable.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information should be read in conjunction with the
audited financial statements for the Copeinca group and subsequent unaudited interim financial information.

19.2.2

Basis for preparation

For a description of the transactions which creates the basis for the pro forma numbers, please see chapter 11.

19.2.3

Pro forma accounting principles

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the international
accounting standards published by the International Accounting Standards Board and mandatory for financial
years beginning on or after 1 January 2006. The group is preparing its financial statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU for the first time and consequently has
applied IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” to the 2005 accounts. All
accounting standards and interpretations effective at 1 January 2006 have been implemented.
For detailed information of accounting principles, see annex 1.
The historical consolidated financial statements for the Empresa Pesquera San Fermin Group are reported under
P-GAAP accounting principles, using measurement criteria which is in compliance with IFRS and Copeinca’s
accounting principles after conversion to IFRS. Fish Protein, Ribar and Piangesa, are reported under Peruvian
GAAP. In the pro forma financial information the consolidation and the acquisition are treated in consistence with
IFRS 3 Business Combinations.
For the conversion of the financial statements of Fish Protein, Ribar and PIANGESA from P-GAAP to IFRS, see
chapter 19.
Management is currently reviewing whether the cost “Workers Profit Sharing” should be reclassified from being
classified as a tax expense to be classified as an operating expense.

19.2.4

Sources of pro forma financial information

The pro forma condensed combined income statement for 2006 is prepared based on the audited consolidated
income statement for 2006 for the Company, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and on an unaudited combined income statement for 2006 for the
acquired entities, converted to IFRS, see chapter 19, for further information.
The pro forma condensed combined income statement for the nine months period ended 30 September 2007,
have been prepared based on unaudited consolidated interim financial information for the Company, prepared in
accordance with IFRS, and on an unaudited combined income statement for the acquired entities for the nine
month ended 30 September 2007, converted to IFRS, see chapter 19 for further information.

19.2.5

Basis for preparation of pro forma financial information

The pro forma combined financial information is prepared in a manner consistent with the accounting policies
adopted by the Company in its last financial statement. According to this, the pro forma financial information is
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presented in accordance with IFRS and using the purchase method of accounting. Because of its nature, the pro
forma financial information addresses a hypothetical situation and therefore, does not represent the actual
financial position or results for Copeinca ASA and its Subsidiaries.
The pro forma combined financial information is not deemed to represent the actual combination of the financial
statements of the Company and Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein, Corporacion Pesquera Ribar, The Empresa
Pesquera San Fermin Group and Pesquera Industrial El Angel – PIANGESA in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards, since certain simplifications and highly uncertain estimates and assumptions have
been made.
The company has incorporated the following pro forma adjustments to reflect the effects of the transactions of
previously reported financial information:
1.

Purchase price allocation
The major part of the purchase prise has been allocated to fixed assets and licences based on
external valuation reports. The increase in the value of licences has not affected the income
statement since these are not amortised under IFRS. Fixed assets consists mainly of fishing vessels
with equipment and plants with machinery. The increased values imply increased depreciations,
mainly for the cost of goods sold, but also in some cases for administration and selling expenses.
The new depreciations are calculated on a linear bases based on the appraisers estimated useful life
of the specific asset.

2.

Financing
In connection with the acquisitions Copeinca ASA entered into a USD 185 million loan facility. The
loan agreement was entered into as part of an overall financing strategy, and not in regard to any
one specific acquisition. The increased interest expense included in the Pro Forma financial
information to reflect the fact that this financing would have been necessary also if the acquisitions
had been carried out at an earlier stage, has therefore been allocated between the three

3.

Tax and workers profit sharing
Tax and workers profit sharing have been recalculated as the other Pro Forma adjustments affects
the results. Both tax and workers profit sharing are calculated based on the taxable income.

The final purchase price allocation may vary from those presented in the pro forma financial information.
The pro forma adjustments are expected to have a continuing impact on the issuer

Table 19-1 Twelve month ended 31 Dec 2006 Unaudited proforma income statement
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PRO FORMA FIGURES
HISTORICAL
UNADJUSTED
INFORMATION

PROFORMA ADJUSTMENTS

PROFORMA
ADJUSTED
INFORMATION

31.12.2006
USD (000)
IFRS

Selling Expenses
Administrative Expenses
Other income
Other expenses
Operating Profit

SAN FERMIN & SUB

FISH PROTEIN & RIBAR

PIANGESA

IFRS
2006
USD (000)

2006
USD (000)

2006
USD (000)

2006
USD (000)

191,507
(109,751)
81,756

(479)
(479)

(2,942)
(2,942)

(5,155)
(5,155)

(9,399)
(21,383)
6,279
(14,886)

(4)
-

(7)
(166)
-

(10)
(232)
-

(483)

(3,114)

(5,397)

(1,961)
(2,444)

(4,497)
(7,611)

42,367

Financial expenses
Financial income
Exchange differences, net
profit before Income Tax

(17,620)
3,634
5,395
33,775

Workers profit sharing
Income tax expenses

(3,914)
(10,739)

Profit for the year

19.2.6

NOTE

Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit

COPEINCA & SUB

19,123

244
660
(1,540)

Total
Consolidated
USD (000)

1

191,507
(118,327)
73,180

1
1

(9,416)
(21,785)
6,279
(14,886)

(5,542)
(10,939)

2

(29,620)
3,634
5,395
12,781

761
2,055

1,094
2,954

3
3

(1,814)
(5,071)

(4,795)

(6,892)

33,373

5,896

Notes to the twelve month ended 31 Dec 2006 unaudited pro forma income statement

Adjustments referred to in the pro forma statements refer to the effect of the change in depreciation and interest
charges for each period and the effect of deferred income tax and workers profit sharing:
Adjustment 1: Depreciation – reflects the pro forma adjustment to record the net incremental depreciation
expense of USD 8,995 thousands for the year 2006 resulting from the increase in property, plant and equipment
to reflect the fair value adjustment for Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein, Corporacion Pesquera Ribar, The
Empresa Pesquera San Fermin Group and Pesquera Industrial El Angel – PIANGESA. The fair values are assessed
using independent appraisers. The depreciations are estimated using the straight-line method based on the
appraiser’s estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The pro forma adjustment for depreciations have been
allocated to costs of goods sold, administrative expenses and selling expenses in the same way as normal
depreciations.
Adjustment 2: Interest charge – reflects the fact that if the acquisitions had taken place 1 January 2006, it is
assumed by management that these would have had to be financed in a way similar to how they were actually
financed when acquired in 2007. The effects of the Credit Suisse loan facility of USD 185 millions have therefore
been incorporated in the pro forma numbers for the period with an increase in interest expense of USD 12,000
thousands. Since this loan facility was not entered into to finance any particular acquisition, but rather as part of
the company’s general financing, the additional interest expense has been allocated to the three different
acquisitions based on the individual acquisition considerations paid in cash.
Adjustment 3: Income Tax and Workers Profit Sharing – reflects the pro forma adjustment to record the net
reduced expense of USD 7,768 thousands for the year 2006 resulting from the depreciation of the fair value
adjustments and the interest charge adjustments based on an estimated combined tax and workers profit sharing
rate of 37% in Peru.

Table 19-2 Nine month ended 30 September 2007 Unaudited pro forma income statement

83

COPEINCA ASA PROSPECTUS

30.09.2007
USD (000)

HISTORICAL
UNADJUSTED
INFORMATION

PROFORMA ADJUSTMENTS

PROFORMA
ADJUSTED
INFORMATION
IFRS

SAN FERMIN &

FISH PROTEIN

SUB
30.09.2007
USD (000)

& RIBAR
30.09.2007
USD (000)

PIANGESA
30.09.2007
USD (000)

Sales
Cost of Sales
Gross profit

137,374
(75,344)
62,030

(94)
(94)

(4,381)
(4,381)

(924)
(924)

Selling Expenses
Administrative Expenses
Other income
Other expenses

(7,286)
(20,232)
2,296
(8,064)

(3)
(71)
-

(7)
(196)
-

(7)
(124)
-

Operating profit
Financial expenses
Financial income
Exchange differences, net
Profit before Income Tax

28,744
(18,212)
520
4,775
15,827

(168)

(4,584)

(1,055)

(890)
(1,058)

(2,040)
(6,624)

(2,515)
(3,570)

Workers profit sharing
Income tax expenses

(987)
(2,486)

106
286

662
1,789

Profit for the year

12,354

(666)

(4,173)

19.2.7

357
964

NOTE

COPEINCA &
SUB
IFRS
30.09.2007
USD (000)

Total
Consolidated
USD (000)

1

137,374
(80,743)
56,631

1
1

(7,303)
(20,623)
2,296
(8,064)

2

(23,657)
520
4,775
4,575

22,937

3
3

(2,249)

138
552
5,266

Notes to the Nine month ended 30 September 2007 unaudited pro forma income statement

Adjustments referred to in the pro forma statements refer to the effect of the change in depreciation and interest
charges for each period and the effect of deferred income tax and workers profit sharing:
Adjustment 1: Depreciation – reflects the pro forma adjustment to record the net incremental depreciation
expense of USD 5,807 thousand for the nine months ended 30 September 2007 resulting from the increase in
property, plant and equipment to reflect the fair value adjustment for Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein,
Corporacion Pesquera Ribar, The Empresa Pesquera San Fermin Entities and Pesquera Industrial El Angel –
PIANGESA. The fair values are assessed by independent appraisers. The depreciations are estimated using the
straight-line method based on the appraiser’s estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The pro forma
adjustment for depreciations have been allocated to costs of goods sold, administrative expenses and selling
expenses in the same way as normal depreciations.
Adjustment 2: Interest charge – reflects the fact that if the acquisitions had taken place 1 January 2006, it is
assumed by management that these would have had to be financed in a way similar to how they were actually
financed when acquired in 2007. The effects of the Credit Suisse loan facility of USD 185 millions have therefore
been incorporated in the pro forma numbers for the period with an increase in interest expense of USD 5,445
thousands. Since this loan facility was not entered into to finance any particular acquisition, but rather as part of
the company’s general financing, the additional interest expense has been allocated to the three different
acquisitions based on the individual acquisition considerations paid in cash.
Adjustment 3: Income Tax and Workers Profit Sharing – reflects the pro forma adjustment to record the net
reduced expense of USD 4,163 thousand for the nine months ended 30 September, 2007 resulting from the
depreciation of the fair value adjustments and the interest charge adjustments based on an estimated combined
tax and workers profit sharing rate of 37% in Peru.
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a)

the pro formafinancialinformationhas been properlycompiledon the basisstated;

b)

such basis is consistentwith the accountingpoliciesof the issuer
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such
adjustments
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be
affected
might
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Forma
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Informationis preparedby usingmanagement'sassumptions.lt is not necessarilyindicativeof the effectson the financial
transactionsactuallyoccurredearlier.Moreoverthis
positionthat would have been attainedhad the above-mentioned
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EU.
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20

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

20.1

Share capital

The Company’s share capital is NOK 292,500,000, divided into 58,500,000 Shares, each with a nominal value of
NOK 5. All Shares are fully paid.
20.2

Authority to issue Shares

The Board has the following authorisations to increase the Company’s share capital:
•

The General Meeting held 11 June 2007 authorised the Board to increase the Company’s share capital
with up to NOK 60,450,000 (approximately 30% of the Company’s share capital at the time). The
Board may set aside the shareholders’ right to subscribe for the new Shares pursuant to the Norwegian
Public Limited Companies Act. The authorisation covers increases of the share capital against non-cash
contributions, and a right to incur special obligations for the Company. Further, the authorisation
covers resolution on mergers in accordance with the Public Limited Company’s Act section 13-5. The
authorisation may be used in takeover situations. The authorisation is valid until the annual general
meeting to be held in 2008, at the latest 30 June 2008.

•

The General Meeting held 11 June 2007 also authorised the Board to increase the Company’s share
capital with NOK 4,650,000 in connection with the planned establishment of an employee option
programme. The authorisation can be used to issue Shares to employees and/or representatives. The
authorisation does not does not cover increases of the share capital against non-cash contribution or
mergers. If the Company’s share capital is changed through share splits, bonus issues or similar, the
authority shall be amended accordingly so that the subscription price, the total number of Shares, the
nominal value and the total amount the share capital may be adjusted accordingly. The Board may also
use the authority if the Company is in a take-over situation (see the Norwegian Stock Exchange Act
section 5-15). The authorisation is valid for two years from the date of the General Meeting.

20.3

Own Shares

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not own any Shares and the Board has not been granted
authority to acquire own shares by the General Meeting.
20.4

Information on options, convertibles, warrants etc

The Board adopted an Employee Stock Option Program on June 2007, see section 15.11 “Employee Stock Option
Program”. Except for the Employee Stock Option Programme, the Company has not issued any options,
convertible loans, warrants or similar instruments which give the holder a right to require the Company to issue
Shares.
20.5

Development in the share capital

Below is a table showing the development in the Company’s share capital from its incorporation until the date of
the Prospectus:
Date

Description

Change in share

Subscription

Share capital

No. of Shares

capital (NOK)

price

after change

after change

(NOK)
24.11.2006
11.01.2007
11.01.2007
11.01.2007
14.06.2007
21.06.2007

Incorporation
Redemption
Share capital increase
Private placement
Private Placement I
Private Placement II

1,000,000
1,000,000
124,000,000
77,500,000
31,000,000
60,000,000

40
40
43.29
65

1,000,000
0
124,000,000
201,500,000
232,500,000
292,500,000

100,000
0
24,800,000
40,300,000
46,500,000
58,500,000

The following increases in share capital has been for contribution in other than cash:
•

The contribution in the share capital increase of NOK 124 million conducted on 11 January 2007 was (i)
all shares (quotas) in Copeinca Spain and (ii) all shares in Copeinca Peru, and represented 100% of the
share capital at the time.
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•

Private Placement I represented an increase of the Company’s share capital of approx. 15% and the
contribution was shares in Fish Protein and Ribar.

20.6

Summary of Certain provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association

The following is a summary of provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association as of the date of this
Prospectus, some of which have not been addressed in the preceding discussion. A complete copy of the
Company’s Articles of Association is attached as Appendix I.
Name of the Company (§1): Copeinca ASA.
Registered Office (§2): Oslo Municipality, Norway.
Business of the Company (§3): Financing of and participation in trade and production of fishmeal and fish oil
and connected business. The business can be operated by the Company, its subsidiaries, by participation in other
entities or in co-operation with others.
Share Capital (§4): NOK 292,500,000, divided into 58,500,000 Shares, each with a par value of NOK 5.
Board of Directors (§5): The Board shall have between three and 11 members, as decided by the General
Meeting. The General Meeting shall elect the Chairman and the Vice Chairman of the Board.
Nomination Committee (§6): The Company shall have a Nomination Committee. The committee shall have
three members, to be elected by the General Meeting, which shall also elect its chairman. The Nomination
Committee shall prepare for election of Board members and recommend to the General Meeting on remuneration
for the Board members. The General Meeting may adopt an instruction for the Nomination Committee.
Signatory Powers (§7): Two Board members jointly.
Annual General Meeting (§8): The Annual General Meeting shall approve the annual report and accounts,
including distribution of dividends, and deal with any other matters as required by law or the Company’s Articles
of Association.
Transfer of Shares (§9): Transfer of Shares does not require the Company’s consent, and the shareholders do
not have preferential rights to acquire Shares.

20.7

Certain issues regarding shareholding in a Norwegian public limited company listed on Oslo
Børs applying to Copeinca

20.7.1

Limitations on the right to own and transfer shares

There are no restrictions affecting the right of Norwegian or non-Norwegian residents or citizens to own shares in
a public limited company. A company’s Articles of Association may in principle provide such restrictions, but not in
publicly traded companies (Oslo Børs will generally deem the company’s shares to be unfit for trading).

20.7.2

General meetings

According to the Public Limited Companies Act, a company’s shareholders are to exercise supreme authority in
the company through the general meeting.
A shareholder may attend the general meeting either in person or by proxy. Although Norwegian law does not
currently require a public limited company to send proxy forms to its shareholders for general meetings, it is
common practice in listed companies.
In accordance with the Public Limited Companies Act, the annual general meeting of the company’s shareholders
shall be held each year on or prior to 30 June. The following business must be transacted and decided at the
annual general meeting:
•

approval of the annual accounts and annual report, including the distribution of any dividend; and

•

the statement from the board of directors with regard to remuneration and benefits to the company's
managing director and other senior management employees;

•

any other business to be transacted at the general meeting by law or in accordance with the company’s
Articles of Association.
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The Public Limited Companies Act requires that written notice of general meetings be sent to all shareholders
whose addresses are known at least two weeks prior to the date of the meeting, unless a company’s Articles of
Association stipulate a longer period. A shareholder is entitled to have an issue discussed at a general meeting if
such shareholder provides the board of directors with notice of the issue so that it can be included in the written
notice of the general meeting.
In addition to the annual general meeting, extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held if deemed
necessary by the company’s board of directors. An extraordinary general meeting must also be convened for the
consideration of specific matters at the written request of the company’s auditors or shareholders representing a
total of at least 5% of the share capital.

20.7.3

Voting rights

The Public Limited Companies Act provides that each outstanding share shall represent a right to one vote. No
voting rights can be exercised with respect to treasury shares (own shares) held by a company.
In general, decisions that shareholders are entitled to make under the Public Limited Companies Act or the
company’s Articles of Association may be made by a simple majority of the votes cast. In the case of elections,
the persons who obtain the most votes cast are elected. However, certain decisions, including but not limited to
resolutions to:
•

authorise an increase or reduction in the company’s share capital,

•

waive preferential rights in connection with any share issue,

•

approve a merger or demerger, and

•

amend the company’s Articles of Association,

must receive the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast at the general meeting as
well as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. There are no quorum requirements for
general meetings.
In general, in order to be entitled to vote, a shareholder must be registered as the owner of shares in the share
register kept by the Norwegian Central Securities Depository, referred to as the VPS (described below), or,
alternatively, report and show evidence of the shareholder’s share acquisition to the company prior to the general
meeting. Under Norwegian law, a beneficial owner of shares registered through a VPS-registered nominee is not
guaranteed to be able to vote the beneficial owner’s shares unless ownership is re-registered in the name of the
beneficial owner prior to the relevant general meeting.

20.7.4

Amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association, including variation of rights

The affirmative vote of two-thirds of the votes cast at a general meeting as well as at least two-thirds of the
share capital represented at the meeting is required to amend the company’s Articles of Association. Certain
types of changes in the rights of the company’s shareholders require the consent of all shareholders or 90% of
the votes cast at a general meeting (typically a reduction in the rights of certain shareholders or a class of
shareholders or other unequal treatment of shareholders).

20.7.5

Additional issuances and preferential rights

If a public limited company issues any new shares, including bonus share issues (involving the issuance of new
shares by a transfer from the company’s share premium reserve or distributable equity to the share capital), the
company’s Articles of Association must be amended, which requires a two-thirds majority of the votes cast at a
general meeting of shareholders. In connection with an increase in the company’s share capital by a subscription
for shares against cash contributions, Norwegian law provides the company’s shareholders with a preferential
right to subscribe to the new shares on a pro rata basis in accordance with their then-current shareholdings in the
company.
The preferential rights to subscribe to an issue may be waived by a resolution in a general meeting passed by a
two-thirds majority similar to the one required to approve amendments to the company’s Articles of Association
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(i.e. two-thirds of the votes cast at a general meeting as well as at least two-thirds of the share capital
represented at the meeting).
The general meeting may, with a two-thirds majority vote as described above, authorise the board of directors to
issue new shares. Such authorisation may be effective for a maximum of two years, and the par value of the
shares to be issued may not exceed 50% of the nominal share capital as at the time the authorisation was
registered in the Norwegian Registry of Business Enterprises. However the Norwegian Corporate Governance
Code recommends not having general board authorisations for up to 50% of the share capital, but that the
authorisations are limited to specific issues and that they are not valid for a longer period than up until the next
general meeting. The preferential right to subscribe for shares in consideration against cash may be set aside by
the board of directors only if the authorisation includes such possibility for the board of directors.
Under Norwegian law, bonus shares may be issued, subject to shareholder approval and provided, amongst other
requirements, that the company does not have an uncovered loss from a previous accounting year, by transfer
from the company’s distributable equity or from the company’s share premium reserve (the issuance of bonus
shares thus means an increase in the share capital of the company without any new share capital contribution).
Any bonus issues may be effected either by issuing shares or by increasing the par value of the shares
outstanding. If the increase in share capital is to take place by new shares being issued, these new shares must
be allotted to the shareholders of the company in proportion to their current shareholdings in the company.

20.7.6

Related party transactions

Under the Public Limited Companies Act, an agreement between a company and a shareholder, the parent
company of a shareholder, a board member or the managing director, which involves consideration from the
company in excess of 1/20 of the company’s share capital at the time of the acquisition or disposal is not binding
for the company unless the agreement has been approved by the company’s general meeting. The same applies
to agreements with a related party of a shareholder, a shareholder’s parent company or someone acting pursuant
to agreement with or in concert with any of the persons mentioned in this paragraph. Business agreements in the
normal course of the company’s business containing pricing and other terms and conditions which are normal for
such agreements, as well as the purchase of securities at a price which is in accordance with the official
quotation, do not require such approval. The same applies to certain agreements entered into in connection with
the incorporation of a company and share capital increases, agreements on remuneration and benefits to the
managing director and to Board members and agreements where the company’s contribution has an actual value
of less than NOK 50,000 and which have been approved by the board. Any performance of an agreement which is
not binding on the company must be reversed.

20.7.7

Minority rights

The Public Limited Companies Act contains a number of protections for minority shareholders against oppression
by the majority, including but not limited to those described in this and preceding sections. Any shareholder may
petition the courts to have a decision of the company’s board of directors or general meeting declared invalid on
the grounds that it unreasonably favours certain shareholders or third parties to the detriment of other
shareholders or the company itself. In certain grave circumstances, shareholders may require the courts to
dissolve the company as a result of such decisions. Shareholders holding in the aggregate 5% or more of a public
limited company’s share capital have a right to demand that the company holds an extraordinary general meeting
to discuss or resolve specific matters. In addition, any shareholder may demand that the company places an item
on the agenda for any general meeting if the company is notified in time for such item to be included in the notice
of the meeting.

20.7.8

Mandatory offer requirements

The Norwegian Securities Trading Act 1997 Chapter 4 requires any person, entity or group acting in concert that
acquires more than 40% of the voting rights of a Norwegian company listed on Oslo Børs to make an
unconditional general offer for the purchase of the remaining shares in the company. The offer is subject to
approval by Oslo Børs before submission of the offer to the shareholders. The offer price per share must be at
least as high as the highest price paid or agreed by the offeror in the six-month period prior to the date the 40%
threshold was exceeded, but equal to the market price if the market price was higher when the 40% threshold
was exceeded. In the event that the acquirer thereafter, but prior to the expiration of the bid period acquires, or
agrees to acquire, additional shares at a higher price, the acquirer is obliged to restate its bid at that higher price.
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A mandatory offer must be in cash or contain a cash alternative at least equivalent to any other consideration
offered. A shareholder who fails to make the required offer must within four weeks dispose of sufficient shares so
that the obligation ceases to apply (i.e., to reduce the ownership to a level below 40%). Otherwise, Oslo Børs
may cause the shares exceeding the 40% limit to be sold by public auction. A shareholder who fails to make such
bid cannot, as long as the mandatory bid requirement remains in force, vote for his shares on the company’s
shareholders meetings or exercise any rights of share ownership unless a majority of the remaining shareholders
approve. The shareholder can, however, exercise the right to dividends and pre-emption rights in the event of a
share capital increase. Oslo Børs may impose a daily fine upon a shareholder who fails to make the required offer.
A shareholder or consolidated group that owns shares representing more than 40% of the votes in a listed
company, and that has not made an offer for the purchase of the remaining shares in the company in accordance
with the provisions concerning mandatory offers (e.g., due to available exemptions), is obliged, in general, to
make a mandatory offer in the case of each subsequent acquisition. However, there are exceptions to this rule,
including for a shareholder or a consolidated group that, upon admission of the company to listing on a stock
exchange, owns more than 40% of the shares in the company.
The Norwegian Parliament adopted a new Securities Trading Act 2007 in June 2007, under which the threshold
triggering the obligation to make a mandatory offer is reduced to 1/3 of the voting rights of a company listed on a
Norwegian exchange or regulated market place. The obligation to make a mandatory bid will be repeated at 40%
and 50% of the voting rights. The new rules on madatory offers will enter into force on 1 January 2008.

20.7.9

Compulsory acquisition

If a shareholder, directly or via subsidiaries, acquires shares representing more than 90% of the total number of
issued shares as well as more than 90% of the total voting rights attached to such shares, then such majority
shareholder would have the right (and each remaining minority shareholder of the company would have the right
to require such majority shareholder) to effect a compulsory acquisition for cash of any shares not already owned
by such majority shareholder in accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act section 4.25. Such
compulsory acquisition would imply that the majority shareholder becomes the owner of the thus acquired shares
with immediate effect. Upon effecting the compulsory acquisition the majority shareholder would have to offer the
minority shareholders a specific price per share, the determination of which price would be at the discretion of the
majority shareholder. Should any minority shareholder not accept the offered price, such minority shareholder
may, within a specified deadline of not less than two months’ duration, request that the price be set by the
Norwegian courts. Absent such request or other objection to the price being offered, the minority shareholders
would be deemed to have accepted the offered price after the expiry of the two months deadline. The cost of such
court procedure would, as a general rule, be for the account of the majority shareholder, and the courts would
have full discretion in respect of the valuation of the shares as per the effectuation of the compulsory acquisition.

20.7.10 Rights of redemption and repurchase of shares
A public limited company may issue redeemable shares (i.e. shares redeemable without the shareholder’s
consent), but this is not common practice. The company’s share capital may be reduced by reducing the par value
of the shares. Such decision requires the approval of two-thirds of the votes cast at a general meeting as well as
two-thirds of the aggregate share capital represented in the general meeting. Redemption of individual shares
requires the consent of the holders of the shares to be redeemed.
A Norwegian company may purchase its own shares (treasury shares) if an authorisation for the board of
directors of the company to do so has been given by the shareholders at a general meeting with the approval of
at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast at the meeting as well as two-thirds of the aggregate
share capital represented in the general meeting. The aggregate par value of treasury shares so acquired and
held by the company is not permitted to exceed 10% of the company’s share capital, and treasury shares may
only be acquired if the company’s distributable equity, according to the latest adopted balance sheet, exceeds the
consideration to be paid for the shares. The authorisation by the shareholders at the general meeting cannot be
given for a period exceeding 18 months.

20.7.11 Shareholder vote on certain reorganisations
A decision to merge with another company or to demerge requires a resolution of the company’s shareholders at
a general meeting passed by two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast as well as two-thirds of the aggregate share
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capital represented at the general meeting. A merger plan or demerger plan signed by the company’s Board of
Directors along with certain other required documentation, shall to be sent to all shareholders and registered with
the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises at least one month prior to the shareholders’ meeting.

20.7.12 Liability of chief executive officer and directors
The company’s board of directors and the CEO owe a fiduciary duty to the company and its shareholders. Such
fiduciary duty requires that the board members and CEO act in the company’s best interests when exercising their
functions and exercise a general duty of loyalty and care towards the company. Their principal task is to
safeguard the interests of the company.
Members of the company’s board of directors and CEO may each be held liable for any damage they negligently
or wilfully cause the company. The Public Limited Companies Act permits the general meeting to exempt any such
person from liability, but the exemption is not binding if substantially correct and complete information was not
provided at the general meeting when the decision was taken. If a resolution to grant such exemption from
liability or not to pursue claims against such a person has been passed by a general meeting with a smaller
majority than that required to amend the company’s Articles of Association, shareholders representing more than
10% of the share capital or, if there are more than 100 shareholders, more than 10% of the shareholders may
pursue the claim on the company’s behalf and in its name. The cost of any such action is not the company’s
responsibility, but can be recovered from any proceeds the company receives as a result of the action. If the
decision to grant an exemption from liability or not to pursue claims is made by such a majority as is necessary to
amend the Articles of Association, or if a settlement has been reached, the minority shareholders cannot pursue
the claim in the company’s name. A resolution by the general meeting to exempt the directors from liability does
not protect the directors from a claim or a lawsuit filed by a third party other than a shareholder, for example a
creditor.

20.7.13 Indemnification of directors and officers
Neither the Public Limited Companies Act nor any other Norwegian Act contains any provision concerning
indemnification by the company of the company’s board of directors. The company is permitted to purchase
insurance to cover the members of its board of directors against certain liabilities that they may incur in their
capacity as directors.

20.7.14 Dividends
Under Norwegian law, no interim dividends may be paid in respect of a financial period as to which audited
financial statements have not been approved by the annual general meeting of shareholders, and any proposal to
pay a dividend must be recommended or accepted by the directors and approved by the shareholders at a
general meeting. The shareholders at an annual general meeting may vote to reduce (but not to increase) the
dividends proposed by the directors.
Dividends in cash or in kind are payable only out of (i) the annual profit according to the adopted income
statement for the last financial year, (ii) retained profit from previous years, and (iii) distributable reserves, after
deduction of (a) any uncovered losses, (b) the book value of research and development, (c) goodwill, (d) net
deferred tax assets recorded in the balance sheet for the last financial year, (e) the aggregate value of any
treasury shares that the company has purchased or been granted security over during the preceding financial
years, (f) any credit or security given pursuant to the Public Limited Companies Act sections 8-7 to 8-9 and
provided always that such distribution is compatible with good and prudent business practice with due regard to
any losses which may have occurred after the last balance sheet date or which may be expected to occur. The
company cannot distribute any dividends if the equity, according to the balance sheet, amounts to less than 10%
of the total balance sheet without a two months’ creditor notice period.
Under Norwegian foreign exchange controls currently in effect, transfers of capital to and from Norway are not
subject to prior government approval. However, all payments to and from Norway shall be registered with the
Norwegian Currency Registry. Such registration is made by the entity performing the transaction. Further, each
physical transfer of payments in currency shall be notified to the Norwegian customs. Consequently, a nonNorwegian resident may receive dividend payments without Norwegian exchange control consent if such payment
is made through a licensed bank.
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The board will consider the amount of dividend (if any) to recommend for approval by the company’s
shareholders, on an annual basis, based upon the earnings of the company for the years just ended and the
financial situation of the company at the relevant point in time.

20.7.15 Distribution of assets on liquidation
According to the Public Limited Companies Act, a company may be wound-up by a resolution of the company’s
shareholders in a general meeting passed by the same vote as required with respect to amendments to the
Articles of Association. The shares rank equally in the event of a return on capital by the company upon a
winding-up or otherwise.

20.7.16 The VPS and transfer of shares
The VPS is the Norwegian paperless centralized securities registry. It is a computerized bookkeeping system in
which the ownership of, and all transactions relating to, Norwegian listed shares must be recorded. The
company’s share register is operated through the VPS. All transactions relating to securities registered with the
VPS are made through computerized book entries. The VPS confirms each entry by sending a transcript to the
registered shareholder irrespective of any beneficial ownership. To effect such entries, the individual shareholder
must establish a share account with a Norwegian account agent. Norwegian banks, the Bank of Norway,
authorised securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit institutions established within the EEA
are allowed to act as account agents.
The entry of a transaction in the VPS is prima facie evidence in determining the legal rights of parties as against
the issuing company or a third party claiming an interest in the given security.
The VPS is strictly liable for any loss resulting from an error in connection with registering, altering or cancelling a
right, except in the event of contributory negligence, in which event compensation owed by the VPS may be
reduced or withdrawn.
A transferee or assignee of shares may not exercise the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares unless
such transferee or assignee has registered such shareholding or has reported and shown evidence of such share
acquisition, and the acquisition of shares is not prevented by law, the Articles of Association or otherwise.

20.7.17 Shareholders’ register
Under Norwegian law shares are registered in the name of the owner of the shares. As a general rule, there are
no arrangements for nominee registration. However, shares may be registered in the VPS by a fund manager
(bank or other nominee) approved by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance, as the nominee of foreign shareholders.
An approved and registered nominee has a duty to provide information on demand about beneficial shareholders
to the company and to the Norwegian authorities. In the case of registration by nominees, registration with the
VPS must show that the registered owner is a nominee. A registered nominee has the right to receive dividends
and other distributions but cannot vote at general meetings on behalf of the beneficial owners. Beneficial owners
must register with the VPS or provide other sufficient proof of their ownership to the shares in order to vote at
general meetings.
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21

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following gives a summary of the contracts which are material to the Copeinca Group, other than contracts
entered into in the ordinary course of business, for the two years preceding the publication of this Prospectus:
21.1

Acquisitions

21.1.1

Jadran

On 22 December 2006 Copeinca signed and option with the owners fo Jadran, Mr Samuel Dyer Ampudia and Mr.
Luis Dyer Ampudia, giving Copeinca the right to purchase 100% of the shares of Jadran for Soles 10,000 (approx.
USD 3,150). Copeinca also assumed the debt of Jadran of approx. USD 24.55 million. The buyer of the shares
was Copeinca Spain. The option was exercised on 22 March 2007 and the acquisition was completed in second
quarter 2007. According to IFRS, Jadran has already been consolidated into Copeinca Peru’s accounts (and
consequently Copeinca ASA’s consolidated accounts).

21.1.2

Corporación Pesquera Newton S.A. (“Newton”)

Copeinca Spain acquired on 27 March 2007, Peruvian fishmeal and fish oil producer Newton for USD 23 million.
Newton has one plant with a 56 mt/hr capacity of which 21mt/hr are FAQ, (fair average quality) and 35 are SD
(steam dried) (0.6% of total Peruvian capacity),. The plant is located in Chimbote, in the center of Peru, an area
in which Copeinca Peru have previously stated that we would grow. In addition Newton has three vessels with a
total capacity of 971 m3 (0.5% of total Peruvian capacity).
On 1 July 2007 the general meetings of Copeinca Perú and Newton adopted to merge the companies, with
Copeinca Peru as the surviving entity. This merger was completed in August 2007.

21.1.3

PFB

On 21 February 207, Copeinca signed a Letter of Interest to acquire 100% of the shares of PFB. Copeinca
conducted and satisfactorily completed a due diligence investigation of PFB. The transaction was completed on 24
July 2007, and the final purchase price paid was USD 51 million.
PFB has a FAQ plant in the Port of Chancay with a capacity of 60 mt/hr (0.67% of the Peruvian fish meal
industry). Additionally PFB has sixc vessels with a total capacity of 2,338 m3 (1.11% of the Peruvian industry).

21.1.4

Other acquisitions

A description of agreements relating to the acquisitions of San Fermin, Fish Protein, Ribar and Piangesa is
included on section 11 – “The Acquistions”.
21.2

Long term supply agreements

In addition to selling its fishmeal and fish oil products in the spot market, Copeinca Peru has entered into seven
long-term supply agreements with its customers:
(i)

Copeinca Peru will supply GC Luckmate Trading Limited, 7,000 MT gross for net with a
minimum tonnage of 1,000 MT of Peruvian flame dried fishmeal per fishing season. Term:
September 2006 to February 2008.

(ii)

Copeinca Peru will supply Shenzhen Cereals Group 5,000 MT gross for net – 5% more or less
at seller’s option with a minimum tonnage of 5,000 MT of Peruvian flame dried fishmeal per
fishing season. Term: September 2006 to February 2008.

(iii)

Copeinca Peru will supply China Food Trading LTD 5,000 MT gross for net Min/Max with a
minimum tonnage is 500 MT per shipment, with minimum delivery of 1,000 MT and
maximum delivery of 2,000 MT per fishing season of Peruvian flame dried fishmeal. Term:
September 2006 to February 2008.

(iv)

Copeinca Peru will supply Coland Holdings Company Limited 5,000 MT gross for net – 5%
more or less at seller’s option with a minimum tonnage is 500 MT per shipment, with
minimum delivery of 1,000 MT and maximum delivery of 2,000 MT per fishing season of
Peruvian flame dried fishmeal. Term: September 2006 to February 2008.
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(v)

Copeinca Peru will supply Danesa International Corporation 3,000 MT gross for net – 5%
more or less at seller’s option with a minimum tonnage is 500 MT per shipment, with
minimum delivery of 1,000 MT per fishing season of Peruvian flame dried fishmeal. Term:
September 2006 to February 2008.

(vi)

Copeinca Peru will supply Teampower Feed & Grains Trading LTD 5,000 MT gross for net –
5% more or less at seller’s option with minimum tonnage is 500 MT per shipment, with
minimum delivery of 1,000 MT per fishing season of Peruvian flame dried fishmeal. Term:
September 2006 to February 2008.

(vii)

Copeinca Peru will supply Nippon Suissan Kaisha LTD 3,000 MT gross for net – 5% more or
less at seller’s option with minimum delivery of 1,000 MT and maximum delivery of 2,000 MT
per fishing season of Peruvian flame dried fishmeal. Term: September 2006 to February
2008.

(viii)

Copeinca Peru will supply Koster Marine Proteins GMBH 10,000 MT gross for net Min/Max
with a minimum tonnage of 1,000 MT per shipment, with minimum delivery of 2,000 MT and
maximum delivery of 4,000 MT per fishing season of Peruvian flame dried fishmeal. Term:
April 2007 to July 2008.

21.3

Agreement with System Application Products (SAP)

In 2004 Copeinca Peru entered into a project agreement with System Application Products (SAP) for the purchase
of SAP R/3 and 70 licenses through its business partner Omnia Solutions, for the amount of USD 205,000.
In 2005 Copeinca Peru entered into an agreement with IBM for USD 756,500 for the Consultancy on SAP
Implementation for FI, CO, MM, SD, PP, PM, QM modules. A hosting service contract for USD 5,700 per month
was also agreed with IBM. That same year the company agreed with BCTS for the amount USD271,000 for the
Functional Consultancy on HR SAP Module Implementation.
In May 2006 the company entered into an agreement with IBM for SAP functional support for the amount of
USD 8,250 per month. Another agreement with Omnia Solutions for the acquisition of 70 more licenses for the
amount of USD 175,000 was signed in 2006.
21.4

Leasing agreements for vessels, barge and certain equipment

Copeinca Peru has entered into thirteen leasing agreements for 12 vessels, one barge and certain equipment. The
interest rates vary from 8.0% to 11.5% and the final maturity is form 2008 to 2013. The total outstanding
amount under the leasing agreements is USD 13,739.
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22

THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

The information in this Prospectus that has been sourced from third parties has been accurately reproduced and,
as far as the Company is aware and able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts
have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
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23

DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

Copies of the following documents will during the life of this Prospectus be available for inspection at any time
during normal business hours on any business day free of charge at the registered office of the Company:
•

The Company’s Articles of Association. The Articles of Association as at 21 June 2007, is attached to
this Prospectus as Appendix I;

•

The Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company;

•

The unaudited annual reports of Copeinca Peru as at 31 December 2004 and 2003 prepared in
accordance with Peruvian GAAP;

•

The audited financial statements for Copeinca Peru for 2006, 2005 and 2004, prepared in accordance
with IFRS;

•

The unaudited financial statements from Copeinca’s subsidiary undertakings as at 31 December 2006
and 2005; and

•

The unaudited interim report of Copeinca ASA for the second quarter 2007 prepared in accordance with
IFRS.
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24

INFORMATION ON HOLDINGS

Copeinca ASA does not have any ownership interests (except for the subsidiaries set out in chapter 9 –
“Organisational structure”) or investments that are likely to have a significant effect on the assessment of the
Company’s own assets and liabilities, financial position or profit of losses.
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25

KEY INFORMATION

25.1

Working capital statement

In the Company’s opinion, the working capital is sufficient for the Company’s present requirements.
25.2

Capitalisation and indebtedness

Copeinca ASA’s capitalisation as of 30 September 2007 consisted of USD 337 million in equity and USD 189 in
million in long-term debt. Copeinca ASA believes that the capitalisation as of 30 September 2007 represents an
adequate capital structure.
The table below shows a statement of capitalisation and indebtedness (distinguishing between guaranteed and
unguaranteed, secured and unsecured indebtedness) as of 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006. Indebtedness
also includes indirect and contingent indebtedness. Since 30 June 2007 the material changes have been (i) the
second disbursement (USD 80 million) of the loan agreement entered into with Credit Suisse, described in
section 13.2.1 and (ii) the acquisition of Piangesa, company that had a debt of USD 8.3 million.
The Company has grown following a clear strategy in the search of funds, which were approximately one third
from financial debt and the remaining from the equity market. This ensured Copeinca ASA a sustained growth
with an optimum leverage ratio for the industry.
Table 25-1: Capitalisation and indebtedness at 31 December 2006 and 30 September 2007
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Capitalisation and
indebtedness (IFRS)
In USD '000

30 September
07*
Unaudited

30 June 07*
Unaudited

31 March 07*
Unaudited

31 Dec 06**
Audited

Unguaranteed / Unsecured
Guaranteed
Secured
Current debt

348
19,113
64,895
84,356

340
4,617
62,825
67,782

350
7,869
29,322
37,541

340
8,177
34,442
42,959

Unguaranteed / Unsecured
Guaranteed
Secured
Non-current debt

758
170,570
17,924
189,252

771
102,711
13,670
117,152

936
24,005
16,245
41,186

940
25,362
26,332
52,634

261,331

261.636

92.652

28,006

Share capital
Legal Reserve
Other Reserves
Other equity
Shareholders equity

75,478
336,809

Total Capitalisation

610,407

1,844
72,184

1,844
17,227

335,664

48,129
140,781

47,077

520,598

219,508

142,670

The information in the table above has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of
Copeinca ASA for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2006 and the unaudited consolidated interim financial
information for the nine month period ended 30 September 2007, both included as attachments to this
prospectus.
Source: Company Information
* Copeinca ASA
** Copeinca Peru
Note: In June 2007, Copeinca Peru signed a USD 185 million credit facility with Credit Suisse.

Table 25-2: Consolidated net indebtedness as of 31 December 2006 and 30 September 2007 (IFRS)
Consolidated net indebtedness
(IFRS)
In USD '000

30 September 07

60,491
0
0

30 June 07

31 March 07

49,874
0
0

31 Dec 06**

Cash
Cash equivalents
Trading securities
Liquidity

60,491

128,624
0
0
128,624

Current bank debt
Current portion non-current debt
Other current financial debt
Current financial debt

56,699
27,657
0
84,356

55,860
11,922
0
67,782

Non-current bank loans
Bonds issued
Other non-current loans
Non-current financial debt

189,252
0
0
189,252

117,152
0
0
117,152

41,186

52,634
0
0
52,634

Net indebtedness

213,117

56,310

28,853

94,518

49,874
2,655
34,886
37,541
41,186
0
0

1,075
0
0
1,075
20,539
22,420
0
42,959

The information in the table above has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of
Copeinca ASA for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2006 and the unaudited consolidated interim financial
information for the nine month period ended 30 September 2007, both included as attachments to this
prospectus.
Source: Company Information
* Copeinca ASA
** Copeinca Peru
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Note: In June 2007, Copeinca Peru signed a USD 185 million credit facility with Credit Suisse, from which USD
50 million were used to pay existing debt and USD 135 million to acquire new targets.
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INFORMATION CONCERNING THE SECURITIES TO BE ADMITTED TO TRADING
25.3
Type, class and ISIN number of the Shares
The Company has only one class of shares, being ordinary Shares in the Company each having a par value of
NOK 5.
The Shares are registered with VPS under the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) 0010352412.
The Company’s account operator is DnB NOR Bank ASA, Verdipapirservice, Stranden 21, N-0021 Oslo, Norway.
The Shares are listed and traded on Oslo Børs with ticker “COP”.
25.4

Legislation

The Shares have been created under the laws of Norway in accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited
Companies Act.
25.5

Currency

The Shares are denominated in NOK, each having a par value of NOK 5.
25.6

Share rights

All the issued Shares in the Company rank pari passu. A further description of the rights attaching to the shares
are set out in sections 20.6 “Summary of certain provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association” and 20.7
“Certain issues regarding shareholding in a Norwegian public limited company”.
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26

THE COMPLETED PRIVATE PLACEMENTS

26.1

Private Placement I - Acquisition of Fish Protein and Ribar

26.1.1

Letter of Intent and Share Purchase Agreements

Copeinca Peru entered into a Letter of Intent to acquire the Peruvian fish meal companies Fish Protein and Ribar
on 19 February 2007, for an agreed purchase price of USD 110 million, whereof 60% (USD 66 million) were to be
paid in cash and 40% (USD 44 million) were to be paid by issuing 6,200,000 Copeinca Shares. The fish meal
companies were owned through Rab Overseas Corp and Weimar Trading Corp, both registered under the laws of
British Virgin Islands. In addition, 10% of Pesquera Ribar was held by a private person. On 14 June 2007,
Copeinca ASA entered into final share purchase agreements based on the Letter of Intent to (i) acquire all issued
and outstanding shares of Rab Overseas Corp and Weimar Trading Corp for a consideration of USD 58 million and
6,200,000 Copeinca Shares; and (ii) 10% of Pesquera Ribar for USD 8 million shares.

26.1.2

Issue of Shares - resolution

The General Meeting of Copeinca ASA held 11 June 2007 authorised the Company to issue 6,200,000 new shares
to conduct Private Placement I.
In consideration of 100% of the shares in Rab Overseas Corp and 100% of Weimar Overseas Corp, which
together held 100% of Fish Protein and 90% of Ribar, the Board resolved to issue 6,200,000 Shares, each with a
nominal value of NOK 5, to the seller of Rab Overseas Corp and Weimar Trading Corp on 14 June 2007. The
subscription price per share was approx. NOK 43.29 (USD 7.10). The new shares was subscribed by Andean
Fishing L.L.C. in the Board minutes. The transfer of the shares in Rab Overseas Corp. and Weimar Trading Corp.
was be made on 14 June 2007. The new shares were entitled to dividend declared after the date the share capital
increase was registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. Otherwise the shares ranked equally
to the other shares of the Company as from the date the share capital increase was registered in the Norwegian
Register of Business Enterprises (Foretaksregisteret).

26.1.3

Registration of the share capital increase

The share capital increase representing Private Placement I was registered in the Norwegian Registry of Business
Enterprises (Foretaksregisteret) on 15 June 2007 and the 6,200,000 New Shares were registered in the VPS on
the same day with ISIN NO 001 0374929.

26.1.4

Delivery to the seller

To facilitate the delivery of listed Shares to the seller of Fish Protein and Ribar, Dyer-Coriat Holding, S.L. (the
Company’s largest shareholder) agreed to a simultaneous exchange of 6,200,000 existing, already listed
Copeinca Shares with the 6,200,000 New Shares issued to the seller through a share exchange agreement.
Consequently, the seller received listed Shares once the New Shares were registered in the Company’s VPS
register on 15 June 2007. However, the seller has agreed not to trade the Shares received under a lock-up
agreement until 18 August 2007.

26.1.5

Listing and trading on Oslo Børs

The New Shares issued in Private Placement I will be admitted to trading on Oslo Børs following approval and
publication of this Prospectus. The Company expects this to take place on or about 26 November 2007.
The New Shares have ISIN NO 001 0374929 until they are listed on Oslo Børs upon the approval and publication
of this Prospectus. After the approval and publication of this Prospectus all the Company’s will have ISIN NO
0010352412.

26.1.6

Expenses

The expenses of Private Placement I were approximately NOK 500,000.

26.1.7

Dilution

Private Placement I resulted in a dilution of existing shareholders of approximately 13.3%
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26.1.8

Share capital and the Shares

The share capital in Copeinca ASA increased from NOK 201,500,000 to NOK 232,500,000 upon completion of
Private Placement I. The total number of Shares in issue increased from 40,300,000 to 46,500,000, each having a
nominal value of NOK 5.
The New Shares are vested with equal shareholder rights in all respect as the existing Copeinca Shares. There is
only one class of Shares issued and all Shares are freely transferable. For a description of the Shares, reference is
made to section 0 – “Information concerning the securities to be admitted to trading”.
26.2

Private Placement II

26.2.1

Issue of Shares - resolution

The Board resolved to conduct Private Placement II on 21 June 2007, based on an authorisation granted to it by
the General Meeting held on 11 June 2007. The Board adopted Private Placement II based on binding presubscriptions received by the Managers in the period from 18 June to 21 June 2007. Copeinca ASA issued
12,000,000 New Shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 5, at a subscription price of NOK 65 per New Share,
to certain institutional and professional investors. The New Shares were subscribed by SEB Enskilda Securities
ASA by proxy on for and behalf of the investors. The subscription price was decided on the basis of a book
building prosess conducted by the Managers. The subscription amount was to be paid by 25 June 2007. The
quoted price of the Copeinca Share on 21 June 2007 was NOK 65. The gross proceeds from Private Placement II
was NOK 780 million. The New Shares were entitled to dividend declared after the date the share capital increase
was registered in the Norwegian Registry of Business Enterprises. Otherwise the New Shares ranked equally to
the other Shares of the Company as from the date the capital increase was registered in the Norwegian Register
of Business Enterprises.

26.2.2

Purpose

The purpose of Private Placement II was partly to obtain the necessary funds to pay the purchase price for
Piangesa, being approximately USD 111.5 million, and partly to strengthen the Company’s balance sheet for
further acquisitions.

26.2.3

Registration of the share capital increase

The share capital increase representing Private Placement II was registered in the Norwegian Registry of Business
Enterprises (Foretaksregisteret) on 25 June 2007 and the 12,000,000 New Shares were registered in the VPS on
the same day with ISIN NO 001 0374929 .

26.2.4

Delivery of the New Shares to the subscribers

To facilitate the delivery of listed Shares to the subscribers in Private Placement II, Dyer-Coriat Holding, S.L. (the
Company’s largest shareholder) agreed to a simultaneous exchange of 12,000,000 existing, already listed
Copeinca Shares with the 12,000,000 New Shares issued to the subscribers through a share exchange
agreement. Consequently, the subscribers received listed Shares once the New Shares were registered in the
Company’s VPS register on 25 June 2007.

26.2.5

Listing and trading on Oslo Børs

The New Shares issued in Private Placement II will be admitted to trading on Oslo Børs following approval and
publication of this Prospectus. The Company expects this to take place on or about 26 November 2007.
The New Shares have ISIN NO 001 0374929 until they are listed on Oslo Børs upon the approval and publication
of this Prospectus. After the approval and publication of this Prospectus all the Company’s will have ISIN NO
0010352412.

26.2.6

Expenses and net proceeds

The expenses of Private Placement II were approximately NOK 27,300,000. The net proceeds of Private
Placement II were NOK 752,700,000. The net proceeds of Private Placement II shall be transferred to the
Company’s share premium.

26.2.7

Dilution

Private Placement II resulted in a dilution of the existing shareholders of 20.51%.
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26.2.8

Managers

Glitnir Securities ASA and SEB Enskilda Securities ASA were managers for Private Placement II.

26.2.9

Share capital and the Shares

The total issued share capital in Copeinca ASA increased from NOK 232,500,000 to NOK 292,500,000 upon
completion of Private Placement II. The total number of Shares in issue increased from 46,500,000 to
48,500,000, each having a nominal value of NOK 5.
The new shares are vested with equal shareholder rights in all respect as the existing shares. There is only one
class of shares issued and all shares are freely transferable. For a description of the shares, reference is made to
section 0 – “Information concerning the securities to be admitted to trading”.
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27

TAXATION IN NORWAY

The statements herein regarding taxation are unless otherwise stated based on the laws in force in Norway as of
the date of this Prospectus, and are subject to any changes in law occurring after such date, changes which, in
respect of Norwegian taxes, could be made on a retrospective basis.
The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may
be relevant to a decision to acquire, own or dispose of the Shares. Furthermore, the summary only focuses on the
shareholder categories explicitly mentioned below (personal shareholders and limited liability companies).
Investors should consult their professional advisers on the possible tax consequences of their subscribing for,
purchasing, holding, selling or redeeming Shares under the laws of their countries of citizenship, residence,
ordinary residence or domicile.
Please note that for the purpose of the summary below, a reference to a Norwegian or foreign shareholder refers
to the tax residency rather than the nationality of the shareholder.
27.1

Norwegian Shareholders

27.1.1

Taxation of dividends

Norwegian personal shareholders
Dividends received by shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes (“Norwegian personal
shareholders”) are taxable as ordinary income for such shareholders at a flat rate of 28%.
However, Norwegian personal shareholders are entitled to deduct a calculated allowance when calculating their
taxable dividend income. The allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis, and the allowance for each share
is equal to the cost price of the share (including RISK-adjustments per 1 January 2006, RISK is the Norwegian
abbreviation for the variation of the company's retained earnings after tax during the ownership of the
shareholder) multiplied by a risk free interest rate. Any part of the calculated allowance one year exceeding the
dividend distributed on the share is added to the cost price of the share and included in the basis for calculating
the allowance the following year.
Norwegian corporate shareholders
Dividends distributed to shareholders who are limited liability companies resident in Norway for tax purposes
(“Norwegian corporate shareholders”) are not taxable for such shareholders.
Shares owned through partnerships
Partnerships are as a general rule transparent for Norwegian tax purposes. Taxation occurs at partner level, and
each partner is taxed on a current basis for its proportional share of the net income generated by the partnership
at a rate of 28%, regardless of whether such income is distributed to the partners or not. However, shareholders
resident in Norway for tax purposes owning shares through a partnership are not taxed on a current basis for
their proportional share of dividends received by the partnership. For partners who are Norwegian personal
shareholders taxation occurs when the dividends received are distributed from the partnership to such partners.
Such distributions will be taxed as general income at a rate of 28%. The Norwegian personal shareholders will be
entitled to deduct a calculated allowance when calculating their taxable income, see “Taxation of dividends –
Norwegian personal shareholders” above. Norwegian corporate shareholders holding shares through a partnership
will be exempt from taxation of their proportional part of dividends received by the partnership.

27.1.2

Capital gains tax

Norwegian personal shareholders
Sale, redemption or other disposal of shares is considered a realisation for Norwegian tax purposes. A capital gain
or loss generated by a Norwegian personal shareholder through a disposal of shares is taxable or tax deductible in
Norway. Such capital gain or loss is included in or deducted from the basis for computation of ordinary income in
the year of disposal. The ordinary income is taxable at a rate of 28%. The gain is subject to tax and the loss is
tax deductible irrespective of the duration of the ownership and the number of shares disposed of. The taxable
gain deductible is equal to the sales price less transactional expenses and the Norwegian personal shareholder’s
cost price of the shares (including RISK-adjustments per 1 January 2006).
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From this capital gain, Norwegian personal shareholders are entitled to deduct a calculated allowance when
calculating their taxable gain. The allowance for each share is equal to the cost price of the share multiplied by a
determined risk free interest rate. The allowance may only be deducted in order to reduce a taxable gain, and
may not be deducted in order to increase or produce a deductible loss. The calculated allowance is allocated to
the personal shareholders holding shares at the end of each calendar year. Norwegian personal shareholders who
transfer shares before 31 December in the relevant year will therefore not be entitled to deduct any such
calculated allowance from their taxable income.
If the Norwegian personal shareholder owns shares acquired at different points in time, the shares that were
acquired first will be regarded as the first to be disposed of, on a first-in first-out basis.
Norwegian personal shareholder who moves abroad and ceases to be tax resident in Norway as a result of this, is
deemed taxable in Norway for any potential gain related to the shares held at the time the tax residency ceased,
as if the shares were sold or otherwise disposed of at this time. Gains of NOK 500,000 or less are not taxable. If
the person moves to a jurisdiction within the EEA, potential losses related to shares held at the time tax residency
ceases will be tax deducible. The actual taxation (loss deduction) will occur at the time the shares are actually
sold or otherwise disposed of. If the shares are not disposed of within five years after the shareholder ceased to
be resident in Norway for tax purposes, the tax liability calculated under these provisions will not apply.
Norwegian corporate shareholders
Norwegian corporate shareholders are not taxable in Norway on capital gains related to realisation of shares, and
losses related to such realisation are not tax deductible.
Shares owned through partnerships
Partnerships are transparent for Norwegian tax purposes. The taxation occurs at partner level, and each partner
is taxed on a current basis for its proportional share of the net income generated by the partnership at a rate of
28%, regardless of whether such income is distributed to the partners or not.
However, shareholders resident in Norway for tax purposes owning shares through a partnership are not taxed on
a current basis for their proportional share of capital gains generated by the partnership. For partners who are
Norwegian personal shareholders taxation occurs when the capital gains received are distributed from the
partnership to such partners. Such distributions will be taxed as general income at a rate of 28%. The Norwegian
personal shareholders will be entitled to deduct a calculated allowance when calculating their taxable income, see
“Taxation of capital gains – Norwegian personal shareholders” above. A distribution from the partnership to
partners who are Norwegian corporate shareholders partners does not give rise to any taxation of such partners.

27.1.3

Net wealth tax

Norwegian personal shareholders
The value of shares is included in the basis for the computation of wealth tax imposed on Norwegian personal
shareholders. Currently, the marginal wealth tax rate is 1.1% of the value assessed. The value for assessment
purposes for shares listed on the Main List and the SMB List of the Oslo Børs is 85% of the listed value as of 1
January in the year of assessment.
Norwegian corporate shareholders
Norwegian corporate shareholders are not subject to wealth tax.
27.2

Foreign Shareholders

27.2.1

Taxation of dividends

Foreign personal shareholders
Dividends distributed to shareholders who are individuals not resident in Norway for tax purposes (“Foreign
personal shareholders”), are as a general rule subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The withholding tax
rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and the country in which the shareholder is
resident. The withholding obligation lies with the company distributing the dividends.
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Foreign personal shareholders resident within the EEA are liable to withholding tax, but entitled to apply for a
partial refund of the withholding tax. The refund equals the calculated allowance granted to Norwegian personal
shareholders, see “Taxation of dividends – Norwegian personal shareholders” above.
If a foreign shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the relevant shares are effectively
connected with such activities, the shareholder will be subject to the same taxation as a Norwegian shareholder,
as described above.
Foreign corporate shareholders
Dividends distributed to shareholders who are limited liability companies not resident in Norway for tax purposes
(“Foreign corporate shareholders”), are as a general rule subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The
withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and the country in which
the shareholder is resident. Dividends distributed to Foreign corporate shareholders resident within the EEA for
tax purposes are exempt from Norwegian withholding tax. The Company is responsible for withholding the tax at
source.
Foreign shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable tax treaty may
apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax deducted.
Nominee registered shares will be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25% unless the nominee has obtained
approval from the Norwegian Tax Directorate for the dividend to be subject to a lower withholding tax rate. To
obtain such approval the nominee is required to file a summary to the tax authority including all beneficial owners
that are subject to withholding tax at a reduced rate.
Shares owned through foreign partnerships
Dividends distributed to foreign partnerships are as a general rule subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%.
The partners in the partnership may be entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate based on applicable tax treaties
or an exemption from the withholding tax rate as residents in the EEA for tax purposes. However, this depends on
each partner’s specific situation, and investors considering such investments are recommended to consult its tax
advisors in this respect.

27.2.2

Capital gains tax

Foreign personal shareholders
Gains from the sale or other disposal of shares by a Foreign shareholder will not be subject to taxation in Norway
unless the Foreign shareholder (i) holds the shares in connection with the conduct of a trade or business in
Norway or (ii) has been a tax resident of Norway within the five calendar years preceding the year of the sale or
disposition (and whose gains are not exempt pursuant to the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty).
The Norwegian regulations regarding taxation of Foreign shareholders who sell or otherwise dispose of Shares
within five years after they cease to be resident in Norway for tax purposes are proposed abolished with effect
from 1 January 2009.
Foreign corporate shareholders
Capital gains derived by the sale or other realisation of shares by Foreign corporate shareholders are not subject
to taxation in Norway.

27.2.3

Net wealth tax

Shareholders not resident in Norway for tax purposes are not subject to Norwegian net wealth tax.
27.3

Inheritance Tax

Upon transfer of shares by way of inheritance or gift, the transfer may be subject to Norwegian inheritance or gift
tax. The basis for the computation is the marked value at the time the transfer takes place. The rate is
progressive from 0 to 30% percent. For inheritance and gifts from parents to children, the maximum rate is 20%.
However, such transfer is not subject to Norwegian tax if the donor/deceased was neither a national nor resident
in Norway for tax purposes.
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28

ADDITIONAL IMPORTANT INFORMATION

28.1

Forward-looking statements

This Prospectus includes “forward-looking” statements, including, without limitation, projections and expectations
regarding Copeinca ASA’s and the Copeinca Group’s future financial position, business strategy, plans and
objectives. When used in this document, the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect” and similar
expressions, as they relate to the Company, its subsidiaries or its management, are intended to identify forwardlooking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company, or, as the case may
be, the industry, to materially differ from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied
by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions
regarding the Company’s present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Company will
operate. Factors that could cause the Company’s actual results, performance or achievements to materially differ
from those in the forward-looking statements include but are not limited to, the competitive nature of the
markets in which the Company operates, technological developments, government regulations, changes in
economical conditions or political events. These forward-looking statements reflect only the Company’s views and
assessment as of the date of this Prospectus. The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to
release any updates or revisions of the forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in the
Company’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any
such statement is based.
28.2

The Managers

In the ordinary course of their respective businesses, the Managers and certain of their respective affiliates have
engaged and may continue to engage themselves in investment and commercial banking transactions with the
Company and its subsidiaries. Glitnir Banki hf, Equity Investments holds 318,800 Shares, equal to 0.79% of the
share capital of Copeinca. SEB Enskilda Securities ASA holds 0 Shares in Copeinca ASA.
The Managers make no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, and accept no responsibility
or liability as to the accuracy or the completeness of the information contained in this Prospectus or any other
information supplied in connection with the Private Placements. Nor can the Managers accept any legal or
financial liability in relation to any decision to invest in Copeinca on the basis of the information in this Prospectus
or any other information supplied in connection with the Private Placements.
28.3

Financial Statements

The Company’s financial statements as of 31 December 2006 and 2005 and interim financial statements of 31
March 2007 were prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Certain financial and other information set forth in a number of tables in this Prospectus has been rounded, for
the convenience of readers. Accordingly, in certain instances, the sum of the numbers in a column may not
conform exactly to the total figure given. Any such rounding differences are not material.
27.3

Governing Law

This Prospectus shall be governed by Norwegian law, and any disputes relating to this Prospectus or the Private
Placements are subject to the sole jurisdiction of Norwegian courts, with Oslo District Court as legal venue.
***
This Prospectus has not been approved or recommended by any United States federal or state securities
commission or regulatory authority nor have such entities confirmed its adequacy or accuracy. Any representation
to the contrary is a criminal offence.
THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED IN THIS PROSPECTUS HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER
THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “US SECURITIES ACT”) AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR
SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED
IN REGULATION S OF THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT)
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29

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following definitions and glossary apply in this Prospectus unless otherwise dictated by the context, including
the foregoing pages of this Prospectus.
Definitions
Acquisitions

The acquisitions by Copeinca or its subsidiaries of San
Fermin, Fish Protein and Ribar and Piangesa

Articles of Association

The Articles of Association of the Company, as last
amended on 21 June 2007

Board or Board of Directors

The board of directors of the Company

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

CFO

Chief Financial Officer

COO

Chief Operational Officer

Company or Copeinca ASA

Copeinca ASA

Copeinca Group

Copeinca ASA and its subsidiaries

Copeinca Peru

Corporacion Pesquera Inca S.A.

Copeinca Spain

Copeinca Internacional S.L.

EBIT

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes

EBITDA

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortisation

Fish Protein

Corporacion Pesquera Fish Protein S.A.

FY

Financial Year

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

Managers

Glitnir Securities ASA and SEB Enskilda Securities
ASA

NOK

Norwegian kroner, the lawful currency of Norway

Norwegian Code of Practice

The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance Code dated 8 December 2005

Oslo Børs

Oslo Børs ASA (the Oslo Stock Exchange)

PEN

Peruvian Nuevo Soles, the lawful currency of Peru

PFB

Pacific Fishery Business SAC

Piangesa

Pesquera Industrial El Angel S.A.

Private Placements

Private Placement I and Private Placement II

Private Placement I

The private placement resolved on 14 June 2007,
whereby the Company issued 6,200,000 New Shares,
each with a nominal value of NOK 5, in consideration
of the shares in Fish Protein and Ribar, in accordance
with a share purchase agreement dated 14 June 2007

Private Placement II

The private placement resolved on 21 June 2007,
whereby the Company issued 12,000,000 million New
Shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 5, at a
subscription price of NOK 65 per share, directed at
certain institutional and professional investors

Prospectus

This Prospectus dated [26] November 2007

Ribar

Corporacion Pesquera Ribar S.A.

Securities Trading Act

The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007
No. 75

Shares

All outstanding and issued shares in Copeinca, each
with a par value of NOK 5

USD

United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the
United States of America

VPS

The Norwegian Central Securities Depository, who
organizes the Norwegian paperless securities
registration system (Verdipapirsentralen or VPS)
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Glossary of Terms
Terms and expressions used in the industry and technical terms used in the description of the Copeinca Group are
set out below.
°C

Celsius Degrees

AFP

Private Administrative Pension Funds

BASC

Business Alliance for Secure Commerce

CAF

Corporacion Andina de Formento

Centre North

Region alongside the coast of Peru from Lambayeque
to Ancash

Centre

Region alongside the coast of Peru from Ancash to
Lima

Centre South

Region alongside the coast of Peru from Lima to
Arequipa

CFR

Cost Freight

CBBSSP

Fishermen Social Benefits Funds Institute

EBIT

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes

EBITDA

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortisation

EIA

Environmental Impact Assessment

FAS

Free Alongside Ship

FAQ

Fair Average Quality

FDCP

Fisheries Discharge Control Program

FOB

Free on Board

GDP

Gross Domestic Product

GMP

Good Manufacturing Practices

IFFO

International Fishmeal and Fish Oil Organisation

IMF

International Monetary Fund

IT

Information Technology

IMARPE

Instituto del Mar Peruano

INEI

Instituto Nacional de Estadistica e Informatica

LAIGC

Latin American Investment Guarantee Company

M

Million

m2

Square Meters

m3

Cubic Meters

MIGA

Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency

MT

Metric Tons

MT/h

Metric Tons per Hour

North

Region alongside the coast of Peru from Tumbes to
Lambayeque

OPIC

Overseas Private Investment Corporation

Pama

Programa de Adecuacion al Medio Ambiente

Prime

High quality of Steam Dried Fishmeal

Produce

Peruvian Ministry of Production

SAP

Service Access Point

SD

Steam Dried

SNP

National Fishery Society

SGS

Societe Generale de Surveillance

South

Region alongside the coast of Peru from Arequipa to
the Chilean frontier

Standard

Lowest Quality of Steam Dried Fishmeal

Super Prime

Highest Quality of Steam Dried Fishmeal

USD ’000

United States Dollar in Thousands

YTD

Year to Date
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Office translation from original Norwegian version
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
OF
COPEINCA ASA
(as last amended on 21 June 2007)
§ 1 – Company Name
The name of the company is Copeinca ASA. The company is a Public Limited Liability Company.
§ 2 – Registered office
The registered office of the company is in Oslo municipality.
§ 3 – Company business
The company is engaged in financing and participation in trade and production of fishmeal and fish oil,
and related activities. The business can be run by the Company itself, by subsidiaries, by participation
in other companies or in cooperation with others.
§ 4 – Share capital
The share capital is NOK 292,500,000, divided into 58,500,000 shares, each with a nominal value of
NOK 5.
§ 5 – Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of the company shall consist of at least 3 but no more than 11 Directors,
according to the decision of the General Meeting. The chairman and the vice chairman shall be
appointed by the general meeting.
§ 6 – Nomination committee
The Company shall have a Nomination Committee. The Committee shall comprise of three members.
The members of the Committee shall be elected by the General Meeting, who also elects the
Committee’s Chairperson. The Nomination Committee shall prepare the election of new Board
members and shall give recommendations to the General Meeting regarding the Board members’
remuneration. The General Meeting may also lay down the rules of procedure for the Committee’s
work. The first members of the Nomination Committee shall be elected by the first Annual General
Meeting after the Company has been listed on a stock exchange.
§ 7 – Signatory Rights
Any two Directors may sign jointly for and on behalf of the Company.
§ 8 – General Meeting
The Ordinary General Meeting shall discuss and decide upon the following matters:
a)

Approval of the annual accounts and the annual report, including distribution of dividend.

b)

Any business to be transacted at the General Meeting by law or in accordance with the
Articles of Association.
§ 9 – Transferability of shares

Transfer of shares does not require consent from the company, and the shareholders do not have any
pre-emptive rights.
***
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OPINION OF THE INDEPENDENTS AUDITORS
April 16th, 2007
To the stockholder
Empresa Pesquera San Fermín S.A.
We increased the financial statements attached of the EPSFSA that includes the
balance sheet at December 2006 and at December 31st, 2005, and the profits and
loss statements of the net assets and the cash flow for the ended years in this
date, and the summery of the meaning accounting policies and other explainning
notes.
Responsibility of the management about the Financial Statements.
Responsability of the management about the financial statements
The management assumes the responsability for the reasonable preparation and
presentation of these Financial Statements, according with the general principles
of the accounting, accepted in Perú. This responsibility includes: To design and to
introduce, and to maintein the outstanding internal control in the preparation and
reasonable presentation of the financial statements in orden that no have mistake
of the relative importance, whether, as the consequences of fraud or mistake to
select and apply appropiated accounting policies; to realize the reasonable
accounting estimmation according with the circunstances.
Responsability of the auditor
Our responsability consist to express an opinión about these financial statements
based in our auditing. Our auditing was realized according with the principles of
the auditing generally acepted in Perú. These principles need that we accomplish
with the ethical injuction and that we plann and realize the auditing to get the
reasonable security that the financial statements does not have any mistake of the
relative importance.
The auditing includes the realization of the procedures to get the evidence of the
auditing about the balances and the discloser in the financial statement. The
procedures selected depending about the judgement of the auditors, that it
includes the evaluation of the risk of the financial statements that can show
mistaken representative of the relative importance, that can be consequences of
fraud or mistaken. To perform this risk evaluation, the auditor consider the relevant
internal control of the company for the preparation and presentation reasonable of
the financial statement with the purpose to design auditing procedures according
with the circunstances, but not with the purpose to explain an opinion about the
effectively of the internal control of the Company. The auditing also includes the
evaluation of the auditing principles applied and if they are according, and if the
accounting estimation realized by the management are reasonables. It is also
60

includes and evaluation of general financial statements.
We consider that the evidence of the auditing that we get is sufficient and
appropiated to give us the base of our auditing opinion.
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April 16th, 2007
Empresa Pesquera San Fermín S.A.

Opinion
In our opinión about the financial statements above mentionned presents
reasonable, in all significants aspects, the financial situation of Empresa
Pesquera San Fermín S.A. at December 31st, 2006 and at December 31st 2005
and the result of its operation and its cash flow about the years ended in this time,
according with the general accounting principles accepted in Perú.

Authenticated by

-------------------------------------(Partner)
Félix U. Horna
Public Accounting Collegiated
Register No. 13774
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47 793 505
2 838 228

84 974 340

43 042 800
2 831 483

70 910 710

-3-

1 179 363

32 320
10 935 670
1 743 799
7 435 500
12 785 839
230 116
33 163 244

1 057 646

375 112
9 471 426
1 554 211
2 777 696
9 657 586
142 750
23 978 781

At December 31st
2006
2005
S/.
S/.

The Notes that are inthe pages 7 to 32 are part of the Finantial Statement

INTANGIBLES ASSETS (Note 11)

Real state, machinery, equipment and net (Note 10)

Investment in Value

Liquid assets
Cash & Bank
Commertial account receivable
Account receivable to the linking enterprises (Note 6)
Other Account recivables (Note 7)
Stocks (Nota 8)
Expenses payment in advance
Total of the liquid asstes

ASSETS

GENERAL BALANCE

EMPRESA PESQUERA SAN FERMIN S.A.

Fiscal Position (Note 17)
GUARANTEES (NotEa 18)
ENVIROMENT

NET ASSETS (NotE 16)
Capital
Reserve required by law
Accumulated results
Total Net Assets

INCOME TAX AND PROFITS SHARINS
OF THE DEFERRED WORKERS (NOTE 15)

FUNDED DEBT (NOTE 14)

LIABILITY
OVERDRAFT AND BANK LOANS
Commercial Account Payable
Account payable to the linking companies
Other account payable (Note 13)
Current part of Long term (Note 14)
Total of the current liability

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

70 910 710

7 899 662
955 986
1 657 340
10 512 988

10 765 888

7 181 334

19 470 934
2 962 171
4 602 481
9 515 308
5 899 606
42 450 500

84 974 340

7 899 662
3 194 028
11 093 690

11 672 641

16 403 215

21 250 858
4 930 556
6 709 529
6 267 907
6 645 944
45 804 794

At December 31st
2006
2005
S/.
S/.

EMPRESA PESQUERA SAN FERMIN S.A.

PROFITS AND LOSS STATEMENTs

Por el año terminado
el 31 de diciembre de
2006
2005
S/.
S/.
NET SALE
Cost of sale (Note 19)
Gros profits
Expenses and operating incomeAdministartive expenses
Administrative expenses(Notea 20)
Sale expenses (Note 21)
Loss in the participaty of the subsidiaryPérdida en participación en su
Several expensesGastos diversos (Note 22)
Non-operating income ( Nota 23)

Operting profits
Other incomes (expenses):
finantial expenses (Nota 24)
Finantial incomes
exhange rate differences (Note 3)

Profits before the participation of the workers and
Income tax
Participation of the workers (Note 17)
Income Tax
Annual propfits

80 819 971
(55 318 485)
25 501 486

92 986 787
(61 889 664)
31 097 123

(7 528 049)
(3 135 214)
(121 717)
(3 109 692)
1 780 173
(12 114 499)

(5 037 700)
(11 220 276)
(901 261)
(3 129 114)
4 000 829
(16 287 522)

13 386 987

14 809 601

(3 018 310)
461 309
1 950 477
(606 524)

(4 147 586)
428 827
(1 018 149)
(4 736 908)

12 780 463
(1 584 213)
(4 830 415)
6 365 835

10 072 693
(1 212 067)
(3 741 807)
5 118 819

The notes taht are enclose to the pages 7 to 37 are part of the Finatial Statements.
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7 899 662
7 899 662

7 899 662
-

Capital
S/.

(2 809 528)
1 039 525
-

1 770 003
-

-5-

955 986
955 986

Surplus of the reva Legal
revaluación
Reserve
S/.
S/.

otes that are enclose between the pages 7 to32 are part of the Finantial Statements.

Balance at January 1st, 2005
Ajustment
Surplus of the re-evaluated o f assets
Sold fixed assest
Differed Income of the Sold fixed asets
Annual earning
Balance at December 31st,2005
Adjustment
Distribution of the assetments
Earning of the Year
witdrawal of the reserve required by law
Prepayments of the Assetment of the year 2006
Balance at December 31st,2006

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN THE NET ASSETS
FOR THE ENDED YEAR AT DECEMBER, 2006
AND AT DECEMBER 31ST, 2006

EMPRESA PESQUERA SAN FERMIN S.A.

5 118 819
3 194 028
176 420
(2 874 625)
6 365 835
(955 986)
(4 248 332)
1 657 340

(2 664 030)
739 239

Accumulated
results
S/.

7 005 635
739 239
(2 809 528)
1 039 525
5 118 819
11 093 690
176 420
(2 874 625)
6 365 835
(4 248 332)
10 512 988

Total
S/.

EMPRESA PESQUERA SAN FERMIN S.A.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the ended year
December 31st
2006
2005
S/.
S/.
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Annual Profits
Adjustment of the profits that not affected the cash flow
of the operation activities
Provision for uncollective accounts
Profit sharin of the subsidiary
Devaluation
Amortization
(Profit) damage in the sle of the fixed assets
Difered income tax
Ajustment for the accumulate result
Net Fluctuation into the assets and liabilities
Commertial account recivable
Commertial account recievable to the vinculted companies
Other account recievable
Inventory
Expenses prepayments
Commercial Accounts payable
Payable account to the vinculated companies
Other payable account
Net cash provided for the operating activities
ACTIVITIES OF THE INVESTMENT
SALE OF FIXED ASSETS
Purchase of real assets
Net cash for the investment
FINANTIAL ACTIVITIES
Overdraft, and loan bank, and net
Payments for long-term
Increase of the account for the long- term
Payment of the dividens
Net effective applied to the finantial activities
Net increase(Net dicrease) of the cash
Cash balance at the beggining of the year
Cash balance at the ended of of the year

6 365 835

5 118 819

91 148
121 717
4 920 516
6 745
(155 747)
(959 227)
-

42 416
901 261
5 184 048
19 962
122 667
(1 302 471)
739 239

1 373 096
(1 129 144)
1 151 730
3 128 253
87 366
(1 968 385)
(2 107 048)
(345 926)
10 580 929

(525 200)
2 385 886
6 087 899
(6 015 970)
73 718
(7 726 364)
(5 931 735)
2 367 876
1 542 051

325 846
(944 077)
(618 231)

1 187 400
(561 623)
625 777

(1 779 924)
(7 156 219)
(683 763)
(9 619 906)
342 792
32 320
375 112

1 398 098
(5 401 363)
1 302 442
(2 700 823)
(532 995)
565 315
32 320

Las notas que se acompañan de la página 7 a la 32 forman parte de los estados financieros.
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EMPRESA PESQUERA SAN FERMIN S.A.
NOTES ABOUT THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT DECEMBER 31ST, 2006 AND AT DECEMBER 2005
1.

CONSTITUTION Y ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

a) Constitution and operations Empresa Pesquera San Fermín S.A. ( From now the Company) was constituted in
September 14, 1998 about the assets, liabilities and net assets absorbed by
merger of Pesquera San Fermín S.A., It dedicates mailnly to the extraction of
several hydrobilogical species and its subsequet transformation into fish meal and
fish oil, products that are principally commercializing in the foreign market.
The register adress is Av. Salaverry 3336, San isidro county town of Lima, Perú. At
December 31st, 2006 the number of workers of the Company is 63 workers and
120 labours(43 employees and 134 labours at December 31st, 2005) These
numbers include the crew of the fishing craft.
For the development of its operatings, the Company have four own fishing craft
that have a total capacity of vault of 620 metric ton, that are dedicate to the
extraction of the Anchoveta and also is supplied for the fishing craft of linking
enterprises. It also has an own industrial factory located in Chancay that produces
fishing meal and fishing oil.
b) Regulatory frame
The activities of the Company are regulated by Decree law Nº 25997 of the
General Law of Fishing and by law ,Supreme Decree nº 012-2001-PE, the same
that regulates the Fishing activity with the purpose to promote the sharp
development as an alimentary source, employe and earning to assure the
responsibility exploitation of the Hydrobiological resources, with a most favourable
economic benefits, in harmony with the preservation of the enviroment and the
conservation of the trhe biodiversity.
The administration and control of fishing activity through the whole country is
responsibility of the Ministerio de la Producción “Department of Production”, that
stablishes the year biological closed season of the fishing resources to preserve
some seacost species like Anchoveta and Sardine. These closed season are
satblished during the reproducting time of the respective species or when the
annual quota of the assigned extraction.
The periods of closed season affect the operation of the Company because limit
the capture of the seacost species destinated to the production of the fishing meal
and fishing oil. At the years 2006 and 2005 a provisional fishing regimen took
effect with periodical licenses of seize in areas tecnically recommended for the
activities of extraction and processing. At 2006 this provisional regimen for the
fishing considerated between the general regimen of the closed season, between
the north of Perú (limit with the Equator) and the paralel 16ºS (South of Pisco
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Puerto) has meaning a total of 47 days of licenses of fishing (In 2005, 102 days),
Additionally the weather unfavourable, as the Phenomen of the Current of “El
Niño” or the waring-up of the water origin negative effects in the levels of the
capture of the hydrobiological species.
The General Law of fishing stablished that the fishing licenses, the owner of the
fishing craft have to present to the competent govermental authority all the years
in January the following documents (a) An affidávit signed expossing the capacity
of the vault of the craft stablished and authorized in its fishing licenses was not
increase, (b) An evidence of the operating condittioners of the craft (c) The
statement that indicates that they only has been dedicated ti the fishing activity
during the previus period, (d) The payment of the respective right for the fishing
license.
Also the legislative before mentionned stablished that in the case of the fishing
craft sink into the sea, destroy or breaking up, the owner of the fishing craft have
the right to get a fishing license for another fishing craft or to increase the capacity
of the vault of the same craft. It is only if it not exceed the capacity of the vault of
the fishing craft that originally had the fishing license. The legislation does not
stablish limitation for the exercise of its rights.
Aproval of its Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of the 2006 will be showed to the stockholders´s
meeting for its approval in the time stablished by law. The opinion of the
management, the 2006 Financial statement will be approved without any
modificatings. The financial statement at December 31st 2005 was approved for
the stockholder´s meeting on November 2nd,2006
2.

PRINCIPLES AND ACCOUNTING PRACTICING

The principal accounting policies applied for the elaboration of the financial
statements are related in detail : This principles and practicing had been applied
uniformely in all the years, unless the contrary was indicated.
a) Bases of the preparation.The statement of the Company has been prepared acording to the accountain
general principles. The principles of accounting generally accepted in Perú
includes international rules of the financial information (NIIF) oficialized throug the
resolutions issue by the normative councel accountaing. The NIIF introduces the
international accountain rules and trhe pronouncement of the international
comitee (SIC). At this date the financial statement through the normative councel
accountaing has oficialized the obligatory application of the NIC from 1 to 41 and
the SIC from 1 to 33. Also it has been officialized the obligatory application, starting
from January 1st, 2006, resting pendant the revision and the approvement of the 7
and 8 NIF and the recent pronouncement of the IInterpreter Comitee (IFRIC).
The preparation of the financial statements according to the principles of the
accountaing required the use of certain estimated critical book-keeper. Also
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required that the management exercise his judgement in the process of the
accounatin policies of the company . The estimated and the countable criteria are
described in the note nº4.
The Financial statement have being prepared according with the principle of the
history cost, modified by the re-evaluations of the machinery and of the equipment
and fishing craft affected in previous years.
On December 31st, the financial statements adjusted to reflect the effects of the
purchasing power of the currency following with the metodology approved by the
Normative Conceil Accounting. The balances fittet by inflation to this date were
used as the initial balances of the financial statements of the year 2005.
The Variation of the purchasing power of the peruvian currency in the years 2006
and 2005 according with the index of the wholesale prices, respectively, in
agrement with the official statistics, it was 1.3% and 3.6%.
Procedures and modification sloping of approval.The following procedures and modifications has been emitted, and they are in
force to the woldwidw for later periods at December 31st. These procedures are
hanging of the oficialization in Peru by the Normative Councel of Accounting.
NIIF 7.- Financial Instruments: Reveletion and a complementary modification to the
NIC 1- Showed of the Financial Statements-Revelations about the capital(Pending
to the worlwide from January 1st,2007).-The NIIF introduce the aditional revelations
to improve the information provided by the financial staetments. It replaces the
process of revelation of the NIC 32, Financial Instruments: Revelation and
Presentation: The modification into the NIC1 introduce the revelation about the
level of the capital of an entity and how it is handling?.
NIIF8. Operative Segments (Be in force worlwide since January 1st, 2009)- The
procedure needs the revelation of the information about the operative segments of
the entity and also about its products and services, geografial areas in which it
operates and its principal customers.
The company considers that these new procedures and the modification of the NIC
1 not have any impact in the formulation of its future financial statements.
At December 31 st, 2005, the license of fishing are amortized using the method of
straight line in a similar period to the useful life of the undrlying craft. In agreement
with the prescribed by the NIC 38 (note 11) The Company determined that tue
useful life of the fishing licenses was indeterminate, and consequently, it
abandoned the amortization of the fishing licenses with retroactive effects from
January 1st, 2005.
The amortization of the year 2005 has been eliminated, as indicates the transitory
dispositions of this NIC 38, that represents an abandoned of the results
acumulated in S/ 228,894 (Note 10-a), that net of its income tax differed is S/
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176,420; It was not realized the re-estructuration of the financial statements of the
year 2005 due to this adjustment is not important in the relation with the financial
statement taking from in a whole. from the ended year, the December 31,2006 and
in forward the balance net of the fishing licences will be evaluated annualy
because of the damage and also in the moment that exists evidences of its
damage.
The effect of the change in the estimation of the useful life of the licences of fishing
at the year 2006 meaned a minus expenses for the amortization, aproximately
S/229,000.
b) Conversion of the foreign currency.Functional Money and of presentation:
The entries included in the financial statements of the Company express in the
primary currency of the ecomomique enviroment where work the entity (functional
currency). The financial statements are showed in nuevos soles, that is funtional
currency and the currency presentation of the Company.
Transactions and Balances:
The transaction of the foreign currency are translated into the currency
measurement. using the types of change to the dates of the transactions.
The profits and loss for difference of money exchange that result of the collection
or payment of such translation and of the conversion of the foreign currency at the
ending of the year of current and no current assets and liabilities named in foreing
currency and they are recognized in the profits and loss statement.
c) Cash and equivalent into cash.For the purposes of the cash flow statements, the cash flow and the equivalent of
the cash includes the available cash and the deposits wing dresses the banks.
d)Financial Instruments.The financial instruments coresponds to the contract that are place at the same
time, for a financial assets of the company an a financial liabiliy or an capital
instrument of another company. In the case of the Company, the financial
instruments correspons for the primary instruments as account receivable,
accounts payable, an a funded debt.
The financial instruments are classified as liabilities o as the capital according with
the contract agreement that they gave origin. The interests, the dividends, the
earnings and the losses generated by a finacial instruments clasiffied as liabilities
are registered as expenses or income in the loss and profits statements. The
payments to the holder of the financial instruments registered as the capital are
registrerd directly of the net assets.
The financial instruments are compensated when the Company have the legal
right to compensate them, and the Management has the intention of cancelling
over a net base, or to realized the assets and cancell the liabilities at the same
time.
The financial instruments are recognized into a reasonable value. The reasonable
value is the amount by which the assets can be exchange between the buyer and
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seller dully informed, or can be cancelled an obligation, among the debtor and the
creditor with the sufficient information, under the terms of the transaction of the free
competence.
e) Commercial Account for charging and trade account receivable
The trade account receivableare registered to its rasonable value,net of the
provissional damage. The provision for damage of the trade accounts receivable
are stablished when exists an objective evidence that the company can not charge
all the overdue amounts according with the original terms of the trade accounts
receivable. This provisions is checked from time to time to adjust the necessaries
levels to cover the potencial losses. The amount of the provisioin is recognized in
the statement of profits and loss. The unpayable accounts are punished when they
identify like such.
f) The Stock.The stock is appraised according with the cost of the production or its net value of
accomplishment, which is minor. The appraisal of the inventory is accomplishshed
throug the method of the weighted average. The cost of the final product compose
the raw material, a direct handmade, and other direct costs and general expenses
of the manufacture and exclude the the finnatial expenses. The net value of the
accomplisment is the price of sale estimated in the normal course of the business,
fewer the estimated costs to put the stock in sale condition and to accomplish its
marketing. The provission to the absolesce of the supplies and stock of the
warehouse is determine taking the items as base without movement bigger than
one year. The stock for receiving is regsitered at the cost of the method of specific
identification cost of the purchase.
g) Financial assets
The company classified its investments as loan and trade account receivable. This
classification depends of the intention for which investmets were adquired. The
management determines the clasiffication of his investments to the date of his
initail recognition and re- evaluated this classification to the date of every closing.
At december 31st, 2006 and 2005 the Company support the financial assets in the
category of loans, trade account receivable and investments.
Loans and trade account receivable.
The loans and trade account receivable are financial assets non derived of fixed
payments or determinable payments that are no quoted in an active market. They
occurs when the Company supplied the money, goods and services directly to a
debtor without any intention to negotiate the trade acount receivable. It is include in
the current assets, except the end of the period of the payment bigger than 12
months after the date of the general balance, that are clasiffied as a non-currents
assets. The loans and the trade account receivable are included in the commercial
trade account receivables, and another trade account receivableare included in
the general balance.
Subsidiaruy investments:
The investments in the company in which the company mantein an interest of 50%
of the rigth to vote,or where it can excercice the control (subsidiaries),it is
recognized at the begginig at the cost (or at the re-evaluated cost) and later under
method of patrimonial participation. Throug this method of patrimonial participation
the getting results by the subsidiary are recognized in its financial statements with
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credit or charge, as correspond, the value in books of the investment and the
results of the period in which was initiated. The dividens received in cash justify
themselves to the value of the investments.
At December 31st, 2006 and 2005 the finnacial statements of the subsidiary are
not consolidated due to the Management considers that the effect of this
consolidation with the financial statements of the Company is not significant in
comparisson with the finnatial statement taking in a whole.
At December 31st. 2006 and 2005 tha assets, liabilities and the net patrimony of
the fishing subsidiary Esciron S:A. are detailed as following:
2006
S/.

2005
S/.

Assets::
Account payable to other linking companies
Other assets accouts

3,748,533

5,062,470

130,150

20,566

3,878,683

5,683,036

2,127,915

4,503,675

Liabilities and Patrimony:
Current Assets
Non Current Assets

693,123

Net Patrimony

----

1,057,645

1,179,361

3,878,683

5,683,036

h) Real State, machinery and equipment.The item of the real state, machinery and equipment is showed to the cost of the
re-evaluation of certain assets, less its acumulated depreciation The initial cost of
the real state, machineries and the equipment includes their price of purchase,
including the duties and income taxes of purchase non refundable and any directly
atributalbe cost to be located and to leave the assets in conditions of use.
Any increase of the value of active assets that result of the taxation is justified in
the patrimonial account of the excessive revaluation. The decrease that active to
the same assets are directly charged, net of its tributary future effect reffered to
the income of the net income and of the workers differed against the excedent
account of reevaluation in the patrimony; all the others decreases are charged to
the profits and loss statement.
The subsequent cost atributes to the goods of the fixed asset are capitalizing only
when is probable that the future ecomomic benefits associated with the asset are
generated for the Company and the cost of the assets can be reasonable
messure, otherwise they are imputated to the production costo r to the expenses
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as correpond. The expenses of the maintenance cost and of the repair are
charged to the production cost or any expenses or in the period of they incur.
The filled are not depressed,: The depreciation of the other assets is calculated for
the method of the straigh line to assign the cost of the re-evaluated amount less its
residual cost during the estimated useful live as following:
Years
Buldings and other constructions

33

Machinery , equipment and craft

between 10 and 20

Transport units

5

Furniture and chattels

between 10 and 4

The residual value and the useful life of the assets are checked and ajusted if
they were necessary , at the date of each general balance. The value in the books
of the asstes is bigger than the estimated of its value.
The earnings and the losses of the sale of the assets corresponds to the
difference between the income of the transaction and the value of the bokks of the
assets. These are included the statement of profits and loss.
i) Damage of the assets.The assets that have an indeterminated useful life and no are subject to the
amortization, are submmited to the annual proof of damage and when the index of
the the book can not be recoverable. The loss of damage are the amount in which
value of the books of the asstes culd be recoverable. The loss for damage are the
amount in which value of the books of the assets surplus the recovarable value.
Tha value recovarable of the assets corresponds to the net amount that we get of
its sale or for its use value. For effects of the evaluation of the damage, the assets
gather in crowds to the more small levels in that generate flows of cash (units
generated for cash).
If the book of an assets or units generated of cash exceed its recovarable value, its
accounting s a provision to register the assets to a less amount. The losses for
damage are recognized in the statement of profits and loss. A loss by a damage is
returned if any change have taken place in the estimated used to determined the
recovarable value. A loss for damage is returned only if the messure of the assets
in books does not exceed its respective reasonable value that have been
determinated because of the depreciation and amortization if someone had not
reconized the loss for any damage.
j) Intangible assets
Fishing licenses:
The fishing licenses are showed as the cost of the re evaluation realized with the
base of the taxation of the independents appraiser. The licences of fishing are
considerated as the indeterminated assets of live, so it is not necessary any
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amortization of this intangibles assets. The value of the fishing licenses are
evaluated in every closing when exists any reason that its value in the books can
not be recoverable. If it estimates that the rasonable value is less than the value of
the books, the licenses of fishing are punished to their rasonable value.
Computer program:
The licenses of the computer program are capitalized under the base of the cost
incurred to adquire or to put in use the specific program. These costs are
amortized in the estimated of their useful live.
The cost associated in the development or in the maintenance of the system
program are recognized as expenses when they occured. The cost that are directly
associated with the production of the unique and identifier system programs is
controlled by the Company and that probably generate economic benefits beyond
cost for more than one year. It is recognized as intangible assets. The direct cost
includes the cost of the employees that development the system programs and a
portion of the indirect corresponding cost.
The incurred cost in the development of the programs are recognized as the assets
that are amortizated during their useful life.
k) The Loans.The loans are recognized in the date in which the funds are received, net of the
cost incurred for the transaction. The subsequence periods, the loans are
registered to the cost of the amortization; any difference among the fund received
(net cost of the transaction) and the the amount to expend are recognized in the
results of the term of the loan.
l) The stocks.The stocks are recognized when the company have a present legal bond or when
is assumed as the result of the past facts. It is probably that it requires the exit of
its resources to cancel the bond and it is possible to estimate its amount
conceintedly.
m) Fringe Benefits.Vacation of the personal:
The Annual vacation of the personal and other payable absences are recognized
under the basis of the accrued. The stock estimated for the annaul vacancy and
other payable absences of the personal result of the service rendered for the
employees are recognized at the general balance.
Indemnification for the time of service:
The stocks for the indemnification of the personal is constituded for all the rigths
indemnification according to the current legislation and its net sample of the
deposits carried out with cancelatori character.
Profits sharin of the workers
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The company recognized a liabilitie and an expenses for the profits and sharin of
the workers into the profits about the base of the 10% of the taxable matter
determinated according for the tax law in force.
The company does not give later benefits to the labour relations to its workers.
n) Capital Stocks.The common shares are classified as the patrimony.
o) Distribution of the dividends.The distribution of the dividens are recognized as the liabilities in the financial
statement in the periodin that these are approved by the shreholders of the
Company. The advances of the dividens appear in the statement of the changes of
the patrimony reducing the accumulated results.
p) Income tax.The income tax is determinated according with the tributary in force disposition.
The Income tax differed is covered for the method of the liabilities recognizing the
effect of the temporari ifferences that arise of the assets and liabilities and of the
balance of financial statement. To determinate the income tax differed they use a
tax rate promulgated at the date of the general balance that they hope they can be
apply when the income tax liability will be pay. The differed tax assets only are
recognized in the mesure that they probably produce future benefits against those
that they could use the temporary differences.
q) liabilities and assets contingency.The cintingency liabilities are not recognized in the financial statement, they only
appear in the note of the financial statement, unless that the possibility of the
useful of the resources will be remote. The contingency assets are not recognized
in the financial statement and they only appear when it is possible that a revenue
of resources happen.
r) Recognition of the income, cost and expenses .The income includes the rasonable value of the goods and services, net of the
income tax, bargain and discount,. The income of the sale of the products are
recognized whren the company had delivered the products to the costumer, the
customer has accepted the products and the trade account receivable is rasonable
assured. The costand expenses related with the sale are recognizing when it is
transfer the risk and benefits of the produst; the other expenses are recognizing in
base of the accrued. The income are recognizing for the interest in base of the
effective performance proportional with the passed time.
s) Comparative Information.Until the year 2005, The Company classified the fishing licenses as the part of the
book value of the craft in the item of the real state, machinery and equipment. In
the presentation of the General Balance at the end of December 31st , 2006 and
its comparative information for the ended year at December,31st 2005 has been
considerated classify the licenses odf fishing. Net of its acumulated amortization,
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in the item of the Intangible Assets in agreement with the prescribed for the NIC
38. (examinated).
Also, until the year 2005, The Company was classiffying its own incomes and
several expenses, nets after the result of the operation. In the presentation of the
financial statement of the profist and loss at the ended year, at december 31st,
2006 and its comparative information for the ended year at December 31st, 2005 it
was considered to classified the several net income and net expences before the
result of the operation according by the prescription of the NIC 1 (examinated).
3.

Administartion of the Financial risks

3.1 The items of the Financial Risk.The activities of the company expose it to the several financial risks: Money
exchange risk, price risk, bank risk, liquidity risk and the risk of the interest rate
which advers efects are evaluated by the General Management with the intention
to minimized them.
The administartive of risk realized through the General Management the policies
approved by the board meeting. This management identified, evaluate and cover
the financial risk at the Company with the near cooperation with its operating
units. We explain in detail the financial risk that the company is exposed.
i) Risk of Money ExchangeThe Company has his indebtednes in money exchange
for that reason it is expose to fluctuation risk to the rate of changes of the
northamerican dollar. The Management of the Company has decided to accept the
bank risk, and for that reason he has not realized coverage transaction.
The balance at Money Exchange at December 31st, are resumed as following:
2006

2005

US$

US$

Assets:
Cash and Bank

75,740

4,445

2,965,381

3,189,172

486,603

508,544

13,392

1,397,591

3,541,116

5,099,752

Overdraft and loan banks

( 6,090,272)

( 6,192,187)

Commertial account payable

(

( 1,437,061)

Commertial account payable
CAccount receivable linking to the Company
Other account receivable
LIABILITIES:

896,596)

Commertial account payable vinculated to the Company
( 1,439,625)
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( 1,955,561)

Funded Debt
Net Liabilities

( 4,091,630)

( 6,717,913)

(12,518,123)

(16,302,722)

( 8,977,007)

(11,202,970)

At December 31st, 2006 the rate of Money Exchange use by the company for the
record of the balance in Money Exchange has been S/3194 and at December
31st, 2005 was S/3,197 per us$ 1 dollar for the assets and liabilities. At December
31st ,2006 the cComapany registered earnings in the Money Exchange for S/
3143,232 (S/.1,071,364 in the year 2005) and losses in the money exchange of
S/.1,192,755 (S/.2,089,513 in the year 2005)
ii) Risk of the prices:
The Company is exposed to the risk of the prices of the products that they
commercialized (comodities); They do not realized any transaction of covered of
the price during the year 2006 and 2005.
iii) Risk of Credit:
The financial statement of the company potentially exposed to the concentration of
credit risk are related with the commercial account to mitigate this risk of the policy
of the Company that consists to evaluated constiniously the payment behaivor of
the customer and his financial situation to acomplish with the payment.
iv) The liquidity Risk
The wise management of the liquidity risk consists to maintein the enough cash
and its equivalent in cash and the possibility to engage throug an adequated
quantity of banking source. The Management considers that the cash that come
from the operations and the prudent management of its funded debt permit them
to mantenance enough levels of liquidity..
v) Risk of Interest Rate:
The Company is exponed to the risk of the changes of the interets rates. The loans
of the financial institution are agree with the fixed interest rates and that fluctuates
of changes
3.2 Estimation of the reasonable value
The reasonable value is the amount by which an assets can be interchange or the
liabilities put between experts and disposes for the current transaction,
considering the supposition that the entity is going concern.
When the financial instrument is marketing in an asset market and liquidity, the
stipulated prices in the market give the best evidence of its reasonable value. In
the cases of that the stipulated prices of the market are not disposal or it can not
be an indicative of the reasonable value of the similar financial instrument,. it can
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be use to determine this reasonable value, the value of the market of the similar
financial instrument, the analysis of discounted or other applied technical that are
based in subjectives facts in some cases vagueness, for that reason any change in
the same or in the methodology of the used estimation could be a meaning
signifficative about the reasonable value of the financial instrument. The
reasonable value is not an indicative of the net realisable value or the liquidity of
the same. It is assumed that the nominal value less the credit adjustment
estimated for the accounts receivable and the commertial accounts aproximated to
its reasonable values.
4.

ESTIMATED AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING CRITERION

The constiniously estimated and accounting criterion use for the evaluation of the
manager are based in the hystorical experience and other facts, including the
expectative of future events, that are consider reasonables according with the
circunstances
a) Estimated and crucial acounting criterious The Company realize estimation and suppositions respect to the future. The result
accounting estimation for definition to many time will be the same to the real
respective result. The estimation and the supposition that have risk to cause
balance in the assets liabilities reported are showing as following:
- Income Taxes
To determine of the bonds and expenses for the income they need the
interpretation of the applied tax law. The Comapany has the proffesional assesory
in the tax matter at the moment to take some desition about the tax matter.
However, The management considers that its estimates in tax matter are
reasonable and conservative, Iit can occur discreopances with the Tax
Administration in the interpretation of the rules that need to be adjust for the future
income taxes.
5.

COMMERCIAL ACCOUNT RECEIVABLE

At December 31st this item is componed by::
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Bill Payable:
Abroad

9,438,413

9,516,289

Country

560,919

1,861,135

9,999,332

11,377,424
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Provision of the uncollective debt

( 527,906)

(

441,754)

9,471,426)

10,935,670)

The commercial account receivable are denominated substantialy in north
american dollars.Tthey are of the current maturity. They do not accrue interest an
they do not have specificts guarantee.
The Annual movement of the stock for the uncollective debt is as following

Initial balance
Additions
Recoverings
Final Balance

2006

2005

S/.

S/.

441,754

452,166

91,148

42,416

4,996

52,828

527,906

441,754

2006

2005

S/.

S/.

The anatiquity of the account payable is as follow:

Expired in 30 days
Expired more tahn 30 days

6.

9,471,426

9,602,926

527,906

1,774,498

9,999,332

11,377,424

BALANCE AND TRANSACTION OF VINCULATED COMPANIES

At december 31st, 2006, and 2005 the balance of the account receivable and the
payable acounts with the vinculated enterprises is as follow:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

1,142,216

1,736,383

411,995

7,416

1,554,211

1,743,799

Account receivabler Non Commercial:
Pesquera San Lorenzo S.A.C.
Empresa Pesquera San Ambrosio S.A.C.
Payable account Pesquera María de Jesús S.A.

---

Pesquera Escirón S.A.

3,112,227
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79,624
4,421,901

Pesquera San Vicente S.A.C.

1,490,254

2,208,004

4,602,481

6,709,529

The non commercial payable accounts are related with the otorgated loans to a
short- term and with the payments realized by the Company to the accounts of it,
to cover its neccesities of working capital.
The Non-commercial account payable are refferred to the payments relized by
accounts vinculated to the Company to cover the necessities of working capital.
The balances for collect and pay commercial with the vinculated enterprises are
principally of the current maturity. They do not have specificts guarantees and they
do not have accrued interests.
The following transaction Hill be realizad with the vinculated enterprises:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Pesquera San Lorenzo S.A.C.

638,375

1,066,161

Pesquera María de Jesús S.A.

46,982

151,091

685,357

1,217,252

Pesquera San Lorenzo S.A.C.

5,623,317

7,285,924

Pesquera María de Jesús S.A.

----

1,630,813

5,623,317

8,916,737

74,217

--

i) Sales of maintenance services
of the craft and other:

ii) Fishing buyers:

iii) Receivable services for the renting
of the craft and others
Fishing and others:
Pesquera San Lorenzo S.A.C.
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7.

OTHER ACCOUNT RECEIVABLE

Negotiables credit notes
Loan to the third

2006

2005

S/.

S/.

2,707,948

2,512,999

19,164

2,078,207

Account recievable to the stockholders

--

812,476

Prepayments of the suppliers

20,623

1,159,774

Complaint to the third

29,961

734,508

Loans to the personal

-

137,536

2,777,696

7,435,500

The negotiated credit notes corresponds to the general sales tax (IGV) related
with the export, by means the Company montly request its refunds to the
Administrative Tax Office (Superintendencia Nacional de Administración Tributaria
SUNAT)
The loans to the third part at 2005 were principally composed by loans gave to the
Empresas Pesqueras San Juan Bautista S.A.for the amount of S/.1,409,333,and
San Luis S.A. for the amount of S/.205,740 and Nando S.A. for the amount of
S/.102,870. During the year 2006 the loans to San Luis S.A. and Nando S.A. were
cancelled in cash. The Loan of San Juan Bautista S.A. of the amount of
S/.1,840,134, includes the increasing effected during the year 2006 were
cancelled throug its application to the accountable payable to the shareholders
(note 14)
The claims to the third incluye in the year 2005, one account payable to the
Empresa Pesquera María Teresa E.I.R.L. and to Pesquera Nathaly S.A.C.for the
amount of S/.473,482 that it was injuditial collection. In The year 2006, this amount
was adjusted with the differed money exchangr in S/.33,923 and the difference of
S/.439,559 was totally deposited.
8.

INVENTORY

At December 31st this item is composed as follow:

End Products
Raw material and auxiliaries
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2006

2005

S/.

S/.

9,047,969

11,938,603

58,275

39,243

Fuel

140,369

Nets

-

Containers and packages

95,264
216,523

410,973

496,206

9,657,586

12,785,839

At December 31st, 2006 the balance of the end products includes 3608 metric tons
of fishing meals at total cost of US$2,832,802, that They were shipping aboard
between the month of January and May, 2007.
As indicate in the note 18 to the financial statements , the company cosntituded
warrants about end products, in case that they will be sell for the amount of
US$1,892,100 in favour of the bank institution.
9.

VALUE INVERTION

At December 31st, 2006 and 2005 this item included the investment accomplished
in the subsidiary Pesquera Escirón S.A., as is detailled at following:
Unit
Shares

Participación nominal Value in books of the year
Quantity

Types

in the capital Value
%

Common 1,660,506

S/.
100

1.00

2006

2005

S/.

S/.

1,057,646

1,179,363

In relation with this investment, in the year 2006 the Company recognized the loss
of the patrimonial participation of the subsidiary at S/.121,717 (In the year 2005 the
Company received dividends for the amount of s/.2,735,233 that reduced the
value of the investment and recognized a lost of the equity stake at S/.901,261)
then they were showed in the item of equity stake in the subsidiary, in the
statement of profits and loss.
10.

REAL STATE MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT

The movement of the entries that compose the item of the real state, machinery
and equipment and their corresponding accumulated depreciation by the ended
years at December 31st, 2006 and 2005 are the following:
Year 2006:
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Inicial

Transferences and/or Final

Balances

Sums

Decreases

Adjustments

Balance

S/.

S/.

S/.

S/.

S/.

4,443,564

-

-

7,058,119

-

Cost Fields

-

4,443,564

81,129

7,139,248

Buildings and other
cosntructions

-

Machinery, equipment
and Craft
Transport Units
Furnicher and fixures
Work in progress

86,737,981

675,413 (

122,853)

560,264

1,026,347

131,536 (

656,409)

-

501,474

-

320,821

( 641,393)

671,731

307,760
2,044,846
101,618,617

13,061

-

124,067 (

855,789)

944,077 ( 1,635,051)

-

87,850,805

100,927,643

Accumulated Depreciation Buildings and
other constructions

2,230,726

259,627

-

-

2,490,353

Machinery and
equipment Craft

50,489,131

4,556,834 ( 25,307)

Transoport Units

891,911

85,754 ( 606,584)

Furnitures and fixures

213,344

18,301

53,825,112
Net Cost

(

228,894)
-

-

4,920,516 ( 631,891)

-(

228,894)

47,793,505

54,791,764
371,081
231,645
57,884,843
43,042,800

Year 2005:
Cost Fields

4,443,564

-

-

-

4,443,564

7,058,119

-

-

-

7,058,119

Building and
Other constructions
Machinery,
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Equipment and Craft 92,931,170
Unit Trasport

558,960 ( 4,334,089)

1,026,347

Furniture and fixures

305,097

Work in progress

2,456,462
108,220,759

-

( 2,418,060)

-

2,663

-

-

-

561,623 (

(

86,737,981

-

1,026,347

-

307,760

411,616)

2,044,846

4,334,089) ( 2,829,676)

101,618,617

Depreciation Accumulated Buildings and
Other constructions

1,971,302

259,424

-

-

2,230,726

11,816)

50,489,131

Machinery,
Equipment and craft 45,932,902
Transport Units

772,583

Furnitures and fixures

178,771
48,855,558

Net Cost.

4,779,612 ( 211,567)
116,193

(

-

28,819

3,135
-

5,184,048

( 211,567)

(

891,911

5,754

213,344

2,927)

53,825,112

59,365,201

47,793,505

a. Transferences In the year 2005 , the transference colum and /or adjustement in the part of the
machinery account , equipment and craft include S/.2,829,676 because of the
transfer of the value of the fishing license to inatngible item(note 11), Also this
same colum in the year 2006 in the place of the accumulated depreciation in the
machinery, equipment and craft include S/.228,894 for the reversion of the
depreciation related with the payment of the accumulated results for the abandon
of the amortization of the fishing license with the retroactive effect at January 1st,
2005 (Note nº 2-a).
b. Re-evaluation of the Fixed Assets The most value for the re-evaluation net of its accumulated depresiation is detailed
as follow:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Machinery and equipment

9,145,921 10,114,458

Craft and Fishing Fleet

1,664,943 2,703,049
10,810,864 12,817,507
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c) Leasing At December 31st, the item of the Real State, Machinery and equipment incluyes
the following fixed assets, net of the acumúlate depreciation adquirid throug the
leasing:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Machinery and Equipment

4,376,213

4,808,931

CRaft and fishing fleet

2,199,189

3,479,682

Units ofTransport

2,319

6,575,402

8,290,932

d) Mortages In Guarantee of the bank loans at long term (notes 14 and 18)It has been
conferred mortage about the buildings and of the equipments for US$1.6 millions,
mortage ship about the craft for the amount of 306 millions and. Also the Company
has endorse in favour of the bank entities the recoverable amounts of the several
insurance policies for the total amount of uS $ 14.7 millions
e) Living Trust At December 31st, 2006 it has in trust the craft Pesquera Don Miguel which blue
in the net books of its accumulated depreciation is the amount of S/.2,143,901.
11.

INTANGIBLES ASSETS

At December 31st this item is composed as follow:

Fishing licenses

2006

2005

S/.

S/.

2,829,676

2,829,676

1,807

8,552

2,831,483

2,838,228

Other intangibles assets, net
Fishing licenses-

Under the current legislation the fishing licenses are granted by ”the Ministerio de
la Produccion” in respect of an specific craft for aperios of difined time. The period
begins when the Ministerio de la Producción give the resolution corresponding for
the fishing license and expire (unless the craft will be removed or damage)if the
holder of this license of fishing does not accomplish to present some required
documents at the beginning of the calendar year. (Note 1-b).
In the case that the craft will sink or it will be remove, its corresponding license of
fishing is expired. The holder of the previous fishing license can seek to the
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authorities a new license for a new craft that replace the previous, with the same
capacity of vault, previous payment of the right for the minimun quantity.At now this
kind of request is never being deny
With the condition that the Company accomplish with the presentation of the
documents, the corresponding licenses will be inforce. Additionaly the fishing
licenses can not be sale separately of its respective craft that they are associated.
All the fishing licenses are associated to each craft. By separately none of these
fishing licenses has a significative assets for the Company, even if the aggregated
represent a significative amount.
According with the application of NIC nº38 the “Intangibles Assets”, the
Management of the Company uses the actual cash value as a parameter of the
recuperable amount, that represents the current value of the estimated cash flow of
the uses of the assets and its final retirement of its useful life, using at December
31st, 2006 a rate of discount of 10.5%, that the Management consider that it show
the wishes yield of the assets .At ecember 31st, 2006 the estimates includes the
analysus of the effects of the weather conditions that can affect the operations in
the Company. The savage value is estimated for the assets of the Company used
in the manufacturing of the fishing meal, that consider the estimate of the salvage
value of the fixed assetsat December 31st, 2006. The range of the Comapany
consider that the current contionners dio not justify that the provision will be
realized, because of the damage of its intangibles.
.
12.

OVERDRAF AND BANK LOAN

At December 31st 2006 this item is compossed by:
Bank overdraft
:
2006

2005

S/. S/.
Bank overdraft

467,966

37,136

Banco de Crédito del Perú

7,364,290

6,028,095

Banco Wiese Sudameris

7,929,359

11,773,497

BBVA Banco Continental

3,709,319

3,412,130

19,002,968

21,213,722

19,470,934

21,250,858

Funding exportation:
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The overdraft are the local currency, and in north american dollar it accrueds
interest rate that fluctuate respectily,between 18% and 90% and between 20%
and 26% per year, with variable expires during the year 2006.
The loans for the funding export that are consequences of the interest rate Libor
plus 3 porcentuals points will be cancell with the collection of the money of the
export. And They will be guarantees with warrants about the fishing meal and
fishing oil. (note 8 and 18).

13.

OTHER ACCOUNT PAYABLE

The other account payable for the ended year at December 31st include:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Taxes and Contributions

3,150,953

2,768,541

Payments and participation share

2,453,449

2,381,441

Dividend payable (Note 16)

3,593,327

-

Interests

15,231

243,398

Payment for service rendered

51,645

79,815

Provision of non recievable envoices

105,102

573,794

Others

145,601

220,918

9,515,308

6,267,907

At the year 2006, the Company has accrued to his shareholders the dividens for
the amount of S/.7,122,957 (Note 16) which one was pay in cash aproximately
S/.683,763 and was applicated to cancell and/ or compensate the account
receivable to affiliated for the amount of S/.1,318,732 (Note 26), Other acount
recivable S/.507,698 and sale of the fixed assets S/.1,019,437. At December 31st,
2006 only rest a balance outstanding of S/.3,593,327.

14.

FUNDED DEBT

At December 31st of 2006 and 2005 this item is composed by:
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The Chronology of the totaldebt at December 31st, 2006in north american dollar
and its equivalent in nuevos soles is as follow:
Years

S/.

US$

2007

5,899,606

1,845,357

2008

5,180,064

1,620,289

2009

2,001,270

625,984

13,080,940

4,091,630

15 INCOME TAX AND PARTICIPATION OF THE DEFFERRED WORKERS
At Decmber 31st The Income Tax and the participation of the differed workers
result of the application of the correspondance rates of the temporary differences
and They are explain as follow:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Participatión of the workers

(10%)

2,896,024

3,151,612

Income Tax

(30%)

7,869,864

8,521,029

10,765,888

11,672,641

Themouvement of an account of the Incometax ando f the participation of the
differed workers by the ended year at December 31s is as follow:
INITIAL

RESULT

FINAL

BALANCES

OF THE YEAR PATRIMONY

BALANCE

S/.

S/.

S/.

S/.

Income Tax and participatión
Of the defferred workers for:
Provision of non payable vacancy

17,838

27,056

-

44,894

Participation of the payable worker 578,782

103,300

-

682,082

Leasing

( 2,271,709)

250,074

(

36,639)

(

Revaluating of the fixd assets

( 6,533,056)

547,236

(

15,835)

( 6,001,655)

Depreciation less of the tax

( 3,464,496)

31,561

( 11,672,641)

959,227

(

(
52,474)

2,058,274)

3,432,935)

( 10,765,888)

The effect of the result of the years 2006 and 2005 by the income tax and by the
workers differed is as follow:
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2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Participatión of the workers

(Note 17)

259,251

352,019

IIncome Tax

(Nota 17)

699,976

950,452

959,227

1,302,471

16.

NET ASSETS

a) Fundsl The funds of the Company at December 31st 2006 is represented by 7,899.662
common shares with the nominal value of S/1 each one, which ones are enterily
issued and payables.
At December 31st, 2006 the societary structure of the company is as follow.
Total
Rate of participation
individual capital

Number of

tporcentage of

share

participatión

Only just 30

1

0.01

More than 30.01 to 100

1

99.99

2

100.00

b) SuperavitIt corresponded to the registry of the voluntary re-evaluationns realized by the
Company according with the Thecnical taxation elaborated by the indepents
experts appraiser. This superavit of the re evaluation can be capitalize d or transfer
to the accumulated results in accordance with their depresiation when they are
remove or they sell the assets that form part of its origins.
c) Legal Reserve According with the General corporate law, the legal reserve is compossed with
the transfer of 10% of annual net profit, until get the equivalent of 20% of the
payable funds. In the absence of the non distribute profits or the free disposition
rserves,The legal reserve could be apply to the compensation of the losses, and
having to replace with the profits of the subsequent accounting year. The reserve
can be capitalized being equally obligatory Its replacement.
At December 31st of 2006 it has being transferred the legal reserve aproximately
S/955,986 that corresponds at the 10% of the accumulated results of 2005 and the
profits of 2006.
d) Accuulated results -
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The dividens in favour to the differets shareholder to the entity adressed are
afected to the charge of the rate of 4.1% for the concept of the income tax of
these shareholders. This income tax is returned and liquidated by the Company.
At the year 2006, the acumulated results incluyes the adjustment of S/ 176,420 net
of its corresponding effect by the deffered tax of S/52,474 by the elimitation of the
amortization of the year 2005 of the fishing licenses (Note 2-a).
According with the General shareholder agreement of December 28, 2006 it was
distribute the dividens of the year 2005 for the amount of S/.2,874,625 and the
advances of the dividens of the year 2006, for S/.4,248,332.
At the year 2005 a payment of accumulated result has been realized. It was
product of the adjustment for the difference between the annual affidavit of the
year 2006 and its corresponding rectification, the same that was showed on
september ,2005.
17.

TAX STATUS
a. The management considers that he used the taxable under the General
Regimen of the income tax in accordance with the current tax legislation,
that demand to incorporate and reduce the results showed in the finnantial
statement. These entries that are respectively reffered legislation recognize
as taxable and non taxable.

The taxable is determined as follow
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Utility for the participation
of the workers,
and Income tax

12,780,463 10,072,693

plus (minus) additional reeductions:
- Excepcional Charges

815,243

- Depreciation of the re-evaluation

1,210,658 1,244,478

- Interest

797,149

56,965

201,479

699,228

784,043

- Depreciation of the assets and leasing,
net of quotas
- Sale to the fixed assets

1,191,997

- Otther non deducibles expenses

1,315,588 1,374,660

- Provision for unpayable accounts

1,434,775

- Expenses of closed season
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437,120

Non absorbed by the production

-

- Patrimonial Participation in the subsidiary

465,461

121,717

- Others

901,261

-

24,319

Tasable income for the participation of the workers 18,434,637 15,640,860
Participation of the workers (10 %)

( 1,843,464) ( 1,564,086)
16,591,173 14,076,774

Participation of the workers

1,564,086

1,843,464

Taxable income

18,434,637 15,640,860

Income tax 30%

5,530,391

4,692,259

b) El income (expenses) for theparticipation of the workers and theincometax
correspns:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Participation of the workers:
Current

(1,843,464) ( 1,564,086)

Diferred (Notea 15)

259,251)

352,019)

( 1,584,213) ( 1,212,067)
Income tax:
Current

( 5,530,391) ( 4,692,259)

Differred (Note 15)

699,976) 950,452)
( 4,830,415) ( 3,741,807)

c) The tributaruy administartive has the faculty to review and if it is the case., to
correct the incometax determined by the Company in the last year, counted at
January 1st of the next year of th presentatioin of the correspond income tax. (Year
that is subject to the fiscalization)The year 2002 is subject of the fisclization due
thatcan appear differences in thje interpretation by the part of the tributary
administration about the rulesapplied by the Company. It is not possible to
anticipate update if it will produce financial liabilities as result of the eventuals
rewieds.
Any additional tax, default or interest can appear,They can be recognized in the
results of the year., in that the difference of criteria between the Tributary
administartion is result. The management estimates that it can not appear liabilities
of the importance as the result of the possible audit.
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18

ENDORSEMENT

At December 31st, 2006 the Company by the credits has otorged guaranties in
favour of several entities as follow
Institución

Tipo de garantía

Descripción

Importe

US$
Current bank loans:
Banco de Crédito del Perú

Warrants

stocks

446,250

Banco Scotibank

Warrants

stocks

285,600

Banco Continental

Warrants

stocks

1,160,250

Craft

926,421

Fundeb Debt:
Banco de Crédito del Perú

Debt Trust
Chattle

Machinery

equipment
Banco Wiese Sudameris

450,000

Mortage and chattle

Factory

1,637,258

Machinery
equipment 5,288,325
Cofide

mortage and chattle

craft

Machinery & equipment
19.

2,720,000
251,900

COST OF SALE

The costo f sle for the ended year at December 31st is:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

11,938,603

6,040,396

Consume of raw materials

36,075,652

44,390,484

Work Force

3,617,162

4,136,269

Depretiation

4,866,583

4,636,835

Other expenses for manufacturing

7,868,453

14,624,283

Final inventory of the ended products

9,047,968

11,938,603

55,318,485

61,889,664

Opening inventory of the final products
Production:
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20.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administartive expenses for the ended year at December, 31st are:
comprenden:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

141,562

140,360

Charges odf the personel

4,290,325

2,382,491

Services rendered to the third

1,806,630

2,107,478

Taxes

211,570

309,032

Administrative charges

164,239

81,790

Depretiation and amortizations

Provisions of the fiscal year

21.

913,723

16,549

7,528,049

5,037,700

EXPENSES OF SALE

The expenses of sale for the ended of years at december 31st are:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

448,194

6,917,120

1,170,234

1,625,566

Transport

708,933

933,160

Fees

207,369

522,288

Análisis and certificated

415,171

689,433

Customer brokers

149,964

466,078

35,349

66,631

3,135,214

11,220,276

Ship Freght
Expenses of the shipping

Others

22.

DIVERSE EXPENSES

Los diverse expenses at the ended years at December 31st are:

The net cost of the sale fixed assets
The tax credit non accepted tributarily
Administrative fiscal penalties
Income tax assumed by the company
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2006

2005

S/.

S/.

1,003,160

1,312,994

3,728

7,038

164,830

432,355

-

172,706

Expenses of the previous years

976,918

611,733

Other expenses

961,056

592,288

3,109,692

3,129,114

23 DIVERSE INCOMES
The diverses incomes for the ended year are
2006

2005

253,914 91

1,787,117

1,158,907

1,187,400

Returning of the previous years

109,194

681,745

Other incomes

258,158

344,567

1,780,173

4,000,829

S/. S/.
Condonation of the bill of debito f Interbank
Sale of the fixed assets

24 FINANCIAL EXPENSES
The Financial statements ended at December 31st are:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

Interest and commisition ban loans

1,775,133

2,171,623

Interests for the documentary credit

21,879

42,992

140,328

325,575

8,761

19,723

Interest for payments of envoice and bills

118,533

130,155

Interest for export financing

794,559

878,840

Others

159,117

578,678

3,018,310

4,147,586

Liquidity of the export
Interest and overdraft expenses

25.

ENVIROMENT

The activities of the company are submitted to the decree ordernº 613 published
on September 8, 1980and the executive order nº 25977 of the general fishing law
of the date November 7th. 1992 and bylaw.With the purposes to accomplish the
refferred Decree. The Company has showed some impact enviromental studies
(EIP) or programs enviromental management programs. (PAMA) in its factory. The
Company take in place some operations to protect the Public health and the
enviroment. And The Comapany consider that accomplish all the applicable
regulations.
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In Opinion of the Management of the Company, The obbligations that can occurs
as the result of the implemantation of the PAMA, as coresponds, do not be
significately for the Financial statements taking in a whole.
26 TRANSACTION THAT NO INPLICATE THE MOVEMENT OF THE CASH
FUNDS.
At December 31st. 2006 and 2005 are been excluded of the cash flow statements
the following transaction:
2006

2005

S/.

S/.

-------

2,829,678

Licenses of fishing transferred to
the item of the real state
machinery and equipment
transferred to the item of intangibles
Depreciation of the licenses of fishing at 2005
Aboned to the accumulated results, net of income tax
Differed by S/52,474

176,420

---------

972,000

-----------

Accounts payable to the shares applied to
other account recivable related with:
-

Loan receivable of the shares

-

loans to the third

1,840,000

----------

Dividends TO pay applicated to the acount receivable that are related with:
-

Account recivable to the affiliated

1,318,732

-

Account recievable for the share

458,346

----------

-

Account recievable for the sale of the net assets

1,019,437

----------

-

Personal Loans

49,352

-----------

---------

Dividends reported in the year 2006 pending of payment at December 31st,2006
3,593.327
---------The excedent of the re-evaluation of the retirement fixed assets, net of its differed
effect of the income tax S/.1,039,525
-----------1,770,003
The Distributión of the profits applied to reduce
the acccount of investment

--------------
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2,735,233

PESQUERA SAN LORENZO S.A.C.
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OPINION OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

April 16, 2007
To the Pesquera San Lorenzo S.A.C. Shareholders
We have audited the attached financial statements of Pesquera San Lorenzo
S.A.C. that they include the general balance on December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2005 and the states of earnings and losses, of changes in the net
patrimony and of flows of cash for the years finished in these dates, and the
summary of countable significant policies and other explanatory notes.
Responsibility of the Management on the financial statements
Our responsibility consists of expressing an opinion about these financial
statements based on our audits. Our audits were realized in agreement by
procedure of audit generally accepted in Peru. Such procedure needs that we
expire with ethical requirements and plan and realize the audits to obtain
reasonable safety of which the financial statements do not contain erroneous
representations of relative importance.
An audit includes the realization of procedures to obtain evidence of audit on
the balances and the publications in the financial statements. The selected
procedures depend on the reason of the auditor, who includes the evaluation of
the risk that the financial statements contain erroneous representations of
relative importance, as result of fraud or mistake. To carry out this evaluation of
risk, the auditor takes into consideration the internal relevant control of
Company in the preparation and reasonable presentation of the financial
statements in order to design procedures of audit adapted to the circumstances,
but not with the intention of expressing an opinion about the efficiency of the
internal control of the entity. An audit also includes the evaluation of which the
applied principles of accounting are appropriated and that the countable
estimations realized by the Management are reasonable, likewise an evaluation
of general presentation of the financial statements.
We think that the evidence of audit that we have obtained is enough and
adapted, providing us a base for our opinion of audit.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements before indicated present reasonably, in
all its significant aspects, the financial situation of Pesquera San Lorenzo S.A.C.
on December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the years finished in these dates, in agreement with
principles of accounting generally accepted in Peru.
AUTHORIZED BY
Félix U. Horna
Registered Public Accountant
Register No. 13774
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PESQUERA SAN LORENZO S.A.C.

GENERAL BALANCE

ACTIVO
To december 31
2006
S/.

2005
S/.

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and banks (Note 5)
Other accounts receivable (Note 6)
Diverse supplies
Expenses paid in advance
Current assets Total

80 007
1 077 719

INVESTMENTS (Note 7)

-

2 659 157

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 8)

2 678 538

3 279 949

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 9)

1 330 566

1 330 566

5 086 823

7 918 415

860 687
137 025
-

228 709
281 022
30 108
108 904
648 743

The notes that figure between pages 7 to 23 form a part of the financial statements.
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LIABILITIES AND NET PATRIMONY
Al 31 de diciembre de
2006
S/.
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft
Commercial account payable
Accounts payable to linked companies (No
Other accounts for paying (Note 11)
Current liabilities Total
INCOME TAX AND PARTICIPATION OF
WORKERS DEFERRED (Note 12)
NET PATRIMONY (Note 13)
Capital
Legal Reserve
Accumulated results
Accounts receivable to shareholders

2005
S/.

173 981
93 088
1 656 112
1 010 054
2 933 235

288 270
2 326 465
808 019
3 422 754

806 669

935 951

500 491
343 012
503 416
1 346 919

3 159 648
56 155
3 373 975
(3 030 068)
3 559 710

5 086 823

7 918 415

-

TRIBUTARY SITUATION (Note 14)
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PESQUERA SAN LORENZO S.A.C.
EARNINGS AND LOSSES STAMENT
For the year ended on
December 31,
2006
2005
S/.
S/.
Fish sales (Notes 1 and 10)
Sales cost (Note 15)
Gross utility
Operative expenses and income
Administration expenses (Note 16)
Maintenance expenses (Note 17)
Diverse Expenses
Diverse Incomes
Patrimonial participation profit in associated (Note 7)

Operation profits
Other incomes (expenses):
Financial expenses
Financial income
Difference in change, net (Note 3)

6,948,236
(3,790,090)
3,158,146

9,619,952
(5,588,271)
4,031,681

(825,166)
(928,677)
(277,998)
865,221
(1,166,620)

(331,640)
(939,799)
(670,779)
50,603
979,899
(911,716)

1,991,526

3,119,965

(37,331)
13,501
(18,480)
(42,310)

(101,746)
21,142
(9,673)
(90,277)

1,949,216
(130,225)
(409,106)
1,409,885

3,029,688
(245,729)
(762,767)
2,021,192

Profit before the workers participation and income tax
Workers participation (Note 14)
Income tax (Note 14)
Annual profit

The notes that figure between pages 7 to 23 form a part of the financial statements.
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102

343,012

286,857

-

500,491

-

52,023
56,155
-

-

3,159,648
(2,659,157)
-

-

503,416

1,409,885
(286,857)
(1,143,917)

2,021,192
(52,023)
3,373,975
237,447
(3,087,117)

1,404,806

S/.

S/.
4,132

S/.

Legal Reserve

Capital

3,159,648

Accumulated
Results

The notes that figure between pages 7 to 23 form a part of the financial statements

Balance to January 1, 2005
Disbursements granted to shareholders
Annual profit
Legal reserve assignment
Saldos al 31 de diciembre de 2005
Adjustment
Capital reduction
Disbursements granted to shareholders
Dividend distribution year 2005
Application of dividends 2005 to accounts
receivable to shareholders
Annual profit
Legal reserve assignment
Advance of profits year 2006
Application of dividend advances to account
receivable to shareholders
Balance at December 31, 2006

CHANGES IN THE NET PATRIMONY STATEMENT
TO YEARS ENDED ON DECEMBER 31, 2006
AND DECEMBER 31, 2005

PESQUERA SAN LORENZO S.A.C.

S/.

682,892
-

-

3,087,116

(3,030,068)
(739,940)

(1,920,093)
(1,109,975)
-

Accounts
receivable to
shareholders

S/.

Total

682,892
1,346,919

(1,143,917)

3,087,116
1,409,885

3,559,710
237,447
(2,659,157)
(739,940)
(3,087,117)

2,648,493
(1,109,975)
2,021,192

PESQUERA SAN LORENZO S.A.C.
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended on
December 31
2006
2005
S/.
S/.
OPERATION ACTIVITIES
Annual profit
Profit adjustment that do not affect the operation activities
cash flow:
Profit in associated participation
Depreciation
Fixed assets retirement
Deferred income tax
Net variations in assets and liabilities:
Commercial accounts receivable
Accounts receivable to linked companies
Other account receivable
Existences
Expenses paid in advance
Commercial accounts payable
Accounts payable to linked companies
Other accounts payable
Net cash preview to operation activities

143,997
30,108
28,897
(195,182)
(670,353)
202,035
1,823,090

132,174
898,579
105,972
(30,108)
61,859
(240,373)
40,688
(1,119,258)
1,871,055

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Accounts receivable to shareholders
Real state, machinery and equipment acquisition
Net cash applied to investment activities

(739,94D)
(164,127)
(904,067)

(1,109,975)
(571,993)
(1,681,968)

FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
Net banking overdraft
Dividends payment

173,981
(461,026)

(30,337)
-

Net cash applied to financing activities
Net cash increase
Cash balance at the beginning of the year
Cash balance at the end of the year

(287,045)
631,978
228,709
860,687

(30,337)
158,750
69,959
228,709

Transaction that do not involve found movements
Patrimonial split with investments in subsidiary

2,659,157

Depreciation of licenses of fishing of 2005 paid to
accumulated results, net of tax deferred for S/.97,988

237,447

Dividends applied to cancel accounts receivable to
shareholders
Licenses of fishing transferred of the item Machinery and
equipment to the item Intangible

The notes that figure between pages 7 to 23 are a part of the financial statements.
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1,409,885

2,021,192

(979,899)
1,019,851
81,122
(227,270)

1,295,716
(315,487)

3,770,008
1,330,566

PESQUERA SAN LORENZO S.A.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2006 and DECEMBER 31, 2005

1

ECONOMIC ACTIVITY AND REGULATIVE STANDARD

a) Economic Activity Pesquera San Lorenzo S.A.C. (hereinafter the Company), constituted on
September 11, 1998, on the base of it split of assets, liabilities and net
patrimony of Cabo Peñas S.A., has as corporate purpose the extraction of
marine species for the indirect and industrial consumption; for it relies on two
fishing crafts that have a capacity of warehouse of 590 TM. The fish extracted
by the crafts of the Company are sold principally to the linked Empresa
Pesquera San Fermin S.A.
The address registered of the Company is Nestor Gambeta Avenue 576,
Callao, Department of Lima, Peru. At December 31, 2006 the number of
workers of the Company to develop its activities is of 40 crew members and 2
personnel (38 crew members at on December 31, 2005).
b) Regulative Standard The industrial activities of the Company are regulated by the Statutory order Nº
25977 - General Law of Fishing and its regulation, Supreme Decree Nº 0122001-PE, the same ones that norms the fishing activity in order to promote its
development supported as feeding source, employment and income and of
assuring a responsible exploitation of the hydro biologic resources, optimizing
the economic benefits, in harmony with the preservation of the environment and
the conservation of the biodiversity.
The administration and control of the fishing activity in the national contour
corresponds to the Ministry of Production, which establishes during the year
biologic forbidden of the fishing resources in order to preserve some marine
species as the anchovy and the sardine. These forbidden are established during
the reproductive age of the respective species or when there is covered the
annual quota of extraction assigned.
The above mentioned forbid periods affect the operations of the Company since
they limit apprehension of marine species destined for the production of fish
meal and fish oil.
In the 2006 and 2005 years produces a provisional regime of fishing with
periodic permissions of apprehension in technically advisable zones for the
activities of extraction and processing. During 2006, the above mentioned
provisional regime of fishing contemplated inside the general regime of forbids
period, between the north end of the Peru (border with Ecuador) and the parallel
one 16°S (south of the Port of Pisco), has meant a whole of 47 days of
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permission of fishing (102 days in 2005). Additionally, climatologically
unfavorable factors like The Nino Current phenomenon or the warming of
waters that originate negative effects in the levels of apprehension of hydrologic
species.
The General Law of Fishing establishes that the licenses of fishing are those
specific rights that the Ministry of Production grants to develop activities of
fishing. The licenses of fishing are granted in relation to every craft of specific
fishing.
The General Law of Fishing of Peru regulation established that to maintain the
license of fishing, the owners of crafts dedicated to fishing have to present to
the governmental authority, every year on January, the following
documentation: (a) a signed affidavit declaring that the capacity of warehouse
established and authorized in the license of fishing has not been increased; (b)
evidence respect to the operation conditions of the crafts; (c) a declaration
about that the last period they have dedicated to the fishing activity and (d)
payment of the respective license of fishing.
The legislation before mentioned in addition establishes that in case the craft
sinks, destroy or scrapping, the owner of the craft has the right to obtain a
license of fishing for another craft or to increase the capacity of warehouse of
the same craft, always and when it does not exceed of the craft warehouse
capacity that originally tape-worm the license of fishing. The legislation does not
establish limitations for the exercise of this right.
c) Approval of financial statementsThe financial statements of the fiscal year 2006 enclosed will be presented to
the Shareholders' General Meeting for its approval in the period established by
law. In opinion of the Management, the financial statements of the fiscal year
2006 enclosed will be approved without modifications. The financial statements
at December 31, 2005 were approved by the Shareholders' General Meeting on
November 2, 2006.

2

PRINCIPLES AND COUNTABLE PRACTICES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial
statements are detailed as follows. These principles and practices have been
applied uniformly in all the presented years, until it is indicated the contrary.
a) Bases of preparationThe financial statements of the Company have been prepared in agreement
with principles of accounting generally accepted in Peru. The principles of
accounting generally accepted in Peru include International Norms of Financial
Information (NIIF) made official across Resolutions emitted by the Council
Normative of Accounting. The NIIF incorporate to the International Procedure of
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Accounting (NIC) and to the pronouncements of the Committee of
Interpretations (SIC). To the date of the financial statements the Normative
Council of Accounting has made official the obligatory application of NIC from 1
to 41 and of the SIC from 1 to 33. Likewise, it has made official the obligatory
application, from January 1, 2006, of the NIIF 1 to 6; being pending of revision
and approval the NIIF 7 and 8 and the pronouncements of the current
Committee of Interpretations (IFRIC).
The preparation of the financial statements according to the accounting
principles requires the use of some critic accounting estimates. Also requires
that the Management exercise its reason in the application process of the
accounting policies of the Company. The estimates and critic accounting
criterions are described on the Note 4.
Financial statements have been prepared according with the principle of historic
cost, modified by the revaluation of fishing crafts done last years.
Until December 31, 2004, the financial statements were adjusted to reflect the
effects on variations in the current spending power following the methodology
approve by the Normative Council of Accounting. The adjusted balance per
inflation to that date was used as the initial balances of the financial statements
of year 2005.
The variation of Peruvian current spending power on year 2006 and 2005, in
reference to the wholesale index of prices, according to official statistics, was of
1.3% and 3.6% respectively.
Norms and modifications pending of approval –
The following norms and modifications have been emitted and are in force at
international level to periods post December 31, 2006. These norms are
pending to be official in Peru by the Normative Council of Accounting:
NIIF 7 – Financial Instruments: Reveals and one complementary modification
to NIC 1 – Financial Statements Presentation – reveals over the capital (in force
at international level at January 1, 2007) – NIIF 7 incorporate additional
develops to improve the information given by financial statements. Replace the
reveal requirements of NIC 32, Financial Instruments: Reveal and Presentation.
The modification to NIC 1 incorporates reveals about the capital level of an
entity and how it is manage.
NIIF 8 Operative Segments (in force worldwide since January 1, 2009) - This
norm needs to develop the information over the operative segments of the entity
and also over its products and services, geographical areas in which operates
and its principal clients.
The Company considers that these new procedures and its modification to the
NIC 1 will not have relevant impact in the formulation of its financial statements
in the future.
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Until December 31, 2005, the licenses of fishing were amortized using the
method of straight line in a period similar to the useful life of the underlying craft.
In agreement with the prescribed by the NIC 38 Note 9) the Company
determines that the useful life of the licenses of fishing was indeterminate, and
consequently, abandoned the amortization of the licenses of fishing with
retroactive effect from January 1, 2005.
The amortization of year 2005 has been eliminated, such as it is indicate by the
transitory regulations of this NIC 38 what represented a credit to accumulated
results of S/. 335,435 Notice 8 - a), that net of its effect for income tax deferred
ascends to S/. 237,447; it has not been carried out reformulation of the financial
statements of year 2005 due to the fact that this adjustment is not important in
relation to the financial statements taken in its set. From the year finished on
December 31, 2006 and in forward the net balance of the licenses of fishing will
be evaluated annually by deterioration and also in the moment that exist
evidence of damage.
The effect of changes in the estimate of useful life of the licenses of fishing
meant a minor expense for amortizaci6n of approximately S/.335,000 in 2006.
Translation of foreign currency –
Functional currency and currency of presentation:
The items included in the financial statements of the Company express in the
currency of the economic primary environment where operates on the entity
(functional currency). The financial statements appear in Nuevos Soles that is
the functional currency and the currency of presentation of the Company.
Transactions and balances:
The transactions in foreign currency are translated into the currency of
measurement using the in force types of change to the dates of the
transactions.
The earnings and lost for differentiate on change that result from the collection
and/or payment of such transactions and from the translation to the types of
change to the closing of assets and monetary and not monetary areas liabilities
named in foreign currency are recognized in the statement of earnings and
losses.
c) Cash and equivalent of cashFor intentions of the statement of cash flows, the cash and equivalents of cash
include the available cash and deposits at sight in banks.
d) Financial instrumentsThe financial instruments correspond to the contracts that give place,
simultaneously, to a financial asset in a company and to a financial liability or to
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a capital instrument in another company. In case of the Company, the financial
instruments correspond to primary instruments as accounts receivable and
accounts for paying.
The financial instruments classify in liabilities or of capital in agreement with the
reason of the contractual agreement that gave to them origin. The interests, the
dividends, the earnings and losses generated by a financial classified
instrument as of liabilities, are register as expenses or income in the statement
of earnings and losses. The payment to the holders of the financial registered
instruments capital, are register directly in the net patrimony. The financial
instruments are compensated when the Company has the legal right to
compensate them and the Management has the intention of canceling them on
a net base, or of realizing the assets and canceling the liabilities simultaneously.
e) Accounts receivableThe accounts receivable (third and linked) are register to its reasonable value,
net of its provision for deterioration. The provision by deterioration of the
accounts receivable is established when there exists objective evidence that the
Company could not receive all the defeated amounts according to the original
terms of the accounts receivable. This provision is checked from time to time to
fit to the necessary levels in order to cover the potential losses. The amount of
the provision is recognized in the statement of earnings and losses. The
irrecoverable accounts are punished when they are identifying as such.
f) Diverse suppliesThe supplies are valuated in its cost or its net value of realization, which one is
the minor. The provision to charge off the spare parts and supplies in
warehouse is determined taking as base the registry without movement older
that a year.
g) Financial assets –
The Company classifies its investments like lending and accounts receivable.
The classification depends on the intention for which the investments were
acquired. The Management determines the classification of its investments to
the date of its initial recognition and reevaluates this classification to the date of
every closing. At December 31, 2006 and 2005 the Company supports financial
assets in the category of lending, accounts receivable and investments.
Lending and accounts receivable:
The lending and the accounts receivable are financial assets not derivatives
with payments fixed or determinable that are not quoted on an active market.
They arise when the Company provides money, goods or services directly to a
debtor without intention of negotiating the account receivable. They are included
in the current assets, except those of maturities major than 12 months after the
date of the general balance, which they are re-classified as not current assets.
The lending and the accounts receivable are included in commercial accounts
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receivable and in other accounts receivable in the general balance.
Investments in associated:
The investments in companies in which the Company supports an interest
bigger than 20 % of the rights to vote, or in that it exercises significant influence
(associated), are recognized initially to the cost and later under the method of
patrimonial participation. Across the method of patrimonial participation the
results obtained by the associate are recognized in its financial statements by
cargo or credit, as corresponds, to the value in books of the investment and in
the results of the period in which origins. The dividends received in cash justify
themselves to the value of the investments.
h) Machinery and equipment –
The item machinery and equipment appears to the cost plus the revaluations of
certain assets, less its accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of machinery
and equipment includes its purchase price, including duties and not refundable
taxes of purchase and any directly attributable cost to be located and to let to
the assets in conditions of uses.
Any increase in the value of the assets that ensues from its appraisement
justifies itself to a patrimonial account of surplus of revaluation. The decreases
that end up as increases before the same active are charged directly, net of its
future tributary effect refer to the income tax and participation of the workers
deferred, against the surplus account of patrimony revaluation; all the next
decreases are loaded on the statement of earnings and losses.
The subsequent costs attributable to the goods of the fixed assets are
capitalized only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the assets generate for the Company and the cost of these assets can be
measured reasonably, opposite case they are imputed to the cost of production
or expense as correspond. The maintenance costs and repair are charged to
the cost of production or expense in the period in which they incur these.
The depreciation is calculated for the method of straight line to assign cost or its
amount revalued less its residual value during the estimated one of its useful life
as continues:

Years

Crafts and nets of fishing
Units of transport
Diverse Equipments

between 4 and 10
5
between 2 and 4
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The residual values and the useful life of the assets are check and fit, if it is
necessary, to the date of every general balance. The value in books of an asset
is punished immediately to its recoverable value if the value in books of the
asset is major that than the estimated of its value.
The earnings and lost by the sale of assets correspond to the difference
between the income of the transaction and the value in books of the assets.
These are included in the statement of earnings and losses.
i) Deterioration of assetsThe assets that have useful indeterminate life and are not subject to
amortization, surrender to annual tests of deterioration and when evidences
take place it was the value in books could not to be recoverable. The assets
subject to depreciation or amortization surrender to tests of deterioration when
there take place events or circumstances that indicate that the value in books
could not to be recoverable. The losses for deterioration are the amount in
which the value in books of the assets exceeds its recoverable value. A lost for
deterioration is charged off if there have been produce a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable value. A lost for deterioration is
charged off only in the measure that the value in books on the asset do not
exceed its reasonable respective value that would be determined, net of
depreciation and amortization, if not were recognized any lost for deterioration
For effects of evaluating the deterioration, the assets gather in crowds to
smallest levels in what there are generated identifiable flows of cash (generating
units of cash).
If the value in books of an assets or generating unit of cash exceeds its
recoverable value, a provision is assessed to register the assets to the minor
amount. The losses by deterioration are recognized in the statement of earnings
and losses. A loss for deterioration is charged off if change has been produced
any change in estimated used to determine the recoverable value
j) Intangible assetsThe intangible assets correspond to licenses of fishing. The cost of the licenses
of fishing of anchovy (hereinafter called "coast") was determined principally
using estimated of the reasonable value established by independent appraisers.
The licenses of fishing are considered as assets of indeterminate life; however,
there is not needed any amortization of these assets. The values of the licenses
of fishing are evaluated in every closing date and when exist evidence that its
value in books could not be recoverable. If it estimates that the reasonable
value minor that the value in books, the licenses of fishing are punished to its
reasonable value.
k)

Provisions-

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a legal present obligation or
assumed as result of past facts, it is probable that is needed of the set out of
resources to cancel the obligation and it is possible to estimate its amount
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reliably.
l) Benefits of the personnel - Vacations to the personnel:
The annual vacations of the personnel and other remunerated absences are
recognized on the base of the earned one. The provision for obligation
estimated per annual vacations and other absences remunerated of the
personnel as consequence of services rendered by the personnel is recognized
to the date of the general balance.
Compensation per time of services:
The provision for compensation per time of services of the personnel is
constituted by the complete one of indemnifies rights in agreement by the in
force legislation and proves net of the deposits effected with cancel character.
Participation of the workers:
The Company recognizes a liability and an expense to the participation of the
workers in the profits on the base of 10 % of the taxable certain matter
according to the tributary in force legislation.
The Company does not provide later benefits to the labor relation to its workers.
m) CapitalThe common shares qualify as patrimony.
n) Distribution of dividendsThe distribution of dividends is recognized as liability in the financial statements
in the period in which these are approved by the shareholders of the Company.
The advances of dividends appear in the statement of changes of patrimony
reducing the accumulated results.
o) Income tax - The current income tax is decided in accordance with the
tributary in force regulations.
The deferred income tax is provisioned for the method of the liabilities
recognizing the effect of the temporary differences that arise from assets and
liabilities and its balance in the financial statements. To determine the deferred
income tax they use tax rates promulgated to the date of the general balance
that is waited will be applicable when the deferred liability income tax is paid.
Deferred active taxes only are recognized in the measure that should be
probable that future tributary benefits take place against those who could use
the temporary differences.
p)

Passive and active quotas-

The passive quotas are not recognized in the financial statements, only are
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revealed in a note to the financial statements, unless the possibility of use of
resources is remote. The active quotas are not recognized in the financial
statements and only are revealed when it is probable that an income of
resources takes place.
q)

Recognition of income, costs and expenses-

The income includes the reasonable value of sale of products net of taxes to
the sales, reductions and discounts. The income by sales, and its costs and
related expenses, is recognized when there are transferred to the buyer the
risks and benefits inherent in the property of the sold products. Other expenses
to income are recognized as they earn.
r)

Comparative information-

Up to the year 2005, the Company was classifying the licenses of fishing as
part of the countable value of the crafts under the item Machinery and
equipment. In presentation of the general balance for the year finished on
December 31, 2006 and its comparative information by the year finished on
December 31, 2005 it has been considered to classify the licenses of fishing,
net of its accumulated amortization, under the item of intangible assets
according to the prescribed for the NIC 38 (checked).
Likewise, up to 2005, the Company was classifying its other diverse income
and diverse expenses, net after the result of operation. In presentation of the
statement of earnings and lost by the year finished on December 31, 2006 and
its comparative information for the year finished on December 31, 2005 has
been considered to classify the diverse income and diverse expenses, net
before the result of operation according to the prescribed for the NIC 1
(examination).

3

ADMINISTRATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS

3.1 Factors of financial risks The activities of the Company are exhibit to a variety of financial risks: risks of
type of changes, risk of prices, credit risk, cash risk and risk of rate of interest
which adverse effects are evaluated for the Company’s Management in order
to minimizing them.
The risks administration is done through the General Management that
continues the policies approved by the Directory. This Management identifies,
evaluates and covers the financial risks in narrow cooperation with its operative
units.

112

Next is presented the financial risks to which is exposed the Company.
Risk of type of changeThe Company has its indebtedness in foreign currency for that is exposed at
risk of fluctuations in the types of change of American Dollar. The Management
of the Company considers that the future flows of its activities of operation will
be sufficient to reduce the risk of type of change and, consequently, its
exposition. The Management of the Company has decided to accept the
exchange risk, for what it has not carried out operations of coverage.
The balance in foreign currency at December 31 is resumed as follows:
2006
US$
Assets:
Cash and banks
Liabilities:
Accounts payable to linked companies
Net liability:

2005
US$

269,470

61,744

(518,021)
(248,551)

(667,016)
(605,272)

On December 31, 2006, the types of change used by the Company for the
record of the balances in foreign currency have been of S/.3.194 and of
S/.3.197 for US$1 for the assets and liabilities, respectively (of S/.3.429 and of
S/.3.431 for US$1 for the assets and liabilities, respectively, on December 31,
2005).
On December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company registered earnings on the
change for S/.44,896 (S/.57,497 in 2005) and lost in change for S/.63,376
(S/.67,170 in 2005), respectively.
Risk of prices –
The Company is not exposed to the risk of products that commercialized risk.
Risk of creditThe Company does not have significant risks of concentration of credit, due to
the fact that its sales are done principally to linked companies. On the other
hand, in the sales to third the Company has established policies to assure that
the same ones be done to clients with suitable history of credit.
Risk of liquidityThe prudent administration of the risk of liquidity implies supporting sufficiently
effective and equivalently of cash and the possibility of compromising and/or to
have awkward financing across a suitable quantity of sources of credit. The
Company supports suitable levels of cash and of line of available credits.
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Risk of rate of interest
The income and the operative cash flows of the Company are substantially
independent from the changes in the rates of interest of the market. The
Company does not have assets and liabilities subjects to rate of interest.
3.2 Estimation of the reasonable value
There is assumed that the nominal value fewer adjustments of credit estimated
for the accounts receivable and for paying come closer its reasonable values
due to its maturity in shortly time.

4

ESTIMATED ONES AND COUNTABLE CRITICAL CRITERIA

The estimated ones and countable used are constantly evaluated by the
Management and are based on the historical experience and other factors,
including the expectation of occurrence of future events, which are considered
to be reasonable according to the circumstances.
a)

Estimated ones and countable critical criteria

The Company do estimations and suppositions concerning to the future. The
countable resultant estimations, for definition, very rarely will be equal to the
respective real results. The estimations and suppositions that have risk of
causing adjustments to the balances of the assets and reported liabilities
appear next.
Taxes The determination of the obligations and expenses for taxes needs of
interpretations to the tributary applicable legislation. The company relies on
professional advising in tributary matter up to the moment to take some decision
on tributary matters. Even if the Management thinks that its estimations in
tributary matter are prudent and conservative, discrepancies can arise with the
tributary administration in the interpretation of procedure that they need of
adjustments for taxes in the future.
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5

CASH AND BANKS
At December 31, this heading includes:
2006
S/.
S
96
860,591
860,687

Current accounts in Nuevos Soles
Current accounts in American Dollars

6

2005
S/.
16,989
211,720
228,709

OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
At December 31, this heading includes:
2006
S/.
S
Lending to third
Claims to third
Lending to personnel
Payments in advance for income tax
Advance to suppliers

8,553
115,606
12,866
137,025

2005
S/.
154,250
7,130
1,489
105,000
13,153
281,022

7 INVESTMENTS
For agreement of Shareholders' General Meeting of date November 2, 2006 it
was approved the patrimonial split by means of which Pesquera San Lorenzo
S.A.C. trespassed to San Fermin S.A a patrimonial block constituted by
1,893,557 shares of the capital of Empresa Pesquera San Fermin S.A.
(represent the 24 % of the shares of the above mentioned company) which net
patrimonial value in the books of the Company to that date amount to
S/.2,659,157 Notice 13). This company will not increase it (since they are
shares of it) but will distribute the shares between its shareholders.
Until December 31, 2005 this investment was registered by the method of
patrimonial participation. In 2005 recognized a revenue of S/.979,899 for
patrimonial participation determined with the base to the audited financial
statements of the company where there was kept the investment, amount that
shows itself in the item utility in patrimonial participation in associated in the
statement of earnings and losses.
The movement of the account machinery and equipment and that of its
corresponding accumulated depreciation, for the years finished on December
31, 2006 and 2005, are as continues:
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Year 2006:
Initial
Balance

S/.

S/.
Cost
Crafts and fishing nets
Units of transport
Diverse Equipments

11,175,687
135,204
7,627
11,318,518

Accumulated depreciation
Craft and fishing nets
Units of transport
Diverse Equipments

Additions

7,999,094

Transferences
Deductions
and/or Adjust
S/.

41,455
122,672 (
-

-

11,217,142

135,204)

-

122,672

-

7,627

135,204)

11,347,441

8,657,249

993,591

33,801

24,370 (

5,674

1,891

8,038.569

S/.

S/.

-

164,127 (

1,019,852 (

Final
Balance

54,082)

(335-436)

4,089

-

7,565

54,082)

8,668,903
(335,436)

Net Cost

3,279.949

2,678,538

Year 2005:
CostCraft and fishing nets
Units of transport
Diverse Equipments

11,934,260

571,993

135,204

-

(1,330,566)
-

11,175,687
135,204

7,627

-

12,077,091,

571,993

6,732,249

1,266,845

7,999,094

6,760

27,041

33,801

Diverse equipments

3,844
6,742, 853

1,830
1,295,716

5,674
8,038,569

Net Cost

5,334,238

Accumulated Depreciation
Crafts and fishing nets
Units of transport

7,627
(1,330,566)

11,318,518

3.279,949

a) Transfers
During 2005 the amount of S/.1,330,566 in the column transfer and/or
adjustments in the part of the costs corresponds to the transfer of the value of
the licenses of fishing to the item Intangible (Notice 9). In 2006 the amount of
S/.335,436 in the same column in the part of the accumulated depreciation
corresponds to the depreciation for the abandon of the amortization of the
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licenses of fishing with retroactive effect from January 1, 2005, paid to
accumulated results.

b)

Revaluation of fixed assets-

In 1998 the Company registered the voluntary revaluation of its fishing crafts on
the base of technical appraisements practiced by independent professionals,
the same one that was capitalized in previous years. At December 31, 2006 the
item of fishing crafts includes cost for S/.7,476,213 (S/.8,526,715 in 2005) and
depreciation accumulated by S/. 6,320,131 (S/.5,997,923 in 2005)
corresponding to the revaluation of fishing crafts.

9

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

On December 31, 2006 and 2005 at balance of intangible corresponds to the
value of the licenses of fishing. Under the current legislation, the licenses of
fishing are granted (for the Ministry of Production) with regard to a specific craft
of fishing and to a definite period of time. The period begins when the Ministry
of Production issue the corresponding resolution for the license of fishing and
expires (unless the craft is withdrawn or destroyed) if the holder of the such
license of fishing does not fulfill with present certain documentation needed
from the beginning of every calendar year (Note 1-b).
In case the craft sinks or withdrawn its corresponding license of fishing expires.
The previous holder of the license of fishing can apply for a new one to the
authorities to the new craft that will replace the previous one with equal capacity
of warehouse, previous payment of a right for a minimal quantity. This type of
request has never refused up to the date.
With the condition that the Company fulfills with the presentation of the
documentation, the corresponding licenses of fishing will continue in force.
Additionally, the licenses of fishing do not sell separately from the respective
crafts to those which are associated.
All the licenses of fishing are associated to each craft. Individually anyone of
those licenses of fishing is a significant asset to the Company, furthermore
when the attached represents a significant amount.

Alike with the application of NIC 38 "Intangible assets", the Management of the
Company uses the value in use as a parameter of the recoverable amount,
which represents the present value of the flows of cash estimated of the use of
an assets and its withdrawal at the end of its useful life, using on December 31,
2006 a discount rate of 10.5, which the Management thinks reflects the awaited
profitability of the assets. On December 31, 2006, the estimated ones include
the analysis of the effects of the climatological conditions that could affect the
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Company’s operations. The recoverable values are estimated for all the fixed
assets of the Company. Considering the estimated one of the recoverable
value of the fixed assets on December 31, 2006, the Management of the
Company considers that the current conditions do not justify making a provision
for deterioration for its intangible assets.

10 LINKED COMPANIES
On December 31, 2006 and 2005 the balance of accounts payable to linked
companies is as follows:

Empresa Pesquera San Fermin S.A.
Pesquera Marta de Jesus S.A.
Pesquera Esciron S.A.
Pesquera San Vicente S.A.C.

2006

2005

S/.

S/.
1,129,607
453,743
72,762
1,65,112

1,762,693
37,267
453,743
72,762
2,326,465

The balance for not commercial accounts payable is related principally to
disbursements that are made by the companies linked at the expense of the
Company to cover its needs of the capital of work, which are paid principally by
the product of the sales.
The accounts payable with linked companies are of current maturity, do not
have specific guarantees and do not earn interests.
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The following transactions were carried out by linked companies:
2006
S/.
i)
ii)

Fish Sale –
Empresa Pesquera San Fermin S.A.

7.285.924

638,375

1,066,161

74,217

896,262

Other services sale
Empresa Pesquera San Fermin S.A.

11

5.623.317

Purchase of maintenance services, fuel and others
Empresa Pesquera San Fermin S.A.

iii)

2005
S/.

OTHER ACCOUNTS TO PAY
At December 31 , this heading includes
2006
S/.
Taxes to pay
Salaries and participations to pay
Other accounts to pay

12

2005
S/.

316,67
378,09
315,28
1,010,054

76,204
692,128
39,687
808,019

INCOME TAXES AND PARTICIPATION OF WORKERS DEFERRED

On December 31 the income tax and participation of the deferred workers
resultant from the application of the corresponding rates to the temporary
differences, is discriminated as continues:
2006
S/.
Workers Participation (10%)
Income Tax (30%)

218,019
588,650
806,669

2005
S/.
252,959
682,992
935,951

The movement of the income tax and deferred workers participation by the
finished year on December 31, 2006 is the following:
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Initial
Balance

Result of
Balance
exercise

S/.

S/.

Income tax and participation of workers
deferred by:
Provision for not paid vacations
(935,951)
Revaluation of fixes assets
( 935,951)

9,769
217,501
227,270

Patrimony

Final
.

S/.

S/.

9,769
(
(

97,988)
97,988)

(816,438)
(806,669)

The movement that presents in the column of patrimony relates to the charge
carried out to accumulated results by the effect of the income tax deferred by
the reversion of the licenses of fishing depreciation of 2005.
The effect in results of years 2006 and 2005 for income tax and participation of
deferred workers is as continues:
2006
S/.

Workers participation (Note 14)
Income Tax (Note 14)

13

61,425
165,845
227,270

2005
S/.

85,267
230,221
315,488

NET PATRIMONY

a) The capitalThe capital of the Company on December 31, 2006 and 2005 is represented by
500,491 and 2,925,077 common shares of a nominal value of S/.1 each one,
respectively, which are emitted entirely and paid.
By a Shareholders’ General Meeting dated November 2, 2006 it was agreed to
capitalize the re expression of the capital of 2004 of S/.234,571 increasing the
social capital of the Company from S/.2,925,077 to S/.3,159,648. Likewise, in
the above mentioned Meeting it was agreed to reduce the social capital of the
Company in S/.2,659,157 by means of an split of a patrimonial block constituted
by the shares of Empresa Pesquera San Fermin S.A. (Note 7).
On December 31, 2006, the corporative structure of the Company is the
following one:
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Participation percentage
individual of the capital

Number of
Total Percentage
shareholders of participation

Until 1
From 90.01 to 100

1
1
2

00.01
99.99
100.00

a) Legal Reserve According to the General Business Corporation Law, it is needed to constitute
one legal reserve with the transfer of not less than 10 % of the net annual profit
up to reach 20 % of the full capital. In absence of not distributed profits or free
disposition reserves, the legal reserve could be applied to the compensation of
losses must be recovered with the profits of posterior exercises.
The legal reserve removed of years 2005 and 2004 profits was accounted on
2006 and was approved by the Shareholders' General Meeting of November 2,
2006.
c) Accumulated resultsThe dividends in favor of shareholders different from domiciled legal entities are
affected to the rate of 4.1 % for concept of income tax in charge of these
shareholders. The above mentioned tax must be retained and liquidated for the
Company.
In 2006 the accumulated results include an adjustment of S/.237,447, net of its
corresponding effect for income tax deferred of S/.97,988, for the elimination of
the amortization of 2005 of the licenses of fishing (Note 2 -a).
In Shareholders' General Meeting dated November 2, 2006 it was agreed the
distribution of dividends of 2005 until the amount of S/. 3,087,117. Likewise, in
the above mentioned Meeting it was agreed to apply the amount of
S/.3,087,116 against the lending that the shareholder owes to the Company.
In Shareholders' General Meeting dated December 28, 2006 it was agreed the
early distribution of dividends of the profits of 2006 for S/. 1,143,917. From this
amount it was agreed to apply the amount of S/.682,892 against the lending
that the shareholder owes to the Company.
.

14

TRIBUTARY SITUATION

a) The Management considers that it has determined the taxable matter under
the general regime of the income tax according with the in force tributary
legislation, the same that requires to add and deduct to the result showed in
the financial statements, those entries that the above-mentioned legislation
recognizes like taxable and not taxable, respectively.
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The taxable matter has been determined as follows:

Profits before the workers participation and
Income tax

2006

2005

S/.

S/.
3,029,688

1,949,216

Plus (minus) attached and deductions:
Depreciation de revaluation
Other expenses not deductible
Other
Taxable income to the participation of workers
Workers participation (10%)
Participation of workers
taxable income to the income tax
Income tax (30%)

587,840
629,511
(1,250,064)
1,916,503
( 191,650)
1,724,853
191,650
1,916,503
574,951

852,672
719,844
(1,292,245)
3,309,959
(330,996)
2,978,963
330,996
3,309,959
992,988

b) The Tributary Administration has the power to check and, to be the case, to
correct the Income Tax determined by the Company in the last four years,
counted from January 1 of the next year of the presentation of the affidavit of
the corresponding tax (years subject to taxation). The years 2002 to 2006 are
subject to taxation. Due to the fact that differences can arise in the interpretation
on the part of the Tributary Administration on The procedure applicable to the
Company, it is not possible to anticipate to the date if it will produce additional
tributary liabilities as result of eventual reviews. Any additional tax, defaults and
interests, if they take place, are recognized in the results of the year in that the
difference of criteria with the Tributary Administration is solved. The
Management estimates that not issue liabilities of importance like result of these
possible reviews.
15

SALE COSTS

The sale costs for years finished on December 31, contains:

Raw materials and components consumption
Direct Labor force
Depreciation
Insurances
Other costs of manufacturing

122

2006
S/.

2005
S/.

890,431
1,300,682
993,592
201,630
403,755

1,369,166
1,975,689
1,266,845
370,265
615,306

3,790,090

5,588,271

16

ADMINISTRATION COSTS

Administrative costs for the years ended on December 31, contains:
2006
S/.
Personnel Costs
Compensation pay to Directory
Other Administrative Cost

17

459,499
220,000
145,667
825,166

2005
S/.
220,000
111,640
331,640

MAINTENANCE COSTS

The maintenance expenses for the years ended on December 31, contains:
2006
S/.
Hulls
Propulsion system
Nets
Deck
Other maintenance expenses

608,314
98,872
125,659
43,016
52,816
928,677
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2005
S/.
615,599
100,056
127,164
43,531
53,449
939,799
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M. SUAREZ &
ASOCIADOS S.C.
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS – CONSULTANTS
P.O. Box 14-0410 Lima – Peru Telephone: 435-9000 – Fax: 437-4973

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

April 27, 2007
To the shareholders and directors of Corporación Fish Protein S.A.
We have audited the enclosed balance sheet of Corporación Fish Protein S.A. as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related statements of Income, Changes in the
Net Worth and Cash Flows for the years ended as of such dates. The Company’s
Management is responsible for preparing such financial statements. Our responsibility
involves issuing an opinion on such financial statements based on the audit made.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the generally accepted auditing standards
in Peru. Those standards require that we plan and perform our work in order to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of any material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and the disclosures presented in the financial statements. An audit also
includes the evaluation of the accounting principles applied and the significant
estimates made by the Company’s Management, as well as an evaluation of the
general presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the above-mentioned financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial situation of Corporación Fish Protein S.A. as of December 31,
2006 and 2005, the results of its operations and the cash flows for the years ended as
of such dates, according to the generally accepted accounting principles in Peru.
M. Suárez y Asoc.
Countersigned by:
(illegible signature)
Miguel Suárez S. (partner)
Certified Public Accountant
Registration Nº 953
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5
6
7
8

Trade accounts receivable, net

Other accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses

92,803

23,457

Buildings, machinery and equipment - net

Total assets

69,346

193

33,734

27,923

6,086

1,410

Events subsequent to the balance sheet

-2-

74,066 Total liabilities and net worth

17
18

Contingency

92,803

32,106

Total net worth

2,924
13,682

15

15,500

3,988

3,391

597

56,709

4,836

8,022

16,676

27,175

2006

Accumulated results

Legal reserve

14

13

15

Net worth

Total liabilities

profit-sharing

Deferred liabilities for income tax and workers’

Long-term debts

13

12

11

10

NOTE

23,418 Share capital

50,648

107

36,312 Total current liabilities

12,665 Current portion of long-term debts

83 Other accounts payable

Accounts payable

1,481 Bank loan

Current liabilities

2005 Liabilities and net worth

(Stated in Thousands of Nuevos Soles)
2006

Total current assets

9

4

NOTE

Cash and banks

Current assets

Assets

Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005

74,066

34,757

16,333

2,924

15,500

39,309

1,253

2,968

35,088

5,981

7,558

5,825

15,724

2005

Corporación Fish Protein S.A.
Income statement
For the years ended as of December 31, 2006 and 2005
(Stated in Thousands of Nuevos Soles)
2006

2005

Net Sales
Cost of sales
Profit

133,993
(90,598)
43,395

142,973
(102,118)
40,855

Operating expenses:
Maintenance and repairs
General and administrative expenses
Sales expenses
Total operating expenses

(11,025)
(6,052)
(4,593)
(21,670)

(10,463)
(6,074)
(5,483)
(22,020)

21,725

18,835

(273)
345

(137)
(16)

Profit before profit-sharing and Income Tax

21,797

18,682

Workers’ Profit-Sharing
Income Tax

(2,193)
(5,922)

(1,986)
(5,359)

Year’s profit

13,682

11,337

Operating profit
Other (expenses) income, net
Financial
Others

The accompanying notes are part of the financial statements
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Corporación Fish Protein S.A.
Statement of changes in the net worth
For the years ended as of December 31, 2006 and 2005
(Stated in Thousands of Nuevos Soles)
Share
capital

Balances as of January 1, 2005

15,500

Legal
reserve

2,924

Dividend distribution
Adjustment for income tax and
workers’ profit-sharing
Others
Year’s profit

Balances as of December 31, 2005

15,500

2,924

Dividend distribution
Year’s profit

Balances as of December 31, 2006

15,500

2,924

Accumulated
Results

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

17,972

36,396

(12,910)
(793)

(12,910)
(793)

727

727

11,337

11,337

16,333

34,757

(16,333)

(16,333)

13,682

13,682

13,682

32,106

The accompanying notes are part of the financial statements
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Corporación Fish Protein S.A.
Cash flow statement
For the years ended as of December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Stated in Thousands of Nuevos Soles)
2006

2005

Collection from Clients
Other collections related to the activity
Payment to suppliers and others
Payment of remunerations and social benefits
Payment of taxes and contributions

128,435
18,945
(120,692)
(3,272)
(5,250)

143,076
22,483
(139,928)
(4,429)
(1,027)

Increased cash and cash equivalents resulting
from operating activities

18,166

20,175

Purchase of fixed assets

(447)

(9,333)

(Reduction) of cash and cash equivalents resulting
from investing activities

(447)

(9,333)

Financial sector loans
Loan amortization and current account advances
Dividend distribution and payment

27,175
(15,724)
(29,241)

15,724
(13,132)
(12,911)

(Reduction) of cash and cash equivalents resulting
from financing activities

(17,790)

(10,319)

(71)

523

OPENING CASH BALANCE

1,481

958

CLOSING CASH BALANCE

1,410

1,481

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET (REDUCTION) INCREASE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
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Corporación Fish Protein S.A.
Cash flow statement (continued)

2006

2005

13,682

11,337

4,715

4,301

166

215

2,139

1,251

(21,261)
2,578
(86)

(4,472)
(938)
--

Increase (reduction) of liabilities
Trade accounts payable and others, net

16,233

8,481

INCREASE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RESULTING FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

18,166

20,175

RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT TO CASH INFLOW
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Year’s net profit
Plus:
Depreciation of buildings, machinery and equipment
Provision for compensation for time of services
Deferred income tax and workers’ profit-sharing
NET VARIATIONS IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACCOUNTS

(Reduction) increase of assets
Accounts receivable and others
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

The accompanying notes are part of the financial statements
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Corporación Fish Protein S.A.
Notes to the financial statements
For the years ended as of December 31, 2006 and 2005

1. Economic Activity
Corporación Fish Protein S.A. is chiefly engaged in the industrial processing of
hydrobiological products, particularly fish meal and oil, and their marketing in the
foreign market. To that end, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company
owns a plant located in the city of Chimbote, Ancash Region.
The Company’s legal domicile is Calle El Milagro w/n Zona Industrial – 27 de
Octubre, District of Chimbote, Province of del Santa, Department of Ancash. At the
closing of 2005, the Company had 103 workers, and at the closing of 2006, such
number decreased to 98.
The Company’s activities are regulated by provisions given by the Ministry of
Production, which establishes during the year bans to the extraction and
transformation of massive resources for preserving the biomass. During 2005 and
2006, the bans ordered against the extraction of anchoveta added up to 269 and
316 days, respectively.
The financial statements of the year 2005 were approved at the Annual Mandatory
General Shareholders’ Meeting dated March 24, 2006. The 2006 financial
statements are subject to the final approval of the General Shareholders’ Meeting
to be held during the first quarter of 2007. The Company’s Management believes
that the 2006 financial statements will be approved by the board of directors and
the shareholders without changes.

2. Accounting Principles and Practices
The financial statements are prepared according to the legal provisions in force
applicable to the Company, as well as the Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles in Peru. The accounting principles comprise the International Accounting
Standards made official by the CNC as of December 31, 2006. The standards
made official are IAS 1 to 41 and IFRS 1 to 6.
a) Accounting estimates for preparing financial statements.The financial statements are prepared by following accounting principles,
and using certain accounting estimates, considering the accounting policies
applied by Management to the Company’s development.
b) Transactions in foreign currency.Foreign currency transactions are registered in local currency by applying
the exchange rates in force on the date of the transaction. The exchange
differences are generated between the closing exchange rate and the one
initially registered. They are recognized in the income statement of the
period in which the difference is generated.
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c) Cash availability.The cash shown in the cash flow statement includes the cash and banks
balance to be applied to the payment of obligations after the closing of the
financial statements.
d) Provision for doubtful accounts.It is determined by Management and charged as an expense in the year in
which the need for such provision is determined based on an individual
evaluation of the accounts receivable.
e) Buildings, machinery and equipment.Buildings, machinery and equipment are shown net of the accumulated
depreciation. The cost includes revaluations. This item includes the cost of
goods acquired under leasing contracts.
The depreciation has been calculated by using the straight-line method at
rates deemed sufficient to absorb the costs at the end of the assets’
estimated useful life. The maintenance and repair expenses are charged to
the results of the year in which they are incurred and the renewals and
improvements are charged to assets.
The Company recognizes leasing contracts as assets and liabilities in an
amount equal to the value of the assets leased. The amortization leads to
the reduction of the liabilities and the increase of the financial charges
(referred to the interest on the balance of the liabilities incurred). Their
depreciation follows the policy the Company has in place for other assets
subject to depreciation.
f)

Provision for compensation for time of services.This provision is calculated according to the labor laws in force and is
registered as an expense upon its accrual.

g) Income recognition.The sales are recognized net of the sales tax and discounts when the
products are delivered and billed to the clients and all their relevant risks
and benefits have been transferred.
h) Cost and expense recognition.The costs and expenses are registered in the periods to which they are
related as they are accrued.
i)

Financial instruments.Financial instruments are classified as part of the Assets, Liabilities or
Equity pursuant to the nature of the contractual agreement that originated
them. The interest, income and losses generated by a financial instrument
classified as liabilities are registered as expenses or income in the income
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statement as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. Management believes that
the balances shown by the financial statements referred to banks, accounts
receivable and loans, among others, do not reasonably differ from their fair
values.
j)

Contingencies.Contingent obligations are registered in the financial statements when it is
likely that they will arise in time and may be quantified. Otherwise, this item
is only disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

k) Income tax and workers’ profit-sharing.The expense resulting from the income tax and the workers’ profit-sharing is
calculated and registered according to the laws in force by following the
liability method. The Company recognizes the effects of the temporary
differences between the accounting and tax bases, thus generating deferred
items.

3. Basis for Foreign Currency Translation
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company held the following assets and
liabilities in United States Dollars.
2006

2005

1,963

143

Liabilities

(6,914)

(8,065)

Exchange risk

(4,951)

(7,922)

(15,827)

(27,182)

Assets

Equivalent in Nuevos Soles

The free market average exchange rates for transactions in United States dollars
were S/. 3.194 for purchasing foreign currency and S/. 3.197 for selling foreign
currency (3.429 “buy” and 3.431 “sell” as of December 31, 2005).
On the other hand, Management has decided to assume the exchange risk
generating this provision. Therefore, no coverage transactions with financial
instruments are executed.
As of December 31, 2006, the Company registered an exchange gain for S/. (000)
2,439 approximately, shown in the “other income (expenses), net” item of the
income statement.
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4. Cash and Banks
This item includes:

Fixed fund
Banks

2006

2005

4
1,406
1,410

4
1,477
1,481

2006

2005

6,086

83

6,086

83

2006

2005

23
3,916
9,070
14,889
25
27,923

398
4,569
7,684
-14
12,665

2006

2005

31,793
132
1,809
33,734

33,600
297
2,415
36,312

5. Accounts Receivable
This item includes:

Trade accounts receivable

6. Other Accounts Receivable
This item includes:

Advance payments to suppliers
Income Tax Prepayments
General Sales Tax Credit
Dividend advances
Others

7. Inventories
This item includes:

Fish meal
Fish oil
Spare parts, supplies and fuel
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As of December 31, 2006, the Company maintains an insurance on inventories for
US$ (000) 10,000. The insurance policies for US$ (000) 5,540 have been
endorsed to Banco de Crédito.

8. Prepaid Expenses
This item includes:

Insurance premiums
Others

2006

2005

104
89
193

98
9
107

9. Buildings, Machinery and Equipment
This item includes:
Cost
2006

Accumulated Depreciation
2005

2006

2005

Land

3,450

3,450

Buildings 3%

8,587

8,587

2,250

50,332

45,834

1,805

1,805

466

224

Factory machinery and equipment
20% and 50%
Dock machinery and equipment 20%
Vehicles 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10%
Office equipment 20%

Total

Net
2006

2005

3,450

3,450

1,992

6,337

6,595

37,518

33,142

12,814

12,692

1,282

1,290

523

515

196

129

270

95

95

80

64

56

31

24

255

249

223

202

32

47

64,990

50,229

41,533

36,811

23,457

23,418

According to the policy established by Management, as of December 31, 2006, the
Company has insured its fixed assets up to for US$ (000) 18,585. Management
believes that the insurance policies that provide coverage against the risks of its main
fixed assets follow the regular practices in the fishing industry. On the other hand, the
insurance policies of these assets for US$ (000) 3,445 have been endorsed in favor of
Banco de Crédito del Perú and Crédito Leasing S.A. The fixed assets acquired under
leasing amount to US$ (000) 1,770.
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10. Bank Loan
This item includes:

Banco de Crédito del Perú

2006

2005

27,175

15,724

27,175

15,724

The bank loans refer to short-term financing in foreign currency for working capital.
They are guaranteed (notes 7 and 9 to the financial statements), have current
maturities and accrue interests at market rates.

11. Trade Accounts Payable
This item includes:

Trade accounts payable
Related

2006

2005

1,416
15,260
16,676

3,989
1,836
5,825

This item refers to balances with local and foreign suppliers resulting from the
acquisition of certain goods and services aimed at developing the Company’s
operations. These obligations are incurred in local and foreign currency and
have a current maturity.

12. Other Accounts Payable
This item includes:

Taxes and social contributions
Remunerations and interests payable
Others
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2006

2005

4,511
3,507
4
8,022

4,553
3,005
-7,558

13. Long-Term Debt
This item includes:

Leasing in bimonthly and quarterly
installments with maturity dates up to
the year 2009 and an annual interest
rate LIBOR plus 3%.
(Less)
Current portion of long-term debt

Long-term debt

2006

2005

5,433

8,949

(4,836)

(5,981)

597

2,968

2006

2005

2,475
916

914
339

3,391

1,253

14. Deferred Income Tax and Workers’ Profit-Sharing
This item includes:

Income tax
Workers’ profit-sharing

The deferred income tax and workers’ profit-sharing have been calculated
based on all temporary differences between the accounting and tax bases of
assets and liabilities.

15. Net Worth
Share Capital
As of December 31, 2006, the share capital is represented by 12,198,507 common
shares, fully subscribed and paid-in, each share having a nominal value equal to
one Nuevo Sol. Such shares are owned by local and foreign investors. As of
December 31, 2006, the Company may issue 3,301,492 shares as a result of
capital restatement.
Legal Reserve
The General Business Corporations Law requires that a minimum 10% of the profit
subject to distribution of each year, after income tax, be transferred to a legal
reserve until that sum is equal to 20% of the share capital. The legal reserve may
set-off losses or be capitalized, and in both cases it should be repaid.
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16. Tax Situation
a)

For tax purposes, the Company abides by the tax regulations in force in Peru.
The income tax rate is 30% applicable on the taxable profit. In addition, nonresident legal entities and individuals must pay an additional tax of 4.1% on
the dividends earned.

b)

The income tax returns filed by the Company from 2002 to 2006 inclusive, are
pending review by the tax authorities.
The Management of Corporación Fish Protein S.A. and its advisors believe
that, as a result of such review, there will be no significant liabilities affecting
the financial statements as of December 31, 2006.

c)

In order to calculate the income tax and the general sales tax, the transfer
prices of transactions with financially-related companies and companies
resident in territories with low or nil taxation must be supported by
documentation and information on the valuation methods used and the criteria
considered for calculating them. Companies are not required to have a
Technical Study for the years 2006 and 2007 according to S.R. Nº 0132007/SUNAT.

d)

The Temporary Net Asset Tax as from 2007 has been fixed at 0.5% to be
applied on the excess of S/. 1,000,000 based on the Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2006, and is to be paid in nine monthly successive
installments. The amount paid may be used as a prepayment of the 2007
Income Tax.
The Balance of the Temporary Net Asset Tax not applied as a credit against
the pre- and/or regularization payments of the 2006 Income Tax may not be
applied against future Income Tax payments. In the event of refund, this right
may only be enforced by filing the Annual Income Tax Return.

e)

In addition, an Income Tax withholding rate of 15% is applied to the technical
assistance provided by non-resident entities, regardless of the place where
the service is provided as long as the requirements indicated in the Income
Tax Law are met.

f)

The Financial Transactions Tax (acronym in Spanish: ITF) rate for the years
2006 and 2007 has been fixed at 0.08% and is applied to each deposit and
withdrawal made from a bank account, unless the same is exempted.

g)

The regulations in force suspended the application of the adjustment for
inflation for accounting and tax purposes as from the year 2005.

17. Contingencies
As of December 31, 2006, the Company is involved in several labor and
contentious-administrative proceedings with the fishing sector. In the opinion of
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Management and its legal advisors, such proceedings will not result in significant
liabilities for the Company.

18. Commitments
As of December 31, 2006, the Company’s own obligations were guaranteed by:
a. Letter of Guarantee Nº D 310-57427, in favor of the National Superintendence
of Tax Administration (SUNAT), in the amount of US$ 16,200.00, expiring on
January 22, 2007.
b. Letter of Guarantee Nº D 310-57877, in favor of the National Superintendence
of Tax Administration (SUNAT), in the amount of US$ 15,650.00, expiring on
April 26, 2007.
c. Letter of Guarantee Nº D 310-59636, in favor of the National Superintendence
of Tax Administration (SUNAT), in the amount of US$ 15,200.00, expiring on
November 21, 2007.
The letters of guarantee serve as collateral for tax debts resulting from the
Temporary Administration Regime.
19. Events Subsequent to the Balance Sheet
On January 1, 2007, the project regarding the Merger by Absorption of Pesquera
Galeb S.A. by Corporación Fish Protein S.A. came into force. This merger was
approved by General Shareholders’ Meeting held on November 9, 2006, and under
such merger Corporación Fish Protein S.A. is to absorb the equity of Pesquera
Galeb S.A., a corporation that will be dissolved but not wound-up.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

April 04 2007

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND DIRECTORS OF CORPORACION PESQUERA RIBAR
S.A.

Dear Sirs,

We have audited the enclosed Balance Sheet of Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A. as of
December 31st, 2006 and 2005, and the pertaining statements of incomes, statements in
changes in Net equity and cash flow for the years then ended. The preparation of these
financial statements is the responsibility of the Company Management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Peru.
According to such standards, we should plan and execute our work in order to obtain
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of significant errors. An audit
includes examining on a selective basis the evidence supporting the amounts and
information disclosed in the financial statements. An audit also includes the assessment of
the accounting principles used and the significant estimates made by the Company
Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We deem that our audit provides a reasonable basis to support our opinion. In our opinion,
the above mentioned financial statements present in all significant aspects, a reasonable
financial situation of Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A. as of December 31st , 2003, and
the results of its operations for the years then ended, pursuant to the auditing principles
generally accepted in Peru.

Countersigned by:

(Illegible Signature)

(Illegible signature)

Miguel Suárez S. (partner)
Registered Certified public accountant
Professional License N°953

143

Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A.
Income Statement
For the years ended on December 31st 2006 and 2005
(Expressed in thousand nuevos soles)

2,006

2,005

71,169

63,411

(58,540)

(58,182)

12,629

9,229

(8,467)

(5,955)

Sales costs

(illegible)

(84)

Total operating
expenses

(illegible)

(6,039)

Operating profit

(illegible)

3,190

Financial expenses
(net)

(illegible)

(672)

Other income (net)

(illegible)

848

(491)

176

NOTE
Net Sales
Sales costs

17

Gross profit

Operating expenses

General and
administrative

18

Other income
(expenses)

144

Profit before shares
And income tax

3,509

3,366

Current workers’
sharing

(932)

(872)

(2,515)

(2,353)

Current income tax
Differed workers’
sharing

15

78

Differed income tax

15

209

Profit of the year

349

The notes herein are part of the financial statements
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Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A.
Statement in Changes in Net Equity
For the years ended on December 31st 2006 and 2005
(Expressed in thousand nuevos soles)
Share capital

Balance as of January
1st 2005

Legal Reserve

70,814

1,545

Cumulative
Results

Total

(21,694)

50,665

2,028

2,028

Adjustment of the
cumulative
depreciation and
income tax and differed
workers’ sharing
Profit of the year

141

Balances as of
December 31st 2005

70,814

(illegible)

Equity adjustment on
investments and others

(illegible)

52,834

(illegible)

(35)

349

349

(19,211)

53,148

Profit of the year
Balances as of
December 31st 2006

70,814

1,545

The notes herein are part of the financial statements
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Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A.
Cash Flow Statement
For the years ended on December 31st 2006 and 2005
(Expressed in thousand nuevos soles)

2,006

2,005

71,066

79,117

2,961

3,950

Payment to suppliers and others

(47,591)

(31,693)

Payment of salaries and social
benefits

(9,068)

(13,129)

Payment of taxes and contributions

(9,127)

(12,083)

8,241

26,162

Purchase of real properties,
machinery and equipment

(3,974)

(3,600)

(Decrease ) of cash and cash
equivalent from investment activities

(3,974)

(3,600)

OPERATION ACTIVITIES

Collection to clients
Other collections related to the activity

Increase of cash and cash equivalent,
from operation activities

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
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Loan of related companies

1,183

Loan of finance system

6,818

Depreciation and payment of loans

(illegible)

(35,544)

(Decrease ) of cash and cash
equivalent from financing activities

(5,953)

(28,726)

NET (DECREASE) OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENT

(1,686)

(6,164)

2,224

8,388

538

2,224

349

(illegible)

11,933

12,844

Severance

1,203

(illegible)

Diverse provisions

(179)

(360)

286

(2,295)

CASH BALANCE AND CASH
EQUIVALENT AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE FISCAL YEAR
CASH BALANCE AND CASH
EQUIVALENT AT THE END OF THE
FISCAL YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF CASH NET
PROFIT WITH NET CASH FROM
OPERATION ACTIVITIES

Net profit of the year

More:

Depreciation

Income Tax and Differed workers’
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sharing
Others

29

(16)

(illegible)

(4,966)

593

1,520

(139)

(34)

Commercial accounts payable

2,647

19,823

Other accounts payable

6,763

(1,675)

INCREASE OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENT FROM OPERATION
ACTIVITIES

8,241

26,162

CHARGES AND PAYMENTS FOR
NET CHANGES IN ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES
(Increase) Decrease in assets
Accounts receivable and others
Stock
Expenses paid in advance
Increase (Decrease) in liabilities:

The notes herein are part of the financial statements
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Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Fort the years ended as of December 31st 2006 and 2005

1. Economic Activity
a) Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A. mainly devotes to the capture of
hydrobiological species and their trading in the domestic market. To do so,
the company has a facility located at the city of Chimbote, Region of
Ancash, and 12 shipping vessels, which get anchovy for human
consumption, except two vessels which are not working.
The legal address of the company is Av. Los Pescadores N° 596 Zona
Industrial – 27 de Octubre – District of Chimbote, Province of Santa,
Department of Ancash, being the number of their workers 293 as of the end
of 2005 and 335 as of the end of 2006.
The activities of the company are governed by dispositions stipulated by the
Ministry of Production, which establishes during the year fishing seasons in
the extraction and transformation of massive resources to preserve the
biomass. During 2005 and 2006, the fishing seasons established for the
extraction of anchovy.

The financial statements of 2005 were approved by the Mandatory General
Shareholders Annual Meeting dated March 4 2006. The financial statements
of 2006 are subjected to the final approval of the General Shareholders
Meeting to take place during the first quarter of 2007. According to the
Company Management the financial statements of 2006 will be approved by
the Board and the shareholders without modifications.
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2. Accounting policies and principles
These financial statements are prepared according to the legal provisions in force and the
accounting principles generally accepted in Peru. The accounting principles mainly
encompass International Accountancy Standards (IAS) formally issued by Accounting
Standards Committee.
Accounting Standards Committee has official recognized the application as of December
31st 2006, being IAS from 1 to 41 in force, and the Resolutions 1 to 6.
a) The financial statements preparation requires to be carried pursuant to the
accounting principles as well as the use of certain accounting estimations, wherein
the management exercises the application of accounting policies, to be applied in
the development of the company.
b) Foreign currency operation.Transactions in foreign currency are registered in domestic currency applying the
exchange rates of the day of transaction. The exchange differences that are
generated between the closing exchange rate and the one initially registered are
acknowledged in the income statement of the period wherein it is generated.
c) Cash availability
The cash shown in the cash flow statement includes the balance of cash and banks
that will be applied for the payment of liabilities after the finance statements closing.
d) Allowances for doubtful collection.It is determined by the Management and charged as expenditures in the fiscal
year, wherein the necessity of such a provision is determined on the basis of an
individual basis of the accounts receivable.
e) Real property, machinery and equipment.Real property, machinery and equipment are shown net from the cumulative
depreciation, the cost includes revaluations. This cost includes the cost of the
goods acquired under capital leases agreements.
Depreciation has been calculated through the straight-line method on rates which
are enough estimated to absorb the costs at the end of their estimated useful life.
The maintenance and repair expenses are charged to the results from the exercise
wherein they incur and the improvement and renovations are activated.
f) Financial Instruments.-
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The financial instruments are classified into assets, liabilities, or capital according
to the nature of the contractual agreement that created them. Interests, profits and
losses generated by a financial instrument, classified as liabilities, are registered as
expenses or income in the income statement as of December 31st 2006 and 2005
according to the Management, the balances shown by the financial statements
referred to banks, accounts receivable, loans, etc. do not differ reasonably from
their market values.

g) Acknowledgment of Income.Sales are acknowledged net from sales taxes and discounts, when the goods are
delivered and invoiced to the customers, and all their risks and benefits have been
transferred.

h) Acknowledgment of Costs and expenses .Costs and expenses are registered in the periods with which they are related as
long as accrued.

i)

Contingencies.Contingent liabilities are registered in the financial statements when it is considered
that probably they arise in time and can be quantified; if not, it is only disclosed in
notes to the financial statements.

j)

Income tax and workers’ sharing.The expense for income tax and the workers’ sharing is calculated and accounted
according to the legislation in force following the liabilities method. The Company
acknowledges the effects of the temporary differences between accounting and tax
basis, originating differed items.

k) Comparability of financial statements.Determined amounts of the Balance Sheet and other 2005 financial statements
have been reclassified with the purpose of make them comparable to the current
fiscal year.
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l)

Severance provision.It is determined according to the labor legislation in force and is accounted as
expense when accrued.

3. Basis for Foreign Exchange Currency
As of December 2006 and 2005, the Company has the following assets and liabilities
in American dollars.

2006

Assets

2005

5,074

796

(2,640)

(3,070)

Exchange Risk

2,434

(2,274)

Equivalent in nuevos soles

7,781

(7,802)

Liabilities

The average exchange rates of the open market for transactions in American dollars
were S/. 3.194 for buying and S/. 3.197 for selling (3.429, buying and 3.431 for selling
as of December 31st 2005). As of December 31st 2006, the management has decided
to run the risk of exchange generated by this provision, thus coverage operations are
not carried out with financial instruments.

4. Cash and Banks
It comprises the following:
2006

Fixed Fund
Banks

153

2005

14

14

524

2,210

538

2,224

5. Accounts Receivable
It comprises the following:
2006

Commercial
Related

2005

11

6

15,303

1,703

15,314

1,709

6. Other Accounts Receivable
It comprises the following:

2006

Advance Payment to the suppliers

2005

1,761

717

Loans to personnel

790

462

Payment in advance of income tax

428

712

40

62

736

63

3,755

2,016

Claim to third parties
Other Assorted Accounts Receivable

7. Stocks
It comprises the following:
2006

Supplies, accessories and assorted
supplies

154

4,725

2005

5,293

Fuel and lubricants

113

138

4,838

5,431

8. Expenses paid in advance
It comprises the following:
2005

2006

Insurances paid in advance
Assorted expenses

1,690

1,640

229

140

1,919

1,780

According to the policy established by the Management, the Company as of December
31st 2006, maintains insurances on its fixed assets up to the amount of US$ (000) 44,00
(US$ (000) 30,230 in 2005). As per the Management’s opinion, the insurances covering
the risks of its main fixed assets follows what is styled on fishing industry. On the contrary,
insurance policy for US$(000) 21,974 (US$1,000), 9,846 in 2005) have been endorsed to
the Banco de Crédito del Perú and Crédito Leasing S.A.

9. Real property, machinery and equipment
It comprises the following:
Cost

Cumulative Depreciation

Lands 3%

2,067

1,175

Buildings

4,603

3,202

775

135,235

133,346

Vehicles 25%

(illegible)

Furniture 10%

454

Fishing Ships and
Equipment 10, 25
and 50%

Net

2,067

,175

675

3,828

2,527

97,386

85,801

37,849

47,545

1,903

1816

1,674

527

229

147

107

89

347

58

155

Assorted equipment

1,047

991

Works
under
development

52

497

605

516

442

475

52

1,497

Warranting operations with the financial sector, the company has constituted
navy mortgage to determined fishing ships for US$ (000) 6’660.

10. Other Assets

It comprises the following:
2006

Concession (Fishing License)
Investments in related companies

2005

-

1,054

286

318

286

1,372

11. Bank Overdraft

It comprises the following:
2006

Banco de Crédito del Perú

156

2005

256

6,862

256

6,852

12. Loan to Related Company
It corresponds to the loan given by Fish Corn S.A. without interests for working
capital S/. (illegible).

13. Commercial Accounts Payable
It comprises the following:
2006

Invoices
Invoices to receive

2005

7,540

2,973

154

891

7,694

3,864

It corresponds to balances with local and foreign suppliers for the acquisition of
goods and services determined for the development of the company
operations. These liabilities are obtained in local and foreign currency with
current due date.

14. Other Accounts Payable

It comprises the following:

2006

2005

Taxes and social contributions

4,850

665

Salaries and shares to pay

1,864

678

758

549

Others

7,472

157

1,892

15. Income Tax and Differed Workers’ Share
The company applied the liabilities method according to the modified
International Accounting Standard N° 12. The items from liabilities which
originated the differed income and differed liabilities workers’ share are as
follows:

Refer to table in the original document in Spanish.

A) Fishing ships and Equipment (Ribar IX) Leasing (illegible chart)
B) The Equity application based on the years wherein the depreciation of fixed
assets is pending (8 years). (illegible chart)

16. Net Equity
Share capital
As of December 31st 2006, the share capital is represented by 66,482,470
common shares; integrally subscribed and paid, whose nominal value is one
Nuevo Sol per share, which are property of the domestic and foreign investors.
As of December 31st 2006, the company can issue 4,302,768 shares for the
capital restatement effect.

Legal Reserve
As established by the Corporations General Act, a minimum of 10 percent of
the distributable utility of each fiscal year is required, deducing the income tax,
it is transferred to a legal reserve until this is equal to 20 percent of the share
capital. The legal reserve can compensate losses which can be capitalized,
existing in both cases the obligation to replace it.

17. Sales Cost
It comprises the following:
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2006

2005

Labor force

16,729

16,672

Fuel, lubricants and inputs

10,503

9,965

Depreciation

11,470

12,385

13,343

11,991

Insurances

1,612

1,586

Assorted services

3,692

-

Others

1,191

1,583

58,540

54,182

2006

2005

Staff costs

3,029

2,871

Services provided by third parties

1,433

1,189

Taxes

217

223

Stationary

167

43

Communications

160

153

Depreciations

463

365

Repair and maintenance of
Ships, fishing nets, etc.

18. Administrative Expenses

It comprises the following:
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Assorted items

2,998

1,111

8,467

5,955

19. Tax Situation
a) The company, for tax effects, is adapted to fiscal standards in force in the
country. The income tax rate is 30% on the taxable income. In addition the
legal entities non residents and individuals should pay an additional tax of
4.1 % on the dividends obtained.
b) The income tax return submitted by the company from 2002 to 2006
inclusive, are still pending of revision by the fiscal authorities.
c) To determine the income tax and the general sales tax, the transference
prices of the transactions with related companies and companies residents
of low or null imposition, should be supported by documents and information
concerning the valuation methods and the considered criteria for their
determination. For 2006 and 2007, they are not considering the Technical
Study, according to the R.S. N° 013-2007/SUNAT.
d) The Temporary tax on Net Assets since 2007, has been fixed in 0.5% over
the surplus of S/. 1’000,000 on the Balance Sheet as of December 31st
2006, to be paid in nine monthly and continuous installments. The amount
paid can be used as a payment in advance of the 2007 Income Tax.
e) Likewise, the rate of the Income Tax withholding has been established in
15% applicable to the technical assistance provided by entities who are not
residents of the country, independently of the location wherein the service is
being carried out, as long as the requirements established under the Income
Tax Act are fulfilled.
f) The rate of the Financial Transaction Tax (ITF, for its abbreviation in
Spanish) for 2006 and 2007 has been established in 0.08% and is applied
on each deposit or withdrawal carried out from a bank account, except such
an account is free of those charges.
g) The current legislation left in stand by the application of the adjustment due
to the inflation effects for accounting and tax purposes since 2005 fiscal
year.
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20. Contingencies

As of December 31st 2006 the company has diverse labor legal proceedings
amounting to S/. 1’775,000 approximately. According to the Management and
their legal advisors’ opinion, those lawsuits may not originate significant
liabilities to the company, therefore they have been challenged.
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NIETO LEM & ASOCIADOS S.C.
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS – AUDITORS
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Lima, March 16, 2007
To the Shareholders of
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Pesquera Industrial El
Angel S.A. that comprise the Balance Sheet as to December 31, 2006 and December
31, 2005, the related Statements of Profit and Loss, Changes in Net Worth and Cash
Flows for the years ended on such dates, as well as a summary of significant
accounting policies and explanatory notes.
Responsibility of the Management for the financial statements
The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
Peru. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining the
pertinent internal control in the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
so that they are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies and making reasonable accounting
estimates under prevailing circumstances.
Responsibility of the Auditor
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit according to generally accepted auditing standards in
Peru. Such standards include the compliance with ethical requirements and that the
audit be planned and conducted for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit requires the application of procedures for obtaining audit evidence about the
amounts and the disclosures presented in the financial statements. The selected
procedures depend on the judgment of the auditors, and include assessing the risk of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
assessing such risk, the auditors consider the pertinent internal control of the Company
in the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate to the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Company. An audit must also
evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonability of
the accounting estimates of the Management, as well as the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We consider that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide us a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion:
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements fairly present, in all material
aspects, the financial position of Pesquera Industrial El Angel S.A., as at December
31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for the year then ended, in line with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in
Peru.
(signed)
Approved by:
E. Jacinto Nieto Tapia
(Partner)
Certified Public Accountant
Register 8139
Lima Peru
March 16, 2007

163

PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Stated in Nuevos Soles)
ASSETS
In constant currency
2006
2005
CURRENT ASSETS

LIABILITIES
In constant currency
2006
2005
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Cash and deposits
Trade accounts receivable
Sundry accounts receivable
Inventories
Deferred charges
Other assets accounts

686,403
12,597,637
1,217,530
46,705,638
3,300,217
7,648,998

815,914
27,271,662
1,303,611
21,391,468
3,150,946
7,261,004

Bank overdrafts
Taxes payable
Trade accounts payable
Other accounts payable
Current portion of long-term debt
Social benefits

1,756,385
1,335,629
10,334,379
64,638,357
12,386,420
132,590

1,273,566
1,953,488
13,163,018
53,118,661
15,746,732
116,851

Total Current Assets

72,156,423

61,194,605

Total Current Liabilities

90,583,760

85,372,316

NON-CURRENT

NON-CURRENT

Investments
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred charges
Other non-current assets accounts

7,913,274
102,937,210
2,672,819

13,441,855
117,149,731
3,227,619
974,374

Trade accounts payable
Long-term debt

1,380,994
33,064,950

1,842,225
42,231,483

Total Non Current Assets

113,523,303

134,793,569

Total Non Current Liabilities

34,445,944

44,073,708

69,225,112
1,625,135
-11,136,976
936,751

76,053,991
1,625,135
1,163,661
-12,300,637

60,650,022

66,542,150

185,679,726

195,988,174

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital stock
Legal reserve
Cumulative results
Year results
Total shareholders’ equity
Total assets

185,679,726

195,988,174
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Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED ON DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Stated in Nuevos Soles)
In constant currency
2006
2005
Net sales
Less:
Cost of sales

115,748,053

146,444,701

-80,837,521

-109,620,623

GROSS PROFIT

34,910,532

36,824,078

Administrative expenses
Selling expenses

-6,453,774
-5,449,191

-6,241,634
-10,081,746

OPERATING PROFITS

23,007,567

20,500,698

Extraordinary revenues
Sundry revenues
Financial revenues
Financial expenditures
Sundry expenditures
Extraordinary charges

2,876,875
289,151
9,394,241
-14,944,748
-16,572,035
-1,375,071

280,002
349,399
3,024,757
-16,469,269
-19,461,415
-524,809

2,675,980

-12,300,637

Workers’ participation
Income tax

-470,062
-1,269,167

0
0

NET PROFIT / LOSS

936,751

-12,300,637

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES
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PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET WORTH
ADJUSTED TO CONSTANT CURRENCY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED ON DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Stated in Nuevos Soles)

CAPITAL
STOCK
Balance as at January 1, 2005
Capitalization
Legal reserve conformation
Temporary differences
Year results
Balance as at December 31, 2005
Legal reserve conformation
Spinoff
Year results
Balance as at December 31, 2006

ADDITIONAL
CAPITAL

76,053,991

0

76,053,991

RESERVE

CUMULATIVE
RESULTS

1,499,770

1,253,655

125,365

0

1,625,135

-125,365
35,371
-12,300,637
-11,136,976

0

1,625,135

936,751
-10,200,225

-6,828,879
69,225,112
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TOTAL
78,807,416
0
0
35,371
-12,300,637
66,542,150
0
-6,828,879
936,751
60,650,022

PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(NOTES 1 AND 2)
(Stated in Nuevos Soles)
For the years ended on
December 31:
2006
2005
S/
S/
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Collection from clients
Other cash collections related to the activity
Less:
Payment to suppliers
Payment of salaries and fringe benefits
Payment of taxes
Other cash payments related to the activity
Increase (decrease) of cash equivalent of cash from operating
activities
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Revenues from sale of securities
Revenues from sale of property, plant and equipment
Less:
Costs for the transfer of assets
Payments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment
Other cash payments related to the activity
Increase (decrease) of cash equivalent of cash from
investment activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Revenues for long-term financing of suppliers
Revenues for long-term bank loans
Other revenues related to the activity
Less:
Amortization of loans obtained
Overdraft amortization
Loans granted
Increase (decrease) of cash equivalent of cash from
investment activities
Net increase (decrease) of cash equivalent of cash
Cash and cash equivalent balance at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalent balance at end of the year
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135,719,225
22,399,514

162,594,233
15,525,503

-129,510,373
-11,175,443
-2,023,431
-197,314

-147,897,525
-11,810,270
-1,895,412
-8,921-960

15,212,178

7,594,569

-429,422
-4,725,543
-1,300,298

-26,336
-6,505,474
-452,206

-6,455,263

-6,984,016

1,842,226
482,819
-9,369,245

-2,392,353

-8,886,426

-550,127

-129,511
815,914
686,403

60,426
755,488
815,914

PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
RECONCILIATION OF THE NET RESULT TO THE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
For the years ended on
December 31:
2006
2005
Profits (Loss) of the year
Plus:
Adjustments to Profits (Loss) of the year:
Depreciation and amortization of the period
Provision for fringe benefits
Severance payment withdrawals and/or deposits
Loss from sale of property, plant and equipment
Loss from sale of securities
Result from exposure to inflation
Loss from non-current monetary assets
Others
Less:
Profit from sale of property, plant and equipment
Profit from sale of securities
Others
Profit from non-current monetary assets
Debits and credits for net changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) decrease of trade accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease of sundry accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease of prepaid expenses
(Increase) decrease of inventories
(Increase) decrease of security investments
Increase (decrease) of other accounts payable
Increase (decrease) of other trade accounts payable
Increase (decrease) of taxes payable
Increase (decrease) of salaries payable
INCREASE (DECREASE) OF CASH EQUIVALENT OF
CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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936,751

-12,300,637

19,367,485

15,110,900

14,531,752
86,081
-3,245,628
-25,314,170

1,892,357
-1,215,156
-818,745
9,705,972

10,272,796
-2,737,704
717,764
597,051

-5,465,555
1,663,284
-882,015
-95,836

15,212,178

7,594,569

PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS TO DECEMBER 31, 2006 AND DECEMBER 31, 2005
1.

BUSINESS ACTIVITY, ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY
1.1 BUSINESS ACTIVITY
Pesquera Industrial El Angel S.A. (hereinafter the Company) was incorporated
in June 14, 1995, and began its business activity on December, 1996. The
purpose of the Company is to be engaged in activities related to the extraction
and marketing of sea or hydrobiological products and its industrial processing,
allocating them to the direct and indirect human consumption under the form of
fish oil and meal, frozen and cured, of all kinds of marine species, as well as to
render services to third parties for its exploitation.
The Company’s principal place of business is located in Avenida Mineria No.
130, Urbanizacion Los Ficus, District of Santa Anita, Province and Department
of Lima, having three processing plants operating in the cities of Chicama,
Chimbote and Huarmey.
The products are sold mainly abroad. The Company’s production of fish oil and
meal for year 2006 was 9,367,563 MT and 43,290,950 MT, respectively, with a
net operating profit of shares after taxes of S/.936,751.
The workforce for year 2006 comprised 1,128 persons. In 2005, the Company
had 1,059 persons for the development of its activities.
The Company does not list its investment shares in the Stock Exchange of
Lima.
The financial statements as to December 31, 2006 will be presented for
approval to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting within the legally established
term. In the opinion of the Company Management, the accompanying financial
statements will be approved without modifications. The financial statements as
to December 31, 2005 were approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting held on
June 9, 2006.
1.2 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICES
The principal accounting policies applied by the Company in the preparation of
these financial statements are summarized as follows. These principles and
practices have been evenly applied on all the years presented, unless
otherwise indicated:

169

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in line with the legal
provisions on the matter and the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in
Peru. The generally accepted accounting principles in Peru basically include
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) made official through
resolutions issued by the Peruvian Accounting Standards Board. The IFRS
comprise the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the opinions issued
by the Standards Interpretations Committee (SIC). As at the date of these
financial statements, the ASB has made official the mandatory application of
the IAS 1 through 41 and the IFRS 1 through 6, as well as the SIC 1 through
33.
The 2006 and 2005 financial statements have been prepared according to the
historic cost principle.
The Peruvian Accounting Standards Board made official the application, as of
year 2006, of IFRS 1 through 6 and the reviews of IAS 1, 2, 8, 10, 16, 17, 21,
24, 27, 28, 32, 33, 38 and 39, which have not caused any impact over the
financial statements.
- Some standards and amendments have been issued and are in force at
international level for periods after December 31, 2006. These standards are
pending formalization by the Accounting Standards Board. The ones
applicable to the Company are:
IFRS 7 - Financial instruments: Disclosures and a supplementary amendment
to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements – disclosures concerning capital
(in force at international level as of January 1, 2007). IFRS 7 adds new
disclosures to improve the information presented in financial statements. It
replaces the disclosure requirements of IAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation. The amendment to IAS 1 includes disclosures
concerning the capital level of a Company and how the company manages
the capital.
IFRS 8 Operating Segments (in force at international level as of January 1,
2009); it establishes the requirements for the disclosure of information
concerning the operating segments of the Company and about its products
and services, geographical areas where it operates, and main clients.
The Company considers that these standards will only have an impact over
the disclosures and presentations of the financial statements.
Critical accounting estimates and criteria are assessed on a permanent basis
and are based on historic experience and other factors, including the
expectation of the occurrence of future events that are considered reasonable
according to the circumstances.
The Company makes estimates and assumptions with respect to future
events. The resulting accounting estimates, by definition, very few times will
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match actual results. Nevertheless, in the opinion of the Management,
estimates and assumptions applied by the Company do not present a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment of the assets and liabilities
balances of the next year.
The Management establishes the estimated useful life and the respective
depreciation of its fixed assets. Such estimation is based on the usage
projections of the asset in the future, which include assumptions related with
the generation of revenues, technical specifications of the asset, among
others.
The determination of tax obligations and expenses requires the interpretation
of the applicable legal tax provisions. The Company seeks professional
advisory in tax matters before taking a decision on tax issues. While the
Management considers that its estimates are cautious and adequate,
interpretation discrepancies may arise with the tax administration, which may
affect the tax charges in the future.
The items included in the financial statements are presented in the currency
of the primary financial environment where the entity operates (reference
currency). The financial statements are presented in Nuevos Soles, which is
the reference currency and the presentation currency of the Company.
Transactions in foreign currency are translated to the reference currency
using the exchange rates in force on the date of the transactions. Profits and
losses due to exchange rate differences, resulting from the payment of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
recorded in foreign currency at the year end exchange rate, are reflected in
the statement of profit and loss.
Cash and cash equivalents correspond to the cash and bank deposits
balances in current account.
Trade accounts receivable and other accounts receivable are recognized at
their reasonable value and subsequently are valuated at the amortized cost
less the provision for depreciation. The provision for depreciation of trade
accounts receivable are established when there is objective evidence that the
Company will not be able to collect all the past due amounts according to
their original conditions. The amount of the provision is reflected in the
statement of profit and loss. When an account receivable is considered a bad
debt, it is written off from the financial statements against the previously
recognized provision. Any subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off from the financial statements are credited in the statement of profit
and loss.
Inventories are valuated at their average cost of acquisition or at their
realization value, whichever is less. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method, except for the inventories to be received, which is valuated
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using the specific identification method. The cost of finished and in-process
products comprises the raw material, direct manpower, other direct costs and
the general manufacturing costs (based on the normal operative capacity)
and excludes the financing costs.
The net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the normal course of
business less the estimated costs to put the inventories in selling conditions
and to carry out its commercialization. Due to the reduction of the book value
of the inventories to its net realizable value, it constitutes a provision to
depreciate the inventories with charge to the year results, at the date of
occurrence of said reductions.
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at their cost of acquisition plus
revaluations of certain assets less their accumulated depreciation. The cost
plus revaluations and the respective accumulated depreciations of sold or
written off assets are removed from their accounts and any profit or loss
resulting from its removal affects the year results. Maintenance and
reparation expenses are charged to the statement of profit and loss in the
period in which those expenses were incurred.
The depreciation of the costs originated from the assets is calculated with the
straight-line method using the depreciation rates authorized by the tax
authorities, which are considered as sufficient to absorb the cost of the assets
at the end of their useful life.
Land does not suffer depreciation.
The annual depreciation rates used are as follows:

Buildings and other constructions
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fittings
Transportation units
Other equipment

Years
3%
10%
10%
20%
25%

The book value of an asset is immediately depreciated at its recoverable
value if the book value of the asset is greater than the estimated recoverable
value.
Profit and losses for the sale of assets consist of the difference between the
revenues from the transaction and the book value of the assets and are
included in the statement of profit and loss. In the sale of assets previously
revaluated, the amounts included in other reserves are transferred to
accumulated results.
In the depreciation of assets, if any financial change occurs that indicate that
the book value of the assets of long useful life has been depreciated, the
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Company calculates its recoverable value and, if necessary, recognizes a
loss for depreciation with charges to the year results. This loss is the amount
in which the book value of the asset is reduced to its recoverable value.
The recoverable value of the assets corresponds to the higher value between
the net amount obtained from its sale and from its use value. The net sale
value corresponds to the amount obtained from the sale of the asset in a
closed transaction between unrelated parties, the reference price in an active
market or the recent similar transactions. The use value corresponds to the
current value of the estimated future flows obtained from the constant use of
the asset and its final disposition at the end of its useful life.
Financial instruments are defined as any contract that simultaneously
originates a financial asset in a company and a financial liability or a capital
instrument in another company. Financial instruments include primary
instruments, such as accounts receivable, accounts payable, indebtedness
and the shares of stock.
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or capital, depending on the
essence of the contractual agreement that originated them. Interests,
dividends, gains and losses generated by a financial instrument classified as
liability are recorded as expenses or income in the statement of profit and
loss. Payments to holders of financial instruments recorded as capital are
recorded directly in the stockholders' equity. Financial instruments shall be
recognized in the financial statements substantially to its reasonable value.
Likewise, these are off set when the Company has the legal right to off set
them and the Management intends to pay them on a net basis, or to realize
the asset and pay the liability simultaneously.
Reasonable value is the amount for which an asset can be exchanged
between a buyer and a seller, duly informed or, can be cancelled an
obligation between a debtor and a creditor with sufficient information, under
the terms of a free competition transaction.
In the opinion of the Management, the book values of the financial
instruments of the Company as at December 31, 2006 and December 31,
2005, do not differ significantly from their reasonable values. The Company
does not maintain derived financial statements.
Leasing agreements for machinery and equipment for which the Company
substantially assumes all risks and benefits related to the ownership of the
leased good are classified as leases and capitalized at the beginning of the
contract at the lower value between the reasonable value of the leased good
and the current value of the minimum payments of the installments.
Payments of the installments are aimed at reducing liabilities and recognizing
the financial charge so that a constant interest rate is obtained on the balance
of the outstanding debt. The financial cost is charged to results in the leasing
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period. The cost of machinery and equipment purchased through leasing is
depreciated in the calculation of its estimated useful life.
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a current legal or assumed
obligation, as a result of past events, it is probable that funds will be required
to settle the obligation and the reliable estimate of its amount is possible.
The provision of severance payment (CTS) of the personnel comprises the
whole compensatory rights, according to the legal provisions in force and it is
recognized net of the deposits with a cancellation effect. Personnel`s annual
vacations are recognized on the basis of the accrued. The provision for the
estimated obligation for the personnel`s annual vacations resulting from the
services rendered by the employees are recognized at the date of the
balance sheet.
Deferred income tax is recorded using the liability method based on the
temporary differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their
balance in the financial statements. The deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates enacted as at the date of the balance sheet, which are
expected to be applicable when the deferred income tax is realized or when
the liability income tax is paid.
Deferred income taxes are recognized insofar as it is probable that there may
be future tax benefits against which the temporary differences may be used.
Revenue recognition comprises the reasonable value of the sale of goods
and services net form taxes, to sales, rebates and discounts. The revenues
are recognized as follows:
Sale of goods: This sale is recognized when the company has furnished
products to the client, the client has accepted the products and the respective
collection of the accounts receivable is reasonably secured.
Interests: Revenues originated from interests are recognized on the basis of
time elapsed proportion, applying the agreed interest rate.
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements and are
disclosed in a note to the financial statements unless their occurrence is
remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements and
are only disclosed when it is likely that an income of funds will occur.
Balances in foreign currency are stated in Nuevos Soles at the exchange rate
in force at the end of the year. The exchange difference generated by the
liabilities related to the inventories and fixed assets or other permanent
assets, at closing date, directly affect the cost of said asset.
Capital stock of common shares are classified as stockholders' equity.
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Loans are recognized on the date on which the funds are received, net of the
transaction costs incurred in the transaction. In subsequent periods, loans are
recorded at amortized cost. Any difference between the funds received (net of
transaction costs) and the amount to be paid out is recognized in results in
the term of the loan.
2. CASH AND DEPOSITS
This item comprises:
Description
Fixed fund
Banks – Current accounts

2006

2005

24,000
662,403
686,403

24,000
791,914
815,914

As at December 31, 2006, the exchange rates used by the Company for the record of
balances in foreign currency were S/.3.194 and S/.3.197 for US$1.00 for the assets
and liabilities, respectively (3.429 and 3.431) for US$1.00 for the assets and liabilities,
respectively, as at As at December 31, 2005).
Moreover, as at December 31, 2006, the Company recorded profits in the exchange
rate for S/.9,392,944, as well as losses in the exchange rate for S/.4,771,261.
In turn, as at December 31, 2005, the Company recorded profits in the exchange rate
for S/.3,007,949, as well as losses in the exchange rate for S/.4,792,691.
3. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
The composition of this item is as follows:
Description
Invoices receivable
Agencies and affiliates
Doubtful accounts
Prepayments to suppliers
Provision of doubtful accounts

2006
12,512,115
41,108
1,182,251
44,414
-1,182,251
12,597,637

2005
27,104,262
41,163
1,208,855
126,237
-1,208,855
27,271,662

98% of the accounts receivable corresponds to clients living abroad for the sale of oil
meal, for US$3,860,265; operations carried out on December 2006. The remaining
invoices receivable correspond to the local sales carried out at the several plants of the
company, which carry a short-term expiration date and do not accrue interests.
In the entry Subsidiaries and Affiliates, S/. 40, 585.00 correspond to Transportes Angel
Ibarcena R.S.R.L. and S/. 523.00 correspond to Transportes Cruz del Sur S.A.C; for
operations corresponding to provision of supplies.
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4. SUNDRY ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
The composition of this item is described as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Loans to staff
Sundry account receivable

2006
10,115
1’207,415
1’217,530

2005
16,259
1’287,352
1’303,611

Other Sundry Accounts Receivable includes a stand by letter of credit granted in May
2005, for the amount of US$ 365,000.00, submitted to the 25th Civil Court of Lima for
the trial filed by the company Industrial Glauco S.A. Likewise, it includes a judicial
retention as a precautionary measure in favor of the company SENORSA, filed in the
1st Civil Court of Trujillo in September 2006, for the amount of S/. 35,150.00.
5. INVENTORIES
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Commodities
Finished products
Containers and Packaging
Sundries
Raw materials and auxiliaries
Inventories receivable

2006
41’238,797
347,459
4’775,601
179,915
163,866
46’705,638

2005
730
15’385,411
559,451
5’145,895
220,102
79,879
21’391,468

The item Finished Products as of December 31, 2006, amounts S/. 41’238,797.00 and
is represented by 16,675.335 Mt of fishmeal, 306.638 Mt. of fish oil, and 39,694.26 kg
of frozen products (scallop), for cleaning, decorticating, and packaging service. The
balance of Sundries as of December 31, 2006, amounts S/. 4’775,601.00 and is related
with the spare parts which will be used during the useful life of the corresponding
machinery.
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6. EXPENSES PAID IN ADVANCE
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Deferred charges

2006
5’973,036

2005
6’378,565

Deferred charges are represented by the interests and general sales taxes to be
accrued, for an amount of S/. 4’033,230.00, from the leaseback contracts entered with
Banco de Credito, for the Chimbote 10, Alejandra and Cristina fishing vessels. These
interests and VAT are distributed as current and non current, for S/. 1’30,411.00 and
S/. 2’672,819.00, respectively, directly related to the maturity of debts.
In terms of Insurance, the fishing vessels are covered by a policy of S/. 1’721,340.00,
for the hulls, S/. 36,111.00 in case of fire, and S/. 182,355.00 for others.
7. OTHER ACCOUNTS OF THE CURRENT ASSETS
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Tax Credit

2006
7’648,998

2005
7’261,004

Tax credit is composed by the Balance in Favor of the Exporter, originated by the sale
of fishmeal to the international market; this benefit allows the exporter to request the
reimbursement of credit produced by its sales, once it has paid taxes to the Public
Treasury. The balance of the tax credit for this concept as of December 31, 2006,
amount to S/. 7’622,376.00.
Moreover, the Company have credit for the VAT deduction of the amount of S/.
26,622.00.
8. INVESTMENTS IN VALUES
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Inversiones Luxury
Club Empresarial
Transportes Cruz del Sur S.A.C.

2006
4’181,690
32,800
3’698,784
7’913,274

2005
13’409,055
32,800
13’441,855

In the Shareholders’ General Meeting held in June 2006, the Spin-off Project was
approved by means of the segregation of equity blocks to change the capital stock
structure. This procedure is aimed at restructuring the intervening companies by
creating an independent, specialized line of business which has its own management
in the fishing sector.
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This spin-off process has been carried out in two phases, which has had clear effects
on the reduction of the investments and on the restructuring of the Company.
9. REAL PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Assets
Lands
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Transport units
Furniture and household
goods
IT equipments
Units receivable
Ongoing works

5’446,969
19’773,638
203’493,797
2’861,514
1’478,947
1’421,581
479,380
3’650,648
238’606,474

2006
Depreciation

5’800,837
125’289,842
2’158,853
1’237,085

Net
5’446,969
13’972,801
78’203,955
702,661
241,862

2005
Net
5’446,969
14’479,310
95’610,328
222,730
316,081

1’182,647

238,934
177,768
479,380
79,886
3’650,648
816,659
135’669,264 102’937,210 117’149,731

The investment in fixed assets carried out in the fiscal year 2006 amounts to S/.
5’857,292.00, from which the highest amount correspond to the item Machinery and
Equipment with S/. 1’582,602.00, from which S/. 947,112.00 have been allocated to
network improvement, S/. 340,990.00 to vessel improvements and S/. 294,500.00 to
plant equipment and machinery improvement, with the highest investment in the
Chicama Plant. General maintenance has been aimed at improvements on Caterpillar
motors, Hidrostal centrifugal pumps, drainers, cauldrons and solid waste separators.
The increase in the item Ongoing Works in 2006 amounts to S/. 2’741,115.00, with the
highest incidence in works carried out for the refloating of the Chimbote 10 fishing
vessel, which amounts to S/. 2’127,131.00.
10. OTHER ACCOUNTS OF NON CURRENT ASSETS
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Angel Ibarcena Succession

2006

2005
974,364

11. BANK OVERDRAFT
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Current accounts

2006
1’756,385
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2005
1’273,566

These bank overdrafts are obtained mainly for work capital, they accrue interests at
market rates, have current maturity and are guaranteed mainly for the commercial
accounts receivable.
The bank overdrafts correspond to Banco de Credito del Peru for the amount of S/.
1’633,798.00 and to Scotiabank for the amount of S/. 122,587.00.
12. TAX PAYABLE
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
VAT, Retentions, Detractions payable
Income tax
EsSalud, ONP, IPSS Vida and Senati
Pension funds
Fisherman’s Benefit Fund
Real Property Tax and Municipal Taxes

2006
750,248
156,382
185,430
114,944
122,741
5,884
1’335,629

2005
968,949
65,112
153,796
159,038
599,558
7,035
1’953,488

The taxes and contributions which administration and collection correspond to the
Central Government as well as to the Pension Funds, include the liabilities accrued in
December 2006. The liability with the Fisherman’s Benefit Fund includes a liability
payable from 2005 for S/. 23,817.00, and in 2006 the debt amounts to S/. 98,924.00.
13. COMMERCIAL ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Invoices payable
Installments payable
Advances received for clients

2006
5’036,597
4’188,752
1’109,030
10’334,379

2005
5’412,280
7’690,287
60,451
13’163,018

The Commercial Accounts Payable are the following:
DESCRIPTION
Affiliates and members
Installments payable

2006
1’288,422
92,572
1’380,994
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2005
1’228,962
613,263
1’842,225

The Accounts payable to Subsidiaries and Affiliates are the following:
DESCRIPTION
Transportes Cruz del Sur S.A.C.
Inversiones Luxury S.A.
Transportes Angel Ibarcena
S.R.L.

2006
392,705
194,696
701,021

2005
370,651
139,278
719,033

1’288,422

1’228,962

The liabilities to Transportes Cruz del Sur S.A.C. correspond to the provision of the
supplies transport (cargo) service from Lima to its plants in provinces and, with
Transportes Angel Ibarcena R.S.R.L., for the freights in the transport of fishmeal.
The debt with Inversiones Luxury S.A. correspond to the rental of the administrative
offices located in the city of Lima.
The Installments Payable in Long Term include the debt assumed with the company
FISA. The total debt amounts to US$ 562,328.00 and shall expire in March 2008.
There are also liabilities in installments with SGS del Peru S.A., for US$ 82,712.00,
Servicios de La Marina for US$ 37,209.00, Marco Peruana S.A. for US$ 49,000.00,
and Corporacion Peruana de Productos Quimicos S.A. for US$ 50,839.00.
14. OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Compensations payable
Financial system
Warrants
Sundries

2006
1’982,179
6’657,855
55’826,642
171,681
64’638,357

2005
1’409,441
7’673,399
42’156,434
1’879,387
53’118,661

The Accounts Payable to the Financing System correspond to the following banks:
BANK
Credito
Credito
Credito
Credito
Credito
Credito
Credito
Credito
BIF

LIABILITY
CLASS
Promissory Note
Promissory Note
Promissory Note
Promissory Note
Promissory Note
Promissory Note
Promissory Note
Promissory Note
Promissory Note

N° OF
DOCUMENT
P-881264
P-888713
P-889549
P-922766
P-909958
P-930575
P-933062
P-931721
P-173307
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% OF TOTAL
INTEREST
11.00
12.00
12.00
12.00
12.50
10.00
12.50
10.00
10.00

DEBT US$
359,140
101,971
102,164
20,105
165,108
180,238

TOTAL
S/.
1’148,172
326,001
326,618
230,075
64,276
2’506,627
527,850
952,014
576,222
6’657,855

The Accounts Payable with Warrants correspond to the following banks:
BANK
Credito
ScotiaBank
BIF
Financiero
Continental
Comercio

% OF TOTAL
INTEREST
8.30 %
8.30 %
9.50 %
8.35 %
9.00 %

DEBT US$

TOTAL S/.

8’928,187
5’415,023
1’910,684
195,280
718,907
294,115
17’462,196

28’543,416
17’311,828
6’108,457
624,309
2’298,346
940,286
55’826,642

In Accounts Payable Sundries, a loan from the investment company Pesqueras Wilson
y Aldo S.A.C. has been received, for an amount of US$ 22,300.00, as an advance for
the investment in the field of scad and mackerel. Likewise, three letters of commitment
have been assumed for the amount of US$ 24,091.00.
15. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE IN THE LONG TERM
This item is composed as follows (current and in the long term):
DESCRIPTION
Financial system
Commercial system

2006
2005
40’272,499
52’149,803
5’178,871
5’828,412
45’451,370
57’978,215
The accounts payable, current and in the long term, to the financial and commercial
system, are detailed as follows:
BANK

Scotiabank

COFIDE
Credit

Interbank
Tranporte Rio
Chillon
Environmental
Technologies Inc.

OPERATION

Remodeling of vessels, nets,
acquisition of Chimbote’s Plant,
work capital
Pisco’s Plant
Leaseback Fishing Vessel
Cristina, Fishing Vessel
Chimbote 10, Fishing Vessel
Alejandra, work capital
Debt with Constructora Cristina
S.A.
Chimbote’s Plant – Conservera
Roddy
Sistema TRANSVAC, vacuum
pump
US$
S/.
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US$
SHORT
TERM

US$
LONG
TERM

1’514,608
304,548

5’990,110

1’207,830

2’896,262

208,101

417,826

537,870

980,615

101,431

57,679

3’874,388
12’386,420

10’342,492
33’064,950

The short and long term debt in the financial system correspond to the structural debt
of the Corporation originated between the years 1998 to 2002, for the acquisition of the
Chimbote, Chicama and Pisco plants, as well as for the remodeling of the vessels,
purchase of sardine nets and financing through Leaseback.
The commercial debt corresponds to the liability with the company Transportes Rio
Chillon, to which the debt originally contracted with Conservera Rody S.A. has been
transferred, for the acquisition of Chicama’s plant. The other debt corresponds to the
company Environmental Technologies Inc. (USA), for the acquisition of two
TRANSVAC (vacuum pumps) systems, in 2004.
16. SOCIAL BENEFITS
This item is composed as follows:
DESCRIPTION
Compensation for Time of
Service to be deposited

2006
132,590

2005
116,851

17. CAPITAL
The capital stock, in historical currency, is represented by 69’225,112 common shares,
each with a nominal value of S/. 1.00, fully executed and paid, belonging to domestic
capitals in 100%.
The accountable historical capital as of December 2006 is S/. 69’225,112.00.
In the Shareholders’ General Meeting held on June 08, 2006, the Spin-Off Project was
approved by means of the segregation of equity blocks to change the capital stock
structure. Likewise, this procedure is aimed at restructuring the intervening companies
by creating an independent, specialized line of business which has its own
management in the fishing sector. This spin-off shall allow to incorporate eventual
investors in the future who may be interested in an independent manner in the
abovementioned fishing activity, which is experiencing an important growth in the
country in the recent years. For this purpose, the most adequate and efficient vehicle to
obtain the abovementioned corporate objective shall be the performance of the spin-off
by segregation of equity blocks, composed by the investments in values carried out by
the spin-off corporations in Pesquera Industrial El Angel S.A.
By means of this spin-off, the members of the capital stock substantially change their
share, since a new company, Negocios Abecor S.A., appears as partner, and the
company Inversiones Luxury S.A., which until this procedure was the majority
shareholder, disappears completely.
In the Shareholders’ General Meeting minutes held on June 08, 2006, an increase in
the capital was also approved for the capitalization of the S/. 6’172,515.00, which is
represented by the comprehensive adjustment for inflation in years 1999, 2000, 2001,
2002, 2003, and 2004.
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This same Shareholders’ General Meeting approved the reduction of capital stock for
an amount of S/. 6’828, 879.00, since when the spin-off was effective, the equity value
of shares of Pesquera Industrial El Angel S.A., corresponded to itself because of its
condition as a shareholder of Inversiones Luxury S.A.; nevertheless, in practical terms,
it could not be an investor of itself; for which the capital stock reduction was applied,
with this, the final capital of the company is reduced from S/. 76’053,991.00 to S/.
69’225,112.00.
18. RESERVES
The Legal Reserve amounts to S/. 1’625,135.00. This Accumulated Legal Reserve may
be applied to compensate the losses; likewise, they shall be replaced by future profits.
According to the Corporations General Law, a new legal reserve is prepared to be
incorporated by means of the transfer of not less than 10% of the annual net profits
until reaching 20% of the paid capital. In the absence of non distributed profits or free
disposal reserves, the legal reserve shall be applied to the compensation of losses,
and should be replaced with the profits of subsequent fiscal years. This reserve may be
capitalized, and its replacement is compulsory.
The assignment of the legal reserve shall be carried out the following year, when it is
approved in the Shareholders’ General Meeting.
19. ACCUMULATED RESULTS
In the Accumulated Results there is a negative amount of S/. 10’200,225.00, with a
profits of S/. 936,751.00 as a result for the year 2006.
The dividends in favor of shareholders, who are not domiciled juridical persons, are
subject to the 4.1% rate for income tax, chargeable to these shareholders; said tax is
retained and liquidated by the corporation.
20. CASH FLOW STATE
The Corporation submits the Cash Flow Statement, according to the Declaration N° 04
of the Registered Public Accountants Association of Lima “Cash Flow Statements”. The
figures corresponding to 2005 have been reclassified to make them comparable to
those from 2006.
21. TAX SITUATION
The Annual Income Tax Return of the year 2004 to 2006 are pending of tax supervision
to be carried out by the Tax Administration Agency. The Tax Administration Agency is
entitled to review and, if necessary, to correct the tax results determined by the
company in the last four years, counting as from January 01 of the year following the
submission of the corresponding income tax return (years subject to tax supervision).
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According to the tax procedures in force, the liable loss during a year should be
compensated, by allocating it, year by year, until the amount is covered, to the liable
income obtained in the immediate following four years, calculated starting from the first
tax year in which profits are obtained. The balance which is not compensated after this
term shall not be calculated in the following years.
As of December 31, 2006, the corporation has compensated its tax losses originated in
the 2005 fiscal year with an amount of S/. 6’763,466.00.
The taxable net income of the year, under the income tax regime has been determined
according to the tax legislation in force, adding and deducing to the result the entries
which are considered taxable and non taxable, respectively. The added amount
amounts to S/. 9’845,353.00 and the deduction amounts to S/. 1’057,246.00.
According to the legislation in force, the Corporation is not obliged to submit, in order to
determine the income tax and general sales tax, the study of the transfer prices.
The Tax Administration Agency is entitled to review and, if necessary, to correct the tax
results determined by the company in the last four years, counting as from January 01
of the year following the submission of the corresponding income tax return (years
subject to tax supervision). The years 2004 to 2006 are also subject to tax supervision.
Since there may be different interpretations on the side of tax administration agency on
the norms enforceable to the Corporation, it is not possible to express in advance if
there shall be additional tax liabilities as a result from eventual reviews.
Any additional tax, fine and interest, if produced, shall be acknowledged in the results
of the year in which the differences of criteria with the tax administration agency are
solved. The Management and its legal advisors expect there shall not be relevant
liabilities as a result from these possible reviews.
The assets deferred by income tax and shares are acknowledged for the temporary
deducible differences, to the extent it is possible that there are enough taxable utilities
against which they can be used.
The Income Tax rate for 2006 is 30%.
22. COST OF SALES
The cost of sales is composed by:
Description
Initial Balance of finished products
plus:
Raw Material
Containers, packaging and sundries
Personnel Expenses
Depreciation
Manufacturing Expenses
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2006
15’385,411

2005
25’057,182

70’124,388
18’851,874
6’317,232
12’561,935
7’356,679

65’555,439
18’802,656
5’200,384
6’565,143
11’946,448

Closed Season Expenses
Minus:
Final Balance of Finished Products
Cost of Sale of End Products
Initial Balance of Supplies
Plus:
Purchases
Transfers
Consumption
Other transactions
Minus:
Final Balance of Supplies
Cost of Sale of Supplies
Cost of Fishing
COST OF SALE

-16’572,035
98’640,073

-18’103,840
89’966,230

-41’238,797
72’786,687

-15’385,411
99’638,001

5’925,448

5’960,200

28’545,146
-39,010
-23’326,266
-363,761
4’816,109

36’654,319
34,659
-28’506,979
-535,833
7’646,166

-5’302,975
5’438,582
2’612,252
80’837,521

-5’925,448
7’680,918
2’301,704
109’620,623

23. SALES EXPENSES
The sales expenses are composed by:
Description
Charges of Personnel
Transport, storage and communication expenses
Customs Fees and Expenses
Sales Commissions
Other Charges of Management
Others

2006
2005
272,626
379,166
1’689,643
4’018,512
2’496,752
4’408,840
745,050
688,601
136,420
407,395
108,700
179,232
5’449,191 10’081,746

The main concepts composing this item are the domestic freight services, fueling
service, freight for export, storage service, broker commission, fishmeal analysis
service, custom expenses and fees.
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24. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
The administrative expenses are composed by:
Description
Charges of Personnel
Insurances
Depreciation
Fees
Mail and communications
Taxes
Others

2006
3’046,050
86,988
327,104
374,810
190,166
44,649
2’384,007
6’453,774

2005
3’330,579
44,883
458,144
430,056
295,552
45,248
1’637,171
6’241,634

25. OTHER INCOME AND DISBURSEMENT
The other Income and Disbursement are composed by:
Description
Extraordinary Income
Other Income
Financial Income
Profits for Exchange Difference
Financial Disbursements
Loss for Exchange Difference
Other Disbursements
Extraordinary Charges

2006
2’876,875
289,151
1,297
9’392,944
-10’173,487
-4’771,261
-16’572,035
-1’375,071

2005
280,002
349,399
16,808
3’007,949
-11’676,578
-4’792,691
-19’461,415
-524,808

The item Financial Disbursement is composed by:
Description
Interests and expenses for loans
Interest on arrears
Warrants interests
Draft interests and expenses
Interests for liabilities on term
Interests for installments
discounted to clients
Interests for installments
discounted to suppliers
Bank expenses
Bank commissions
Stand by Letter of credit
commissions
Other financial charges

186

2006
6’441,945
126,310
955,887
266,942
65,208
16,512

2005
6’801,505
204,642
1’639,854
210,610
319,055
16,428

978,354

919,201

683,984
138,761
32,167

662,443
326,952
105,982

467,417
10’173,487

469,906
11’676,578

As of 2004, the difference in exchange was assumed as a part of the REI of the year.
In 2006, the profit by difference of exchange was S/. 9’392,944.00 and the loss by
difference of exchange amounted to S/. 4’771.261.00. The highest increase generated
in the profit by difference of exchange is produced by the decrease suffered in the
exchange rate of US Dollar, since the Corporation has a high structural debt which
produced a decrease of its liability in relation to the domestic currency.
Other Disbursements refer to all the costs carried out during the closed season.
The Extraordinary charges amounts, by the cost of Real Property, Machinery and
Equipment disposal for S/. 702,334.00, for the disaster occurred to Chimbote 10 fishing
vessel; the other Disbursements are due to contingencies, which correspond to the
payment of labor compensations, sanctions filed by PRODUCE/DINSECOVI, ITAN,
among others.
The Extraordinary Income amounts, by the cost of Real Property, Machinery and
Equipment disposal, S/. 946,462.00, for the disaster occurred to the Chimbote 10
fishing vessel; for the increase of capitalization shares of REI in Inversiones Luxury
S.A. for an amount of S/. 1’300,298.00.
26. PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
The Personnel Expenses are composed as follows:
Description

2006
4,252,167
2,283,152
5,392,244
11,927,563

Wages
Salaries
Other Charges of Personnel

2005
4,074,805
2,237,686
6,765,621
13,078,112

The Personnel Expenses are distributed as follows:
Description
Production
Sales
Administration

2006
8,608,887
272,626
3,046,050
11,927,563

2005
9,368,367
379,166
3,330,579
13,078,112

The Average Number of Employees of the Corporation was 1,128 in 2006 and 1,059 in
2005.
27. CONTINGENCIES
According to the report of the Legal Advisory Department of the Corporation, as of
December 31, 2006, there are 63 processes in the production area for an amount of S/.
2’052,883.00, from which, 14 are concluded and 49 are pending resolution for an
amount of S/. 1’604,893.00. These processes are directly related with the Production
Ministry.
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The Corporation has labor trials for an amount of S/. 14’168,776.00 which are the result
of social benefit claims for S/. 3’231,102.00, compensation refund for shares for S/.
2’255,973.00, profit sharing payment S/. 5’573,840.00, compensation refund for breach
of contract for S/. 1’142,265.00, and others for S/. 1’965,596.00, which have been filed
for personnel of the Corporation.
The Corporation, as of December 31, 2006 has granted guarantees for the credits
obtained for US$ 36’563,118.00, in favor of the different entities which are listed below:
INSTITUTION
Bco Scotiabank
Bco Scotiabank

Bco Scotiabank
Bco de Credito
Bco de Credito
Interbank
Cofide
Banco Sudamericano
Conservera Roddy
S.A.
Alma Peru

TYPE OF
GUARANTEE
Mortgage and trust
fund
Mortgage on a
vessel and trust
fund
Chattel Mortgage
Leasing
Mortgage
Chattel mortgage
Chattel mortgage
Global mortgage
Chattel mortgage
Possessory pledge
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DESCRIPTION
Real Property

US$
AMOUNT
7,658,628

Fishing vessels

9,804,537

Production lines
Fishing vessels
Real property
Omnidirectional Sonar
Production lines
300 Tm/ Fishmeal
Prime
Bco Scotiabank,
Transp. Chillon River
Fishmeal warrants

646,100
7,065,020
2,364,089
120,000
3,465,000
150,000
1,289,744
4,000,000

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Corporation’s activities expose it to a series of financial risks: market risks due to
the exchange rate, price risks, credit risk, liquidity risks, and cash flow risk and from
reasonable variation of the interest rate. The risk management general program of the
Corporation is focused mainly on the unpredictable nature of financial markets and
aims at minimizing the potential adverse effects in the financial performance of the
company.
The General Management and Financial Management are in charge of the risk
management according to the policies approved by the Board of Directors, which
identify, assess and cover the financial risks in close coordination with its operating
units.
a) Market risk for exchange rate
The Corporation operates abroad and it is exposed to the exchange rate risk
due to the exposure to different currency, mainly in relation to the US Dollar.
The exchange rate risk rises from future commercial transactions, assets and
liabilities acknowledged in its financial statements. As of December 2006 and
2005, the corporation has a net liability position in terms of foreign currency. To
this respect, the Management has accepted the risk of changing it, so it has
carried out hedging operations.
b) Price Risks
The Corporation is exposed to commodities price risk due to the price of
fishmeal in the international market.
c) Credit risk
The Corporation has not considerable risks of credit concentrations. It has
established policies to ensure that it sells its products to clients with an
adequate credit background. The parties in financial documents contracts and
cash transactions are limited to high quality credit financial institutions.
d) Liquidity risks
The careful management of the liquidity risk implies maintaining enough cash
and negotiable values, the availability of financing through an adequate quantity
of engaged credit sources and the capacity to close positions in market. Due to
the dynamic nature of business, the Corporation tries to keep flexible in its
financing by maintaining available engaged credit lines.

Cash flow and interest rate variation risk
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The corporation has not considerable assets which create interests, its profits
and the operating cash flows are substantially independent from changes on the
interest rate in the market.
According to the Corporation’s point of view, as of December 2006 and 2005,
the reasonable values of financial statements and financial liabilities are
substantially similar to its corresponding book values.
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NIETO LEM & ASOCIADOS S.C.
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS – AUDITORS
To the Shareholders of
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
The complementary information as of December 31, 2006, attached as Exhibits N° 2,
4, 5, 6, 9, 11, 14, 16, 17 and 19, include, even if it is not essential for reasonably
showing the financial situation, the results of its operations and the changes in the
financial situation of Pesquera Industrial El Angel S.A., for the year finished to this
date and has been prepared to comply with the control policies of the Corporation and
to show them to the bank and financial entities, and others that the shareholders of the
board of directors deem convenient.
Our examination, which was carried out with the main objective of issuing a report
about the basic Financial Statements taken as a whole, includes selective verifications
of the accounting registers, from which the attached complementary information was
taken and the application of other audit procedures that we consider as necessary in
these circumstances.
We consider that this complementary information reasonably shows the data included
therein, in relation to the basic Financial Statements considered as a whole, about
which we issue a report, on this 16th day of March, 2007.
Subscribed by:
(Signature)
E. Jacinto Nieto Tapia (Partner)
Registered Public Accountant
Registration N°8139
Lima – Peru
March 16, 2007.
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Exhibit N° 2
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Accounts receivable from Partners, Directors and Personnel
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 88°)
(In Nuevos Soles)
Item

Initial
balance

Additions

Deductions

Final
Balance

5,746

30,704

33,879

2,571

10,513

46,891

49,860

7,544

16,259

77,595

83,739

10,115

Loans to Personnel
Workers
Employees
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Exhibit N° 4
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Investments in Subsidiaries (or Headquarters) and Affiliates
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 90°)
(In Nuevos Soles)
Firm Name

Class

Amount

Share
12.54

Nominal
value
1.00

Total
Books
4,181,690

Inversiones
Luxury S.A.
Transportes Cruz
del Sur S.A.C.
Club Empresarial

Common

4,029,044

Common

3,563,765

11.12

1.00

3,698,784
32,800
7,913,274
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Exhibit N° 5
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Real Property, Machinery and Equipment
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 91°)
(In Nuevos Soles)
Assets

Balance as
of 01.01.06

Increase /
Decrease

Withdraw /
Drops

Other
current
changes

Balance as
of 12.31.06

In constant money
Lands
Buildings
Machinery and
Equipment
Transport units
Furnishing and Fittings
IT Equipment
Units receivable
Ongoing works

5,446,969
19,690,556
202,834,889

83,082
1,582,601

2,267,086
1,464,537
1,280,349
79,886
816,659
233,880,931

802,490
14,410
133,929
499,670
2,741,116
5,857,298
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5,446,969
19,773,638
203,493,797

-923,693
-208,062
7,303
-100,176
92,873
-1,131,755

0

2,861,514
1,478,947
1,421,581
479,380
3,650,648
238,606,474

Exhibit N° 6
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Real Property, Machinery and Equipment Depreciation
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 92°)
(In Nuevos Soles)
Assets

Balance as of
01.01.06

Addition to
Cost

Other
current
changes

Balance as
of 12.31.06

In constant money
Buildings
Machinery and
Equipment
Transport units
Real Property and
Fittings
IT equipment

5,211,246
107,224,561

589,591
18,398,789

2,044,356
1,148,456

210,410
88,629

1,102,581
116,731,200

80,066
19,367,485
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-333,508
-95,913

-429,421

5,800,837
125,289,842
2,158,853
1,237,085
1,182,647
135,669,264

Exhibit N° 9
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Long Term Liabilites
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 95°)
(In US Dollars)
Pending Payment Balance
Non
Current
Total US$
Current
US$
US$

Creditor

Class of
Liability

Granted
Guarantee

Interest
rate
US$

Expiry

Authorized
Amount
US$

Scotiabank

Promissory
Note
167587

Trust fund

10.15%

30.06.2012

8,300,000

7,504,718

1,514,608

Cofide –
Pesca Peru
Pisco Sur
(Nuevo
Mundo)

Promissory
Note

Mortgage
on a
vessel

6%

20.07.2007

2,310,000

304,548

304,548

Leasing

13.73%

01.02.2010

2,950,000

1,213,439.00

432,122

781,317

Leaseback

9.75%

01.06.2010

4,115,020

2,522,437.00

775,708

1,746,729

Deposit

13%

360,000

368,216

538,618

625,927

208,101

417,826

1,518,485

537,870

980,615

159,110

101,431

57,679

14,216,880

3,874,388

10,342,492

Bco. Credito
Bco. Credito
B. Credito
CAF
Bco.
Interbank
Trans. Rio
Chillon
(Conservera
Roddy)
Environmental
Technologies
INC

Promissory
Note 6171
Promissory
Note 8024
Promissory
Note
103015
Promissory
Note

6.00%

10.00%

01.04.2010

29.09.2008
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361,250

5,990,110

368,216

Exhibit N° 11
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Provisions for Social Benefits
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 97°)
(In Nuevos Soles)
Provision

Compensation
for Time of
Service

Balance as of
01.01.06

Additions

Deductions

Final
Balance

116,851

800,419

784,680

132,590
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Exhibit N° 14
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Capital Stock
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 100°)
A) Share class

:

Commons

B) Unit Nominal Value

:

S/. 1.00

C) N° Subscribed Shares

:

69,225,112

D) N° Paid Shares

:

69,225,112

E) N° Shareholders

:

4

F) Countable Capital Stock
as of 12.31.06

:

S/.69,225,112

Shareholding structure
Number of
Shareholders
1
1
1
1
4

Shareholding
percentage
31.98%
31.98%
33.60%
2.44%
100.00%
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Exhibit N° 16
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Insurances
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 102°)
Insurance
Company
Rimac
Internac.

Policy
Number
3101-501851

Rimac
Internac.

164236797

Rimac
Internac.

2001-595561

Vehicles

Rimac
Internac.
Rimac
Internac.

2001-595569

Vehicles

1201-509891

Liability insurance,
gas station and fuel
transport

Rimac
Internac.
Rimac
Internac.

9251-500060

Rimac
Internac.

1301-512277

Passenger traffic
accidents
3D – Dishonesty,
Disappearance,
Destruction
Multi-risks

1505-502655

Coverage
Vessel hull, flat
truck, etc.

Endorsement

Insured
Goods/Persons
Fishing vessels Cristina,
Matty, Alejandra, Don
Carlos, Don Jorge,
Chata China, Chata
Celia
Fishing vessel Don
Alonse (Former
Chimbote 10)
Light trucks: RIQ770,
RQN561, OB2852,
PGP628, PGL096,
PGL184, PID862,
PGS460, PGT685,
PGX990, RQN561
Trucks: IVECOS,
XI4970
Gas station, Chimbote,
Huarmey, Chicama
Plants
Tractors: YH1086,
ZH1091, YH1210,
ZH1593, Truck WH2561
Bus UH2155
Light Truck RGG236
Money, values, etc.

All risks
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Validity

Amount

01.11.2006 /
15.02.2008

19,118,400

18.12.2006 /
15.04.2007

1,675,000

15.02.2006 /
15.02.2007

90,000

15.02.2006 /
15.02.2007
15.02.2006 /
15.02.2007

18,150

31.12.2005 /
31.12.2006
15.02.2006 /
15.02.2007
15.02.2006 /
15.02.2007

520,020

7,561
555,000

31,900,000

Exhibit N° 17
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Remunerations
As of December 31, 2006
(Art. 103°)
(In Nuevos Soles)
Personnel
Officers
Employees
Workers

Assigned amounts
2,006
2,005
814,867
863,527
3,437,300
3,211,278
2,283,152
2,237,686
6,535,319
6,312,491
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N° of persons
2,006
2,005
13
13
134
133
981
913
1,128
1,059

Exhibit N° 19
PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Profit and Loss Statement by Nature
As of December 31, 2006
(In Nuevos Soles)

Net sales
Stored Production
Production of the year

In Constant Money
2,006
2,005
115,748,053 146,444,701
27,330,825
-6,629,821
143,078,878 139,814,880

Consumption:
Purchases
Inventory variations
Services provided by third parties

-87,495,457
-538,474
-12,483,538

-88,404,924
-355,371
-16,835,040

Added Value
Personnel Charges
Taxes

42,561,409
-11,927,563
-215,582

34,219,545
-13,078,112
-242,958

Gross Operating Surplus
Other Management Charges
Exercise Provision
Other income

30,418,264
-3,816,536
-20,166,196
289,151

20,898,475
-3,886,919
-15,972,273
349,399

Operating results
Financial Income
Financial Charge
Extraordinary Charges
Extraordinary Income

6,724,683
9,394,241
-14,944,748
-1,375,071
2,876,875

1,388,682
3,024,757
-16,469,269
-524,809
280,002

2,675,980
-470,062
-1,269,167
936,751

-12,300,637
0
0
-12,300,637

Profits before taxes
Workers’ sharing
Income Tax
Results of the Fiscal Year
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PESQUERA INDUSTRIAL EL ANGEL S.A.
Non Submitted Exhibits Declaration
As of December 31, 2006
The following exhibits are not submitted because they are not applicable:
Exhibit N° 01
Exhibit N° 03
Exhibit N° 07
Exhibit N° 08
Exhibit N° 10
Exhibit N° 12
Exhibit N° 13
Exhibit N° 15
Exhibit N° 18

Negotiable securities
Accounts receivable from Subsidiarie s
and Affiliates
Intangibles
Amortization accumulated from
Intangibles
Accounts payable to subsidiaries (or
headquarters) and affiliates
Deferred profits
Contingencies
Equity sharing from work
Determination of base and calculatio n
of workers’ sharing
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AS
Forus Atrium
Postboks 8017
NO-4068 Stavanger
Telefon 02316
Dir. telefon +47 95 26 11 33
Dir. telefaks +47 24 06 31 33
www.pwc.com

Independent assurance report on pro forma financial information
To the Board of Directors of Copeinca ASA
We have examined the Pro Forma Financial Information in section x.x in the Prospectus, comprising
the combined balance sheet of the Copeinca ASA as of 30 June 2007, the related combined
statement of profit and loss for the six month period then ended and the combined statement of profit
and loss for the year ended 31 December 2006. This Pro Forma Financial Information has been
prepared solely to show what the significant effects on the Group might have been had the
transactions described in section x.x occurred at an earlier date. This Pro Forma Financial Information
is the responsibility of the Board of Directors. It is our responsibility to provide the opinion required by
EU Regulation No 809/2004 as included in the Norwegian Securities Trading Act section 5-13. We are
not responsible for expressing any other opinion on the pro forma financial information or on any of its
constituent elements.
We conducted our examination in accordance with the Norwegian Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information”. Our work consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the
source documents, obtaining evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the pro forma
financial information with the directors of the Company.
Based on our examination, in our opinion:
a) the pro forma financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated;
b) such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the issuer
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact that before preparing the Pro Forma
Financial Information, management of Copeinca had to convert the financial statements of the
acquired companies into IFRS. This has mainly been done using ratios calculated from the conversion
of Copeinca’s accounts from P-GAAP to IFRS. Due to this approach there is uncertainty regarding
whether all necessary changes to convert from P-GAAP to IFRS has been taken into account, and
hence there is uncertainty regarding the split between IFRS adjustments and Pro Forma adjustments
in the numbers presented.
We refer to section x.x in the prospectus for further explanations by management.

Kontorer: Arendal Bergen Drammen Fredrikstad Førde Hamar Kristiansand Mo i Rana Molde Måløy Narvik Oslo Stavanger Stryn Tromsø Trondheim Tønsberg Ålesund
PricewaterhouseCoopers navnet refererer til individuelle medlemsfirmaer tilknyttet den verdensomspennende PricewaterhouseCoopers organisasjonen
Medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening | Foretaksregisteret: NO 987 009 713
www.pwc.no
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Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact that, as outlined in section x.x, this Pro
Forma Financial Information is prepared by using management’s assumptions. It is not necessarily
indicative of the effects on the financial position that would have been attained had the abovementioned transactions actually occurred earlier. Moreover this accompanying Pro Forma Financial
Information is not intended to, and does not, provide all the information and disclosures necessary to
present a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by EU.

Oslo, November xx, 2007
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Per Erik Pedersen
State Authorized Public Accountant (Norway)
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